
From: Cathleen Mascaro
To: Eva Yiu; Thomas McNeal; Karalee Turner-Little; Kevin Gilbert; Frank Eastham; Anissa Brown Dennis; Jahantab

Siddiqui; Michael Martirano
Cc: Vivian L. Kelly; Theresa Farson; Valerie J. Willis; Brianna Hartley; Carrie A. Slaysman; Kathy Agans
Subject: Re: School Arrest Data
Date: Thursday, April 19, 2018 9:55:27 AM

Good morning,

This meeting has been scheduled from 2:30 until 3:30 on Friday.  I've included all on the
invite with the exception of Dr. Martirano.  

Kathy, Carrie, Brianna, Val:  Meeting info is an FYI - Frank, Kevin Gilbert, Eva Yiu and Tom
McNeal are participants.

The meeting will be held in Conference Room LL3.  Eva needs to leave by 3:45 PM.

Thanks!

Regards,

Cathleen
Cathleen M. Mascaro | Administrative Secretary II
Office of Safety and Security | 410-313-6840 | fax 410-313-6835
Howard County Public School System | Division of Operations

Individualization | Deliberative | Adaptability | Maximizer | Developer

This e-mail, including any attachments, is CONFIDENTIAL and may be legally privileged.  If you are not an intended recipient or an
authorized representative of an intended recipient, you are prohibited from using, copying or distributing the information in this e-mail or
its attachments.  If you have received this e-mail in error, please notify the sender immediately by return e-mail and delete all copies of
this message and any attachments.  Thank you.

From: Eva Yiu
Sent: Wednesday, April 18, 2018 4:54 PM
To: Thomas McNeal; Karalee Turner-Little; Kevin Gilbert; Frank Eastham; Anissa Brown Dennis;
Jahantab Siddiqui; Michael Martirano
Cc: Cathleen Mascaro
Subject: Re: School Arrest Data
 
2pm Friday works for me.

Thank you!
Eva

Sent from my Sprint Phone.

------ Original message------
From: Thomas McNeal
Date: Wed, Apr 18, 2018 4:51 PM
To: Karalee Turner-Little;Eva Yiu;Kevin Gilbert;Frank Eastham;Anissa Brown Dennis;Jahantab Siddiqui;Michael
Martirano;
Cc: Cathleen Mascaro;



Subject:RE: School Arrest Data

Cathleen Mascaro from our office will be contacting everyone to schedule this meeting.  Is anyone
not available Friday afternoon at 2PM? -Tom
 
Thomas McNeal, CEM
Director of Security, Emergency Preparedness and Response
Howard County Public School System
Office of Safety and Security
10910 Clarksville Pike
Ellicott City, MD 21042
Thomas McNeal@hcpss.org
Office: 410-313-8875

 
From: Karalee Turner-Little 
Sent: Wednesday, April 18, 2018 4:28 PM
To: Thomas McNeal <Thomas_McNeal@hcpss.org>; Eva Yiu <eva_yiu@hcpss.org>; Kevin Gilbert
<Kevin_Gilbert@hcpss.org>; Frank Eastham <Frank_Eastham@hcpss.org>; Anissa Brown Dennis
<Anissa_BrownDennis@hcpss.org>; Jahantab Siddiqui <Jahantab_Siddiqui@hcpss.org>; Michael
Martirano <Michael_Martirano@hcpss.org>
Subject: RE: School Arrest Data
 
Thanks, Tom.
Please take the lead on sending an invite and securing a location for the meeting.
K
 
From: Thomas McNeal 
Sent: Wednesday, April 18, 2018 3:54 PM
To: Eva Yiu <eva yiu@hcpss.org>; Kevin Gilbert <Kevin_Gilbert@hcpss.org>; Karalee Turner-Little
<Karalee TurnerLittle@hcpss.org>; Frank Eastham <Frank_Eastham@hcpss.org>; Anissa Brown
Dennis <Anissa BrownDennis@hcpss.org>; Jahantab Siddiqui <Jahantab_Siddiqui@hcpss.org>;
Michael Martirano <Michael Martirano@hcpss.org>
Subject: RE: School Arrest Data
 
I am available after 1pm on Friday if that works for everyone else? -Tom
 
Thomas McNeal, CEM
Director of Security, Emergency Preparedness and Response
Howard County Public School System
Office of Safety and Security
10910 Clarksville Pike
Ellicott City, MD 21042
Thomas_McNeal@hcpss.org
Office: 410-313-8875



 
From: Thomas McNeal 
Sent: Wednesday, April 18, 2018 2:59 PM
To: Eva Yiu <eva yiu@hcpss.org>
Cc: Kevin Gilbert <Kevin Gilbert@hcpss.org>; Karalee Turner-Little
<Karalee TurnerLittle@hcpss.org>; Frank Eastham <Frank Eastham@hcpss.org>; Anissa Brown
Dennis <Anissa BrownDennis@hcpss.org>; Jahantab Siddiqui <Jahantab Siddiqui@hcpss.org>;
Michael Martirano <Michael Martirano@hcpss.org>
Subject: Re: School Arrest Data
 
I’m unavailable tomorrow. -Tom

Thomas McNeal CEM
Director of Security, Emergency Preparedness and Response
Howard County Public School System
10910 Clarksville Pike
Ellicott City, MD 21042
Thomas_McNeal@hcpss.org
Office: 410-313-8875

 
Sent from my iPhone

On Apr 18, 2018, at 2:48 PM, Eva Yiu <eva_yiu@hcpss.org> wrote:

I’m open to meet before 2:30pm tomorrow.
 
Eva (Ho Lam) Yiu, Ph.D.
Coordinator of Research and Program Evaluation 
Howard County Public School System
410.313.7113  holam yiu@hcpss.org
Data Coaching Resources

This e-mail, including any attachments, is CONFIDENTIAL and may be legally privileged. If you are not an
intended recipient or an authorized representative of an intended recipient, you are prohibited from using,
copying or distributing the information in this e-mail or its attachments. If you have received this e-mail in
error, please notify the sender immediately by return e-mail and delete all copies of this message and any
attachments. Thank you.

 
From: Kevin Gilbert 
Sent: Wednesday, April 18, 2018 1:53 PM
To: Karalee Turner-Little <Karalee_TurnerLittle@hcpss.org>; Thomas McNeal
<Thomas_McNeal@hcpss.org>; Frank Eastham <Frank_Eastham@hcpss.org>; Eva Yiu
<eva_yiu@hcpss.org>
Cc: Anissa Brown Dennis <Anissa_BrownDennis@hcpss.org>; Jahantab Siddiqui
<Jahantab_Siddiqui@hcpss.org>; Michael Martirano <Michael_Martirano@hcpss.org>
Subject: RE: School Arrest Data
 
Absolutely. I will be back in the office tomorrow so Frank, Tom, and Eva, let me know a



good time to meet.
 
From: Karalee Turner-Little 
Sent: Wednesday, April 18, 2018 1:50 PM
To: Thomas McNeal <Thomas McNeal@hcpss.org>; Frank Eastham
<Frank Eastham@hcpss.org>; Kevin Gilbert <Kevin_Gilbert@hcpss.org>; Eva Yiu
<eva yiu@hcpss.org>
Cc: Anissa Brown Dennis <Anissa BrownDennis@hcpss.org>; Jahantab Siddiqui
<Jahantab Siddiqui@hcpss.org>; Michael Martirano <Michael_Martirano@hcpss.org>
Subject: School Arrest Data
Importance: High
 
Tom, Frank, Kevin, and Eva,
Please meet ASAP to review and analyze the data from Mr. Kohn referenced below.
Be prepared to share your findings with Dr. M.
I’m asking Kathy to schedule a meeting ASAP with everyone listed on this email prior to
Tuesday’s Board meeting.
Many thanks!
K
 
 
From: Bess Altwerger 
Sent: Wednesday, April 18, 2018 1:20 PM
To: Karalee Turner-Little <Karalee_TurnerLittle@hcpss.org>; Michael Martirano
<Michael_Martirano@hcpss.org>
Subject: Re: School Arrests
 
Thanks for your reply. I have a few questions:

1. Has Mike read the report?
2. Is he asking Staff to verify data, analysis and findings?
3. Does he intend to acknowledge the report at the Board meeting and

announce next steps?

Thanks for your responses,
Bess
 

From: Karalee Turner-Little
Sent: Wednesday, April 18, 2018 1:07 PM
To: Bess Altwerger
Cc: Michael Martirano; Kevin Gilbert; Thomas McNeal; Frank Eastham; BoE Email;
Kathleen V. Hanks; Jahantab Siddiqui; Kathy Agans; Carrie A. Slaysman; Anissa Brown
Dennis
Subject: RE: School Arrests



 
Hi Bess,
Dr. Martirano has provided direction to staff on next steps. We will analyze the data
and reach out today to schedule a meeting with Mr. Kohn.
We will keep you posted.
K
 
 

From: Bess Altwerger <Bess_Altwerger@hcpss.org>
Date: April 18, 2018 at 11:56:40 AM EDT
To: Michael Martirano <Michael_Martirano@hcpss.org>
Cc: Kevin Gilbert <Kevin_Gilbert@hcpss.org>, Thomas McNeal
<Thomas_McNeal@hcpss.org>, BoE Email <boe@hcpss.org>, Frank
Eastham <Frank_Eastham@hcpss.org>
Subject: School Arrests

Dear Dr. Martirano,
An analysis of school arrest data by Richard Kohn, a highly capable
research scientist in our community,  is extremely concerning and has
direct implications for the role of policing in discipline matters and
the decision to increase police presence in our schools. The link to
the report is:
https://howardcounty640805081.wordpress.com/2018/04/16/arrests-
in-howard-county-high-schools/
It has been posted widely on social media and begs a response from
the school system. I am requesting that our own staff review the
report in order to verify the data, the analysis and the findings, and
that staff report their findings to the Board. If staff verify findings of
Mr. Kohn's report, I am requesting that a targeted plan be developed
for reducing racial bias in police referrals and school arrests, and that
this plan be presented publicly.

At the upcoming Board meeting, preferably during the
Superintendent report, I believe it would be important to
acknowledge circulation of Mr. Kohn's report and announce our
commitment to further study and address the issue of racial bias in
school arrests. Please let me know if you agree with this course of
action. 

Thank you for your consideration in this important matter.
Respectfully,
Bess



From: Kevin Gilbert
To: Thomas McNeal
Cc: Eva Yiu; Karalee Turner-Little; Frank Eastham; Anissa Brown Dennis; Jahantab Siddiqui; Michael Martirano
Subject: Re: School Arrest Data
Date: Wednesday, April 18, 2018 4:08:21 PM

I can do 2 pm or later on Friday

Kevin F. Gilbert, Ed.D. 
Director of Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion
Howard County Public School System
Kevin_Gilbert@hcpss.org
410-313-1542 (office)
Pronouns: He, Him, His

"It is easier to build strong children than to repair broken men"

Frederick Douglass

“Education is the passport to the future, for tomorrow belongs to those who prepare for it
today”

Malcolm X

Sent from my iPhone 

*Please excuse any typos or word omissions 

On Apr 18, 2018, at 3:53 PM, Thomas McNeal <Thomas_McNeal@hcpss.org> wrote:

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
To: Eva Yiu <eva_yiu@hcpss.org>
Cc: Kevin Gilbert <Kevin Gilbert@hcpss.org>; Karalee Turner-Little
<Karalee TurnerLittle@hcpss.org>; Frank Eastham <Frank_Eastham@hcpss.org>;
Anissa Brown Dennis <Anissa BrownDennis@hcpss.org>; Jahantab Siddiqui
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
410.313.7113  holam_yiu@hcpss.org
Data Coaching Resources

This e-mail, including any attachments, is CONFIDENTIAL and may be legally privileged. If you
are not an intended recipient or an authorized representative of an intended recipient, you
are prohibited from using, copying or distributing the information in this e-mail or its
attachments. If you have received this e-mail in error, please notify the sender immediately
by return e-mail and delete all copies of this message and any attachments. Thank you.

 

From: Kevin Gilbert 
Sent: Wednesday, April 18, 2018 1:53 PM
To: Karalee Turner-Little <Karalee_TurnerLittle@hcpss.org>; Thomas
McNeal <Thomas_McNeal@hcpss.org>; Frank Eastham
<Frank_Eastham@hcpss.org>; Eva Yiu <eva_yiu@hcpss.org>
Cc: Anissa Brown Dennis <Anissa_BrownDennis@hcpss.org>; Jahantab
Siddiqui <Jahantab_Siddiqui@hcpss.org>; Michael Martirano
<Michael_Martirano@hcpss.org>
Subject: RE: School Arrest Data
 
Absolutely. I will be back in the office tomorrow so Frank, Tom, and Eva,
let me know a good time to meet.



 

From: Karalee Turner-Little 
Sent: Wednesday, April 18, 2018 1:50 PM
To: Thomas McNeal <Thomas McNeal@hcpss.org>; Frank Eastham
<Frank Eastham@hcpss.org>; Kevin Gilbert <Kevin Gilbert@hcpss.org>;
Eva Yiu <eva yiu@hcpss.org>
Cc: Anissa Brown Dennis <Anissa BrownDennis@hcpss.org>; Jahantab
Siddiqui <Jahantab Siddiqui@hcpss.org>; Michael Martirano
<Michael Martirano@hcpss.org>
Subject: School Arrest Data
Importance: High
 
Tom, Frank, Kevin, and Eva,
Please meet ASAP to review and analyze the data from Mr. Kohn
referenced below.
Be prepared to share your findings with Dr. M.
I’m asking Kathy to schedule a meeting ASAP with everyone listed on this
email prior to Tuesday’s Board meeting.
Many thanks!
K
 
 

From: Bess Altwerger 
Sent: Wednesday, April 18, 2018 1:20 PM
To: Karalee Turner-Little <Karalee TurnerLittle@hcpss.org>; Michael
Martirano <Michael Martirano@hcpss.org>
Subject: Re: School Arrests
 
Thanks for your reply. I have a few questions:

1. Has Mike read the report?
2. Is he asking Staff to verify data, analysis and findings?
3. Does he intend to acknowledge the report at the Board

meeting and announce next steps?
Thanks for your responses,
Bess
 

From: Karalee Turner-Little
Sent: Wednesday, April 18, 2018 1:07 PM
To: Bess Altwerger
Cc: Michael Martirano; Kevin Gilbert; Thomas McNeal; Frank Eastham;
BoE Email; Kathleen V. Hanks; Jahantab Siddiqui; Kathy Agans; Carrie A.
Slaysman; Anissa Brown Dennis



Subject: RE: School Arrests
 
Hi Bess,
Dr. Martirano has provided direction to staff on next steps. We will
analyze the data and reach out today to schedule a meeting with Mr.
Kohn.
We will keep you posted.
K
 
 

From: Bess Altwerger <Bess_Altwerger@hcpss.org>
Date: April 18, 2018 at 11:56:40 AM EDT
To: Michael Martirano <Michael_Martirano@hcpss.org>
Cc: Kevin Gilbert <Kevin_Gilbert@hcpss.org>, Thomas
McNeal <Thomas_McNeal@hcpss.org>, BoE Email
<boe@hcpss.org>, Frank Eastham
<Frank_Eastham@hcpss.org>
Subject: School Arrests

Dear Dr. Martirano,
An analysis of school arrest data by Richard Kohn, a
highly capable research scientist in our community,  is
extremely concerning and has direct implications for the
role of policing in discipline matters and the decision to
increase police presence in our schools. The link to the
report is:
https://howardcounty640805081.wordpress.com/2018/04/16/arrests-
in-howard-county-high-schools/
It has been posted widely on social media and begs a
response from the school system. I am requesting that
our own staff review the report in order to verify the
data, the analysis and the findings, and that staff report
their findings to the Board. If staff verify findings of Mr.
Kohn's report, I am requesting that a targeted plan be
developed for reducing racial bias in police referrals
and school arrests, and that this plan be presented
publicly.

At the upcoming Board meeting, preferably during the
Superintendent report, I believe it would be important to
acknowledge circulation of Mr. Kohn's report and
announce our commitment to further study and address



the issue of racial bias in school arrests. Please let me
know if you agree with this course of action. 

Thank you for your consideration in this important
matter.
Respectfully,
Bess

 



From: Thomas McNeal
To: Karalee Turner-Little
Cc: Frank Eastham; Kevin Gilbert; Eva Yiu; Anissa Brown Dennis; Jahantab Siddiqui; Michael Martirano
Subject: Re: School Arrest Data
Date: Wednesday, April 18, 2018 2:13:10 PM

I asked my team to prepare a briefing on the data and the research being presented by Mr.
Kohn. -Tom

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

On Apr 18, 2018, at 1:50 PM, Karalee Turner-Little <Karalee_TurnerLittle@hcpss.org>
wrote:

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
To: Bess Altwerger; Michael Martirano
Subject: RE: School Arrests
Date: Wednesday, April 18, 2018 1:21:50 PM

Part of our next steps are to read the report and analyze the findings.
We will be in a better position to answer your last question once we know the scope.
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
3. Does he intend to acknowledge the report at the Board meeting and announce next

steps?
Thanks for your responses,
Bess
 

From: Karalee Turner-Little
Sent: Wednesday, April 18, 2018 1:07 PM
To: Bess Altwerger
Cc: Michael Martirano; Kevin Gilbert; Thomas McNeal; Frank Eastham; BoE Email; Kathleen V. Hanks;
Jahantab Siddiqui; Kathy Agans; Carrie A. Slaysman; Anissa Brown Dennis
Subject: RE: School Arrests
 
Hi Bess,
Dr. Martirano has provided direction to staff on next steps. We will analyze the data and reach out
today to schedule a meeting with Mr. Kohn.
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
<Thomas_McNeal@hcpss.org>, BoE Email <boe@hcpss.org>, Frank Eastham



<Frank Eastham@hcpss.org>
Subject: School Arrests

Dear Dr. Martirano,
An analysis of school arrest data by Richard Kohn, a highly capable research
scientist in our community,  is extremely concerning and has direct implications
for the role of policing in discipline matters and the decision to increase police
presence in our schools. The link to the report is:
https://howardcounty640805081.wordpress.com/2018/04/16/arrests-in-howard-
county-high-schools/
It has been posted widely on social media and begs a response from the school
system. I am requesting that our own staff review the report in order to verify the
data, the analysis and the findings, and that staff report their findings to the
Board. If staff verify findings of Mr. Kohn's report, I am requesting that a targeted
plan be developed for reducing racial bias in police referrals and school arrests,
and that this plan be presented publicly.

At the upcoming Board meeting, preferably during the Superintendent report, I
believe it would be important to acknowledge circulation of Mr. Kohn's report
and announce our commitment to further study and address the issue of racial
bias in school arrests. Please let me know if you agree with this course of action. 

Thank you for your consideration in this important matter.
Respectfully,
Bess

 



From: Michael Martirano
To: Jahantab Siddiqui; Karalee Turner-Little
Subject: Fwd: School Arrests
Date: Wednesday, April 18, 2018 12:37:32 PM

MJM

DR. MICHAEL J. MARTIRANO
Interim Superintendent 
Howard County Public School System

"It's easier to build strong children than to repair broken
men." Frederick Douglass

“Be kind ALWAYS! Everyone is fighting a hard battle.”

Begin forwarded message:

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
To: Mavis Ellis
Subject: Fw: Kohn"s Preliminary results
Date: Friday, April 13, 2018 11:42:59 PM
Attachments: 2017 PARCC High School Analysis.docx

From: Richard A. Kohn <rkohn@umd.edu>
Sent: Monday, April 9, 2018 4:29 PM
To: Bess Altwerger
Subject: Preliminary results
 

Bess,

I am pretty sure the results (figures and tables) that are attached are correct, but the interpretation
is more complex and explaining them may take a little more explanation.  Also, I need to add more
context.  Nonetheless, feel free to look at 2017 results and to discuss with the Board.

I can be at Wilde Lake Starbucks by about 6:30-6:45 if you want.  Let me know.

Rick



1 

Comparison of high school performance on the 2017 PARCC exam, preliminary results 

 This analysis complements what was done for high schools using the PARCC test scores from 
2015. The trends were not different but some schools improved in one or more subjects 
causing the rankings to change.  However, the main message of the analysis from using the 
2015 scores is the same. The differences in scores from school to school are largely attributed 
to number of low-income students in the schools, and once this effect is accounted for, the 
differences among schools is relatively small. 

Grade 10 English 

Note in Figure 1, some schools improved in Grade 10 English so that now there is even less 
variation in scores after accounting for FARM %. The slope of the line was –1.01 meaning for 
every increase in FARM % of a school, the percentage passing grades decreased equally.  This is 
similar to the previous (2015) slope.  The r2 for this graph is 0.92 which means that 92% of the 
variation in school performance was attributed to the percentage FARM.  The previous analysis 
(2015 data) had a similar slope but the r2 was 0.62. 

Figure 1. Percentage receiving 4 or 5 in Grade 10 English on the 2017 PARCC exam vs. 
percentage of students on Free and Reduced Meals (%FARM) by high school in Howard 
County. 
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 2 

The ranking of schools for performance on English 10 exam (Table 1) changed because some 
lower performing schools increased to the predicted performance or higher. The range in 
difference due to school varies by less than 10% from the mean.  English test performance is 
very similar across schools after accounting for FARM percentage of each school. 
 
Table 1. Ranking of high schools for Grade 10 English based on 2017 PARCC exam. 

 

   % Pass English 10  

Schools 
Number 
students FARM % Actual  % Predicted % % Above 

Margin 
of error 

Wilde Lake High 330 39.2 54.0 45.4 8.6 5.49 

Marriotts Ridge High 326 2 91.0 84.7 6.3 3.17 

Hammond High 326 35.3 54.0 49.5 4.5 5.52 

Glenelg High 293 2 87.0 84.7 2.3 3.93 

River Hill High 278 2 86.0 84.7 1.3 4.16 

Centennial High 378 10.5 76.0 75.7 0.3 4.39 

Reservoir High 405 26 57.0 59.3 -2.3 4.92 

Howard High 419 12.5 71.0 73.6 -2.6 4.43 

Oakland Mills High 279 44.9 36.0 39.3 -3.3 5.75 

Long Reach High 424 34.6 46.0 50.2 -4.2 4.84 

Atholton High 383 8.7 73.0 77.6 -4.6 4.54 

Mount Hebron High 401 14.7 65.0 71.3 -6.3 4.76 

 
  

MPIA 2020-163 - Please note this record contains external/non-HCPSS official data 

Exte
rna

l/N
on

-H
CPSS D

ata



 3 

Algebra 1 
 
The slope and fit of the line of regression of % pass by FARM % for for Algebra 1 did not change 
appreciably from 2015 (Figure 1), however the percentage passing increased across the board.  
The slope is –0.88 and r2 is 0.61. 
 

 
Figure 1. Percentage receiving 4 or 5 in Algebra 1 on the 2017 PARCC exam vs. percentage of 
students on Free and Reduced Meals (%FARM) by high school in Howard County. 
 
The range in scores from school to school after accounting for differences due to FARM also 
remained similar to the previous results (Table 2).   
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 4 

Table 2. Ranking of high schools for Algebra 1 based on 2017 PARCC exam. 

   
 

% Pass Algebra 1  

Schools 
Number 
students FARM % Actual  % Predicted % % Above 

Margin of 
error 

River Hill High 80 2 62.0 45.8 16.2 10.9 

Centennial High 113 10.5 54.0 38.3 15.7 9.4 

Reservoir High 166 26 30.0 24.7 5.3 7.1 

Mount Hebron High 192 14.7 38.0 34.6 3.4 7.0 

Hammond High 204 35.3 19.0 16.5 2.5 5.5 

Oakland Mills High 192 44.9 10.0 8.0 2.0 4.3 

Howard High 169 12.5 38.0 36.5 1.5 7.5 

Atholton High 105 8.7 36.0 39.9 -3.9 9.4 

Long Reach High 246 34.6 11.0 17.1 -6.1 4.0 

Wilde Lake High 184 39.2 6.0 13.1 -7.1 3.5 

Marriotts Ridge High 93 2 37.0 45.8 -8.8 10.0 

Glenelg High 121 2 25.0 45.8 -20.8 7.9 
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Algebra 2 
 
As with English 10, the closeness of fit increased for the regression line of Algebra 2 scores vs. 
FARM percentage compared to results from 2015 (Figure 3).  Now, 85% of the variation among 
schools was attributed to the FARM percentage (r2 = 0.85). The range in differences among 
schools was between 11% above or 9.5% below the mean (Table 3). 
 
 

 
Figure 3. Percentage receiving 4 or 5 in Algebra 2 on the 2017 PARCC exam vs. percentage of 
students on Free and Reduced Meals (%FARM) by high school in Howard County. 
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 6 

 
Table 3. Ranking of high schools for Algebra 2 based on 2017 PARCC exam. 

   
 

% Pass Algebra 2  

Schools 
Number 
students FARM % Actual  % Predicted % % Above 

Margin of 
error 

River Hill High 294 2.0 74.0 62.6 11.4 5.1 

Centennial High 384 10.5 63.0 53.6 9.4 4.9 

Oakland Mills High 292 44.9 23.0 17.1 5.9 4.9 

Wilde Lake High 286 39.2 25.0 23.1 1.9 5.1 

Mount Hebron High 418 14.7 50.0 49.1 0.9 4.9 

Hammond High 380 35.3 28.0 27.3 0.7 4.6 

Marriotts Ridge High 355 2.0 62.0 62.6 -0.6 5.2 

Glenelg High 337 2.0 60.0 62.6 -2.6 5.3 

Long Reach High 428 34.6 25.0 28.0 -3.0 4.2 

Howard High 478 12.5 46.0 51.4 -5.4 4.6 

Reservoir High 397 26.0 28.0 37.1 -9.1 4.5 

Atholton High 413 8.7 46.0 55.5 -9.5 4.9 

 
 
  

MPIA 2020-163 - Please note this record contains external/non-HCPSS official data 

Exte
rna

l/N
on

-H
CPSS D

ata



 7 

English 10 and Algebra 2 Combined 
 
The highest performing schools for 2017 were River Hill, Wilde Lake and Centennial. River Hill 
and Wilde Lake improved in English 10 compared to 2015 results, which combined with their 
high math scores moved them up in the ranking. Now 93% (r2 = 0.93) of the combined English 
and Algebra 2 passing rate was attributed to percentage FARM of the high school. The slope of 
the line was –1.05 meaning for every percentage unit increase in FARM % there was an 
equivalent decrease in passing rate of a school. This is a similar slope to previously, and it 
remains about twice as high as the average of the achievement gap across the state.  The best 
high school was 6.4 % higher than the average and the lowest performing school was 7 % below 
the average after accounting for FARM percentage of high schools (Table 4).   
 
 

 
Figure 4. Mean combined English 10 and Algebra 2 passing rates vs. FARM percentage by high 
school for 2017 PARCC exam. 
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 8 

 
 
 
Table 4. Ranking of high schools for average of English 10 and Algebra 2 passing scores based 
on 2017 PARCC exam. 

   
 

% Pass Algebra 2  

Schools 
Number 
students FARM % Actual  % Predicted % % Above 

Margin of 
error 

River Hill High 294 2.0 80.0 73.6 6.4 3.3 

Wilde Lake High 286 39.2 39.5 34.2 5.3 4.1 

Centennial High 384 10.5 69.5 64.6 4.9 3.3 

Marriotts Ridge High 355 2.0 76.5 73.6 2.9 3.2 

Hammond High 380 35.3 41.0 38.4 2.6 3.6 

Oakland Mills High 292 44.9 29.5 28.2 1.3 3.8 

Glenelg High 337 2.0 73.5 73.6 -0.1 3.4 

Mount Hebron High 418 14.7 57.5 60.2 -2.7 3.4 

Long Reach High 428 34.6 35.5 39.1 -3.6 3.3 

Howard High 478 12.5 58.5 62.5 -4.0 3.2 

Reservoir High 397 26.0 42.5 48.2 -5.7 3.5 

Atholton High 413 8.7 59.5 66.5 -7.0 3.4 

 
The current (2017) school ranking systems such as US News and World Report used 2015 
PARCC exam results. In addition, the analyses available by polygon used the 2015 exam results. 
It is especially advantageous to compare the 2015 results that we previously analyzed to these 
other analyses.  For example, the US News rankings gave gold and silver medals to 5 schools, all 
of them with a low percentage of low-income students. Rankings that removed the income 
biases showed different results, and for example found Oakland Mills as the second-highest 
performing school although it was not ranked by US News. The exam results by polygon in 2015 
also showed that most of the variation from school to school was attributed to the FARM% of 
polygons, with little additional effect of the FARM% of the school after taking out the polygon 
FARM% effect. This means that the percentage of low-income students in a school does not 
affect test results of students at any particular income level in the school, but test scores are 
lower for low-income students regardless of which school they attend. 
 
The PARCC test was first offered in Maryland in 2015. Most schools, especially low-performing 
schools in 2015 appeared to have improved by 2017.  The high degree of improvement on the 
PARCC exam over two years suggests that test preparation had an effect on test performance, 
and that at least some schools are preparing students for the test. Curriculum decisions may 
have been made based on the emphasis of topics covered on the test.  Perhaps test 
preparation corrected weaknesses in the curriculum that have now been addressed. On the 
other hand, if certain topics are not covered on the test, these may be de-emphasized. Which 
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 9 

test is used is an important consideration because it is not only a measurement tool, but also it 
may drive what is taught.   
 
The biggest changes in scores from 2015 to 2017 were for English 10.  One might expect the 
differences to be greatest for subject level tests such as Algebra 1 or Algebra 2, rather than 
English 10.  In both cases, but especially for English 10, the performance in the subject should 
depend on several years of learning in English and mathematics. The broader the subject 
matter, the more difficult it should be to improve test performance year over year. If test 
performance depends on mastery of material from several years of school, one would not 
expect large changes from one year to the next. The appearance of these large differences from 
2015 to 2017 suggests that material on the test is somewhat predictable. 
 
The more recent scores summarized here confirm many conclusions from the previous results. 
The US News ranking system is likely to still rank the wealthiest schools as the highest 
performing schools in future reports even though Wilde Lake scored second highest after 
accounting for the number of low-income students. The differences among high schools were 
even smaller in 2017 after accounting for income differences. As a result, differences in FARM 
percentage of schools accounted for an even higher proportion of the variation from school to 
school. Although test scores increased with adjustment to the PARCC exam, there has been no 
apparent decrease in the income achievement gap. 
 
More granular data (more observations per school) should be used to systematically determine 
effects of income or race on performance of individuals and neighborhoods (e.g. polygons) as 
opposed to only observing school means as done here. More granular data were limited to 
polygon-level for the 2015 dataset, and they were completely unavailable for the 2017 dataset. 
With anonymous granular data, one could test the extent to which the decrease in 
performance of low-income students is due to the added individual challenges vs. the 
challenges for schools with more low-income students. Knowing the answer to this question 
could help distribute resources appropriately (e.g. helping low-income students across all 
schools vs. helping schools with many low-income students). Based on the limited available 
granular data from 2015, it appears that test performance is lower in schools with more low-
income students because the low-income students themselves are underperforming across all 
schools. 
 
Conclusions 
 

 Most variation in average PARCC test scores for Howard County schools is attributed to 
the FARM percentage of the schools. 

 After accounting for variation attributed to FARM percentage, there is little difference 
among schools. 

 There is a strong linear effect of FARM percentage of schools, wherein for every 
percentage increase in FARM percentage, the passing rate decreases by an equivalent 1 
percent. 
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 10 

 These same conclusions were made based on 2015 data, but they are even more true 
now. 

 There has been no change in the performance gap since 2015, but some schools have 
improved to be closer to their expected performance based on their FARM percentage. 

 The 2017 results show that even more of the difference among schools is attributed to 
FARM% than for 2015 results.  

 
Yet to do 
 
More grades need to be evaluated.  The changes from 2015 to 2016 to 2017 should be 
examined more systematically.  Also, the improvement in a class from one year to the next 
should be investigated more systematically. For example, how 2015 Grade 3 transitions to 2016 
Grade 4. The differences in test performance and the income achievement gap should be 
evaluated by comparing to the 2017 state average. Beyond this, we need to also look at more 
granular data for the same dataset. 
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From: Richard Kohn
To: Kirsten Coombs
Subject: Re: [BoE Email] - HCPSS Budget
Date: Thursday, March 8, 2018 8:22:32 AM

Kirsten,

Thanks for asking. If taxes on new housing were increased to cover the cost of new school construction, we wouldn’t have to cut. 

But, aside from that, I think you have to try to protect teachers and staff who work directly with students over new administrative positions.    
On average we need to eliminate about 4-5 teachers for every 1 upper administrator we add. I also think the salaries are very high for upper
administration. Some say we need to do that to retain the best people, but I think it would be more effective to broadly advertise
administrative positions and consider some people for promotions rather than overpay for lateral transfers (similar position somewhere else). 

Finally, rather than cut primarily from Title 1 schools, look to cut more evenly. How much do we spend on GT? It is a similar concept to WL
isn’t it. You have extra enrichment for a certain students. If you were to cut back on GT so there were fewer pullouts for example, you know
that wealthy parents would be outraged. They don’t care if you cut WL though, and it seems like that is how the decision is made.  The
problem with WL is it was offered to mostly Title 1 schools. If it had been offered to entitled schools, there is no way it would be cut.

I still don’t quite understand how it saves money, or at least I think it is hard to grasp the full effect of cutting it. It saves money by cutting a
bunch of teachers. The students are still going to school the same amount of time, so it means we will have the same number of students and
same amount of time in school but with fewer teachers. Classes have to be bigger, or more time for each teacher spent teaching. What does it
mean to cut teachers from mostly Title 1 schools? It means those schools have to bear the brunt of the cuts, and have a disproportionate
increase in class size. 

If you look at GT pull outs, they also have a similar effect. They decrease the number of students in non-GT and they decrease the variance in
ability in non-GT classes when GT students are gone This helps make it easier to teach nonGT. I haven’t looked at the numbers recently, but I
know years ago, the low-income schools shared GT instructors but the higher income schools got their own. It worked that way with music
sometimes too. So that means, the number of students left in class is greater in the grade-level classes for the low-income schools. So maybe
that (class size differences) is why the low-income students do better in the high-income schools, but underperform the state average in the
low-income schools. I would like to see how evenly we distribute the teaching. I do know the percentage of GT students by middle school is
about double for the high-income schools compared with the low-income schools, and there are twice as many grade-level students in the low-
income schools than in the high-income schools. Hopefully, there are extra faculty and staff for the on-grade level students in the low-income
schools, but if we are so willing to cut teachers from those schools now, I have some doubts about that.

Is the goal to make our school as good as possible for as many students as possible? If that is the goal, the weakest elements are the low-
income students and the low-income schools. That is not where we should concentrate the budget cuts.

Rick Kohn 

On Mar 7, 2018, at 10:45 PM, Kirsten Coombs <Kirsten_Coombs@hcpss.org> wrote:

Thanks for the discussion.

Where would you cut GT? That works on core subjects required under comar. And GT teachers in Title I buildings are doing
great things.

Kirsten Coombs
Sent from my Board iPhone

On Mar 7, 2018, at 10:21 PM, Richard Kohn <richardakohn@gmail.com> wrote:

I do not think it would be a good idea to cut them. But I’m sure our Spanish teachers are doing great things too - but
unfortunately they aren’t working with a population that is quite as important to the school system. 

Sent from my iPhone

On Mar 7, 2018, at 9:16 PM, Kirsten Coombs <Kirsten_Coombs@hcpss.org> wrote:

Mr. Kohn,

Are you saying cut our GT Resource Teachers? At RB & WLMS, these educators do amazing things
with our students, which I know occurs at all of our schools. They work hard to identify students for
these opportunities. These pullouts offer creative ways of teaching core subjects.

Kirsten Coombs
Sent from my Board iPhone

On Mar 7, 2018, at 7:18 PM, Richard Kohn <richardakohn@gmail.com> wrote:

Ms Vaillancourt,



Thank you for the explanation. I support the emphasis on equity, but I have mixed feelings
about cutting teachers, especially in the Title 1 schools, to pay for the equity administrator.
How would it go over to cut GT pullouts? The GT students are doing fine, but we know it is
the lower income students who get cut because it is  less unacceptable. 

Sent from my iPhone

On Mar 7, 2018, at 7:01 PM, Cynthia Vaillancourt <Cynthia_Vaillancourt@hcpss.org>
wrote:

I apologize for being dense- I am just not following the Spanish question.  We
are cutting something like 30 Spanish teachers - reassigning them to other
positions, that become open as a result of normal turn over, or growth - the art
and music teachers are already in the buildings on staff, but will have their
schedules changed BACK to how the were before (and how the rest of the
elementary schools operate).  The total cost savings noted includes calculations
for, I believe, an increase of 1.5 tech ed teachers to restore the tech instruction
that was sacrificed for WL.  The 2.6 cost savings for the suspension of wl in
preK-6 is a net number that takes into consideration the other tweaks involved.

The positions included in the administration category have been changed via
reassignments and returns to the classroom,  but some of those savings have
been offset by the new office for the Diversity and Inclusion office.  All that
detail is in there--- I am not sure whether the spread sheets you have posted
here are the most current versions, or the pages from the budget book.  If you
have specific questions about particular positions, please let me know - or I can
refer you to the public information office.   

I think you are trying to imply that we have increased fat in the Central Office
while cutting positions in the schools.  I don't think that is the case - but if you
have specific positions you think should be cut - please identify them.

sincerely,
Cindy V

From: Richard Kohn <richardakohn@gmail.com>
Sent: Wednesday, March 7, 2018 6:28 PM
To: Cynthia Vaillancourt
Cc: akittleman@howardcountymd.gov; councilmail@howardcountymd.gov; BoE
Email; Michael Martirano; Kevin Gilbert; Tammy Spengler
Subject: Re: [BoE Email] - HCPSS Budget
 
Ms Vaillancourt,

I noted I the budgeted expenses that the lines with Administration in the title
increased from last year’s budget. 2018 is second last column, proposed is last
column. If Admin was cut, where is that shown?

2nd question, why is Spanish more expensive than art, music, tech ed. These
are usually expensive courses. 

Thanks. 

Rick Kohn

Sent from my iPhone

On Mar 7, 2018, at 5:42 PM, Cynthia Vaillancourt
<Cynthia_Vaillancourt@hcpss.org> wrote:



I am sorry, Mr. Kohn, I really don't know what you are asking.    

From: Richard Kohn <richardakohn@gmail.com>
Sent: Wednesday, March 7, 2018 1:00 PM
To: Cynthia Vaillancourt
Cc: akittleman@howardcountymd.gov;
councilmail@howardcountymd.gov; BoE Email; Michael Martirano;
Kevin Gilbert; Tammy Spengler
Subject: Re: [BoE Email] - HCPSS Budget
 
Ms. Vaillancourt,

Thank you for your response. Why does the top line of the
Expenditures in Superintendent’s proposed budget show about a
$1 million increase under the title “Administration”? Has this been
taken out? Also, Operating and Administration increased by $3.5
million.  Why is it so much more expensive to teach Spanish than
music and art, or is it mainly recess that will be substituted?

Rick Kohn

<Screen Shot 2018-03-07 at 10.34.38 AM.png>

<Screen Shot 2018-03-07 at 10.38.36 AM.png>

On Mar 7, 2018, at 10:18 AM, Cynthia Vaillancourt
<Cynthia_Vaillancourt@hcpss.org> wrote:

Dear Mr. Kohn,
Thank you for your ongoing engagement with the
HCPSS and advocacy for disadvantaged and immigrant
students.  As it happens, the Board HAS moved
numerous administrators back into classrooms, and
cut the school administration ranks deeply in order to
maintain as many programs and services as possible. 
All of that information was discussed in great detail
during the budget work sessions and can be found on
line on the HCPSS website.
The Board has directed the Superintendent to restore
class sizes for the entire county as the first priority in
the event additional funding becomes available.  That
would represent roughly $5.9 mil.  In the event
additional funding beyond that were to become
available, perhaps the World Language program
previously offered at only 8 of our 41 elementary
schools (not even ALL of our title 1 schools) could be
reimagined in a way that it could serve more students
in a more equitable way.  As it is, the current program
of 30 minutes per day for 5 days per week, for preK -5
graders cannot be sustained.    
It continues to be a priority goal of the HCPSS to
provide world language to elementary school students
in Howard County.  The suspension of the current
program will help make it possible to get the HCPSS on
firm financial footing so that a better, more equitable,
program can be developed.
In the mean time, all of the impacted students will be
able to experience the full Art and Music curriculum
that was reduced in order to fit the 30 minute per day



language schedule.  They will also have more access to
tech ed.. and possibly even more recess.
I encourage you to be in touch with your county
government representatives during the next portion of
the county's budget process and let them know where
your priorities lie.
Many thanks,
Cindy Vaillancourt
speaking as an individual board member.

From: Richard Kohn <richardakohn@gmail.com>
Sent: Wednesday, March 7, 2018 9:59 AM
To: akittleman@howardcountymd.gov;
councilmail@howardcountymd.gov; BoE Email; Michael
Martirano; Kevin Gilbert
Cc: Tammy Spengler
Subject: [BoE Email] - HCPSS Budget



From: Richard Kohn
To: Kirsten Coombs
Cc: Cynthia Vaillancourt; akittleman@howardcountymd.gov; councilmail@howardcountymd.gov; BoE Email; Michael Martirano; Kevin Gilbert; Tammy

Spengler
Subject: Re: [BoE Email] - HCPSS Budget
Date: Wednesday, March 7, 2018 7:09:16 PM
Attachments: Screen Shot 2018-03-07 at 10.34.38 AM.png

Screen Shot 2018-03-07 at 10.38.36 AM.png

Thank you. That is clear. 

Sent from my iPhone

On Mar 7, 2018, at 6:23 PM, Kirsten Coombs <Kirsten_Coombs@hcpss.org> wrote:

Mr. Kohn,

There were moves to bring legal counsel in house and the Exec is where that and the new Rector of
Diversity reside. It also reflects the transfer of positions into Exec. 

As to your Spanish instructor question, yes, it is more expensive because we have to continue teaching
music, art & PE. Those are mandated ES subjects. Spanish was in addition. It also reflects the fact that
some sixth graders were taking a language, which wasn't uniform across Middle school. 

I don't think any of the recess schedules are affected from I personally have seen at RBES.

Kirsten Coombs
Sent from my Board iPhone

On Mar 7, 2018, at 5:42 PM, Cynthia Vaillancourt <Cynthia_Vaillancourt@hcpss.org> wrote:

I am sorry, Mr. Kohn, I really don't know what you are asking.    

From: Richard Kohn <richardakohn@gmail.com>
Sent: Wednesday, March 7, 2018 1:00 PM
To: Cynthia Vaillancourt
Cc: akittleman@howardcountymd.gov; councilmail@howardcountymd.gov; BoE Email; Michael
Martirano; Kevin Gilbert; Tammy Spengler
Subject: Re: [BoE Email] - HCPSS Budget
 
Ms. Vaillancourt,

Thank you for your response. Why does the top line of the Expenditures in Superintendent’s
proposed budget show about a $1 million increase under the title “Administration”? Has
this been taken out? Also, Operating and Administration increased by $3.5 million.  Why is it
so much more expensive to teach Spanish than music and art, or is it mainly recess that will
be substituted?

Rick Kohn



On Mar 7, 2018, at 10:18 AM, Cynthia Vaillancourt
<Cynthia_Vaillancourt@hcpss.org> wrote:

Dear Mr. Kohn,
Thank you for your ongoing engagement with the HCPSS and advocacy for
disadvantaged and immigrant students.  As it happens, the Board HAS moved
numerous administrators back into classrooms, and cut the school
administration ranks deeply in order to maintain as many programs and
services as possible. 



All of that information was discussed in great detail during the budget work
sessions and can be found on line on the HCPSS website.
The Board has directed the Superintendent to restore class sizes for the entire
county as the first priority in the event additional funding becomes available. 
That would represent roughly $5.9 mil.  In the event additional funding beyond
that were to become available, perhaps the World Language program
previously offered at only 8 of our 41 elementary schools (not even ALL of our
title 1 schools) could be reimagined in a way that it could serve more students
in a more equitable way.  As it is, the current program of 30 minutes per day for
5 days per week, for preK -5 graders cannot be sustained.    
It continues to be a priority goal of the HCPSS to provide world language to
elementary school students in Howard County.  The suspension of the current
program will help make it possible to get the HCPSS on firm financial footing so
that a better, more equitable, program can be developed.
In the mean time, all of the impacted students will be able to experience the
full Art and Music curriculum that was reduced in order to fit the 30 minute per
day language schedule.  They will also have more access to tech ed.. and
possibly even more recess.
I encourage you to be in touch with your county government representatives
during the next portion of the county's budget process and let them know
where your priorities lie.
Many thanks,
Cindy Vaillancourt
speaking as an individual board member.

From: Richard Kohn <richardakohn@gmail.com>
Sent: Wednesday, March 7, 2018 9:59 AM
To: akittleman@howardcountymd.gov; councilmail@howardcountymd.gov; BoE
Email; Michael Martirano; Kevin Gilbert
Cc: Tammy Spengler
Subject: [BoE Email] - HCPSS Budget





To the Members of the Board of Education, 
 
I am writing this in response to the testimony submitted by Rick Kohn, in which he makes a 
number of claims that bad things would necessarily happen as a result of redistricting if High 
School 13 were to be located in Troy Park. 
 
Specifically, he writes:  
 
“If we build a new school in Elkridge, students in the wealthy northern districts will be 

moved into wealthy northern districts to the east. Centennial students will be moved to 

Howard, for example. At the same time, students in the lower-income districts will be 

moved east and north. For example, northern Hammond students will be moved to Long 

Reach. Whichever way the students go, toward the vacant school, the district lines will be 

moved in the opposite direction. In the case of Hammond, the district will be almost 

entirely south of the actual school building. Building the school in Elkridge will make it 

possible to keep the wealthy north and the lower-income south separate. It will increase 

the FARM percentage in Oakland Mills and Wild Lake, which already have the highest 

FARM percentage.” 
 
I would like to bring to your attention my previously submitted testimony, which addressed 
redistricting. My testimony includes a notional redistricting for a high school in Troy Park that 
meets the Policy 6010 criteria quite nicely and produces none of the dire outcomes predicted by 
Mr. Kohn. The enrollment numbers are based on the 2023 projections in the 2017 Feasibility 
Study, and include a 200 seat expansion at Hammond HS. 
 



 
 
 
Note that under this redistricting proposal, the following predictions of Mr. Kohn do not occur: 
 

● “students in the wealthy northern districts will be moved into wealthy northern 

districts to the east.”  

 
Portions of Mt. Hebron and Centennial are moved south and combined with the diverse 
and less affluent Phelps Luck neighborhood to create the attendance area for Howard, 
producing a more compact and diverse attendance area.  
 

● At the same time, students in the lower-income districts will be moved east and 

north. For example, northern Hammond students will be moved to Long Reach. 

 
No Hammond students move. The Long Reach attendance area is a combination of the 



affluent Bonnie Branch Middle School attendance area which formerly went to Howard 
HS, diverse East Columbia, and the high FARMS Deep Run area that currently attends 
Long Reach. 
 

● Building the school in Elkridge will make it possible to keep the wealthy north and 

the lower-income south separate. It will increase the FARM percentage in Oakland 

Mills and Wild Lake, which already have the highest FARM percentage.” 

 
My proposed redistricting make no significant changes to the attendance areas of 
Oakland Mills HS or Wilde Lake HS. 
 
 

Mr. Kohn’s closing argument also demands rebuttal. He writes: 
 
“The final reason to consider building the school in Jessup is because of the revitalization 

that would accompany the new school. Figure 3 shows a map of planned growth in Howard 

County. The area around Elkridge is considered an established community, but the area in 

Jessup is slated for growth and revitalization. In particular, the area around the school 

should be slated for higher-end housing with affordable housing mixed in. “ 

 
This argument completely ignores the fact that the “established community” of Elkridge has 
lately undergone so much development that the high schools serving this community are 
critically overcrowded. Regardless of where HS 13 is built, it will immediately be filled with 
students from Elkridge to relieve the overcrowding at Howard and Long Reach. It is nonsensical 
to locate a high school where growth has not yet occurred when there are students desperately 
in need of a high school where the growth has already occurred. The notion that future residents 
of hypothetical higher-end housing should receive priority over our existing older communities is 
particularly galling. 
 
Schools should be built where the students live. 
 
Thank you for your consideration of this issue. 
Drew Roth, Elkridge. 



From: Richard Kohn
To: akittleman@howardcountymd.gov; councilmail@howardcountymd.gov; BoE Email; Michael Martirano; Kevin

Gilbert
Cc: Tammy Spengler
Subject: [BoE Email] - HCPSS Budget
Date: Wednesday, March 7, 2018 10:00:06 AM
Attachments: Spengler  Letter.png





From: Kathleen V. Hanks
To: Richard Kohn; BoE Email
Cc: Rafiu Ighile; Sandra Austin
Subject: RE: [BoE Email] - Budget, School Performance and Test Scores
Date: Friday, March 2, 2018 2:13:50 PM

Good Afternoon:
 
Thank you for contacting the Board of Education regarding the Superintendent’s Proposed FY
2019 Operating Budget.  Your email will be saved as written testimony for the public hearing
process on the Superintendent’s Proposed FY 2019 Operating Budget. Please note that written
testimony is part of the public record maintained by the Board Office and is uploaded online to
BoardDocs as part of the public hearing.
 
The public is able to submit written testimony until 4:30 p.m. on Friday, March 2, 2018, at
BOE@hcpss.org.  The Board is scheduled to adopt the budget on Monday, March 5.
 
Once again, thank you for contacting the Board and providing valuable input.
 
Sincerely,
 
Kathy Hanks
Administrator
Board of Education
Phone:  410-313-7194
Fax:  410-313-6633
Email:  kathleen_hanks@hcpss.org
 
 
From: Richard Kohn [mailto:richardakohn@gmail.com] 
Sent: Thursday, March 1, 2018 11:11 AM
To: BoE Email <boe@hcpss.org>
Subject: [BoE Email] - Budget, School Performance and Test Scores
 
Dear Board of Education Member:
 
I posted an article on a blog about test scores in Howard County. I have a lot more coming but
with high degree of detail. As you will see in this article, the US New and World Report
rankings posted in 2017 show that Howard County schools are performing well in five low-
FARM districts in Maryland, and one higher-FARM district (OMHS). But test scores in the
other six districts were below average even with adjustment of scores for FARM%. Black,
Hispanic and Low-income students scored below the state average for the same demographic
group for 6  districts (including OMHS and  the other 4 lower-income schools). The results
show the performance gap in Howard County is greater than average for the state, and a
coming report will show it to be the greatest of all counties in MD. This performance gap is
the weakest aspect of Howard County public schools, and the reason our schools are
underperforming the state average. It isn’t just that our wealthy districts do so well, it is also
and to a greater extent, that our low-income students do so poorly. This would be a terrible
time to cut funding for programs to decrease the performance gap due to income or racial
demographics.



 
https://wordpress.com/view/howardcounty640805081.wordpress.com
 
Richard Kohn, Ph.D.



From: Richard Kohn
To: BoE Email
Subject: [BoE Email] - Re: Budget, School Performance and Test Scores
Date: Thursday, March 1, 2018 2:13:07 PM

Please use the corrected link.

https://howardcounty640805081.wordpress.com/

On Mar 1, 2018, at 11:10 AM, Richard Kohn <richardakohn@gmail.com> wrote:

Dear Board of Education Member:

I posted an article on a blog about test scores in Howard County. I have a lot more
coming but with high degree of detail. As you will see in this article, the US New
and World Report rankings posted in 2017 show that Howard County schools are
performing well in five low-FARM districts in Maryland, and one higher-FARM
district (OMHS). But test scores in the other six districts were below average even
with adjustment of scores for FARM%. Black, Hispanic and Low-income
students scored below the state average for the same demographic group for 6 
districts (including OMHS and  the other 4 lower-income schools). The results
show the performance gap in Howard County is greater than average for the state,
and a coming report will show it to be the greatest of all counties in MD. This
performance gap is the weakest aspect of Howard County public schools, and the
reason our schools are underperforming the state average. It isn’t just that our
wealthy districts do so well, it is also and to a greater extent, that our low-income
students do so poorly. This would be a terrible time to cut funding for programs to
decrease the performance gap due to income or racial demographics.

https://wordpress.com/view/howardcounty640805081.wordpress.com

Richard Kohn, Ph.D.



From: Richard A. Kohn
To: Superintendent; Kevin Gilbert
Subject: Re: High school performance on PARCC
Date: Thursday, March 1, 2018 2:08:45 PM

Drs. Martirano and Gilbert,

Please find a corrected link.

https://howardcounty640805081.wordpress.com/

I have started a new blog and posted the first articles on the comparison of different high
school PARCC test scores. There will be more detailed analyses to come, but please consider
following these posts. The article reviewing US News and World Report rankings shows that
our schools with a high percentage of low-income students underperform the state average
largely because the performance gap due to income is greater in Howard County than for the
state average. If there is a weakness in Howard County schools, it is that low-income students
do not do well here. This is more true for Howard County than most other counties in the state.
This fact should be kept in mind when considering budget priorities and programming. 

Rick Kohn, Ph.D.



From: Richard A. Kohn
To: Superintendent; Kevin Gilbert
Subject: High school performance on PARCC
Date: Thursday, March 1, 2018 1:49:53 PM

Drs. Martirano and Gilbert,

I have started a new blog and posted the first articles on the comparison of different high school PARCC test scores.
There will be more detailed analyses to come, but please consider following these posts. The article reviewing US
News and World Report rankings shows that our schools with a high percentage of low-income students
underperform the state average largely because the performance gap due to income is greater in Howard County
than for the state average. If there is a weakness in Howard County schools, it is that low-income students do not do
well here. This is more true for Howard County than most other counties in the state. This fact should be kept in
mind when considering budget priorities and programming.

https://wordpress.com/read/feeds/79647680

Rick Kohn, Ph.D.



From: Kathleen V. Hanks
To: Richard A. Kohn; BoE Email
Cc: Student Board Member; Bruce Gist; Renee Kamen
Subject: RE: [BoE Email] - Comments on High School #13
Date: Thursday, February 22, 2018 11:46:43 AM
Attachments: Where to Build the Next High School in Howard County.pdf

Dear Mr. Kohn:
 
Thank you for contacting the Board of Education regarding High School #13 Site Selection.
Your email attachment will be saved as written testimony for the public hearing process on
High School #13 Site Selection. Please note that written testimony is part of the public record
maintained by the Board Office and is uploaded online to BoardDocs as part of the public
hearing.
 
A public hearing is scheduled for Thursday, February 22, and the public is able to submit
written testimony until 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, March 6, 2018, at BOE@hcpss.org. 

 
Once again, thank you for contacting the Board and providing valuable input.
 
Kind regards,
 
Kathy Hanks
Administrator
Board of Education
Phone:  410-313-7194
Fax:  410-313-6633
Email:  kathleen hanks@hcpss.org
 
 
From: Richard A. Kohn [mailto:rkohn@umd.edu] 
Sent: Thursday, February 22, 2018 9:27 AM
To: BoE Email <boe@hcpss.org>
Subject: [BoE Email] - Comments on High School #13
 
 



From: Mavis Ellis
To: mavisellis
Subject: Fwd: [BoE Email] - Comments on High School #13
Date: Thursday, February 22, 2018 9:54:55 AM
Attachments: Where to Build the Next High School in Howard County.pdf

ATT00001.htm

Sent from my iPad

Begin forwarded message:

Resent-From: <restrictedboard@hcpss.org>
From: "Richard A. Kohn" <rkohn@umd.edu>
Date: February 22, 2018 at 9:27:05 AM EST
To: <boe@hcpss.org>
Subject: [BoE Email] - Comments on High School #13
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Where	to	Build	the	Next	High	School	in	Howard	County	

Rick	Kohn,	

We	learn	in	soccer	not	to	pass	the	ball	to	where	your	teammate	is,	but	rather	to	where	he	is	
going,	or	where	he	should	be	headed.	When	planning	to	build	a	school,	it	should	be	built	where	
it	will	be	needed	in	five	years	and	beyond.	We	should	build	it	where	it	will	positively	impact	
growth	into	the	future,	where	we	should	be	heading.	

In	this	brief	statement,	I	will	describe	a	few	characteristics	about	Howard	County	today,	where	
it	is	headed,	and	what	challenges	need	to	be	addressed.		Factors	to	consider	are:	1)	our	county	
is	overcrowded	in	the	northeast	and	the	southeast;	2)	our	schools	are	segregated	with	low
income	schools	concentrated	in	the	southeast,	and	school	and	neighborhood	integration	must	
be	a	priority;	and	3)	there	is	space	for	revitalization	in	the	southeast,	further	building	in	the	
northeast	will	encroach	on	parkland	and	open	space.		These	are	factors	that	I	believe	should	
influence	where	to	build	the	next	high	school.	

Overcrowding	

Howard	County	today	is	overcrowded,	and	it	is	headed	toward	more	overcrowding.		Of	the	
twelve	high	schools	in	Howard	County,	eight	will	be	over	enrolled	within	five	years	without	
redistricting.	Obviously,	the	next	high	school	will	need	to	address	this	fact.	However,	there	are	
some	who	are	focusing	only	on	overcrowded	schools	in	the	northeast	part	of	the	county.	The	
next	school	will	need	to	address	this	need,	but	also	it	will	need	to	address	overcrowding	in	the	
southeast.	

Current	school	enrollments	are	a	reflection	in	part	of	how	district	lines	are	drawn,	not	
necessarily	where	the	most	people	live.	We	have	heard	many	parents	complain	that	they	
cannot	be	redistricted	to	a	school	that	is	farther	away	than	their	current	school.	However,	many	
students	do	not	attend	the	closest	school	currently.	Many	people	do	not	realize	how	impossible	
it	would	be	for	the	current	schools	to	balance	capacity	without	major	redistricting.	Table	1	
shows	the	statistics	for	Howard	County	schools	if	each	student	were	to	attend	the	closest	high	
school.		One	can	see	that	schools	are	not	located	closest	to	the	populations	they	serve.		Clearly,	
parents	cannot	expect	to	attend	the	closest	school	to	them.		

If	you	look	at	the	data	in	Table	1,	you	can	see	that	six	schools	would	be	overcrowded	if	
everyone	attended	the	closest	school.	That	leaves	6	schools	that	are	under	enrolled,	each	of	
them	in	the	northwest	or	central	part	of	the	county.		There	are	no	under	enrolled	schools	in	the	
south.		Indeed,	Howard	HS	is	overcrowded	with	current	districts,	but	it	borders	a	district	that	is	
under	enrolled,	Oakland	Mills.	Parents	from	Howard	have	petitioned	and	protested	to	prevent	
their	children	from	being	redistricted	to	Oakland	Mills	for	various	reasons.	Howard	is	
overcrowded	because	the	school	system	has	granted	the	requests	of	parents	to	keep	the	school	
overcrowded	rather	than	to	reassign	students.	
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Table	1.		Projected	districts	if	each	student	attends	the	closest	school	in	2022,	%	of	capacity,	
%	FARM,	average	driving	time	to	school,	and	average	distance	to	school.	

High	School	
%	

Capacity	 %	FARM	
Avg	
Time	 Avg	Dist	

Atholton	HS	 76%	 20%	 7.2	 2.5	
Centennial	HS	 120%	 7%	 8.5	 3.9	
Glenelg	HS	 69%	 4%	 8.9	 5.1	
Hammond	HS	 122%	 37%	 7.3	 3.8	
Howard	HS	 131%	 13%	 7.0	 3.7	
Long	Reach	HS	 175%	 35%	 8.0	 3.7	
Marriotts	Ridge	HS	 48%	 5%	 8.7	 4.4	
Mt	Hebron	HS	 177%	 15%	 6.6	 3.5	
Oakland	Mills	HS	 42%	 53%	 5.0	 1.5	
Reservoir	HS	 147%	 24%	 8.3	 4.1	
River	Hill	HS	 73%	 6%	 8.0	 3.5	
Wilde	Lake	HS	 81%	 50%	 6.1	 1.9	
Average	by	student	 105%	 23%	 7.4	 3.2	
Average	by	school	 105%	 22%	 7.5	 3.5	
stdev	by	school	 46.5%	 17.5%	 1.2	 1.0	
Results	calculated	from	data	released	by	HCPSS	via	MPIA	request	2018 004.	
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Figure	1.	Howard	County	high	school	districts	if	each	polygon	is	sent	to	the	closest	school	by	
driving	distance.		Different	symbols	represent	different	districts.	Solid	black	triangles	represent	
high	schools.	
	
	
Many	have	opposed	any	attempt	to	redistrict	students	in	order	to	shift	students	in	
overcrowded	schools	toward	under enrolled	schools.	Some	have	an	ill conceived	notion	that	
building	another	school	is	going	to	be	a	replacement	for	redistricting.	They	may	think	that	only	
students	going	to	the	new	school	are	going	to	need	to	change	schools.	The	fact	is	there	will	be	
eight	overcrowded	schools	that	will	need	to	unload	students.	We	cannot	send	all	of	the	extra	
students	in	each	school	to	one	new	school	building.	Students	should	be	shifted	from	one	
district	to	the	next.	There	will	still	need	to	be	widespread	redistricting	irrespective	of	where	the	
next	school	is	built.	
	
In	the	discussion	of	Elkridge	vs.	Jessup,	whichever	location	receives	the	new	school,	students	
will	be	shifted	toward	that	school.		If	it	is	Elkridge,	students	in	the	north	will	be	shifted	directly	
east,	and	students	in	the	south	will	be	shifted	north.		If	it	is	Jessup,	students	in	the	north	will	be	
shifted	southeast,	and	students	in	the	south	will	be	shifted	east.	The	school	district	boundaries	
will	be	moved	in	the	opposite	direction.	There	have	been	arguments	online	that	the	new	school	
must	be	in	Elkridge	because	it	makes	no	sense	for	someone	in	an	overcrowded	school	like	
Howard	or	Centennial	to	have	to	travel	all	the	way	to	Jessup.	Correct,	it	doesn’t	make	sense.		
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There	needs	to	be	widespread	redistricting	to	shift	students	to	neighboring	schools	until	the	
gaps	are	filled.	
	
Computer	optimizations	of	school	enrollments	show	that	it	is	possible	to	balance	capacity	
irrespective	of	whether	the	next	school	is	built	in	Jessup	or	Elkridge.	The	demographics	can	be	
balanced	to	the	extent	desired	for	either	location,	and	both	potential	schools	will	decrease	the	
time	it	takes	for	the	average	person	to	drive	to	the	assigned	school.	Currently,	the	average	
Howard	County	student	lives	about	8	minutes	and	3.5	miles	from	the	assigned	school.	With	an	
additional	school	this	time	may	be	reduced	to	about	7.5	minutes	and	3.1	miles	for	either	
location.	Preferably,	for	the	same	time	expended	to	arrive	at	school	as	now,	the	schools	can	be	
integrated	without	increasing	the	commute.	
	
Which	location	would	best	integrate	the	county?	
	
Another	characteristic	of	Howard	County	is	that	despite	being	the	wealthiest	county	in	the	
state,	it	is	also	becoming	increasingly	segregated	(Figure	2).		Previous	residential	growth	and	
school	redistricting	decisions	have	created	low income	pockets	and	schools	that	are	segregated	
by	race	and	income.	To	be	precise,	Howard	County’s	“low income”	school	districts	are	about	
average	income	compared	to	the	rest	of	the	state,	but	they	are	nonetheless	segregated	from	
the	high income	districts	in	the	county.	I	have	addressed	the	many	disadvantages	of	this	
segregation	before,	and	it	adversely	affects	the	education	of	our	students	throughout	the	
county.	
	
If	we	build	a	new	school	in	Elkridge,	students	in	the	wealthy	northern	districts	will	be	moved	
into	wealthy	northern	districts	to	the	east.	Centennial	students	will	be	moved	to	Howard,	for	
example.	At	the	same	time,	students	in	the	lower income	districts	will	be	moved	east	and	
north.	For	example,	northern	Hammond	students	will	be	moved	to	Long	Reach.	Whichever	way	
the	students	go,	toward	the	vacant	school,	the	district	lines	will	be	moved	in	the	opposite	
direction.		In	the	case	of	Hammond,	the	district	will	be	almost	entirely	south	of	the	actual	
school	building.	Building	the	school	in	Elkridge	will	make	it	possible	to	keep	the	wealthy	north	
and	the	lower income	south	separate.	It	will	increase	the	FARM	percentage	in	Oakland	Mills	
and	Wild	Lake,	which	already	have	the	highest	FARM	percentage.	
	
If	we	build	a	new	school	in	Jessup,	students	will	be	shifted	toward	the	southeast.		For	example,	
Howard	students	would	be	moved	southward	to	Long	Reach.		The	district	lines	for	Oakland	
Mills	and	Hammond	would	move	northward.	The	intermingling	of	the	north	and	the	south	
could	create	more	integrated	school	districts,	which	should	be	a	goal	for	the	county.		But	some	
would	say	it	is	the	opposite	of	the	goal.	Less	segregated	school	districts	could	be	created	if	the	
new	school	were	located	in	either	location,	but	it	is	less	likely	integrated	districts	would	be	
created	if	the	new	school	is	in	Elkridge.	It	is	not	clear	that	all	parties	even	recognize	that	
building	a	school	in	either	location	is	not	going	to	alleviate	the	need	for	redistricting.	
	
Building	the	next	high	school	in	Jessup	instead	of	Elkridge	could	increase	racial	and	economic	
integration.		
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Figure	2.	Economic	demographic	distribution	by	polygon	in	Howard	County.	Larger	circles	
represent	more	students.	
	
	
Where	is	there	room	for	growth?	
	
The	final	reason	to	consider	building	the	school	in	Jessup	is	because	of	the	revitalization	that	
would	accompany	the	new	school.	Figure	3	shows	a	map	of	planned	growth	in	Howard	County.	
The	area	around	Elkridge	is	considered	an	established	community,	but	the	area	in	Jessup	is	
slated	for	growth	and	revitalization.	In	particular,	the	area	around	the	school	should	be	slated	
for	higher end	housing	with	affordable	housing	mixed	in.	There	is	more	available	space	in	the	
area	for	further	development	and	revitalization,	and	thus	further	development	could	be	
absorbed	there.		The	next	high	school	should	be	built	where	it	will	support	nearby	residences	
available	to	mixed	income,	as	well	as	parks	and	athletic	fields,	community	buildings,	and	retail	
(restaurants	and	stores),	and	businesses.			
	
Arguments	have	been	made	that	certain	areas	are	overcrowded	with	residential	housing,	
causing	the	schools	to	be	over	filled.	Putting	a	school	into	such	an	area	could	further	incentivize	
construction	of	more	housing,	but	where	do	they	plan	to	construct	the	additional	facilities	that	
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are	needed?	Where	is	a	location	where	we	can	build	a	community?		If	you	have	to	use	a	park	to	
build	a	school,	there	certainly	isn’t	room	to	build	a	park	that	should	accompany	a	school.		
	
Looking	at	the	opportunity	for	development,	integrated	schools,	and	better	distribution	of	
diversity	throughout	the	eastern	part	of	the	county,	Jessup	would	be	a	good	choice	for	the	new	
school.	It	is	a	move	in	the	right	direction.	
	

	
	
Figure	2.	Plan	for	growth	and	revitalization.		
	

MPIA 2020-163 - Please note this record contains external/non-HCPSS official data





From: Richard A. Kohn
To: BoE Email
Subject: [BoE Email] - Updated comments
Date: Monday, October 30, 2017 4:12:54 PM
Attachments: Statement to BOE.docx

Optimization2.pdf

Dear Board Member

The first statement will be presented tonight if possible.  I sent the second file previously but I noticed that it was not
correctly uploaded to the web site (most pages mixed up or missing).  This second file refers to the statement made
in the first.

Richard Kohn, Ph.D.



Richard Kohn, Ph.D 

Oct. 30, 2017 

Statement to Board of Education 

The final summary of the AAC report includes this statement:  “In reviewing the 
policy target of driving a 25% reduction in [FARM %] deviation we feel that is not a 
feasibly achievable target. In fact, to achieve that target would require large-scale 
cross-county busing.” 

While I respect their contribution, the group of individuals developing redistricting 
plans appears to have lacked expertise with mathematical modeling and statistics, 
demographics, and planning. In fact, a 25% reduction in FARM percentage SD 
among schools is achievable. 

I have experience with mathematical modeling and statistics but I am not 
experienced in all of the areas needed to develop redistricting plans.   Nonetheless, I 
developed a high school redistricting plan through computer optimization.  The 
purpose of doing this was to see if it was possible to create more balanced districts 
without increasing transportation needs. 

Standard deviation of FARM percentage across high schools decreased from 16.3 for 
the current districts to 15.1 for second AAC plan, and this amounts to a 7.3% 
reduction in FARM SD.  My optimized plan decreased SD in FARM percentage for 
high schools from 16.3 to 11.9 for a 27.0% reduction.  Thus, the target of 25% 
reduction in FARM % SD was in fact feasible.  Our plan also balanced capacity 
without moving walkers, and increased average distance per student by only 0.1 
miles or 0.3 minutes driving time compared to current districts, and these increases 
are less than all other plans proposed.  We believe that staff with a strong 
background in planning, demographics, and statistics, and access to accurate data 
could develop district plans that balance capacity, and decrease SD in FARM 
percentage by at least 25%, without significantly increasing travel time to schools. 

My plan optimized distance to schools using a mathematical model described in the 
scientific literature previously for Howard County Schools.  (AI Magazine, 2007, 
Volume 28).  This model minimized variance from school to school in capacity 
utilization, FARM%, and minimized travel distance in miles by fastest route 
(according to Gooble Maps for travel from each polygon center to each of the closest 
6 schools.  The subsequent districts are in figures in the Appendix already 
distributed to you. Capacity was calculated for the average over the five-year period 
from 2018 to 2023. 

Lower numbers in Table 1 represent better plans.  For example, the capacity 
standard deviation will be nearly 20% for the average of the next 5 years if nothing 
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is done.  This high standard deviation represents a large amount of variation from 
school to school with some schools having more than 120% of capacity and other at 
80%.   
 
The Feasibility study resolved this problem, but left the standard deviation among 
FARM% at about 16%, with schools like Oakland Mills increasing in FARM 
percentage while others schools decreased.  One can easily find examples of schools 
that become more balanced while others became less so, but the standard deviation 
shows the overall consistency in maintaining an imbalance in income among 
schools. 
 
Alternatively, the alternative balanced plan that we published online (: 
https://hiruy-hadgu.squarespace.com/news/2017-8-8-school-redistricting-has-
increased-segregation-in-howard-county-schools) reduces the standard deviation 
among FARM% and capacity utilization.  This alternative plan did not move walkers 
from their current school, and did not appreciably increase average distance from 
the school in miles or time.  Some of the schools districts that concentrate white 
wealthy students would increase numbers of low-income students, and one would 
expect that some parents would oppose this change.  However, other parents see the 
benefits of integration in terms of exposing their children to more diversity and 
addressing racist attitudes or fears that result from segregation. 
 
 
Table 1. Summary of results from four HS redistricting plans. 
 

 Capacity 
 SD 

FARM% 
 SD 

Time 
(min) 

Distance 
(miles) 

Current plan:  20% 16.3% 7.7 3.4 

Feasibility study:  6% 15.8% 8.1 3.6 

AAC1 5% 14.7% 8.2 3.7 

AAC2 6% 15.1% 8.2 3.7 

Alternative balanced plan:  5% 12.4% 8.4 3.7 

Optimized Plan 8% 11.9% 8.0 3.5 
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Computer	Op+mized		
Howard	County	High	School	

Districts	

Rick	Kohn,	Ph.D.	
		With	apprecia+on	to	Hiruy	Hadgu	for	his	assistance	
			and	insight.	
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FARM	

				High	school	buildings	
Size	of	circle	indicates	number	of	students	per	area	

Current	Demographic	Map	
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Current	Demographic	Map	
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Current	examples	of		
segregated	districts	
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Current	High	School	Districts	

Hammond	HS	
FARM	=	37.3	%	

Atholton	HS	
FARM	=	10.7	%	
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Current	High	School	Districts	

Howard	HS	
FARM	=	15.6	%	

Long	Reach	HS	
FARM	=	38.7	%	
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High	School	District	Plans	

•  AlternaKve	Plan		
– Plan	balanced	high	schools	with	consideraKon	of	
income	distribuKon,	capacity,	and	distance.	

– Formulated	by	hand.	
– Published	previously	online	by	Hiruy	Hagdu*	

•  OpKmized	Plan	
–	Computer	generated	according	to	method	
published	by	HCC	

	

*hRps://hiruy-hadgu.squarespace.com/news/2017-8-8-school-
redistricKng-has-increased-segregaKon-in-howard-county-schools	
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OpKmizaKon	Method	
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OpKmizaKon	Details	
•  Sought	minimal	value	of	a	funcKon	including:	

–  Variance	(SD2)	in	capacity	percentage	among	schools	
–  Variance	in	FARM	percentage	among	schools	
–  Distance	squared	to	each	school	

•  Used	fastest	route	from	each	polygon	to	school	by	Google	Maps.	
•  Tried	using	Kme	instead	of	distance	to	school,	but	soluKon	
produced	longer	commutes	on	highways	which	tend	to	be	over	
crowded.	

•  Although	each	polygon	is	evaluated	repeatedly,	assignments	to	all	other	
polygons	affect	their	suitability.	
–  Therefore,	local	opKmum	soluKons	can	result	when	more	than	one	

opKmal	soluKon	is	possible	
–  IniKal	condiKons	affect	which	opKmal	soluKon	is	found.	(used	

AlternaKve	Plan	as	iniKal	condiKons)	
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OpKmized	Plan	1	
School	 %	FARM	 %	Capacity	 Avg	Time	(min)	 Avg	Dist	(miles)	
Atholton	HS	 22% 100% 7.7	 3.3	

Centennial	HS	 11% 108% 8.4	 3.5	

Glenelg	HS	 5% 95% 9.6	 5.6	

Hammond	HS	 35% 108% 7.3	 3.2	

Howard	HS	 25% 115% 8.4	 3.7	

Long	Reach	HS	 33% 119% 7.4	 3.1	

MarrioRs	Ridge	HS	 4% 92% 8.6	 4.3	

Mt	Hebron	HS	 17% 108% 6.3	 2.6	

Oakland	Mills	HS	 35% 108% 8.6	 3.1	

Reservoir	HS	 30% 104% 8.6	 4.0	

River	Hill	HS	 12% 98% 8.6	 3.4	

Wilde	Lake	HS	 35% 102%	 7.5	 2.4	

Overall	average	 23% 105% 8.0	 3.5	

Average	of	schools	 22% 105% 8.1	 3.5	

SD	of	schools	 11.9% 7.9% 0.9	 0.8	

Calculated	average	capacity	from	2018-2023	
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Summary	of	Plans	
Capacity	

	SD	
FARM%	
	SD	

Time	
(min)	

Distance	
(miles)	

Current	plan:		 19.5%	 16.3%	 7.7	 3.4	

Feasibility	study:		 7%	 15.8%	 8.1	 3.6	

AlternaKve	balanced	plan:		 5%	 12.4%	 8.4	 3.7	

OpKmized	Plan	 8%	 11.9%	 8.0	 3.5	

SD	=	standard	deviaKon	among	schools	(lower	is	beRer)	
				Average	projected	SD	in	capacity	from	2018-2023	
				Average	projected	SD	in	FARM%		among	schools	
				Average	driving	Kme	to	school	

Capacity	could	be	balanced	while	decreasing	varia+on	in	FARM%	among	schools		
without	significantly	increasing	travel	+me	to	school	(Google	maps).	
	
However,	some	segrega+on	by	income	remains	due	to	segrega+on	by	neighborhood.	
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OpKmized	Atholton	HS	

FARM	

FARM	=	21.8	%	
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OpKmized	Centennial	HS	

FARM	

FARM	=	10.9	%	

MPIA 2020-163 - Please note this record contains external/non-HCPSS official data

Exte
rna

l/N
on

-H
CPSS D

ata



OpKmized	Glenelg	HS	

FARM	

FARM	=	4.9	%	
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OpKmized	Hammond	HS	

FARM	

FARM	=	35.3	%	
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OpKmized	Howard	HS	

FARM	

FARM	=	24.6	%	
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OpKmized	Long	Reach	HS	

FARM	

FARM	=	33.2	%	
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OpKmized	MarrioRs	Ridge	HS	

FARM	

FARM	=	4.4	%	
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OpKmized	Mt	Hebron	HS	

FARM	

FARM	=	16.9	%	
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OpKmized	Oakland	Mills	HS	

FARM	

FARM	=	34.6	%	
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OpKmized	Reservoir	HS	

FARM	

FARM	=	29.8	%	
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OpKmized	River	Hill	HS	

FARM	

FARM	=	11.7%	%	
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OpKmized	Wilde	Lake	HS	

FARM	

FARM	=	35.5	%	
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Conclusions	

•  It	is	feasible	to	create	HS	districts	with	balanced	
capacity	and	parKally	balanced	for	FARM%	
– Without	moving	walkers	
– Without	significantly	increasing	commute	Kme	to	
school	

•  Although	school	district	lines	have	been	drawn	to	
increase	segregaKon	by	income,	since	
neighborhoods	are	also	segregated,	there	are	
limits	to	how	much	integraKon	can	be	achieved	
without	increasing	distance	to	school.	
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From: Kathleen V. Hanks
To: Richard Kohn; BoE Email
Subject: RE: [BoE Email] - Decrease in FARM %
Date: Monday, October 16, 2017 11:19:18 AM
Attachments: Update.pdf

Good Morning,

Thank you for contacting the Board of Education regarding the Attendance Area Adjustment Plans. Your email and
attachment will be saved as written testimony for the public hearing process. Please note that written testimony is
part of the public record maintained by the Board Office and will be posted online as part of the public hearing.

The public hearings are scheduled for Thursday, October 26, 2017, at 7 p m. and Tuesday, November 7, 2017, at 7
p m. at River Hill High School. The public is able to submit written testimony until 4:30 p m. on Tuesday,
November 14, 2017, at BOE@hcpss.org

The Board is currently scheduled to take action on the Attendance Area Adjustment Plan on Thursday, November
16, 2017. Once again, thank you for contacting the Board.

Sincerely,

Kathy Hanks
Administrator
Board of Education
Phone:  410-313-7194
Fax:  410-313-6633
Email:  kathleen_hanks@hcpss.org

-----Original Message-----
From: Richard Kohn [mailto:richardakohn@gmail.com]
Sent: Saturday, October 14, 2017 5:05 PM
To: BoE Email <boe@hcpss.org>
Subject: [BoE Email] - Decrease in FARM %

This is a reminder that the AAC reported that it was impossible to decrease segregation by FARM percentage, and
our results showed this to be untrue.  It is possible to decrease bus rides and decrease standard deviation in FARM%
among schools.  Current plans force students to travel farther to schools to match their income level. 

Please see this short update.



From: Bess Altwerger
To: Michael Martirano; Cynthia Vaillancourt; Board Member"s Email
Cc: Renee Kamen; Bruce Gist
Subject: Fwd: [BoE Email] - Decrease in FARM %
Date: Sunday, October 15, 2017 9:05:19 AM
Attachments: Update.pdf

ATT00001.htm

Hi All,
Do any of you know about and/or have available the proposed plan referred to below as the
"optimized" plan? I asked Mr. Kone to send it, but in the meantime, I wonder if it has been
tested by school management yet. Please fill me in. 
Thanks,
Bess

Sent from my iPad

Begin forwarded message:

From: Richard Kohn <richardakohn@gmail.com>
Date: October 14, 2017 at 5:05:04 PM EDT
To: <boe@hcpss.org>
Subject: [BoE Email] - Decrease in FARM %

This is a reminder that the AAC reported that it was impossible to decrease
segregation by FARM percentage, and our results showed this to be untrue.  It is
possible to decrease bus rides and decrease standard deviation in FARM% among
schools.  Current plans force students to travel farther to schools to match their
income level.  

Please see this short update.



Update	

The	final	summary	of	the	AAC	report	includes	this	statement:

The	plan	I	submitted	previously	shows	that	we	could	decrease	the	time	on	buses	
without	moving	walkers,	and	balance	FARM	significantly	(the	proposed	change	
described	by	the	AAC	does	not	significantly	decrease	SD	in	FARM	among	schools).		
The	racial	demographic	analysis	presented	is	incorrect	and	underestimates	the	
increase	in	segregation.		The	HCPSS	would	not	provide	the	data	used	for	these	
calculations	in	a	MPIA	request,	and	said	they	have	no	such	data.		The	excuses	
provided	for	segregation	are	not	based	in	fact.	

	Note	again,	our	alternative	plans	for	high	school	districts.		Please	see	my	previous	
report	for	details.	

Table	1.	Summary	of	results	from	four	HS	redistricting	plans.	

Capacity	
	SD	

FARM%	
	SD	

Time	
(min)	

Distance	
(miles)	

Current	plan:	 19.5%	 16.3%	 7.7	 3.4	

Feasibility	study:	 7%	 15.8%	 8.1	 3.6	

Alternative	balanced	plan:	 5%	 12.4%	 8.4	 3.7	

Optimized	Plan	 8%	 11.9%	 8.0	 3.5	

SD	=	standard	deviation	among	schools,	indicates	less	variation	from	school	to	
school	as	desired.		Travel	time	is	the	average	fastest	driving	route	for	each	polygon	
to	the	assigned	school.		No	walkers	were	moved	with	the	Alternative	or	Optimized	
Plans.	
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Summary:	Computer	optimized	plan	balances	capacity	and	FARM	%	better	than	all	
other	plans	without	increasing	travel	time	to	each	school	compared	to	the	
Feasibility	Study.			
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From: Kathleen V. Hanks
To: Richard Kohn; BoE Email
Subject: RE: [BoE Email] - Inquiry from web site
Date: Thursday, October 12, 2017 12:25:25 PM
Attachments: Testimony to BOE.PDF

Optimization2.pdf

Good Afternoon,

Thank you for contacting the Board of Education regarding the Attendance Area Adjustment Plans. Your email and
two attachments will be saved as written testimony for the public hearing process. Please note that written testimony
is part of the public record maintained by the Board Office and will be posted online as part of the public hearing.

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
Sent: Thursday, October 12, 2017 11:29 AM
To: BoE Email <boe@hcpss.org>
Subject: [BoE Email] - Inquiry from web site

Dear Board of Education Member

Please review these two documents regarding redistricting of schools.  These documents show that high school
districts can be drawn that desegregate several schools while balancing capacity, and that these partially
desegregated districts would have shorter bus rides and keep walkers at their home schools compared to all other
plans for redistricting.  A corollary of this conclusion is the current districts are unnecessarily increasing bus rides
for students in order to maintain the level of segregation requested by many parents.

This segregation has not advanced the goals of building community, teaching about diversity, or advancing equity. 
Furthermore, building a new high school by 2015  is no justification to delay redistricting of high schools as
students redistricted in 2018 would have completed high school by 2014 and will not be redistricted twice.

Rick Kohn



Richard	Kohn,	Ph.D.	
	

	
Testimony	to	the	Board	of	Education	on	Redistricting	

	
I	aim	to	make	several	points	that	will	be	supported	by	data.		
	
First,	the	process	to	develop	and	evaluate	redistricting	plans	was	severely	flawed.		
The	AAC	did	not	have	diverse	membership	and	could	not	reflect	on	issues	of	
importance	to	the	entire	community.		In	particular,	the	committee	lacked	
membership	from	low-income	schools,	lacked	racial	balance,	and	lacked	income	
balance.		
	
Second,	the	data	that	were	provided	for	evaluation	of	plans	were	flawed.		As	I	
pointed	out	in	my	letter	to	the	Superintendent	and	Diversity	Officer	on	July	1,	and	
later	reiterated	in	August,	the	racial	demographic	data	published	with	the	Feasibility	
Study	were	considerably	different	from	Census	data.		For	example,	the	Feasibility	
Study	reported	that	average	percentage	of	white	students	in	Oakland	Mills	HS	would	
drop	from	22%	to	18%,	however	estimates	for	the	same	proposed	changes	using	US	
Census	data	predicted	that	white	student	percentage	would	drop	to	12%.		When	I	
requested	the	racial	demographic	data	by	polygon,	the	HCPSS	stated	that	no	such	
data	exist,	and	there	were	no	data	for	calculating	racial	demographics	for	proposed	
districts.		They	indicated	data	were	only	calculated	for	existing	districts.	The	
published	reports	were	therefore	misleading	in	that	they	made	projections,	which	
the	school	system	later	said	they	could	not	make.	The	percentage	of	students	on	
Free	and	Reduced	Meals	were	equally	biased,	but	the	school	system	corrected	this	
dataset	only	after	most	of	the	redistricting	plans	were	completed.		After	all	of	the	
various	iterations	of	plans	were	finished,	the	HCPSS	stated	that	as	much	as	45%	of	
the	projected	student	enrollment	predictions	were	wrong.		Obviously,	the	data	were	
not	sufficient	to	develop	redistricting	plans.	
	
Third,	the	process	to	obtain	input	from	members	of	the	community	was	flawed	and	
caused	the	input	to	be	substantially	biased.		First,	the	website	only	allowed	the	
community	to	post	very	short	responses	to	specific	questions.		The	questions	were	
leading	and	limited	to	how	individual	families	were	affected	by	the	plans.	They	did	
not	address	the	long-term	interests	of	the	community.	This	process	and	leading	
questions	resulted	in	biased	responses	emphasizing	personal	interests,	and	quite	
often	comments	biased	against	certain	schools.	For	example,	the	process	favored	
input	opposing	moving	of	neighborhoods	to	so-called	“bad”	schools,	or	in	effect,	
encouraged	comments	favoring	segregation	of	communities.	
	
Forth,	the	initial	plan	outlined	in	the	Feasibility	Study	increased	segregation	by	
income	and	race,	and	underestimated	the	degree	of	segregation	that	was	being	
proposed	through	the	use	of	biased	data.		Subsequent	plans	only	tweaked	this	initial	
plan,	and	with	inadequate	tools	to	do	so	properly.	
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schools	to	about	12%	without	impacting	travel	time	on	buses,	and	without	moving	
students	who	walk	to	school.		For	details	of	this	plan,	see	the	attached	PowerPoint.	
	
Table	1.	Summary	of	results	from	four	HS	redistricting	plans.	
	
	 Capacity	

	SD	
FARM%	
	SD	

Time	
(min)	

Distance	
(miles)	

Current	plan:		 19.5%	 16.3%	 7.7	 3.4	

Feasibility	study:		 7%	 15.8%	 8.1	 3.6	

Alternative	balanced	plan:		 5%	 12.4%	 8.4	 3.7	

Optimized	Plan	 8%	 11.9%	 8.0	 3.5	

	
Lower	numbers	in	Table	1	represent	better	plans.		For	example,	the	capacity	
standard	deviation	will	be	nearly	20%	for	the	average	of	the	next	5	years	if	nothing	
is	done.		This	high	standard	deviation	represents	a	large	amount	of	variation	from	
school	to	school	with	some	schools	having	more	than	120%	of	capacity	and	other	at	
80%.		The	Feasibility	study	resolved	this	problem,	but	left	the	standard	deviation	
among	FARM%	at	about	16%,	with	schools	like	Oakland	Mills	increasing	in	FARM	
percentage	while	others	schools	did	not.		One	can	easily	find	examples	of	schools	
that	become	more	balanced	while	others	became	less	so,	but	the	standard	deviation	
shows	the	overall	consistency	in	maintaining	an	imbalance	among	schools.	
	
Alternatively,	the	balanced	plan	that	we	published	online	reduces	the	standard	
deviation	among	FARM%	and	capacity	utilization.		This	alternative	plan	did	not	
move	walkers	from	their	current	school,	and	did	not	appreciably	increase	average	
distance	from	the	school	in	miles	or	time.		Some	of	the	schools	districted	to	
concentrate	white	wealthy	students	would	increase	numbers	of	low-income	
students,	and	one	would	expect	that	some	parents	would	oppose	this	change.		
However,	other	parents	see	the	benefits	of	integration	in	terms	of	exposing	their	
children	to	more	diversity	and	addressing	racist	attitudes	or	fears	that	result	from	
segregation.	
	
The	computer	optimized	plan	also	decreased	standard	deviation	among	capacity	
and	FARM	percentage,	and	decreased	the	average	time	it	takes	to	drive	to	the	
school	compared	to	the	Feasibility	Study.	Thus,	these	results	show	that	any	
arguments	to	create	districts	that	segregate	students	to	the	extent	that	the	standard	
deviation	in	FARM	percentage	among	schools	is	greater	than	12%,	are	in	fact	
designed	to	segregate	students,	even	at	the	expense	of	increasing	time	students	
spend	on	buses.	
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Response	to	Comments	
	
You	will	likely	receive	many	comments	from	parents	who	do	not	want	their	children	
to	attend	a	“bad”	school,	or	a	school	with	a	higher	percentage	of	low-income	
students,	or	one	with	more	racial	minorities.		I	urge	you	to	consider	what	these	
comments	are	telling	you.		These	comments	indicate	that	the	parents	are	afraid	of	
poor	people,	or	racial	minorities,	or	they	believe	it	is	dangerous	for	their	children	to	
associate	with	them,	or	the	presence	of	low-income	students	lowers	the	quality	of	
the	school.		Such	comments	should	be	taken	as	strong	evidence	of	the	need	for	de-
segregation.		You	will	note	these	fears	are	largely	coming	from	parents	whose	
students	currently	attend	white	segregated	schools.		It	is	imperative	that	these	fears	
be	addressed	in	the	only	way	shown	historically	to	be	effective,	de-segregation.	
	
Testimony	to	the	effect	that	low-income	schools	do	not	receive	the	resources	
necessary	to	provide	adequate	education,	or	that	the	low-income	schools	are	
dilapidated,	should	be	considered	to	be	evidence	that	the	county	must	expend	the	
resources	on	low-income	schools	to	insure	that	the	facilities	are	just	as	good	as	for	
the	high-income	schools.		Again,	such	testimony	also	highlights	the	need	to	de-
segregate	schools	because	it	is	well	known	that	separate	is	not	equal.		History	shows	
that	schools	with	more	low-income	students	do	not	receive	the	resources	they	need,	
and	therefore	all	schools	should	be	integrated	to	the	extent	possible.	
	
You	will	also	receive	testimony	that	parents	do	not	want	their	children	to	have	to	
ride	a	bus	to	a	school	that	is	farther	away	than	the	closest	school	to	their	home.		
Understand,	that	capacity	cannot	be	balanced	if	every	student	attends	the	closest	
school.		Some	students	will	need	to	take	a	bus	to	the	second	or	third	closest	school,	
but	on	average	students	do	not	need	to	be	taking	buses	very	far.		If	the	BOE	
responds	to	parents	who	complain	that	their	neighborhood	should	attend	the	
closest	school,	it	would	mean	moving	some	other	neighborhood	farther	away.	Thus,	
parents	who	are	invited	to	have	input	and	who	have	connections	will	be	given	the	
priority	over	those	who	don’t.		This	highlights	one	of	the	problems	with	this	entire	
process.	
	
The	redistricting	process	was	biased	in	many	respects	toward	maintaining	and	
increasing	the	segregation	of	our	schools	by	race	and	income.	This	process	and	the	
plans	that	were	developed	as	a	result	of	it	do	not	serve	the	interests	of	the	county	
and	will	continue	to	divide	us.	
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From: Danielle Lueking
To: Kirsten Coombs
Cc: Cynthia Vaillancourt; Sandra French; Bess Altwerger; Christina Delmont-Small; Mavis Ellis; Ananta Hejeebu;

Michael Martirano; Mark Blom; Karalee Turner-Little; Kathleen V. Hanks; Theodore Hartman; Kathy Agans
Subject: Re: [BoE Email] - Continued stonewalling on data.
Date: Tuesday, September 12, 2017 10:04:34 AM
Attachments: Aliprando Response 18-066.pdf

A couple people had problems opening the letter attached to this email yesterday, so I am resending
with a new attachment. Please let me know if you still have any issues.
 
Danielle Lueking
Senior Communications Specialist
Maryland Public Information Act Representative
Danielle_Lueking@hcpss.org
410-313-6820
 
 

From: Danielle Lueking <Danielle_Lueking@hcpss.org>
Date: Monday, September 11, 2017 at 5:07 PM
To: Kirsten Coombs <Kirsten_Coombs@hcpss.org>
Cc: Cynthia Vaillancourt <Cynthia_Vaillancourt@hcpss.org>, Sandra French
<Sandra_French@hcpss.org>, Bess Altwerger <Bess_Altwerger@hcpss.org>, Christina
Delmont-Small <Christina_Delmont-Small@hcpss.org>, Mavis Ellis <Mavis_Ellis@hcpss.org>,
Ananta Hejeebu <Ananta_Hejeebu@hcpss.org>, Michael Martirano
<Michael_Martirano@hcpss.org>, Mark Blom <Mark_Blom@hcpss.org>, Karalee Turner-Little
<Karalee_TurnerLittle@hcpss.org>, Kathy Hanks <Kathleen_Hanks@hcpss.org>, Theodore
Hartman <Theodore_Hartman@hcpss.org>
Subject: Re: [BoE Email] - Continued stonewalling on data.
 
Good afternoon,
 
The attached response – and federal reference documents regarding student data privacy – were
sent to Ms. Aliprando regarding her MPIA 066 request on the release of student-level data.
 
Danielle Lueking
Senior Communications Specialist
Maryland Public Information Act Representative
Danielle_Lueking@hcpss.org
410-313-6820
 
 

From: Kirsten Coombs <Kirsten_Coombs@hcpss.org>
Date: Wednesday, August 30, 2017 at 5:12 PM
To: Danielle Lueking <Danielle_Lueking@hcpss.org>
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
<Karalee_TurnerLittle@hcpss.org>, Kathy Hanks <Kathleen_Hanks@hcpss.org>
Subject: Re: [BoE Email] - Continued stonewalling on data.
 
Danielle,
Could you keep me/us in the loop?
 
Thanks!

Kirsten Coombs
Sent from my Board iPhone

On Aug 30, 2017, at 3:54 PM, Danielle Lueking <Danielle_Lueking@hcpss.org> wrote:

Ms. Coombs,
 
In response to your request regarding clarification of Ms. Aliprando’s email, I’ve
summarized the background leading to these requests and our efforts to respond to
her concerns.
 

Dr. Richard Kohn submitted MPIA 045 asking for student-level data to help him
better understand the relationship between race, FARMs and test
performance. In response to various MPIAs submitted by Dr. Kohn regarding
redistricting data, School Planning and myself called him on 8/21 to clarify what
documents/data he was requesting. During that conversation, Dr. Kohn
mentioned that he understood student-level data had to be protected and he
was willing to sign some kind of confidentiality agreement if that’s what it took
to obtain information. Following discussions with Data Privacy and the Shared
Accountability who handles research projects, our response to MPIA 045,
attached, addressed his interest in getting student-level data in confidentiality
from HCPSS.
 
Our response to Dr. Kohn directed him to our research process, since that
appeared to be his interest and because we could not provide the data in the
manner he would need to conduct research without violating FERPA.
 
Ms. Aliprando’s subsequent MPIA 066 took issue with the fact that we didn’t
release the actual data in our MPIA response to Dr. Kohn.  The reason we did
not was because those particular fields requested by Dr. Kohn at the student-
level would be protected by FERPA, and ultimately because we thought we
were being more helpful by directing Dr. Kohn to our research process.
 
This week we have already been in the process of developing a response to
both Dr. Kohn and Ms. Aliprando on this issue along with our Coordinator of



Data Privacy.  As part of that response, we will need to determine which data
fields need to be suppressed, to comply with FERPA, and whether that
suppression – which also has to account for corollary relationships of individual
student-level data – can occur without the creation of a new record, which is
not required under the MPIA.

 
Please feel free to reach out if you have any further questions.
 
 
Danielle Lueking
Senior Communications Specialist
Maryland Public Information Act Representative
Danielle_Lueking@hcpss.org
410-313-6820
 
 

From: Mark Blom <Mark_Blom@hcpss.org>
Date: Wednesday, August 30, 2017 at 1:44 PM
To: Danielle Lueking <Danielle_Lueking@hcpss.org>
Subject: FW: [BoE Email] - Continued stonewalling on data.
 
 
 
From: Kirsten Coombs 
Sent: Tuesday, August 29, 2017 5:00 PM
To: Superintendent <superintendent@hcpss.org>; Mark Blom
<Mark_Blom@hcpss.org>
Cc: BoE Email <boe@hcpss.org>
Subject: RE: [BoE Email] - Continued stonewalling on data.
 
I would like to understand this as well.
 
Regards,

Kirsten Coombs

From: Carol Aliprando [caliprando@gmail.com]
Sent: Tuesday, August 29, 2017 4:56 PM
To: Superintendent; BoE Email
Subject: [BoE Email] - Continued stonewalling on data.

Hello,

Despite the transparency the MPIA website promised, it appears once again
HCPSS is hiding something. Again, the lack of transparency invites serious
concern about HCPSS ethics. Please reference:

?         Someone else's original MPIA request:
https://mpia.hcpss.org/requests/2018-045

?         My own follow-up MPIA request: https://mpia.hcpss.org/requests/2018-



066
HCPSS is still treating the student digital records as if they were on paper, and as
if the digital records cannot be de-identified. There are a multitude of digital ways
to protect the Personally Identifiable Information of the student digital record.
Nevertheless, HCPSS continues to inappropriately use FERPA and MPIA, to hide
the data.

The HoCo community comprises the most highly technical, flexible, sophisticated
free resource HCPSS has - yet HCPSS continues to refuse the partnership. This
terrible situation negatively impacts the quality and equity of the education
provided to our children. How can it be allowed to continue when so many
obvious protections exist to protect the identification of that individual student?

For example, beyond the technical de-identification techniques, every year
thousands of parent volunteers sign confidentiality agreements and walk through
school doors. Highly personal information about individual student's school lives
is dutifully and successfully protected.

Another example, I have held a Top Secret, Special Compartmented, level 6
security clearance. I am a trusted citizen that clearly understands the risk of data
disclosure - more so than your staff, I would guess. Many other professionals hold
similar, and current, trusted positions in various other industries. They are bound
by professional and statistical ethics. A disclosure by such community members is
infinitely unlikely. You've got a bevy of de-indentification techniques, a potential
for contracts and professional ethics protecting your "individual student record"
data. It is as if last year never happened, except we now have a website that tracks
the continued stonewalling. Come on, now.
 
Carol Aliprando
<Kohn Response 18-045.pdf>



From: Michael Martirano
To: Kathy Agans
Subject: Fwd: [BoE Email] - Continued stonewalling on data.
Date: Tuesday, September 12, 2017 6:16:03 AM
Attachments: Aliprando Response 18-066.pdf

ATT00001.htm
ED OCPO Response to Louisiana - 2016-04-21 508.pdf
ATT00002.htm
FERPA Federal Register.pdf
ATT00003.htm

Please print out emails and all attachments and clip together for me. Thanks 

MJM

DR. MICHAEL J. MARTIRANO
Interim Superintendent 
Howard County Public School System

"Be kind ALWAYS! Everyone is fighting a hard battle."

"Enthusiasm is one of the most powerful engines of success. When you do a thing, do it
with all your might. Put your whole soul into it. Stamp it with your own personality. Be
active, be energetic, be enthusiastic and faithful, and you will accomplish your objective.
Nothing great was ever achieved without enthusiasm." Ralph Waldo Emerson

"It's easier to build strong children than to repair broken men." Frederick Douglass

Begin forwarded message:

From: "Danielle Lueking" <Danielle_Lueking@hcpss.org>
To: "Kirsten Coombs" <Kirsten_Coombs@hcpss.org>
Cc: "Cynthia Vaillancourt" <Cynthia_Vaillancourt@hcpss.org>, "Sandra French"
<Sandra_French@hcpss.org>, "Bess Altwerger" <Bess_Altwerger@hcpss.org>,
"Christina Delmont-Small" <Christina_Delmont-Small@hcpss.org>, "Mavis
Ellis" <Mavis_Ellis@hcpss.org>, "Ananta Hejeebu"
<Ananta_Hejeebu@hcpss.org>, "Michael Martirano"
<Michael_Martirano@hcpss.org>, "Mark Blom" <Mark_Blom@hcpss.org>,
"Karalee Turner-Little" <Karalee_TurnerLittle@hcpss.org>, "Kathleen V. Hanks"
<Kathleen_Hanks@hcpss.org>, "Theodore Hartman"
<Theodore_Hartman@hcpss.org>
Subject: Re: [BoE Email] - Continued stonewalling on data.

Good afternoon,
 
The attached response – and federal reference documents regarding student data
privacy – were sent to Ms. Aliprando regarding her MPIA 066 request on the release of
student-level data.
 
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
Cc: Cynthia Vaillancourt <Cynthia Vaillancourt@hcpss.org>, Sandra French
<Sandra_French@hcpss.org>, Bess Altwerger <Bess_Altwerger@hcpss.org>,
Christina Delmont-Small <Christina Delmont-Small@hcpss.org>, Mavis Ellis
<Mavis_Ellis@hcpss.org>, Ananta Hejeebu <Ananta_Hejeebu@hcpss.org>,
Michael Martirano <Michael Martirano@hcpss.org>, Mark Blom
<Mark_Blom@hcpss.org>, Karalee Turner-Little
<Karalee TurnerLittle@hcpss.org>, Kathy Hanks <Kathleen Hanks@hcpss.org>
Subject: Re: [BoE Email] - Continued stonewalling on data.
 
Danielle,
Could you keep me/us in the loop?
 
Thanks!

Kirsten Coombs
Sent from my Board iPhone

On Aug 30, 2017, at 3:54 PM, Danielle Lueking <Danielle_Lueking@hcpss.org>
wrote:

Ms. Coombs,
 
In response to your request regarding clarification of Ms. Aliprando’s
email, I’ve summarized the background leading to these requests and our
efforts to respond to her concerns.
 

Dr. Richard Kohn submitted MPIA 045 asking for student-level
data to help him better understand the relationship between
race, FARMs and test performance. In response to various MPIAs
submitted by Dr. Kohn regarding redistricting data, School
Planning and myself called him on 8/21 to clarify what
documents/data he was requesting. During that conversation, Dr.
Kohn mentioned that he understood student-level data had to be
protected and he was willing to sign some kind of confidentiality
agreement if that’s what it took to obtain information. Following
discussions with Data Privacy and the Shared Accountability who
handles research projects, our response to MPIA 045, attached,
addressed his interest in getting student-level data in



confidentiality from HCPSS.
 
Our response to Dr. Kohn directed him to our research process,
since that appeared to be his interest and because we could not
provide the data in the manner he would need to conduct
research without violating FERPA.
 
Ms. Aliprando’s subsequent MPIA 066 took issue with the fact
that we didn’t release the actual data in our MPIA response to Dr.
Kohn.  The reason we did not was because those particular fields
requested by Dr. Kohn at the student-level would be protected by
FERPA, and ultimately because we thought we were being more
helpful by directing Dr. Kohn to our research process.
 
This week we have already been in the process of developing a
response to both Dr. Kohn and Ms. Aliprando on this issue along
with our Coordinator of Data Privacy.  As part of that response,
we will need to determine which data fields need to be
suppressed, to comply with FERPA, and whether that suppression
– which also has to account for corollary relationships of
individual student-level data – can occur without the creation of a
new record, which is not required under the MPIA.

 
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

Despite the transparency the MPIA website promised, it appears once
again HCPSS is hiding something. Again, the lack of transparency
invites serious concern about HCPSS ethics. Please reference:

<!--[if !supportLists]-->?         <!--[endif]-->Someone else's original
MPIA request: https://mpia.hcpss.org/requests/2018-045

<!--[if !supportLists]-->?         <!--[endif]-->My own follow-up
MPIA request: https://mpia.hcpss.org/requests/2018-066

HCPSS is still treating the student digital records as if they were on
paper, and as if the digital records cannot be de-identified. There are
a multitude of digital ways to protect the Personally Identifiable
Information of the student digital record. Nevertheless, HCPSS
continues to inappropriately use FERPA and MPIA, to hide the data.

The HoCo community comprises the most highly technical, flexible,
sophisticated free resource HCPSS has - yet HCPSS continues to
refuse the partnership. This terrible situation negatively impacts the
quality and equity of the education provided to our children. How can
it be allowed to continue when so many obvious protections exist to
protect the identification of that individual student?

For example, beyond the technical de-identification techniques, every
year thousands of parent volunteers sign confidentiality agreements
and walk through school doors. Highly personal information about
individual student's school lives is dutifully and successfully
protected.

Another example, I have held a Top Secret, Special Compartmented,
level 6 security clearance. I am a trusted citizen that clearly
understands the risk of data disclosure - more so than your staff, I
would guess. Many other professionals hold similar, and current,
trusted positions in various other industries. They are bound by
professional and statistical ethics. A disclosure by such community
members is infinitely unlikely. You've got a bevy of de-
indentification techniques, a potential for contracts and professional
ethics protecting your "individual student record" data. It is as if last
year never happened, except we now have a website that tracks the
continued stonewalling. Come on, now.
 



Carol Aliprando
<Kohn Response 18-045.pdf>
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September 11, 2017 

Carol Aliprando 

 

Response sent via email to caliprando@gmail.com 

 

Dear Ms. Aliprando: 

 

The Howard County Public School System (HCPSS) on August 25, 2017, received your request 

under the Maryland Public Information Act (MPIA) asking to “employ your own disclosure 

avoidance methodology and de-identify the dataset [requested under 2018-045] because the 

public wants the data for the purposes of transparency and accountability. Please provide in one 

or more Excel files and database (.dbf) files containing individual test score performance on 

standardized tests (PARC, SAT, AP) taken in 2014-2016 school years. And for each observation 

provide: test offered, year offered, numerical and categorical data reflecting test grades, grade 

level of test taker, race, whether or not the student was eligible or receiving Free and Reduced 

Meals, and any other relevant demographic information.” 

 

At the individual student-level, the specific items requested, including PARCC Score, Year 

Taken, and Categorical Data (pass/fail), SAT Score and Year Taken, and Categorical Data 

(pass/fail), AP Score and Year Taken, and Categorical Data (pass/fail), Grade Level of Test 

Taker, Race and, FARMS, even with personally identifiable information (PII) removed, have the 

potential to reveal educational records under FERPA. According to the U.S. Department of 

Education “The simple removal of nominal or direct identifiers, such as name and SSN (or other 

ID number), does not necessarily avoid the release of personally identifiable information” 

(FERPA Federal Register Document – attached for reference, see page 74831). In order for 

education agencies to avoid disclosure, “educational agencies and institutions releasing public 

reports derived from students’ education records must perform an analysis of the data and apply 

statistical disclosure limitation methods to remove any PII from those reports prior to release” 

(ED OCPO Letter – attached for reference).  

  

As you indicated in your request and the referenced documents above state, those fields at the 

individual student-level would require us to apply disclosure avoidance techniques in order to be 

preserve PII. The application of such techniques, much like the technical skills required to 

program a database to pull new reports/records, constitutes the creation of an entirely new 

record. Under the MPIA process, and as advised in the Fourteenth Edition of the Maryland 

Public Information Act Manual created by Maryland’s Office of the Attorney General, an agency 

is only obligated to produce existing records and is not required to program/generate new reports 

that are not already used in the normal course of business. 

  

Alternately, existing HCPSS reports, such as the examples below, show the intersection of 

testing, FARMs and demographic data at an aggregated-level which eliminates the need to apply 

disclosure avoidance techniques and, with suppression, can be released under the MPIA:  

http://www.hcpss.org/


 

• 2016 AP Board memo: http://www.hcpss.org/f/academics/2016-ap-exam-participation-

performance-results.pdf   

• 2016 SAT ACT Board memo: http://www.hcpss.org/f/academics/2016-sat-act-

results.pdf   

• 2016 – 2017 PARCC Performance on the Maryland Report Card: 

http://reportcard.msde.maryland.gov/downloadindex.aspx?K=99AAAA 

 

For reference, the suggestion in our response to MPIA 2018-045 to instead use the research route 

under HCPSS Policy 3030 would allow the requester to obtain the information without such 

techniques applied for analytical purposes, which in conversations with the requester we 

understood to be their intent.  

 

Pursuant to MPIA GP § 4-362, you are entitled to seek judicial review of this decision. You also 

have the option to refer any concerns regarding this decision to the Public Access Ombudsman 

pursuant to GP § 4-1B-01 et seq. 

 

Please feel free to contact the Public Information Office at 410-313-6682 for further assistance. 

 

Sincerely, 

 
Danielle Lueking 

Maryland Public Information Act Representative 

http://www.hcpss.org/f/academics/2016-ap-exam-participation-performance-results.pdf
http://www.hcpss.org/f/academics/2016-ap-exam-participation-performance-results.pdf
http://www.hcpss.org/f/academics/2016-sat-act-results.pdf
http://www.hcpss.org/f/academics/2016-sat-act-results.pdf
http://reportcard.msde.maryland.gov/downloadindex.aspx?K=99AAAA


 

10910 Clarksville Pike 108 • Ellicott City, MD 21042 • 410-313-6600 • www.hcpss.org 

 

 

 

 

 

August 24, 2017 

Richard Kohn 

 

Response sent via email to richardakohn@gmail.com 

 

Dear Mr. Kohn: 

 

The Howard County Public School System on August 14, 2017, received your request under the 

Maryland Public Information Act (MPIA) seeking “a dataset in one or more Excel files and 

database (.dbf) files containing individual test score performance on standardized tests (PARC, 

SAT, AP) taken in 2014-2016 school years (without identifying the test takers, of course).  And 

for each observation provide: test offered, year offered, numerical and categorical data reflecting 

test grades, grade level of test taker, race, whether or not the student was eligible or receiving 

Free and Reduced Meals, and any other relevant demographic information.” 

 

Per our conversations regarding your desire to use student-level data at an analytical level for 

research purposes – which would otherwise not be releasable as it reveals individual student 

records which are exempt under the Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act of 1974 

(FERPA), which restricts access to student records, and MPIA GP § 4-313, which prevents 

disclosure of school district records pertaining to individual students – please contact Mary 

Levinsohn-Klyap in our Shared Accountability Office at Mary_Levinsohn-Klyap@hcpss.org. 

For reference, research involving students and employees is addressed under HCPSS Policy 

3030, which can be found on our website at: http://www.hcpss.org/f/board/policies/3030.pdf.  

 

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
mailto:Mary_Levinsohn-Klyap@hcpss.org
http://www.hcpss.org/f/board/policies/3030.pdf


UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION 

OFFICE OF MANAG EMENT 

April 21, 2016 

John C. White 

State Superintendent of Education 

Louisiana Department of Education 

P.O. Box 94064 

Baton Rouge, LA 70804-9064 

Dear Mr . White: 

Thank you for your letter of April 8, 2016 and for Louisiana's concern about protecting studen t privacy. 

We previously discussed some of the concerns in your letter , and in this letter I will answer the two main 

questions you posed, as well as address generally the U.S. Department of Education's (the Department's 

or ED's) expectations with regard to the application of disclosure avoidance to published data. 

Question One : What is the USDOE's guidance when suppressing enrollment data that includes 

ethnicity, gender, and economic status? 

The Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA) require s prior written consent from a parent or 

eligible student before disclosing personally identifiable information (PII) from student education 

records, unless an exception applies. Under FERPA, educational agencies and institutions reporting or 

releasing data derived from education records without prior written consent are responsible for not 

disclosing PII in the reports, whether through single or multiple releases and taking into account other 

reasonably available information. 34 CFR §99.31(b)(l). In addition, when reporting achievement results 

under section llll(h) of the Elementary and Secondary Education Act of 1965 (ESEA), as amended by 

the No Child Left Behind Act of 2001 (in effect through the 2016-2017 school year), a State is not 

required to use disaggregated data for one or more subgroups to report achievement results " if the 

results would reveal personally identifiable information about an individual student. " Section llll(i) of 

the ESEA, as recently amended by the Every Student Succeeds Act, similarly makes clear that 

information collected or disseminated under section 1111, including racial, ethnic, and poverty 

information disaggregated by subgroup on report cards, must be collected and disseminated in a 

400 MARYL AND AVE., S.W .. WASHINGTON , D.C. 20202- 4500 

www.ed.gov 

Our mission is to ensure equal access to educa tion and to promote educational exce llence throughollf the Nation . 1 



manner that protects the privacy of individuals consistent with FERPA. Consequently, States, 

educational agencies and institutions releasing public reports derived from students' education records 

must perform an analysis of the data and apply statistical disclosure limitation methods to remove any 

PII from tho se reports prior to release. 

Any release of demographic or performance information derived from students' education records, 

even in aggregate form, carries some level of risk of disclosure of PII, and no statistical disclosure 

limitation methodology can completely eliminate that risk. Thus, States, educational agencies and 

institutions must assess the level of disclosure risk for each proposed data release and evaluate that risk 

against FERPA's confidentiality standard, which prohibits the release of information that would permit a 

"reasonab le person in the school community ... to identify [an individual] with reasonable certainty. " 34 

CFR §99.3. Some data elements carry a greater risk of reidentification than others. For example, 

variables relating to socio-economic stat us, disability, and discipline are accorded stronger protections 

than other , less sensitive data elements. 

Let me assure you that the data published by the National Center for Education Statistics (NCES) in the 

Common Core of Data (CCD) are published with statistical disclosure limitations ; the only data in the 

CCD to which NCES does not apply disclosure avoidance are basic school and school district enrollment 

counts at grade level, disaggregated by gender and race/ethnicity . NCES' decision to publish this limited 

sub-set of the CCD without statistical disclosure limitations reflects its determination that this 

publication poses a low risk of re identification given the low sensitivity of the enrollment counts, the 

fact that these data have been released in this manner for 30 years without complaint, and the 

substantial 12-18 month time delay between data collection and publication. Other data elements in 

the CCD, however, receive privacy protections, including the counts of students eligible for FRPL, 

students with disabilities, and students who are deemed English learners (Els). 

A State educational agency (SEA) publishing State enrollment counts could (but is not required to) 

determine that basic enrollment counts may be published without disclosure avoidance. This decision 

should be made based on analysis of the risk of re identification and any unique State requirements . 

However, under FERPA, the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA), and ESEA, State 

educational agencies will need to apply statistical disclosure limitations when count s of additional , 

more sensitive, attributes are included in published data on students, including socio-economic status 

(such as FRPL), disability status, and EL status, or when student performance, outcomes , or disciplinary 

data are included. While we leave States some discretion in which method of disclosure avoidance to 

use, we conduct disclosure avoidance analysis ourselves, and expect States to do the same. 

Question Two: What Louisiana data are being released federally and what are the suppression 

techniques being utilized? 

The Department collects data from States and districts in support of a variety of programs administered 

by different offices within ED. These data, in turn, are released in a variety of formats and contexts, 

2 



including reports to Congress, issue papers and briefs, research reports, and data tools and products. 

Because disclosure avoidance in public data releases is entirely about risk assessment and risk 

mitigation, and as the selection of a disclosure avoidance methodology can have a major impact on the 

usability of the resulting data, the Department's Disclosure Review Board evaluates each data release 

independently , and selects a methodology specifically tailored for that release. The following is a brief 

summary of the methods used for some of the higher profile data releases made by the Department . 

School and Local Educational Agency (LEA)-level Assessment Data: 

When publishing the two outcome category school and LEA-level math and language 

arts assessment data, the Department employs a combination of primary cell 

suppression for very small subgroups, and blurring of data for medium -sized group s 

using ranges and top/bottom-coding with varying widths , depending on the size of the 

reported subgroup. 

School and LEA-level Adjusted Cohort Graduation Rate: 

When publishing cohort graduation rate data, the Department employs a combination 

of primary cell suppression for very small subgroup cohorts, and blurring of data for 

medium-sized cohorts using ranges and top/bottom-coding with varying widths , 

depending on the size of the reported cohort. 

State-level IDEA and Special Education Data: 

For IDEA and special education data releases, the Department typically relies on 

aggregation to the State-level, coupled with primary cell suppression, complementary 

cell suppression, and/or top/bottom-coding, as necessary, to protect privacy and 

prevent reidentification of specific individuals . 

Civil Rights Data Collection (CRDC): 

The public -release version of the Civil Rights Data Collection employs a sophisti cated 

rounding routine to protect privacy and prevent reidentification. Most CRDC data 

elements are blurred using rounding, while data elements relating to 

out come/pe rformance data and those pertaining to IDEA and special education are 

protected using a combination of bottom -coding and rounding . All rounding routines 

for the CRDC are applied at the lowest level of subgroup disaggregation , and all row , 

column, and multidimensional tabular totals are calculated using the rounded values . 

The Department values stakeholder input in our decision-making relating to privacy protections for our 

public data releases. Our "Disclosure Avoidance Lifecycle" explicitly includes solicitation of stakeholder 

feedback as an iterative process, to be repeated at regular intervals. Most of our data releases are 

3 



accompanied by technical documentation that details the specific disclosure limitation methodologies 

that have been applied to protect privacy, and the ED program offices that release the data regularly 

consult with their grantees and data users on the efficacy of the methods and their impact on the 

usability of the data. Furthermore, when ED introduces a new approach to the privacy protections for a 

particular data product we typically present those proposals in a publ ic forum to inform the education 

community and to listen to any concerns or questions they may have. We did this most notably in 2013 

at the Management Information Systems conference when we unveiled the new methodology for 

releasing the school-level assessment data . We appreciate your suggestion to further increase State and 

local input into our disclosure avoidance decision-making, and will raise this as an issue to discuss with 

the SEA and LEA members of the National Forum on Education Statistics at their next meeting . 

I trust the above information will be helpful. Please call me on (202) 453-5587 should you have 

questions or need additional information . 

Sincerely, 

K~~/~b~ 
Kathleen M. Styles 

Chief Privacy Officer 

cc: 

Emma Vadehra, Chief of Staff 

Dale King, Director, Family Policy Compliance Office 

Michael Hawes, Statistical Privacy Advisor 

Ross Santy, Director, Administrative Data Division, NCES 
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DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION 

34 CFR Part 99 
RIN 1855–AA05 

[Docket ID ED–2008–OPEPD–0002] 

Family Educational Rights and Privacy 
AGENCY: Office of Planning, Evaluation , 
and  Policy Development, Department of 
Education . 
ACTION: Final regulations. 

SUMMARY: The Secretary amends our 
regulations implementing the Family 
Educational Rights and  Privacy Act 
(FERPA), which  is section  444 of the 
General Education  Provisions Act. 
These amendments are needed  to 
implement a provision  of the USA 
Patriot Act and  the Campus Sex Crimes 
Prevention  Act, which  added  new 
exceptions permitting the d isclosure of 
personally iden tifiable in formation  from 
education  records without consent. The 
amendments also implement two U.S. 
Supreme Court decisions in terpreting 
FERPA, and  make necessary changes 
identified  as a resu lt of the Department’s 
experience administering FERPA and  
the curren t regulations. 

These changes clarify permissible 
d isclosures to paren ts of eligible 
students and  conditions that apply to 
d isclosures in  health  and  safety 
emergencies; clarify permissible 
d isclosures of student iden tifiers as 
directory in form ation; allow d isclosures 
to contractors and  other ou tside parties 
in  connection  with  the ou tsourcing of 
institu tional services and  functions; 
revise the defin itions of attendance, 
d isclosure, education  records, 
personally iden tifiable in form ation , and  
other key terms; clarify permissible 
red isclosures by State and  Federal 
officials; and  update investigation  and  
enforcement provisions. 
DATES: These regulations are effective 
January 8, 2009. 
FOR FURTHER INFORMATION CONTACT: 
Frances Moran , U.S. Department of 
Education , 400 Maryland  Avenue, SW., 
room 6W243, Washington , DC 20202– 
8250. Telephone: (202) 260–3887. 

If you  use a telecommunications 
device for the deaf (TDD), you  may call 
the Federal Relay Service (FRS) at 1– 
800–877–8339. 

Ind ividuals with  d isabilities may 
obtain  th is document in  an  alternative 
format (e.g., Braille, large prin t, 
audiotape, or computer d iskette) on  
request to the contact person  listed  
under FOR FURTHER INFORMATION 
CONTACT. 
SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION: On March  
24, 2008, the U.S. Department of 

Education  (the Department or we) 
published  a notice of p roposed  
ru lemaking (NPRM) in  the Federal 
Register (73 FR 15574). In  the preamble 
to the NPRM, the Secretary d iscussed  
the major changes proposed  in  that 
document that are necessary to 
implement statu tory changes made to 
FERPA, to implement two U.S. Supreme 
Court decisions, to respond to changes 
in  in formation  technology, and  to 
address other issues iden tified  th rough 
the Department’s experience in  
administering FERPA. 

We believe that the regulatory 
changes adopted  in  these final 
regulations provide clarification  on  
many importan t issues that have arisen  
over time with  regard  to how FERPA 
affects decisions that school officials 
have to make on  an  everyday basis. 
Educational agencies and  institu tions 
face considerable challenges, especially 
with  regard  to main tain ing safe 
campuses, p rotecting personally 
iden tifiable in formation  in  students’ 
education  records, and  responding to 
requests for data on  student p rogress. 
These final regulations, as well as the 
d iscussion  on  various provisions in  the 
preamble, will assist school officials in  
addressing these challenges in  a manner 
that complies with  FERPA and  protects 
the privacy of students’ education  
records. 
Notice of Proposed Rulemaking 

In  the NPRM, we proposed  
regulations to implement section  507 of 
the USA Patriot Act (Pub. L. 107–56), 
enacted  October 26, 2001, and  the 
Campus Sex Crimes Prevention  Act, 
section  1601(d) of the Victims of 
Trafficking and  Violence Protection  Act 
of 2000 (Pub. L. 106–386), enacted  
October 28, 2000. Other major changes 
proposed  in  the NPRM included  the 
following: 

• Amending § 99.5 to clarify the 
conditions under which  an  educational 
agency or institu tion  may d isclose 
personally iden tifiable in formation  from 
an  eligible student’s education  records 
to a paren t without the prior written  
consent of the eligible student; 

• Amending § 99.31(a)(1) to au thorize 
the d isclosure of education  records 
without consent to contractors, 
consultan ts, volunteers, and  other 
ou tside parties to whom an  educational 
agency or institu tion  has ou tsourced  
institu tional services or functions; 

• Amending § 99.31(a)(1) to ensure 
that teachers and  other school officials 
on ly gain  access to education  records in  
which  they have legitimate educational 
in terests; 

• Amending § 99.31(a)(2) to permit 
educational agencies and  institu tions to 

d isclose education  records, without 
consent, to another institu tion  even  after 
the student has enrolled  or transferred  
so long as the d isclosure is for purposes 
related  to the student’s enrollment or 
transfer; 

• Amending § 99.31(a)(6) to require 
that an  educational agency or institu tion  
may d isclose personally iden tifiable 
in formation  under th is section  only if it 
en ters in to a written  agreement with  the 
organization  specifying the purposes of 
the study and  the use and  destruction  of 
the data; 

• Amending § 99.31 to include a new 
subsection  to provide standards for the 
release of in formation  from education  
records that has been  de-identified ; 

• Amending § 99.35 to permit State 
and  local educational au thorities and  
Federal officials listed  in  § 99.31(a)(3) to 
make further d isclosures of personally 
iden tifiable in formation  from education  
records on  behalf of the educational 
agency or institu tion ; and  

• Amending § 99.36 to remove the 
language requiring strict construction  of 
th is exception  and  add  a provision  
stating that if an  educational agency or 
institu tion  determines that there is an  
articu lable and  sign ifican t th reat to the 
health  or safety of a student or other 
ind ividual, it may d isclose the 
in formation  to any person , including 
paren ts, whose knowledge of the 
in formation  is necessary to protect the 
health  or safety of the student or other 
ind ividuals. 
Significant Changes From the NPRM 

These final regulations contain  
several sign ifican t changes from the 
NPRM as follows: 

• Amending the defin ition  of 
personally iden tifiable in form ation  in  
§ 99.3 to provide a defin ition  of 
biom etric record; 

• Removing the proposed  defin ition  
of State auditor in  § 99.3 and  provisions 
in  § 99.35(a)(3) related  to State auditors 
and  audits; 

• Revising § 99.31(a)(6) to clarify the 
specific types of in formation  that must 
be contained  in  the written  agreement 
between  an  educational agency or 
institu tion  and  an  organization  
conducting a study for the agency or 
institu tion ; 

• Removing the statement from 
§ 99.31(a)(16) that FERPA does not 
require or encourage agencies or 
institu tions to collect or main tain  
in formation  concern ing registered  sex 
offenders; 

• Requiring a State or local 
educational au thority or Federal official 
or agency that red iscloses personally 
iden tifiable in formation  from education  
records to record  that d isclosure if the 
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educational agency or institu tion  does 
not do so under § 99.32(b); and  

• Revising § 99.32(b) to require an  
educational agency or institu tion  that 
makes a d isclosure in  a health  or safety 
emergency to record  in formation  
concern ing the circumstances of the 
emergency. 

These changes are explained  in  
greater detail in  the following A nalysis 
of Com m ents and  Changes. 
Analysis of Comments and Changes 

In  response to the Secretary’s 
invitation  in  the NPRM, 121 parties 
submitted  comments on  the proposed  
regulations. An analysis of the 
comments and  of the changes in  the 
regulations since publication  of the 
NPRM follows. 

We group  major issues accord ing to 
subject, with  applicable sections of the 
regulations referenced  in  paren theses. 
We d iscuss other substan tive issues 
under the sections of the regulations to 
which  they pertain . Generally, we do 
not address technical and  other minor 
changes, or suggested  changes that the 
law does not au thorize the Secretary to 
make. We also do not address comments 
pertain ing to issues that were not with in  
the scope of the NPRM. 
Definitions (§ 99.3) 
(a) A ttendance 

Com m ent: We received  no comments 
objecting to the proposed  changes to the 
defin ition  of the term attendance. Three 
commenters expressed  support for the 
changes because the availability and  use 
of alternative instructional formats are 
not clearly addressed  by the curren t 
regulations. One commenter suggested  
that the defin ition  could  avoid  
obsolescence by referring to the receip t 
of instruction  lead ing to a d ip loma or 
certificate instead  of listing the types of 
instructional formats. 

Discussion: We proposed  to revise the 
defin ition  of attendance because we 
received  inquiries from some 
educational agencies and  institu tions 
asking whether FERPA was applicable 
to the records of students receiving 
instruction  through the use of new 
technology methods that do not require 
a physical p resence in  a classroom. 
Because the defin ition  of attendance is 
key to determining when an  
ind ividual’s records at a school are 
education  records protected  by FERPA, 
it is essen tial that schools and  
institu tions understand  the scope of the 
term. To prevent the regulations from 
becoming out of date as new formats 
and  methods are developed , the 
defin ition  provides that attendance may 
also include ‘‘other electron ic 

in formation  and  telecommunications 
technologies.’’ 

While most schools are aware of the 
various formats d istance learn ing may 
take, we believe it is in formative to list 
the d ifferen t communications media 
that are curren tly used . Also, we believe 
that paren ts, eligible students, and  other 
ind ividuals and  organizations that use 
the FERPA regulations may find  the 
listing of formats usefu l. 

We do not agree that the defin ition  of 
attendance should  be limited  to receip t 
of instruction  lead ing to a d ip loma or 
certificate, because th is would  
improperly exclude many instructional 
formats. 

Changes: None. 
(b) Directory In form ation  (§§ 99.3 and  
99.37) 
(1) Defin ition  (§ 99.3) 

Com m ent: We received  a number of 
comments on  our proposal to revise the 
defin ition  of directory in form ation  to 
provide that an  educational agency or 
institu tion  may not designate as 
d irectory in formation  a student’s social 
security number (SSN) or other student 
iden tification  (ID) number. The 
proposed  defin ition  also provided  that a 
student’s user ID or other un ique 
identifier used  by the student to access 
or communicate in  electron ic systems 
could  be considered  d irectory 
in formation  but on ly if the electron ic 
iden tifier cannot be used  to gain  access 
to education  records except when  used  
in  conjunction  with  one or more factors 
that au thenticate the student’s iden tity. 

All commenters agreed  that student 
SSNs should  not be d isclosed  as 
d irectory in formation . Several 
commenters strongly supported  the 
defin ition  of directory in form ation  as 
proposed , noting that failu re to curtail 
the use of SSNs and  student ID numbers 
as d irectory in formation  could  facilitate 
iden tity theft and  other fraudulen t 
activities. 

One commenter said  that the 
proposed  regulations d id  not go far 
enough to prohibit the use of students’ 
SSNs as a student ID number, p lacing 
SSNs on  academic transcrip ts, and  
using SSNs to search  an  electron ic 
database. Another commenter expressed  
concern  that the proposed  regulations 
could  prohibit reporting needed  to 
enforce students’ financial obligations 
and  other rou tine business practices. 
Accord ing to th is commenter, 
restrictions on  the use of SSNs in  
FERPA and  elsewhere demonstrate the 
need  for a single student iden tifier that 
can  be tied  to the SSN and  other 
iden tifying information  to use for grade 
transcrip ts, enrollment verification , 

defau lt p revention , and  other activities 
that depend  on  sharing student 
in formation . Another commenter stated  
that institu tions should  not be allowed 
to penalize students who opt ou t of 
d irectory in formation  d isclosures by 
denying them access to benefits, 
services, and  required  activities. 

Several commenters said  that the 
defin ition  in  the proposed  regulations 
was confusing and  unnecessarily 
restrictive because it treats a student ID 
number as the functional equivalen t of 
an  SSN. They explained  that when  
provid ing access to records and  
services, many institu tions no longer 
use an  SSN or other single iden tifier 
that both  identifies and  au thenticates 
iden tity. As a resu lt, at many 
institu tions, the condition  specified  in  
the regulations for treating electron ic 
iden tifiers as d irectory in formation , i.e., 
that the iden tifier cannot be used  to gain  
access to education  records except when  
used  in  conjunction  with  one or more 
factors that au thenticate the user’s 
iden tity, often  applies to student ID 
numbers as well because they cannot be 
used  to gain  access to education  records 
without a personal iden tification  
number (PIN), password , or some other 
factor to au thenticate the user’s iden tity. 
Some commenters suggested  that our 
nomenclature is the problem and  that 
regard less of what it is called , an  
identifier that does not allow access to 
education  records without the use of 
au thentication  factors should  be treated  
as d irectory in formation . Accord ing to 
one commenter, allowing institu tions to 
treat student ID numbers as d irectory 
in formation  in  these circumstances 
would  improve business practices and  
enhance student p rivacy by encouraging 
institu tions to require additional 
au thentication  factors when  using 
student ID numbers to provide access to 
education  records. 

One commenter strongly opposed  
allowing institu tions to treat a student’s 
electron ic iden tifier as d irectory 
in formation  if the iden tifier could  be 
made available to parties ou tside the 
school system. This commenter noted  
that electron ic iden tifiers may act as a 
key, offering d irect access to the 
student’s en tire file, and  that PINs and  
passwords alone do not p rovide 
adequate security for education  records. 
Another commenter said  that if 
electron ic iden tifiers and  ID numbers 
can  be released  as d irectory in formation , 
then  password  requirements need  to be 
more stringent to guard  against 
unauthorized  access to in formation  and  
identity theft. 

Some commenters recommended 
establish ing categories of d irectory 
in formation , with  certain  in formation  
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made available on ly with in  the 
educational community. One 
commenter expressed  concern  about 
In ternet safety because the regulations 
allow publication  of a student’s e-mail 
address. Another said  that FERPA 
should  not p revent institu tions from 
prin ting the student’s ID number on  an  
ID card  or otherwise restrict its use on  
campus but that publication  in  a 
d irectory should  not be allowed. 

Two commenters asked  the 
Department to confirm that the 
regulations allow institu tions to post 
grades using a code known only by the 
teacher and  the student. 

Discussion: We share commenters’ 
concerns about the use of students’ 
SSNs. In  general, however, there is no 
statu tory au thority under FERPA to 
prohibit an  educational agency or 
institu tion  from using SSNs as a student 
ID number, on  academic transcrip ts, or 
to search  an  electron ic database so long 
as the agency or institu tion  does not 
d isclose the SSN in  violation  of FERPA 
requirements. As d iscussed  elsewhere 
in  th is p reamble, FERPA does prohibit 
using a student’s SSN, without consent, 
to search  records in  order to confirm 
d irectory in formation . 

Some States prohibit the use of SSNs 
as a student ID number, and  some 
institu tions have voluntarily ceased  
using SSNs in  th is manner because of 
concerns about iden tity theft. Students 
are required  to provide their SSNs in  
order to receive Federal financial aid , 
and  the regulations do not p revent an  
agency or institu tion  from using SSNs 
for th is purpose. We note that FERPA 
does not address, and  we do not believe 
that there is statu tory au thority under 
FERPA to require, creation  of a single 
student iden tifier to rep lace the SSN. In  
any case, the Department encourages 
educational agencies and  institu tions, as 
well as State educational au thorities, to 
follow best p ractices of the educational 
community with  regard  to protecting 
students’ SSNs. 

We agree that students should  not be 
penalized  for op ting out of d irectory 
in formation  d isclosures. Indeed , an  
educational agency or institu tion  may 
not require paren ts and  students to 
waive their righ ts under FERPA, 
including the righ t to op t ou t of 
d irectory in formation  d isclosures. On 
the other hand , we do not in terpret 
FERPA to require educational agencies 
and  institu tions to ensure that students 
can  remain  anonymous to others in  the 
school community when  using an  
institu tion’s electron ic communications 
systems. As a resu lt, paren ts and  
students who opt ou t of d irectory 
in formation  d isclosures may not be able 
to use electron ic communications 

systems that require the release of the 
student’s name or electron ic iden tifier 
with in  the school community. (As 
d iscussed  later in  th is notice in  our 
d iscussion  of the comments on  
§ 99.37(c), the righ t to op t ou t of 
d irectory in formation  d isclosures may 
not be used  to allow a student to remain  
anonymous in  class.) 

The regulations allow an  educational 
agency or institu tion  to designate a 
student’s user ID or other electron ic 
iden tifier as d irectory in formation  if the 
iden tifier functions essen tially like the 
student’s name, and  therefore, 
d isclosure would  not be considered  
harmful or an  invasion  of privacy. That 
is, the iden tifier cannot be used  to gain  
access to education  records except when  
combined  with  one or more factors that 
au thenticate the student’s iden tity. 

We have h istorically advised  that 
student ID numbers may not be 
d isclosed  as d irectory in formation  
because they have trad itionally been  
used  like SSNs, i.e., as both  an  identifier 
and  au thenticator of iden tity. We agree, 
however, that the proposed  defin ition  
was confusing and  unnecessarily 
restrictive because it failed  to recognize 
that many institu tions no longer use 
student ID numbers in  th is manner. If a 
student iden tifier cannot be used  to 
access records or communicate 
electron ically without one or more 
additional factors to au thenticate the 
user’s iden tity, then  the educational 
agency or institu tion  may treat it as 
d irectory in formation  under FERPA 
regard less of what the iden tifier is 
called . We have revised  the defin ition  of 
directory in form ation  to provide th is 
flexibility. 

We share the commenters’ concerns 
about the use of PINs and  passwords. In  
the preamble to the NPRM, we 
explained  that PINs or passwords, and  
single-factor au thentication  of any kind , 
may not be reasonable for p rotecting 
access to certain  kinds of in formation  
(73 FR 15585). We also recognize that 
user IDs and  other electron ic iden tifiers 
may provide greater access and  linking 
to in formation  than  does a person’s 
name. Therefore, we remind  educational 
agencies and  institu tions that d isclose 
student ID numbers, user IDs, and  other 
electron ic iden tifiers as d irectory 
in formation  to examine their 
recordkeeping and  data sharing 
practices and  ensure that, when  these 
identifiers are used , the methods they 
select for au thenticating identity 
provide adequate protection  against the 
unauthorized  d isclosure of in formation  
in  education  records. 

We also share the concern  of 
commenters who stated  that students’ 
e-mail addresses and  other iden tifiers 

should  be d isclosed  as d irectory 
in formation  only with in  the school 
system and  should  not be made 
available ou tside the institu tion . The 
d isclosure of d irectory in formation  is 
permissive under FERPA, and , 
therefore, an  agency or institu tion  is not 
required  to designate and  d isclose any 
student iden tifier (or any other item) as 
d irectory in formation . Further, while 
FERPA does not expressly recognize 
d ifferen t levels or categories of d irectory 
in formation , an  agency or institu tion  is 
not required  to make student d irectories 
and  other d irectory in formation  
available to the general public just 
because the in formation  is shared  
with in  the institu tion . For example, 
under FERPA, an  institu tion  may decide 
to make students’ electron ic iden tifiers 
and  e-mail addresses available with in  
the institu tion  but not release them to 
the general public as d irectory 
in formation . In  fact, the preamble to the 
NPRM suggested  that agencies and  
institu tions should  min imize the public 
release of student d irectories to mitigate 
the risk of re-identifying information  
that has been  de-identified  (73 FR 
15584). 

With  regard  to student ID numbers in  
particu lar, an  agency or institu tion  may 
prin t an  ID number on  a student’s ID 
card  whether or not the number is 
treated  as d irectory in formation  because 
under FERPA simply prin ting the ID 
number on  a card , without more, is not 
a d isclosure and , therefore, is not 
p rohibited . See 20 U.S.C. 1232g(b)(2). If 
the student ID number is not designated  
as d irectory in formation , then  the 
agency or institu tion  may not d isclose 
the card , or require the student to 
d isclose the card , except in  accordance 
with  one of the exceptions to the 
consent requirement, such  as to school 
officials with  legitimate educational 
in terests. If the student ID number is 
designated  as d irectory in formation  in  
accordance with  these regulations, then  
it may be d isclosed . However, the 
agency or institu tion  may still decide 
against making a d irectory of student ID 
numbers available to the general public. 

We d iscuss codes used  by teachers to 
post grades in  our d iscussion  of the 
defin ition  of personally iden tifiable 
in form ation  elsewhere in  th is p reamble. 

Changes: We have revised  the 
defin ition  of directory in form ation  in  
§ 99.3 to provide that d irectory 
in formation  includes a student ID 
number if it cannot be used  to gain  
access to education  records except when  
used  with  one or more other factors to 
au thenticate the user’s iden tity. 
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(2) Conditions for Disclosing Directory 
Information  
(i) 99.37(b) 

Com m ent: All comments on  th is 
p rovision  supported  our proposal to 
clarify that an  educational agency or 
institu tion  must continue to honor a 
valid  request to op t ou t of d irectory 
in formation  d isclosures even  after the 
student no longer attends the 
institu tion . One commenter stated  that 
the proposed  regulations appropriately 
provided  former students with  the 
continu ing ability to control the release 
of d irectory in formation  and  remarked  
that th is will benefit students and  
families. One commenter asked  how 
long an  opt ou t from d irectory 
in formation  d isclosures must be 
honored . Another commenter said  that 
students may object if their former 
schools do not d isclose d irectory 
in formation  without their specific 
written  consent because the school is 
unable to determine whether the 
student p reviously op ted  out. This 
could  occur, for example, if a school 
declined  to d isclose that a student had  
received  a degree to a prospective 
employer. 

Discussion: The regulations clarify 
that once a paren t or eligible student 
op ts ou t of d irectory in formation  
d isclosures, the educational agency or 
institu tion  must continue to honor that 
election  after the student is no longer in  
attendance. While th is is not a new 
in terpretation , school d istricts and  
postsecondary institu tions have been  
unclear about its application  and  have 
not administered  it consisten tly. The 
inclusion  in  the regulations of th is 
longstanding in terpretation  is necessary 
to ensure that schools clearly 
understand  their obligation  to continue 
to honor a decision  to op t ou t of the 
d isclosure of d irectory in formation  after 
a student stops attending the school, 
un til the paren t or eligible student 
rescinds it. 

Educational agencies and  institu tions 
are not required  under FERPA to 
d isclose d irectory in formation  to any 
party. Therefore, paren ts and  students 
have no basis for objecting if an  agency 
or institu tion  does not d isclose d irectory 
in formation  because it is not certain  
whether the paren t or student op ted  out. 
The regulations provide an  educational 
agency or institu tion  with  the flexibility 
to determine the process it believes is 
best su ited  to serve its population  as 
long as it honors prior elections to op t 
ou t of d irectory in formation  d isclosures. 

Changes: None. 

(ii) § 99.37(c) 
Com m ent: We received  two comments 

in  support of our proposal to clarify in  
th is section  that paren ts and  students 
may not use the righ t to op t ou t of 
d irectory in formation  d isclosures to 
prevent d isclosure of the student’s name 
or other iden tifier in  the classroom. 

Discussion: We appreciate the 
commenters’ support. 

Changes: None. 
(iii) § 99.37(d) 

Com m ent: Two commenters 
supported  the prohibition  on  using a 
student’s SSN to d isclose or confirm 
d irectory in formation  unless a paren t or 
eligible student p rovides written  
consent. One of these commenters 
questioned  the statu tory basis for th is 
in terpretation . 

Several commenters asked  whether, 
under the proposed  regulations, a 
school must deny a request for d irectory 
in formation  if the requester supplies the 
student’s SSN. One commenter asked  
whether a request for d irectory 
in formation  that contains a student’s 
SSN may be honored  so long as the 
school does not use the SSN to locate 
the student’s records. One commenter 
stated  that the regulations could  more 
effectively protect students’ SSNs but 
was concerned  that denying a request 
for d irectory in formation  that contains 
an  SSN may inadverten tly confirm the 
SSN. 

One commenter expressed  concern  
that the prohibition  on  using a student’s 
SSN to verify d irectory in formation  
would  leave schools with  large student 
populations unable to locate the 
appropriate record  because they will 
need  to rely solely on  the student’s 
name and  other d irectory in formation , if 
any, p rovided  by the requester, which  
may be duplicated  in  their databases. 
This commenter said  that students 
would  object if institu tions were unable 
to respond quickly to requests by banks 
or landlords for confirmation  of 
enrollment because the request 
contained  the student’s SSN. 

One commenter suggested  that the 
regulations require an  educational 
agency or institu tion  to notify a 
requester that the release or 
confirmation  of d irectory in formation  
does not confirm the accuracy of the 
SSN or other non-d irectory in formation  
submitted  with  the request. Another 
commenter asked  whether the 
regulations apply to confirmation  of 
student enrollment and  other d irectory 
in formation  by outside service providers 
such  as the National Student 
Clearinghouse. 

Discussion: The provision  in  the 
proposed  regulations prohibiting an  

educational agency or institu tion  from 
using a student’s SSN when d isclosing 
or verifying d irectory in formation  is 
based  on  the statu tory prohibition  on  
d isclosing personally iden tifiable 
in formation  from education  records 
without consent in  20 U.S.C. 1232g(b). 
The prohibition  applies also to any 
party ou tside the agency or institu tion  
provid ing degree, enrollment, or other 
confirmation  services on  behalf of an  
educational agency or institu tion , such  
as the National Student Clearinghouse. 

A school is not required  to deny a 
request for d irectory in formation  about 
a student, such  as confirmation  whether 
a student is enrolled  or has received  a 
degree, if the requester supplies the 
student’s SSN (or other non-d irectory 
in formation) along with  the request. 
However, in  releasing or confirming 
d irectory in formation  about a student, 
the school may not use the student’s 
SSN (or other non-d irectory 
in formation) supplied  by the requester 
to iden tify the student or locate the 
student’s records un less a paren t or 
eligible student has provided  written  
consent. This is because confirmation  of 
in formation  in  education  records is 
considered  a d isclosure under FERPA. 
See 20 U.S.C. 1232g(b). A school’s use 
of a student’s SSN (or other non- 
d irectory in formation) provided  by the 
requester to confirm enrollment or other 
d irectory in formation  implicitly 
confirms and , therefore, d iscloses, the 
student’s SSN (or other non-d irectory 
in formation). This is true even  if the 
requester also provides the school with  
the student’s name, date of birth , or 
other d irectory in formation  to help  
identify the student. 

A school may choose to deny a 
request for d irectory in formation , 
whether or not it contains a student’s 
SSN, because on ly a paren t or eligible 
student has a righ t to obtain  education  
records under FERPA. Denial of a 
request for d irectory in formation  that 
contains a student’s SSN is not an  
implicit confirmation  or d isclosure of 
the SSN. 

These regulations will not adversely 
affect the ability of institu tions to 
respond quickly to requests by parties 
such  as banks and  landlords for 
confirmation  of enrollment that contain  
the student’s SSN because students 
generally provide written  consent for 
schools to d isclose in formation  to the 
inquiring party in  order to obtain  
banking and  housing services. We note, 
however, that if a school wishes to use 
the student’s SSN to confirm enrollment 
or other d irectory in formation  about the 
student, it must ensure that the written  
consent p rovided  by the student 
includes consent for the school to 
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d isclose the student’s SSN to the 
requester. 

There is no au thority in  FERPA to 
require a school to notify requesters that 
it is not confirming the student’s SSN 
(or other non-d irectory in formation) 
when  it d iscloses or confirms d irectory 
in formation . However, when  a party 
submits a student’s SSN along with  a 
request for d irectory in formation , in  
order to avoid  confusion , un less a 
paren t or eligible student has provided  
written  consent for the d isclosure of the 
student’s SSN, the school may ind icate 
that it has not used  the SSN (or other 
non-d irectory in formation) to locate the 
student’s records and  that its response 
may not and  does not confirm the 
accuracy of the SSN (or other non- 
d irectory in formation) supplied  with  the 
request. 

We recognize that with  a large 
database of student in formation , there 
may be some loss of ability to iden tify 
students who have common names if 
SSNs are not used  to help  identify the 
ind ividual. However, schools that do 
not use SSNs supplied  by a party 
requesting d irectory in formation , either 
because the student has not p rovided  
written  consent or because the school is 
not certain  that the written  consent 
includes consent for the school to 
d isclose the student’s SSN, generally 
may use the student’s address, date of 
birth , school, class, year of graduation , 
and  other d irectory in formation  to 
iden tify the student or locate the 
student’s records. 

Changes: None. 
(c) Disclosure (§ 99.3) 

Com m ent: Two commenters said  that 
the proposal to revise the defin ition  of 
disclosure to exclude the return  of a 
document to its source was too broad  
and  could  lead  to improper release of 
h igh ly sensitive documents, such  as an  
ind ividualized  education  program (IEP) 
contained  in  a student’s special 
education  records, to anyone claiming 
to be the creator of a record . One of the 
commenters stated  that changing the 
defin ition  was unnecessary, as schools 
already have a means of verifying 
documents by requesting additional 
copies from the source. Both  
commenters also expressed  concern  
that, because recordation  is not 
required , a paren t or eligible student 
will not be aware that the verification  
occurred . 

We also received  comments of strong 
support for the proposed  change to the 
defin ition  of disclosure. The 
commenters stated  that th is change, 
targeted  to permit the release of records 
back to the institu tion  that p resumably 
created  them, will enhance an  

institu tion’s ability to iden tify and  
investigate suspected  fraudulen t records 
in  a timely manner. 

Discussion: For several years now, 
school officials have advised  us that 
p roblems related  to fraudulen t records 
typ ically involve a transcrip t or letter of 
recommendation  that has been  altered  
by someone other than  the responsible 
school official. Under the curren t 
regulations, an  educational agency or 
institu tion  may ask for a copy of a 
record  from the presumed source when 
it suspects fraudulen t activity. However, 
simply asking for a copy of a record  may 
not be adequate, for example, if the 
original record  no longer exists at the 
sending institu tion . In  these 
circumstances, an  institu tion  will need  
to return  a record  to its iden tified  source 
to be able to verify its au thenticity. The 
final regulations permit a targeted  
release of records back to the stated  
source for verification  purposes in  order 
to provide schools with  the flexibility 
needed  for th is p rocess while preserving 
a more general p rohibition  on  the 
release of in formation  from education  
records. 

We do not agree that the term 
d isclosure as proposed  in  the NPRM is 
too broad  and  could  lead  to the 
improper release of h igh ly sensitive 
documents to anyone claiming to be the 
creator of the record . School officials 
have not advised  us that they have had  
problems receiving IEP records and  
other h igh ly sensitive materials from 
parties who d id  not in  fact create or 
p rovide the record . Therefore, we do not 
believe that the proposed  defin ition  of 
d isclosure is too broad . 

The commenters are correct that the 
return  of an  education  record  to its 
source does not have to be recorded , 
because it is not a d isclosure. We do not 
consider th is p roblematic, however, 
because the in formation  is merely being 
returned  to the party iden tified  as its 
source. This is similar to the situation  
in  which  a school is not required  under 
the regulations to record  d isclosures of 
education  records made to school 
officials with  legitimate educational 
in terests. As in  that instance, there is no 
d irect notice to a paren t or student of 
either the d isclosure of the record  or the 
in formation  in  the record . We also 
believe that if a questionable document 
is deemed to be inauthentic by the 
source, the student will be in formed of 
the resu lts of the au thentication  process 
by means other than  seeing a record  of 
the d isclosure in  the student’s file. 
There appears to be little value in  
notifying a paren t or student that a 
document was suspected  of being 
fraudulen t if the document is found  to 
be genuine and  accurate. 

Finally, we note that a transcrip t or 
other document does not lose its 
p rotection  under FERPA, including the 
written  consent requirements, when  an  
educational agency or institu tion  
returns it to the source. The document 
and  the in formation  in  it remains an  
‘‘education  record’’ under FERPA when 
it is returned  to its source. As an  
education  record , it may not be 
red isclosed  except in  accordance with  
FERPA requirements, includ ing 
§ 99.31(a)(1), which  allows the source 
institu tion  to d isclose the in formation  to 
teachers and  other school officials with  
legitimate educational in terests, such  as 
persons who need  to verify the accuracy 
or au thenticity of the in formation . If the 
source institu tion  makes any further 
d isclosures of the record  or in formation , 
it must record  them. 

Changes: None. 
Additional Changes to the Definition of 
Disclosure 

Com m ent: Several commenters 
requested  additional changes to the 
defin ition  of disclosure. One commenter 
requested  that any transfer of education  
records to a State’s longitud inal data 
system not be considered  a d isclosure. 
Several commenters requested  that 
additional changes be made so that a 
school could  provide curren t education  
records of students back to the students’ 
former schools or d istricts. A 
commenter recommended excluding 
from the defin ition  of disclosure 
statistical in formation  that is personally 
iden tifiable because of small cell sizes 
when  the recip ien t agrees to main tain  
the confidentiality of the in formation . 

Discussion: The revised  defin ition  of 
disclosure, which  excludes the return  of 
a document to its stated  source, clarifies 
that in formation  provided  by school 
d istricts or postsecondary institu tions to 
State educational au thorities, includ ing 
information  main tained  in  a 
consolidated  student records system, 
may be provided  back to the original 
d istrict or institu tion  without consent. 
There is no statu tory au thority, 
however, to exclude from the defin ition  
of disclosure a school d istrict’s or 
institu tion’s release or transfer of 
personally iden tifiable in formation  from 
education  records to its State 
longitud inal data system. (We d iscuss 
the disclosure of education  records in  
connection  with  the development of 
consolidated , longitud inal data systems 
in  our response to comments on  
red isclosure and  recordkeeping 
requirements elsewhere in  th is 
p reamble.) Likewise, there is no 
statu tory au thority to exclude from the 
defin ition  of d isclosure the release of 
personally iden tifiable in formation  from 
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education  records to parties that agree to 
keep  the in formation  confidential. (See 
our d iscussion  of personally iden tifiable 
in formation  and  de-identified  records 
and  information  elsewhere in  th is 
p reamble.) 

The revised  regulations do not 
au thorize the d isclosure of education  
records to th ird  parties who are not 
iden tified  as the provider or creator of 
the record . For example, a college may 
not send  a student’s curren t college 
records to a student’s h igh  school under 
the revised  defin ition  of disclosure 
because the h igh  school is not the stated  
source of those records. (We d iscuss th is 
issue elsewhere in  the preamble under 
Disclosure of Education  Records to 
S tudents’ Form er Schools.) 

Changes: None. 
(d) Education  Records 
(1) Paragraph  (b)(5) 

Com m ent: Several commenters 
supported  our proposal to clarify the 
existing exclusion  from the defin ition  of 
education  records for records that on ly 
contain  in formation  about an  ind ividual 
after he or she is no longer a student, 
which  we referred  to as ‘‘alumni 
records’’ in  the NPRM, 73 FR 15576. 
One commenter suggested  that the term 
‘‘d irectly related ,’’ which  is used  in  the 
amended  defin ition  in  reference to a 
student’s attendance, is inconsisten t 
with  the use of the term ‘‘personally 
iden tifiable’’ in  other sections of the 
regulations and  could  cause confusion . 

One commenter asked  whether a 
postsecondary school could  provide a 
student’s education  records from the 
postsecondary school to a secondary 
school that the student attended  
previously. 

Several commenters objected  to the 
proposed  regulations because, accord ing 
to the commenters, the regulations 
would  expand  the records subject to 
FERPA’s prohibition  on  d isclosure of 
education  records without consent. A 
journalist stated  that the settlement 
agreement cited  in  the NPRM is an  
example of a record  that should  be 
excluded  from the defin ition  and  that 
schools already are permitted  to protect 
too broad  a range of documents from 
public review because the documents 
are education  records. The commenter 
stated  that in formation  from education  
records such  as a settlement agreement 
is newsworthy, un likely to contain  
confidential in formation , and  that 
d isclosure of such  information  provides 
a benefit to the public. Another 
commenter expressed  concern  that the 
regulations allow schools to collect 
negative in formation  about a former 
student without giving the ind ividual an  

opportun ity to challenge the conten t 
because the in formation  is not an  
education  record  under FERPA. 

Discussion: It has long been  the 
Department’s in terpretation  that records 
created  or received  by an  educational 
agency or institu tion  on  a former 
student that are d irectly related  to the 
ind ividual’s attendance as a student are 
not excluded  from the defin ition  of 
education  records under FERPA, and  
that records created  or received  on  a 
former student that are not d irectly 
related  to the ind ividual’s attendance as 
a student are excluded  from the 
defin ition  and , therefore, are not 
‘‘education  records.’’ The proposed  
regulations in  paragraph  (b)(5) were 
in tended  to clarify the use of th is 
exclusion , not to change or expand  its 
scope. 

Our use of the phrase ‘‘d irectly related  
to the ind ividual’s attendance as a 
student’’ to describe records that do not 
fall under th is exclusion  from the 
defin ition  of education  records is not 
inconsisten t with  the term ‘‘personally 
iden tifiable’’ as used  in  other parts of 
the regulations and  should  not be 
confused . The term ‘‘personally 
iden tifiable in formation’’ is used  in  the 
statu te and  regulations to describe the 
kind  of in formation  from education  
records that may not be d isclosed  
without consent. See 20 U.S.C. 1232g(b); 
34 CFR 99.3, 99.30. While ‘‘personally 
iden tifiable in formation’’ main tained  by 
an  agency or institu tion  is generally 
considered  an  ‘‘education  record’’ under 
FERPA, personally iden tifiable 
in formation  does not fall under th is 
exclusion  from the defin ition  of 
education  records if the in formation  is 
not d irectly related  to the student’s 
attendance as a student. For example, 
personally iden tifiable in formation  
related  solely to a student’s activities as 
an  alumnus of an  institu tion  is excluded  
from the defin ition  of education  records 
under th is p rovision . We th ink that the 
term ‘‘d irectly related’’ is clear in  th is 
context and  will not be confused  with  
‘‘personally iden tifiable.’’ 

A postsecondary institu tion  may not 
d isclose a student’s postsecondary 
education  records to the secondary 
school previously attended  by the 
student under th is p rovision  because 
these records are d irectly related  to the 
student’s attendance as a student at the 
postsecondary institu tion . (We d iscuss 
th is issue further under Disclosure of 
Education  Records to S tudents’ Form er 
Schools.) 

We do not agree that documents such  
as settlement agreements are un likely to 
contain  confidential in formation . Our 
experience has been  that these 
documents often  contain  h ighly 

confidential in formation , such  as 
special education  d iagnoses, 
educational supports, or mental or 
physical health  and  treatment 
in formation . Our changes to the 
defin ition  were in tended  to clarify that 
schools may not d isclose th is 
in formation  to the media or other 
parties, without consent, simply 
because a student is no longer in  
attendance at the school at the time the 
record  was created  or received . A paren t 
or eligible student who wishes to share 
the student’s own records with  the 
media or other parties is free to do so. 

Neither FERPA nor the regulations 
contains a provision  for a paren t or 
eligible student to challenge information  
that is not contained  in  an  education  
record . FERPA does not p rohibit a 
paren t or student from using other 
venues to seek redress for collection  and  
release of in formation  in  non-education  
records. 

Changes: None. 
(2) Paragraph  (b)(6) 

Com m ent: We received  several 
comments supporting the proposed  
changes to the defin ition  of education  
records that would  exclude from the 
defin ition  grades on  peer-graded  papers 
before they are collected  and  recorded  
by a teacher. These commenters 
expressed  appreciation  that th is revision  
would  be consisten t with  the U.S. 
Supreme Court’s decision  on  peer- 
graded  papers in  Owasso Independent 
School Dist. No. I–011 v. Falvo, 534 U.S. 
426 (2002) (Owasso). Two commenters 
asked  how the provision  would  be 
applied  to the use of group  projects and  
group  grad ing with in  the classroom. 

Discussion: The proposed  changes to 
the defin ition  of education  records in  
paragraph  (b)(6) are designed  to 
implement the U.S. Supreme Court’s 
2002 decision  in  Owasso, which  held  
that peer grad ing does not violate 
FERPA. As noted  in  the NPRM, 73 FR 
15576, the Court held  in  Owasso that 
peer grad ing does not violate FERPA 
because ‘‘the grades on  students’ papers 
would  not be covered  under FERPA at 
least un til the teacher has collected  
them and  recorded  them in  h is or her 
grade book.’’ 534 U.S. at 436. 

As suggested  by the Supreme Count 
in  Owasso, 534 U.S. at 435, FERPA is 
not in tended  to in terfere with  a 
teacher’s ability to carry ou t customary 
practices, such  as group  grad ing of team 
assignments with in  the classroom. Just 
as FERPA does not p revent teachers 
from allowing students to grade a test or 
homework assignment of another 
student or from calling out that grade in  
class, even  though the grade may 
eventually become an  education  record , 
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FERPA does not p rohibit the d iscussion  
of group  or ind ividual grades on  
classroom group  projects, so long as 
those ind ividual grades have not yet 
been  recorded  by the teacher. The 
process of assign ing grades or grad ing 
papers falls ou tside the defin ition  of 
education  records in  FERPA because the 
grades are not ‘‘main tained’’ by an  
educational agency or institu tion  at least 
un til the teacher has recorded  the 
grades. 

Changes: None. 
(e) Personally Identifiable In form ation  

Comments on  the proposed  defin ition  
of personally iden tifiable in form ation  
are d iscussed  elsewhere in  th is 
p reamble under the heading Personally 
Identifiable In form ation  and  De- 
iden tified  Records and  In form ation . 
(f) S tate A uditors and  A udits (§§ 99.3 
and  Proposed  99.35(a)(3)) 

Com m ent: Several commenters 
supported  the clarification  in  proposed  
§ 99.35(a)(3) that State auditors may 
have access to education  records, 
without consent, in  connection  with  an  
‘‘audit’’ of Federal or State supported  
education  programs under the exception  
to the written  consent requirement for 
au thorized  represen tatives of ‘‘State and  
local educational au thorities.’’ All bu t 
one of the commenters, however, 
d isagreed  strongly with  the proposed  
defin ition  of audit in  § 99.35(a)(3), 
which  was limited  to testing compliance 
with  applicable laws, regulations, and  
standards and  d id  not include the 
broader concept of evaluations. 

In  general, the commenters said  that 
the proposed  defin ition  of audit was too 
narrow and  would  prevent State 
auditors from conducting performance 
audits and  other services that they 
rou tinely provide in  accordance with  
professional auditing standards, 
including the U.S. Comptroller’s 
Government Auditing Standards. See 
www.gao.gov/govaud/ybk01.h tm . A 
State legislative auditor noted , for 
example, that 45 State legislatures have 
established  legislative program 
evaluation  offices whose express 
purpose is to provide research  and  
evaluation  for legislative decision  
making, and  that these offices regularly 
use personally iden tifiable in formation  
from education  records for their work. 
Some of the commenters also 
questioned  whether financial audits and  
attestation  engagements would  be 
excluded  under the proposed  defin ition . 

One commenter said  that the State 
auditor p rovisions in  proposed  §§ 99.3 
and  99.35(a)(3) should  be expanded  to 
apply to other non-education  State 
officials responsible for evaluating 

publicly funded  programs. Another 
commenter recommended that the 
regulations include examination  of 
education  records by health  department 
officials to improve compliance with  
mandated  immunization  schedules. 

The majority of the comments we 
received  with  respect to the inclusion  of 
local auditors in  the proposed  defin ition  
of State auditor in  § 99.3 supported  
permitting local auditors to have access 
to personally iden tifiable in formation  
for purposes of auditing Federal or State 
supported  education  programs. One 
commenter said  that local auditors 
should  not be included  in  the 
defin ition , while another commenter 
stated  that auditors for the city health  
department need  access to FERPA- 
protected  in formation  to determine the 
accuracy of claims for payment and  
asked  for further clarification  on  the 
issue. 

Discussion: We explained  in  the 
preamble to the NPRM that the statu te 
allows d isclosure of personally 
iden tifiable in formation  from education  
records without consent to au thorized  
represen tatives of ‘‘State educational 
au thorities’’ in  connection  with  an  audit 
or evaluation  of Federal or State 
supported  education  programs. 73 FR 
15577. Legislative h istory ind icates that 
Congress amended  the statu te in  1979 to 
‘‘correct an  anomaly’’ in  which  the 
existing exception  to the consent 
requirement in  20 U.S.C. 1232g(b)(3) 
was in terpreted  to preclude State 
auditors from obtain ing access to 
education  records for audit purposes. 
See H.R. Rep . No. 338, 96th  Cong., 1st 
Sess. at 10 (1979), reprin ted  in  1979 U.S. 
Code Cong. & Admin . News 819, 824. 
However, because the amended  
statu tory language in  20 U.S.C. 
1232g(b)(5) refers on ly to ‘‘State and  
local educational officials,’’ the 
proposed  regulations sought to clarify 
that th is included  ‘‘State auditors’’ or 
auditors with  au thority and  
responsibility under State law for 
conducting audits. Due to the breadth  of 
th is inclusion , however, the proposed  
regulations also sought to limit access to 
education  records by State auditors by 
narrowing the defin ition  of audit. 

The Secretary has carefu lly reviewed 
the comments and , based  upon further 
in tradepartmental review, has decided  
to remove from the final regulations the 
provisions related  to State auditors and  
audits in  §§ 99.3 and  99.35(a)(3). We 
share the commenters’ concerns about 
preventing State auditors from 
conducting activities that they rou tinely 
perform under applicable auditing 
standards. However, because our focus 
was on  the narrow defin ition  of audit, 
we proposed  a very broad  defin ition  of 

State auditor in  § 99.3 and  d id  not 
examine which  of the various types of 
officials, offices, committees, and  staff 
in  executive and  legislative branches of 
State government should  be included  in  
the defin ition . We are concerned  that 
without the narrow defin ition  of audit 
as proposed  in  § 99.35(a)(3), the 
proposed  defin ition  of State auditor 
may allow non-consensual d isclosures 
of education  records to a variety of 
officials for purposes not supported  by 
the statu te. The Department will study 
the matter further and  may issue new 
regulations or gu idance, as appropriate. 
In  the in terim, the Department will 
p rovide gu idance on  a case-by-case 
basis. 

Changes: We are not including the 
defin ition  of State auditor in  § 99.3 and  
the provisions related  to State auditors 
and  audits in  § 99.35(a)(3) in  these final 
regulations. 
Disclosures to Parents (§§ 99.5 and 
99.36) 

Com m ent: A majority of commenters 
approved  of the Secretary’s efforts to 
clarify that, even  after a student has 
become an  eligible student, an  
educational agency or institu tion  may 
d isclose education  records to the 
student’s paren ts, without the consent 
of the student, if certain  conditions are 
met. Those commenters stated  that the 
clarification  was especially helpfu l, 
particu larly in  ligh t of issues that arose 
after the April 2007 shootings at the 
Virgin ia Polytechnic Institu te and  State 
University (Virgin ia Tech). A 
commenter stated  that the clarification  
will assist emergency management 
officials on  college and  university 
campuses and  help  school officials 
know when they can  properly share 
student in formation  with  paren ts and  
students. One commenter expressed  
support for the proposed  regulations, 
because it has been  her experience that 
colleges do not share in formation  with  
paren ts on  their ch ildren’s financial aid  
or academic status. 

Some commenters d isagreed  with  the 
proposed  changes. One stated  that, due 
to varying family dynamics, d isclosures 
should  not be limited  only to paren ts, 
bu t should  also include other 
appropriate family members. Another 
commenter objected  to the phrase in  
§ 99.5(a)(2) that would  permit d isclosure 
to a paren t without the student’s 
consent if the d isclosure meets ‘‘any 
other provision  in  § 99.31(a).’’ The 
commenter stated  that th is ‘‘catch-all 
phrase’’ exceeded  statu tory au thority. 

Noting the sensitivity of financial 
in formation  included  in  income tax 
returns, a few commenters raised  
concerns about the d iscussion  in  the 
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NPRM in  which  we explained  that an  
institu tion  can  determine that a paren t 
claimed a student as a dependent by 
asking the paren t to supply a copy of the 
paren t’s most recent Federal tax return . 
Another commenter stated  that the 
NPRM did  not go far enough and  
recommended specifically requiring an  
institu tion  to rely on  a copy of a paren t’s 
most recent Federal tax return  to 
determine a student’s dependent status, 
while another commenter recommended 
that we change the regulations to 
ind icate that on ly the paren t who has 
claimed the student as a dependent may 
have access to the student’s education  
records. 

A commenter noted  that some States 
have h igh  school students who are 
concurren tly enrolled  in  secondary 
schools and  postsecondary institu tions 
as early as n in th  grade and  supported  
the clarification  that postsecondary 
institu tions may d isclose in formation  to 
paren ts of students who are tax 
dependents. 

Discussion: Parents’ righ ts under 
FERPA transfer to a student when  the 
student reaches age 18 or en ters a 
postsecondary institu tion . 20 U.S.C. 
1232g(d). However, under § 99.31(a)(8), 
an  educational agency or institu tion  
may d isclose education  records to an  
eligible student’s paren ts if the student 
is a dependent as defined  in  section  152 
of the In ternal Revenue Code of 1986. 
Under § 99.31(a)(8), neither the age of a 
student nor the paren t’s status as 
custod ial paren t is relevant to the 
determination  whether d isclosure of 
in formation  from an  eligible student’s 
education  records to that paren t without 
written  consent is permissible under 
FERPA. If a student is claimed as a 
dependent for Federal income tax 
purposes by either paren t, then  under 
the regulations, either paren t may have 
access to the student’s education  
records without the student’s consent. 

The statu tory exception  to the consent 
requirement in  FERPA for the d isclosure 
of records of dependent students applies 
on ly to the paren ts of the student. 20 
U.S.C. 1232g(b)(1)(H). Accord ingly, the 
Secretary does not have statu tory 
au thority to apply § 99.31(a)(8) to any 
other family members. However, under 
§ 99.30(b)(3), an  eligible student may 
provide consent for the school to 
d isclose in formation  from his or her 
education  records to another family 
member. In  some situations, such  as 
when  there is no paren t in  the student’s 
life or the student is married , a spouse 
or other family member may be 
considered  an  appropriate party to 
whom a d isclosure may be made, 
without consent, in  connection  with  a 

health  or safety emergency under 
§§ 99.31(a)(10) and  99.36. 

In  most cases, when  an  educational 
agency or institu tion  d iscloses 
education  records to paren ts of an  
eligible student, we expect the 
d isclosure to be made under the 
dependent student p rovision  
(§ 99.31(a)(8)), in  connection  with  a 
health  or safety emergency 
(§§ 99.31(a)(10) and  99.36), or if a 
student has committed  a d iscip linary 
violation  with  respect to the use or 
possession  of alcohol or a controlled  
substance (§ 99.31(a)(15)). This is the 
reason  we mention  these provisions 
specifically in  the regulations. However, 
inclusion  of the phrase ‘‘of any other 
provision  in  § 99.31(a)’’ in  § 99.5(a)(2) is 
necessary and  with in  our statu tory 
au thority because there may be other 
exceptions to FERPA’s general consent 
requirement under which  an  agency or 
institu tion  might d isclose education  
records to a paren t of an  eligible 
student, such  as the d irectory 
in formation  provision  in  § 99.31(a)(11) 
and  the provision  permitting d isclosure 
in  compliance with  a court order or 
lawfully issued  subpoena in  
§ 99.31(a)(9). 

As we explained  in  the NPRM, 
institu tions can  determine that a paren t 
claims a student as a dependent by 
asking the paren t to submit a copy of the 
paren t’s most recent Federal income tax 
return . However, we do not th ink it is 
appropriate to require an  agency or 
institu tion  to rely on ly on  the most 
recent tax return  to determine the 
student’s dependent status because 
institu tions should  have flexibility in  
how to reach  th is determination . For 
instance, institu tions may rely instead  
on  a student’s assertion  that he or she 
is not a dependent un less the paren t 
p rovides contrary evidence. We agree 
that financial in formation  on  a Federal 
tax return  is sensitive in formation  and , 
for that reason , in  provid ing technical 
assistance and  compliance train ing to 
school officials, we have advised  that 
paren ts may redact all financial and  
other unnecessary in formation  that 
appears on  the form, as long as the tax 
return  clearly shows the paren t’s or 
paren ts’ names and  the fact that the 
student is claimed as a dependent. 

In  addition , in  the fall of 2007, we 
developed  two model forms that appear 
on  the Department’s Family Policy 
Compliance Office (FPCO or the Office) 
Web site that institu tions may adapt and  
provide to students at orien tation  to 
ind icate whether they are a dependent 
and , if not, obtain ing consent from the 
student for d isclosure of in formation  to 
paren ts: http:/ /www.ed .gov/policy/gen/  
gu id / fpco/ ferpa/safeschools/  

m odelform .h tm l and  http:/ /www.ed .gov/  
policy/gen/guid / fpco/ ferpa/safeschools/  
m odelform 2.h tm l. 

With  regard  to the comment about 
h igh  school students who are 
concurren tly enrolled  in  postsecondary 
institu tions as early as n in th  grade, 
FERPA not on ly permits those 
postsecondary institu tions to d isclose 
in formation  to paren ts of the h igh  
school students who are dependents for 
Federal income tax purposes, it also 
permits h igh  schools and  postsecondary 
institu tions who have dually-enrolled  
students to share in formation . Where a 
student is enrolled  in  both  a h igh  school 
and  a postsecondary institu tion , the two 
schools may share education  records 
without the consent of either the paren ts 
or the student under § 99.34(b). If the 
student is under 18, the paren ts still 
retain  the righ t under FERPA to inspect 
and  review any education  records 
main tained  by the h igh  school, 
includ ing records that the college or 
un iversity d isclosed  to the h igh  school, 
even  though the student is also 
attending the postsecondary institu tion . 

Changes: None. 
Outsourcing (§ 99.31(a)(1)(i)(B)) 
(a) Outside Parties Who Qualify as 
School Officials 

Com m ent: A few commenters 
d isagreed  with  the proposal to expand  
the ‘‘school officials’’ exception  in  
§ 99.31(a)(1)(i)(B) to include contractors, 
consultan ts, volunteers, and  other 
ou tside parties to whom an  educational 
agency or institu tion  has ou tsourced  
institu tional services or functions it 
would  otherwise use employees to 
perform. They believed  that the 
modifications undermined  the p lain  
language of the statu te and  
congressional in ten t. Several other 
commenters supported  the proposed  
regulations, saying that it was helpfu l to 
include in  the regulations what has 
h istorically been  the Department’s 
in terpretation  of the ‘‘school officials’’ 
exception . A majority of commenters, 
while not agreeing or d isagreeing with  
the proposed  changes in  
§ 99.31(a)(1)(i)(B), raised  a number of 
issues concern ing the proposal. 

Several commenters expressed  
concern  that the requirement that an  
ou tside party must perform an  
institu tional service or function  for 
which  the agency or institu tion  would  
otherwise use employees is too 
restrictive and  impractical. One 
commenter noted  that some functions 
that a contractor performs could  not be 
performed by a school official. 

Some commenters said  we should  
clarify the regulations to explain  the 
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circumstances under which  volunteers 
may serve as school officials and  have 
access to personally iden tifiable 
in formation  from education  records in  
connection  with  their services or 
responsibilities to the school. One 
commenter noted  that th is clarification  
was needed  especially for paren t- 
volunteers working at a school attended  
by their own ch ildren  where they are 
likely to know other students and  their 
families. 

Several commenters asked  that we 
clarify in  the regulations that 
§ 99.31(a)(1) also applies to school 
transportation  officials, school bus 
drivers, and  school bus attendants who 
need  access to education  records in  
order to safely and  efficien tly transport 
students. Another commenter asked  for 
clarification  whether, under the 
proposed  regulations, p racticum 
students, fieldwork students, and  
unpaid  in terns in  schools would  be 
considered  ‘‘school officials.’’ One 
commenter asked  whether § 99.31(a)(1) 
permits ou tsourced  medical p roviders to 
be considered  ‘‘school officials.’’ 

One commenter asked  how proposed  
§ 99.31(a)(1) would  apply to parties 
other than  educational agencies and  
institu tions. The commenter was 
concerned  about permitting SEAs to 
d isclose personally iden tifiable 
in formation  to ou tside parties under 
§ 99.31(a)(1)(i)(B) because SEAs are not 
subject to § 99.7, which  requires 
educational agencies and  institu tions to 
annually notify paren ts and  eligible 
students of their righ ts under FERPA, 
including a specific requirement in  
§ 99.7(a)(3)(iii) that an  educational 
agency or institu tion  that has a policy of 
d isclosing information  under 
§ 99.31(a)(1) must include in  its annual 
notice a specification  of criteria for 
determining who constitu tes a school 
official and  what constitu tes a legitimate 
educational in terest. A number of 
commenters requested  clarification  
about the applicability of 
§ 99.31(a)(1)(i)(B) to State au thorities 
that operate State longitud inal data 
systems that main tain  records of local 
educational agencies (LEAs) or 
institu tions and  are responsible for 
certain  reporting requirements under 
the No Child  Left Behind  Act. Some of 
these commenters believe that State 
au thorities operating these systems are 
‘‘school officials’’ under § 99.31(a)(1) 
who should  be able to d isclose 
education  records for the purpose of 
ou tsourcing under § 99.31(a)(1)(i)(B). 

One commenter recommended that 
the regulations permit the d isclosure of 
education  records to non-educational 
State agencies for evaluation  purposes 
under § 99.31(a)(1). Another commenter 

asked  that we revise the regulations to 
permit represen tatives of the Centers for 
Disease Control and  Prevention  to 
access education  records for the purpose 
of public health  surveillance under the 
‘‘school officials’’ exception . 

Another commenter requested  further 
gu idance on  how § 99.31(a)(1) would  
apply to local law enforcement officers 
who work in  collaboration  with  schools 
in  various capacities and  whether 
education  records could  be shared  with  
these officers in  order to ensure safe 
campuses. 

Discussion: The Secretary does not 
agree that the proposed  changes to 
§ 99.31(a)(1) go beyond the p lain  
read ing of the statu te and  congressional 
in ten t. As we explained  in  the NPRM, 
FERPA’s broad  defin ition  of education  
records includes records that are 
main tained  by ‘‘a person  acting for’’ an  
educational agency or institu tion . 20 
U.S.C. 1232g(a)(4)(A)(ii); see 34 CFR 
99.3. (In  floor remarks describing the 
meaning of the defin ition  of education  
records, Senators James Buckley and  
Claiborne Pell, p rincipal sponsors of the 
December 1974 FERPA amendments, 
specifically referred  to materials that are 
main tained  by a school ‘‘or by one of its 
agents.’’ See ‘‘Join t Statement in  
Explanation  of Buckley/Pell 
Amendment’’ (Join t Statement), 120 
Cong. Rec. S21488 (Dec. 13, 1974).) 
Although the Secretary is concerned  
that educational agencies and  
institu tions not misapply § 99.31(a)(1), 
the changes to the regulations are 
necessary to clarify the scope of the 
‘‘school officials’’ exception  in  FERPA. 

We d isagree with  commenters that the 
requirement in  § 99.31(a)(1)(i)(B)(1) that 
the ou tside party must perform an  
institu tional service or function  for 
which  the agency or institu tion  would  
otherwise use employees is too 
restrictive or unworkable. The 
requirement serves to ensure that the 
‘‘school officials’’ exception  does not 
expand  in to a general exception  to the 
consent requirement in  FERPA that 
would  allow d isclosure any time a 
vendor or other ou tside party wants 
access to education  records to provide a 
product or service to schools, paren ts, 
and  students. As explained  in  the 
preceding paragraphs and  in  the NPRM, 
73 FR 15578–15579, the statu tory basis 
for expanding the ‘‘school officials’’ 
exception  to ou tside service providers is 
that they are ‘‘acting for’’ the agency or 
institu tion , not selling products and  
services. This means, for example, that 
a school may not use the ‘‘school 
officials’’ exception  to d isclose 
personally iden tifiable in formation  from 
a student’s education  record , such  as the 
student’s SSN or student ID number, 

without consent, to an  insurance 
company that wishes to offer students a 
d iscount on  au to insurance because the 
school is not ou tsourcing an  
institu tional service or function  for 
which  it would  otherwise use its own 
employees. 

Further, the requirement that the 
ou tside party must be performing 
services or functions an  employee 
would  otherwise perform does not mean  
that a school employee must be able to 
perform the ou tsourced  service in  order 
for the ou tside party to be considered  a 
school official under 
§ 99.31(a)(1)(i)(B)(1). For example, many 
school d istricts ou tsource their legal 
services on  an  as-needed  basis. Even  
though these school d istricts may have 
never h ired  an  attorney as an  employee, 
they may still d isclose personally 
iden tifiable in formation  from education  
records to ou tside legal counsel to 
whom they have outsourced  their legal 
services. FERPA does not otherwise 
restrict whether a school may outsource 
institu tional services and  functions; it 
on ly addresses to whom and  under what 
conditions personally iden tifiable 
in formation  from students’ education  
records may be d isclosed . 

Once a school has determined  that an  
ou tside party is a ‘‘school official’’ with  
a ‘‘legitimate educational in terest’’ in  
viewing certain  education  records, that 
party may have access to the education  
records, without consent, in  order to 
perform the required  institu tional 
services and  functions for the school. 
These ou tside parties may include 
paren ts and  other volunteers who assist 
schools in  various capacities, such  as 
serving on  official committees, serving 
as teachers’ aides, and  working in  
administrative offices, where they need  
access to students’ education  records to 
perform their du ties. 

The d isclosure of education  records 
under any of the conditions listed  in  
§ 99.31, including the ‘‘school officials’’ 
exception , is permissive and  not 
required . (Only paren ts and  eligible 
students have a righ t under FERPA to 
inspect and  review their education  
records.) Therefore, schools should  
always use good  judgment in  
determining the exten t to which  
volunteers, as well as other school 
officials, need  to have access to 
education  records and  to ensure that 
school officials, includ ing volunteers, 
do not improperly d isclose in formation  
from students’ education  records. 

We decline to adopt commenters’ 
suggestion  that we include in  
§ 99.31(a)(1)(i)(B) a list of the types of 
parties who may serve as school 
officials and  receive personally 
iden tifiable in formation  from education  
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records in  connection  with  the 
institu tional services and  functions 
ou tsourced  by the school. We th ink it 
would  be impossible to provide a 
comprehensive listing and  believe that 
agencies and  institu tions are in  the best 
position  to make these determinations. 
At the d iscretion  of a school, school 
officials may include school 
transportation  officials (including bus 
drivers), school nurses, p racticum and  
fieldwork students, unpaid  in terns, 
consultan ts, contractors, volunteers, and  
other ou tside parties provid ing 
institu tional services and  performing 
institu tional functions, p rovided  that 
each  of the requirements in  
§ 99.31(a)(1)(i)(B) has been  met. 

Under § 99.31(a)(1), a un iversity could  
ou tsource the practical train ing of 
students. The information  d isclosed  to 
the hospital, clin ic, or business 
conducting the practical train ing may 
only be used  for the purposes for which  
it was d isclosed . In  the NPRM, we 
d iscuss in  more detail the types of 
services and  functions covered  under 
§ 99.31(a)(1)(i)(B). (73 FR 15578–15580.) 

In  response to the comment about the 
applicability of § 99.31(a)(1)(i)(B) to 
State educational au thorities that 
operate State longitud inal data systems, 
such  officials are not ‘‘school officials’’ 
under FERPA. Rather, these officials are 
generally considered  au thorized  
represen tatives of a State educational 
au thority, and  LEAs typ ically d isclose 
in formation  from students’ education  
records to a longitud inal data system 
main tained  by an  SEA or other State 
educational au thorities under the 
exception  to the consent requirement for 
d isclosures to au thorized  
represen tatives of State and  local 
educational au thorities, 
§ 99.31(a)(3)(iv)), not the ‘‘school 
officials’’ exception . This issue is 
explained  in  more detail elsewhere in  
th is p reamble under Educational 
research  (§§ 99.31(a)(6), 99.31(a)(3). We 
also d iscuss d isclosures to non- 
educational agencies, such  as to public 
health  agencies, in  the section  of th is 
p reamble en titled  Disclosure of 
Education  Records to Non-Educational 
A gencies. 

Members of a school’s law 
en forcem ent un it, as defined  in  § 99.8 of 
the regulations, who are employed  by 
the agency or institu tion  qualify as 
school officials under § 99.31(a)(1)(i)(A) 
if the school has complied  with  the 
notification  requirements in  
§ 99.7(a)(3)(iii). As school officials, they 
may be given  access to personally 
iden tifiable in formation  from those 
students’ education  records in  which  
the school has determined  they have 
legitimate educational in terests. The 

school’s law enforcement un it must 
p rotect the privacy of education  records 
it receives and  may d isclose them only 
with  consent or under one of the 
exceptions to consent listed  in  § 99.31. 
For that reason , it is advisable that 
officials of a law enforcement un it 
main tain  education  records separately 
from law enforcement un it records, 
which  are not subject to FERPA 
requirements. As we explained  in  
Balancing S tudent Privacy and  School 
Safety: A  Guide to the Fam ily 
Educational Rights and  Privacy A ct for 
Elem entary and  Secondary Schools, 
investigative reports and  other records 
created  by an  institu tion’s law 
enforcement un it are excluded  from the 
defin ition  of education  records under 
§ 99.3 and , therefore, are not subject to 
FERPA requirements. Accord ingly, 
schools may d isclose in formation  from 
law enforcement un it records to anyone, 
including local police and  other ou tside 
law enforcement au thorities, without 
consent. This brochure can  be found  on  
FPCO’s ‘‘Safe Schools & FERPA’’ Web 
page: http:/ /www.ed .gov/policy/gen/  
gu id / fpco/ ferpa/safeschools/ index .h tm l. 

Outside police officers or other non- 
employees to whom the school has 
ou tsourced  its safety and  security 
functions do not qualify as ‘‘school 
officials’’ under FERPA unless they 
meet each  of the requirements of 
§ 99.31(a)(1)(i)(B). If these police officers 
or other ou tside parties do not meet the 
requirements for being a school official 
under FERPA, they may not have access 
to students’ education  records without 
consent, un less there is a health  or 
safety emergency, a lawfully issued  
subpoena or court order, or some other 
exception  to FERPA’s general consent 
requirement under which  the d isclosure 
falls. 

With  respect to our amendment to the 
‘‘school officials’’ exception , we note 
that § 99.32(d) excludes from the 
recordation  requirements d isclosures of 
education  records that educational 
agencies and  institu tions make to school 
officials. This exclusion  from the 
recordation  requirement will apply as 
well to d isclosures to contractors, 
consultan ts, volunteers, and  other 
ou tside parties to whom an  agency or 
institu tion  d iscloses education  records 
under § 99.31(a)(1)(i)(B). The 
Department has long recognized  that 
FERPA does not p revent schools from 
outsourcing institu tional services and  
functions; to require schools to record  
d isclosures to these ou tside parties 
serving as school officials would  be 
overly burdensome and  unworkable. 

An educational agency or institu tion  
that complies with  the notification  
requirements in  § 99.7(a)(3)(iii) by 

specifying its policy regard ing the 
d isclosure of education  records to 
contractors and  other ou tside parties 
serving as school officials p rovides 
legally sufficien t notice to paren ts and  
students regard ing these d isclosures. We 
have posted  model notifications on  our 
Web site, one for postsecondary 
institu tions and  one for LEAs. See 
http:/ /www.ed .gov/policy/gen/guid /  
fpco/ ferpa/ps-officials.h tm l and  http:/ /  
www.ed .gov/policy/gen/guid / fpco/  
ferpa/ lea-officials.h tm l. 

Changes: None. 
(b) Direct Control 

Com m ent: Some commenters asked  
the Department to clarify what the term 
‘‘d irect control’’ means as used  in  
§ 99.31(a)(1)(i)(B)(2). This section  
provides that in  order to be considered  
a ‘‘school official’’ an  ou tside party must 
be under the d irect control of the agency 
or institu tion . Some commenters asked  
if th is term means that the school must 
monitor the operations of the ou tside 
party, and  how it affects an  agency’s or 
institu tion’s relationsh ip  with  
subcontractors or th ird- or fourth-party 
database hosting companies. One 
commenter stated  that the regulations 
should  not d istinguish  between  whether 
the education  records are hosted  in  a 
vendor’s offsite network or with in  the 
institu tion’s local network servers, 
while another commenter asked  for 
clarification  of how § 99.31(a)(1)(i)(B) 
applies to ou tsourcing electron ic mail 
(e-mail) services to th ird  parties such  as 
Microsoft or Google. 

One commenter stated  that 
institu tions should  be required  to verify 
that parties to whom they outsource 
services have the necessary resources to 
safeguard  education  records provided  to 
them. 

A commenter suggested  that, instead  
of the proposed  ‘‘d irect control’’ 
standard , the Department adopt 
language similar to the safeguard ing 
standard  found in  the Gramm-Leach- 
Bliley Act (GLB) (Pub. L. 106–102, 
November 12, 1999). The commenter 
suggested  that, as adapted  in  FERPA, 
the standard  would  require that for an  
ou tside party, acting on  behalf of an  
educational institu tion , to be considered  
a ‘‘school official,’’ the institu tion  
would  have to: (1) Take reasonable steps 
to select and  retain  contractors, 
consultan ts, volunteers, or other ou tside 
parties that are capable of main tain ing 
appropriate safeguards with  respect to 
education  records; and  (2) mandate by 
contract that the ou tside party 
implement and  main tain  such  
safeguards. 

Discussion: The term ‘‘d irect control’’ 
in  § 99.31(a)(1)(i)(B)(2), is in tended  to 
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ensure that an  educational agency or 
institu tion  does not d isclose education  
records to an  ou tside service provider 
un less it can  control that party’s 
main tenance, use, and  red isclosure of 
education  records. This could  mean , for 
example, requiring a contractor to 
main tain  education  records in  a 
particu lar manner and  to make them 
available to paren ts upon  request. We 
are revising the regulations, however, to 
provide th is clarification . 

Neither the statu te nor the FERPA 
regulations specifically requires that 
educational agencies and  institu tions 
verify that ou tside parties to whom 
schools ou tsource services have the 
necessary resources to safeguard  
education  records provided  to them. 
However, as d iscussed  in  the NPRM, 
educational agencies and  institu tions 
are responsible under FERPA for 
ensuring that they themselves do not 
have a policy or p ractice of releasing, 
permitting the release of, or p rovid ing 
access to personally iden tifiable 
in formation  from education  records, 
except in  accordance with  FERPA. This 
includes ensuring that ou tside parties 
that p rovide institu tional services or 
functions as ‘‘school officials’’ under 
§ 99.31(a)(1)(i)(B) do not main tain , use, 
or red isclose education  records except 
as d irected  by the agency or institu tion  
that d isclosed  the in formation . 

The ‘‘d irect control’’ requirement is 
in tended  to apply on ly to the ou tside 
party’s provision  of specific 
institu tional services or functions that 
have been  outsourced  and  the education  
records provided  to that ou tside party to 
perform the services or function . It is 
not in tended  to affect an  ou tside service 
provider’s status as an  independent 
contractor or render that party an  
employee under State or Federal law. 

We believe that the use of the ‘‘d irect 
control’’ standard  strikes an  appropriate 
balance in  iden tifying the necessary and  
proper relationsh ip  between  the school 
and  its ou tside parties that are serving 
as ‘‘school officials.’’ The 
recommendation  that we adopt a 
standard  more closely aligned  with  the 
GLB standard  does not appear workable, 
especially with  regard  to requiring that 
schools en ter in to formal contracts with  
each  outside party performing services, 
includ ing paren t-volunteers. However, 
one way in  which  schools can  ensure 
that parties understand  their 
responsibilities under FERPA with  
respect to education  records is to clearly 
describe those responsibilities in  a 
written  agreement or contract. 

Exercising d irect control could  prove 
more challenging in  some situations 
than  in  others. Schools ou tsourcing 
information  technology services, such  as 

web-based  and  e-mail services, should  
make clear in  their service agreements 
or contracts that the ou tside party may 
not use or allow access to personally 
iden tifiable in formation  from education  
records, except in  accordance with  the 
requirements established  by the 
educational agency or institu tion  that 
d iscloses the in formation . 

Changes: We have revised  
§ 99.31(a)(1)(B)(2) to clarify that the 
ou tside party must be under the d irect 
control of the agency or institu tion  with  
respect to the use and  main tenance of 
in formation  from education  records. 
(c) Protection  of Records by Outside 
Parties Serving as School Officials 

Com m ent: We received  several 
comments on  proposed  
§ 99.31(a)(1)(i)(B)(3), which  provides 
that an  ou tside party serving as a 
‘‘school official’’ is subject to the 
requirement in  § 99.33(a), regard ing the 
use and  red isclosure of personally 
iden tifiable in formation  from education  
records. One commenter stated  that, 
while he supported  and  welcomed th is 
clarification , the proposed  regulations 
d id  not go far enough to clarify that 
these ou tside th ird  parties could  not use 
education  records of multip le 
institu tions for which  they serve as a 
contractor to engage in  activities not 
associated  with  the service or function  
they were provid ing. 

Some commenters suggested  that the 
regulations should  require all school 
officials who handle education  records, 
including parties to whom institu tional 
services and  functions are ou tsourced , 
to participate in  annual train ing and  to 
undergo fingerprin t and  background 
investigations. 

Another commenter stated  that any 
d isclosures associated  with  the 
ou tsourcing of institu tional services and  
functions should  include a record  that 
will serve as an  audit trail. The 
commenter noted  that both  the Health  
Insurance Portability and  
Accountability Act (HIPAA) and  the 
Privacy Act of 1974 require the 
main tenance of audit trails or an  
accounting of d isclosures of records. 

Discussion: An agency or institu tion  
must ensure that an  ou tside party 
provid ing institu tional services or 
functions does not use or allow access 
to education  records except in  strict 
accordance with  the requirements 
established  by the educational agency or 
institu tion  that d iscloses the 
in formation . Section  99.33(a)(2) of the 
FERPA regulations applies to employees 
and  outside service providers alike and  
prohibits the recip ien t from using 
education  records for any purpose other 
than  the purposes for which  the 

d isclosure was made. This includes 
ensuring that ou tside parties do not use 
education  records in  their possession  for 
purposes other than  those specified  by 
the institu tion  that d isclosed  the 
records. 

FERPA does not specifically require 
that educational agencies and  
institu tions provide annual train ing to 
school officials that handle education  
records, and  we decline to establish  
such  a requirement in  these regulations. 
Educational agencies and  institu tions 
should  have flexibility in  determining 
the best way to ensure that school 
officials are made aware of the 
requirements of FERPA. However, for 
en tities subject to the Ind ividuals with  
Disabilities Education  Act (IDEA), 34 
CFR 300.623(c) provides that all persons 
collecting or using personally 
iden tifiable in formation  must receive 
train ing or instruction  regard ing their 
State’s policies and  procedures under 34 
CFR 300.123 (Confidentiality of 
personally iden tifiable in formation) and  
34 CFR Part 99, the FERPA regulations. 
We note that while schools are certain ly 
free to implement a policy requiring 
school officials and  parties to whom 
services have been  outsourced  to 
undergo fingerprin t and  background 
investigations, there is no statu tory 
au thority in  FERPA to include such  a 
requirement in  the regulations. 

We note also that the Department 
rou tinely provides compliance train ing 
on  FERPA for school officials. 
Typically, p resen tations are made 
throughout the year to national, 
regional, or State educational 
association  conference workshops with  
numerous institu tions in  attendance. 
Train ing sessions are also scheduled  for 
State departments of education  and  
local school d istricts in  the vicin ity of 
any conference. 

For a d iscussion  of the comment that 
recommended that the regulations 
require that schools main tain  an  audit 
trail or an  accounting of d isclosures to 
school officials, includ ing outside 
providers, see the d iscussion  under the 
following section  en titled  Control of 
A ccess to Education  Records by School 
Officials. 

Changes: None. 
Control of Access to Education Records 
by School Officials (§ 99.31(a)(1)(ii)) 

Com m ent: Many commenters 
supported  proposed  § 99.31(a)(1)(ii), 
which  requires an  educational agency or 
institu tion  to use reasonable methods to 
ensure that school officials have access 
to on ly those education  records in  
which  the official has a legitimate 
educational in terest. In  th is section , we 
also proposed  that an  educational 

VerDate Aug<31>2005 18:13 Dec 08, 2008 Jkt 217001 PO 00000 Frm 00012 Fmt 4701 Sfmt 4700 E:\FR\FM\09DER2.SGM 09DER2jle
nt

in
i o

n 
PR

O
D

1P
C

65
 w

ith
 R

U
LE

S2



74817 Federal Register / Vol. 73, No. 237 / Tuesday, December 9, 2008 / Rules and  Regulations 

agency or institu tion  that does not use 
physical or technological access 
controls must ensure that its 
administrative policy for controlling 
access to education  records is effective 
and  that it remains in  compliance with  
the ‘‘legitimate educational in terest’’ 
requirement. 

One commenter who supported  the 
proposed  regulations expressed  concern  
that not all d istricts and  institu tions 
have the financial or technological 
resources to create or purchase an  
electron ic system that p rovides fu lly 
au tomated  access control and  that an  
institu tion  using only administrative 
controls would  be required  to 
demonstrate that each  school official 
who accessed  education  records 
possessed  a legitimate educational 
in terest in  the education  records to 
which  the official gained  access. 
Accord ing to the commenter, the 
regulations seem to omit the 
‘‘reasonable methods’’ concept for those 
schools that u tilize administrative 
controls rather than  physical or 
technological controls. The commenter 
was concerned  that smaller schools that 
lack resources to create or purchase a 
system that fu lly monitors record  access 
would  be d isadvantaged  by having to 
meet a h igher standard  of ensuring a 
legitimate educational in terest on  the 
part of the school officials that access 
the records. 

One commenter expressed  concern  
that the standard  in  § 99.31(a)(1)(ii) is 
too restrictive and  asked  whether the 
Department would  use flexibility and  
deference in  taking in to consideration  
an  institu tion’s efforts in  compliance 
with  the requirement. 

Another commenter requested  that we 
include in  the regulations a requirement 
that contractors hosting data at offsite 
locations must institu te effective access 
control measures. The commenter stated  
that many schools and  contractors are 
uncertain  as to whether the school or 
the contractor is responsible for 
ensuring that access controls are applied  
to data hosted  by contractors. 

One commenter stated  that the 
regulations created  an  unnecessary 
burden , as school d istricts already do 
their best to comply with  FERPA and  an  
occasional mistake should  be excused . 
The commenter, however, was p leased  
that the regulations do not require the 
use of technological controls. The 
commenter was concerned  that schools 
are unable to pre-assign  risk levels to 
categories of records in  order to 
determine appropriate methods to 
mitigate improper access. The 
commenter supported  the use of 
effective administrative controls as 
determined  by a d istrict to ensure that 

in formation  is available on ly to those 
with  a legitimate educational in terest. 

One commenter expressed  concern  
that the requirement to use reasonable 
methods to ensure appropriate access 
was not sufficien tly restrictive, because 
under the regulations, all volunteers 
would  be designated  as school officials. 
The commenter believed  that the 
regulations would  enable volunteers to 
gain  access more easily to confidential 
and  sensitive in formation  in  education  
records. 

A commenter who is a paren t of a 
special education  student also 
expressed  concern  that the language in  
the regulations was not adequate. The 
commenter described  a software 
package used  by her d istrict that permits 
all school officials unrestricted  access to 
the IEPs of all special education  
students. 

Discussion: Section  99.30 requires 
that a paren t or eligible student p rovide 
written  consent for a d isclosure of 
personally iden tifiable in formation  from 
education  records un less the 
circumstances meet one of the 
exceptions to consent, such  as the 
release of in formation  to a school 
official with  a legitimate educational 
in terest. Thus, a d istrict or institu tion  
that makes a d isclosure solely on  the 
basis that the ind ividual is a school 
official violates FERPA if it does not 
also determine that the school official 
has a legitimate educational in terest. 
The regulations in  § 99.31(a)(1)(ii) are 
designed  to clarify the responsibility of 
the educational agency or institu tion  to 
ensure that access to education  records 
by school officials is limited  to 
circumstances in  which  the school 
official possesses a legitimate 
educational in terest. 

We believe that the standard  of 
‘‘reasonable methods’’ is sufficien tly 
flexible to permit each  educational 
agency or institu tion  to select the proper 
balance of physical, technological, and  
administrative controls to effectively 
prevent unauthorized  access to 
education  records, based  on  their 
resources and  needs. In  order to 
establish  a system driven  by physical or 
technological access controls, a school 
would  generally first determine when a 
school official has a legitimate 
educational in terest in  education  
records and  then  determine which  
physical or technological access 
controls are necessary to ensure that the 
official can  access on ly those records. 
The regulations require a school that 
uses on ly administrative controls to 
ensure that its administrative policy for 
controlling access to education  records 
is effective and  that the school is in  
compliance with  the legitimate 

educational in terest requirement in  
§ 99.31(a)(1)(i)(A). However, the 
‘‘reasonable methods’’ standard  applies 
whether the control is physical, 
technological, or administrative. 

The regulations permit the use of a 
variety of methods to protect education  
records, in  whatever format, from 
improper access. The Department 
expects that educational agencies and  
institu tions will generally make 
appropriate choices in  design ing records 
access controls, bu t the Department 
reserves the righ t to evaluate the 
effectiveness of those efforts in  meeting 
statu tory and  regulatory requirements. 

The additional language that one 
commenter requested  concern ing 
outsourcing is already included  in  the 
regulations in  § 99.31(a)(1). That section  
specifically provides that contractors are 
subject to the same conditions 
govern ing the access and  use of records 
that apply to other school officials. As 
long as those conditions are met, the 
physical location  in  which  the 
contractor provides the service is not 
relevant. 

Because the regulations permit the 
use of a variety of methods to effectively 
reduce the risk of unauthorized  access 
to education  records, we do not believe 
the requirement to establish  ‘‘reasonable 
methods’’ for controlling access is 
unduly burdensome. Schools have the 
flexibility to decide the method  or 
methods best su ited  to their own 
circumstances. For the many schools, 
d istricts, and  institu tions that already 
meet the standard , no operational 
changes should  be necessary. 

The regulations do not designate all 
volunteers as school officials. Rather, 
the regulations clarify that schools may 
designate volunteers as school officials 
who may be provided  access to 
education  records on ly when the 
volunteer has a legitimate educational 
in terest. Schools can  and  should  
carefu lly assess and  limit access by any 
school official, includ ing volunteers. 
This issue is d iscussed  in  more detail 
p reviously in  th is p reamble under the 
section  en titled  Outsourcing. 

With  regard  to the paren t who 
expressed  concern  that the language in  
the regulations was not adequate to 
address the problem of software that 
permits all school officials to access the 
IEPs of all special education  students, 
we believe that the language in  
§ 99.31(a)(1)(ii) is sufficien t. As 
previously noted , FERPA prohibits 
school officials from having access to 
education  records un less they have a 
legitimate educational in terest. The 
commenter’s poin t illustrates the need  
for educational agencies and  institu tions 
to ensure that adequate controls are in  
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p lace to restrict access to education  
records on ly to a school official with  a 
legitimate educational in terest. 

Changes: None. 
Transfer of Education Records to 
Student’s New School (§§ 99.31(a)(2) 
and 99.34(a)) 

Com m ent: All of the comments we 
received  on  proposed  §§ 99.31(a)(2) and  
99.34(a) supported  the clarification  that 
an  educational agency or institu tion  
may d isclose a student’s education  
records to officials of another school, 
school system, or institu tion  of 
postsecondary education  not just when  
the student seeks or in tends to enroll, 
bu t after the student is already enrolled , 
so long as the d isclosure is for purposes 
related  to the student’s enrollment or 
transfer. Some commenters noted  that 
th is clarification  reduces legal 
uncertain ty about how long a school 
may continue to send  records or 
in formation  to a student’s new school; 
other commenters noted  that th is 
clarification  will be helpfu l in  serving 
students who are homeless or in  foster 
care because these students are often  
already enrolled  in  a new school system 
while waiting for records from a 
previous enrollment. 

A few commenters asked  us to clarify 
the requirement that the d isclosure must 
be for purposes related  to the student’s 
enrollment or transfer. The commenters 
asked  whether th is meant that on ly 
records specifically related  to the new 
school’s decision  to admit the student or 
records related  to the transfer of course 
cred it could  be d isclosed , or whether 
the agency or institu tion  could  also 
d isclose in formation  about previously 
undisclosed  d iscip linary actions related  
to the student’s ongoing attendance at 
the new institu tion . One commenter 
suggested  that we remove the 
requirement that the d isclosure must be 
for purposes of the student’s enrollment 
or transfer because it was confusing and  
unnecessary. Some commenters asked  
the Department to provide gu idance 
about the types of records that may be 
sen t under the regulations to a student’s 
new school, noting that the preamble to 
the NPRM stated  that the regulations 
allow school officials to d isclose any 
and  all education  records, including 
health  and  d iscip linary records, to the 
new school (73 FR 15581). 

One commenter asked  us to clarify 
that any school, not just the school the 
student attended  most recently, may 
d isclose in formation  from education  
records to the institu tion  that the 
student curren tly attends. Another 
commenter asked  whether the amended  
regulations would  permit the d isclosure 
of education  records to an  institu tion  in  

which  a student seeks in formation  or 
services bu t not enrollment, such  as 
when  a charter school student requests 
an  evaluation  under the IDEA from the 
student’s home school d istrict. 

Two commenters asked  whether 
mental health  and  other treatment 
records of postsecondary students, 
which  are excluded  from the defin ition  
of education  records under FERPA, 
could  be d isclosed  to the new school. 
Other commenters asked  whether 
FERPA places any limits on  the transfer 
of in formation  about student 
d iscip linary actions to colleges and  
universities and  what in formation  a 
postsecondary institu tion  may ask for 
and  receive regard ing a student’s 
d iscip linary actions. A few commenters 
asked  us to address the relationsh ip  
between  these regulations and  guidance 
issued  by the Department’s Office for 
Civil Rights (OCR) prohibiting the pre- 
admission  release of in formation  about 
a student’s d isability under section  504 
of the Rehabilitation  Act of 1973, as 
amended , and  Title II of the Americans 
with  Disabilities Act of 1990, as 
amended . 

Discussion: The regulations are 
in tended  to eliminate uncertain ty about 
whether, under § 99.31(a)(2), an  
educational agency or institu tion  may 
send  education  records to a student’s 
new school even  after the student is 
already enrolled  and  attending the new 
school. The requirement that the 
d isclosure must be for purposes related  
to the student’s enrollment or transfer is 
not in tended  to limit the kind  of records 
that may be d isclosed  under th is 
exception . Instead , the regulations are 
in tended  to clarify that, after a student 
has already enrolled  in  a new school, 
the student’s former school may 
d isclose any records or in formation , 
including health  records and  
information  about d iscip linary 
proceedings, that it could  have 
d isclosed  when the student was seeking 
or in tending to enroll in  the new school. 

These regulations apply to any school 
that a student p reviously attended , not 
just the school that the student attended  
most recently. For example, under 
§ 99.31(a)(2), a student’s h igh  school 
may send  education  records d irectly to 
a graduate school in  which  the student 
seeks admission , or is already enrolled . 
Section  99.34(b), which  explains the 
conditions that apply to the d isclosure 
of in formation  to officials of another 
school, school system, or postsecondary 
institu tion , allows a public charter 
school or other agency or institu tion  to 
d isclose the education  records of one of 
its students in  attendance to the 
student’s home school d istrict if the 
student receives or seeks to receive 

services from the home school d istrict, 
includ ing an  evaluation  under the IDEA. 
We note, however, that the 
confidentiality of in formation  
regulations under Part B of the IDEA 
contain  additional consent requirements 
that may also apply in  these 
circumstances. 

Under section  444(a)(4)(B)(iv) of 
FERPA, 20 U.S.C. 1232g(a)(4)(B)(iv), 
medical and  psychological treatment 
records of eligible students are excluded  
from the defin ition  of education  records 
if they are made, main tained , and  used  
only in  connection  with  treatment of the 
student and  d isclosed  only to 
ind ividuals p rovid ing the treatment, 
includ ing treatment providers at the 
student’s new school. (While the 
comment concerned  records of 
postsecondary students, we note that 
the treatment records exception  to the 
defin ition  of education  records applies 
also to any student who is 18 years of 
age or older, includ ing 18 year old  h igh  
school students.) An educational agency 
or institu tion  may d isclose an  eligible 
student’s treatment records to the 
student’s new school for purposes other 
than  treatment provided  that the records 
are d isclosed  under one of the 
exceptions to written  consent under 
§ 99.31(a), includ ing § 99.31(a)(2), or 
with  the student’s written  consent 
under § 99.30. If an  educational agency 
or institu tion  d iscloses an  eligible 
student’s treatment records for purposes 
other than  treatment, the treatment 
records are no longer excluded  from the 
defin ition  of education  records and  are 
subject to all other FERPA requirements, 
includ ing the righ t of the eligible 
student to inspect and  review the 
records and  to seek to have them 
amended  under certain  conditions. In  
practical terms, th is means that an  
agency or institu tion  may d isclose an  
eligible student’s treatment records to 
the student’s new school either with  the 
student’s written  consent, or under one 
of the exceptions in  § 99.31(a), 
includ ing § 99.31(a)(2), which  permits 
d isclosure to a school where a student 
seeks or in tends to enroll, or where the 
student is already enrolled  so long as 
the d isclosure is for purposes related  to 
the student’s enrollment or transfer. 

FERPA does not contain  any 
particu lar restrictions on  the d isclosure 
of a student’s d iscip linary records. 
Further, Congress has enacted  
legislation  to ensure that schools 
transfer d iscip linary records to a 
student’s new school in  certain  
circumstances. In  particu lar, section  
444(h) of the statu te, 20 U.S.C. 1232g(h), 
and  the implementing regulations in  
§ 99.36(b) provide that noth ing in  
FERPA prevents an  educational agency 
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or institu tion  from including in  a 
student’s records and  d isclosing to 
teachers and  school officials, includ ing 
those in  other schools, appropriate 
in formation  about d iscip linary actions 
taken  against the student for conduct 
that posed  a sign ifican t risk to the safety 
or well-being of that student, other 
students, or other members of the school 
community. This au thority is in  
addition  to any other au thority in  
FERPA for the d isclosure of education  
records without consent, includ ing the 
au thority under § 99.36(a) to d isclose 
education  records in  connection  with  a 
health  or safety emergency. In  addition , 
section  4155 of the Elementary and  
Secondary Education  Act of 1965 
(ESEA), 20 U.S.C. 7165, as amended  by 
the No Child  Left Behind  Act of 2001 
(NCLB), requires a State that receives 
funds under the ESEA to have a 
procedure in  p lace to facilitate the 
transfer of d iscip linary records, with  
respect to a suspension  or expulsion , by 
LEAs to any private or public 
elementary school or secondary school 
for any student who is enrolled  or seeks, 
in tends, or is instructed  to enroll, on  a 
fu ll-or part-time basis, in  the school. 

There are, however, other Federal 
laws, such  as the IDEA, section  504 of 
the Rehabilitation  Act of 1973, as 
amended  (Rehabilitation  Act), and  Title 
II of the Americans with  Disabilities Act 
of 1990, as amended  (ADA), with  
d ifferen t requirements that may affect 
the release of student in formation . For 
example, educational agencies and  
institu tions that are ‘‘public agencies’’ 
or ‘‘participating agencies’’ under the 
IDEA must comply with  the 
requirements in  the Part B 
confidentiality of in formation  
regulations. See, e.g., 34 CFR 
300.622(b)(2) and  (3). By way of further 
illustration , because educational 
agencies and  institu tions receive 
Federal financial assistance, they must 
comply with  the regulations 
implementing section  504 of the 
Rehabilitation  Act, which  generally 
prohibit postsecondary institu tions from 
making pre-admission  inquiries about 
an  applican t’s d isability status. See 34 
CFR 104.42(b)(4) and  (c). However, after 
admission , in  connection  with  an  
emergency and  if necessary to protect 
the health  or safety of a student or other 
persons as defined  under FERPA and  its 
implementing regulations, section  504 
of the Rehabilitation  Act and  Title II of 
the ADA do not p rohibit postsecondary 
institu tions from obtain ing information  
and  education  records concern ing a 
curren t student, includ ing those with  
d isabilities, from any school previously 
attended  by the student. See the 

d iscussion  in  the section  en titled  Health  
or Safety Em ergency (§ 99.36). 

Changes: None. 
Ex Parte Court Orders Under the USA 
Patriot Act (§ 99.31(a)(9)) 

Com m ent: Two commenters 
expressed  support for the proposed  
regulations, which  incorporate statu tory 
changes that allow an  educational 
agency or institu tion  to comply with  an  
ex  parte court order issued  under the 
USA Patriot Act. One commenter said  
that it would  be helpfu l to add  to the 
regulations a statement from the 
preamble to the NPRM that an  
institu tion  is not responsible for 
determining the relevance of the 
in formation  sought or the merits of the 
underlying claim for the court order. 

Several commenters opposed  
§ 99.31(a)(9). One commenter said  that 
the USA Patriot Act is unconstitu tional 
and  that its p rovisions will sunset in  
2009. Another commenter said  that the 
regulations harm its ability to preserve 
the confidentiality of education  records, 
particu larly those of foreign  students. 
The commenter asked  us to change the 
regulations to permit institu tions to 
notify students when  records are 
requested , un less the ex  parte court 
order specifically states that the student 
should  not be notified . Another 
commenter said  that schools should  be 
required  to notify paren ts when  records 
are requested  and  to record  the 
d isclosure. 

Discussion: The USA Patriot Act 
amendments to FERPA have not been  
ru led  unconstitu tional, and  its 
p rovisions relevant to FERPA do not 
sunset in  2009. Therefore, we are 
implementing these provisions in  our 
regulations at th is time. 

Under the USA Patriot Act, the U.S. 
Attorney General, or a designee in  a 
position  not lower than  an  Assistan t 
Attorney General, may apply for an  ex  
parte court order to collect, retain , 
d isseminate, and  use certain  education  
records in  the possession  of an  
educational agency or institu tion  
without regard  to any other FERPA 
requirements, includ ing in  particu lar 
the recordkeeping requirements. 20 
U.S.C. 1232g(j)(3) and  (4). The USA 
Patriot Act amendments to FERPA also 
provide that an  educational agency or 
institu tion  that complies in  good  faith  
with  the court order is not liable to any 
person  for producing the in formation . 
Noth ing in  these amendments, 
includ ing the ‘‘good  faith ’’ requirement, 
requires an  educational agency or 
institu tion  to evaluate the underlying 
merits or legal sufficiency of the court 
order before d isclosing the requested  
in formation  without consent. As with  

any court order or subpoena that forms 
the basis of a d isclosure without consent 
under § 99.31(a)(9), the agency or 
institu tion  must simply determine 
whether the ex  parte court order is 
facially valid . We see no reason  to 
include th is general requirement in  the 
regulations. 

Section  99.31(a)(9)(ii) requires an  
agency or institu tion  to make a 
reasonable effort to notify a paren t or 
eligible student of a jud icial order or 
lawfully issued  subpoena in  advance of 
compliance, except for certain  law 
enforcement subpoenas if the court has 
ordered  the agency or institu tion  not to 
d isclose the existence or conten ts of the 
subpoena or in formation  d isclosed . An 
ex  parte order is by defin ition  an  order 
issued  without notice to or argument 
from the other party, including the party 
whose education  records are sought, 
and  the USA Patriot Act amendments 
provide that the Attorney General may 
collect and  use the records without 
regard  to any FERPA requirements, 
includ ing the recordation  requirements. 
Under th is statu tory au thority, the 
regulations properly provide that the 
agency or institu tion  is not required  to 
notify the paren t or eligible student 
before complying with  the order or to 
record  the d isclosure. 

We do not agree with  the commenter’s 
request that we amend the regulations to 
allow agencies and  institu tions to notify 
paren ts and  students and  record  these 
d isclosures. We note that FERPA does 
not p rohibit an  educational agency or 
institu tion  from notifying a paren t or 
student or record ing a d isclosure made 
in  compliance with  an  ex  parte court 
order under the USA Patriot Act. 
However, an  agency or institu tion  that 
does so may violate the terms of the 
court order itself and  may also fail to 
meet the good  faith  requirements in  the 
USA Patriot Act for avoid ing liability for 
the d isclosure. We would  also 
recommend that agencies and  
institu tions consult with  legal counsel 
before notifying a paren t or student or 
record ing a d isclosure of education  
records made in  compliance with  an  ex  
parte court order under the USA Patriot 
Act. 

Changes: None. 
Registered Sex Offenders 
(§ 99.31(a)(16)) 

Com m ent: One commenter asked  for 
clarification  whether the proposed  
regulations au thorizing the d isclosure of 
personally iden tifiable in formation  from 
education  records concern ing registered  
sex offenders au thorize on ly the 
d isclosure of in formation  that is 
received  from local law enforcement 
officials, or whether d isclosure could  

VerDate Aug<31>2005 18:13 Dec 08, 2008 Jkt 217001 PO 00000 Frm 00015 Fmt 4701 Sfmt 4700 E:\FR\FM\09DER2.SGM 09DER2jle
nt

in
i o

n 
PR

O
D

1P
C

65
 w

ith
 R

U
LE

S2



74820 Federal Register / Vol. 73, No. 237 / Tuesday, December 9, 2008 / Rules and  Regulations 

also include other in formation  from a 
student’s education  records, such  as 
campus of attendance. A second 
commenter expressed  appreciation  that 
the regulations clarify that school 
d istricts are not required  or encouraged  
to collect or main tain  in formation  on  
registered  sex offenders and  that these 
d isclosures are permissible bu t not 
required . 

Discussion: The Campus Sex Crimes 
Prevention  Act (CSCPA) amendments to 
FERPA allow educational agencies and  
institu tions to d isclose any information  
concern ing registered  sex offenders 
provided  to the agency or institu tion  
under section  170101 of the Violen t 
Crime Control and  Law Enforcement 
Act of 1994, 42 U.S.C. 14071, commonly 
known as the Wetterling Act. Since 
publication  of the NPRM, we have 
determined  that the proposed  
regulations were confusing, because 
they limited  these d isclosures to 
in formation  that was obtained  and  
d isclosed  by an  agency or institu tion  in  
compliance with  a State community 
notification  program. In  fact, the CSCPA 
amendments to FERPA cover any 
information  provided  to an  educational 
agency or institu tion  under the 
Wetterling Act, includ ing not on ly 
in formation  provided  under general 
State community notification  programs, 
which  are required  under subsection  (e) 
of the Wetterling Act, 42 U.S.C. 
14071(e), bu t also in formation  provided  
under the more specific campus 
community notification  programs for 
institu tions of h igher education , which  
are required  under subsection  (j), 42 
U.S.C. 14071(j). 

The Wetterling Act requires States to 
release relevant in formation  about 
persons required  to register as sex 
offenders that is necessary to protect the 
public, includ ing specific State 
reporting requirements for law 
enforcement agencies having 
jurisd iction  over institu tions of h igher 
education . The exception  to the consent 
requirement in  FERPA allows 
educational agencies and  institu tions to 
make available to the school community 
any information  provided  to it under the 
Wetterling Act. We in terpret th is to also 
include any additional in formation  
about the student that is relevant to the 
purpose for which  the in formation  was 
provided  to the educational agency or 
institu tion—protecting the public. This 
could  include, for example, the school 
or campus at which  the student is 
enrolled . 

The proposed  regulations included  a 
sen tence stating that FERPA does not 
require or encourage agencies or 
institu tions to collect or main tain  
in formation  about registered  sex 

offenders. We have determined  through 
further review, however, that th is 
sen tence could  be confusing and  should  
be removed. Participating institu tions 
are required  under section  485(f)(1) of 
the Higher Education  Act of 1965, as 
amended , 20 U.S.C. 1092(f)(1), to advise 
the campus community where it may 
obtain  law enforcement agency 
information  provided  by the State under 
42 U.S.C. 14071(j) concern ing registered  
sex offenders. Further, the Department 
does not wish  to d iscourage educational 
agencies and  institu tions from 
d isclosing relevant in formation  about a 
registered  sex offender in  appropriate 
circumstances. 

Changes: We have revised  the 
regulations to remove the reference to 
the d isclosure of in formation  obtained  
by the educational agency or institu tion  
in  compliance with  a State community 
notification  program. The regulations 
now simply allow d isclosure without 
consent of any information  concern ing 
registered  offenders provided  to an  
educational agency or institu tion  under 
42 U.S.C. 14071 and  applicable Federal 
gu idelines. We also have removed the 
sen tence stating that neither FERPA nor 
the regulations requires or encourages 
agencies or institu tions to collect or 
main tain  in formation  about registered  
sex offenders. 
Redisclosure of Education Records and 
Recordkeeping by State and Local 
Educational Authorities and Federal 
Officials and Agencies (§§ 99.31(a)(3); 
99.32(b); 99.33(b); 99.35(a)(2); 99.35(b)) 
(a) Redisclosure 

Com m ent: We received  a number of 
comments on  the proposed  changes in  
§ 99.35(b) that would  permit State and  
local educational au thorities and  
Federal officials and  agencies listed  in  
§ 99.31(a)(3) to red isclose personally 
iden tifiable in formation  from education  
records on  behalf of educational 
agencies and  institu tions without 
paren tal consent under the existing 
red isclosure au thority in  § 99.33(b). 
(Section  99.33(b) allows an  educational 
agency or institu tion  to d isclose 
personally iden tifiable in formation  from 
education  records with  the 
understanding that the recip ien t may 
make further d isclosures of the 
in formation  on  behalf of the agency or 
institu tion  if the d isclosure falls under 
one of the exceptions in  § 99.31(a) and  
the agency or institu tion  has complied  
with  the recordation  requirements in  
§ 99.32(b).) Many commenters said  that 
the proposed  change would  ease 
administrative burdens on  State and  
local educational au thorities, agencies, 
and  institu tions. For example, under the 

proposed  regulations, a student’s new 
school d istrict or institu tion  would  be 
able to obtain  the student’s p rior 
education  records from a single State 
agency instead  of contacting and  
waiting for records from separate 
d istricts or institu tions. Commenters 
noted , however, that certain  issues had  
not been  addressed  in  the proposed  
regulations and  that further clarification  
was required . Commenters also 
supported  the new red isclosure 
au thority to the exten t that it facilitates 
the exchange of education  records 
among State educational au thorities, 
educational agencies and  institu tions, 
and  educational researchers th rough 
consolidated , statewide systems or 
separate data sharing arrangements. 

Two commenters expressed  
substan tial concerns that the regulations 
inappropriately expanded  the situations 
in  which  personally iden tifiable 
in formation  could  be red isclosed  
without paren tal or student consent. 
One commenter noted  that the 
theoretical benefits of main tain ing large, 
consolidated  data systems, which  allow 
users to track ind ividual students over 
time, do not ou tweigh  the need  to 
protect ind ividual p rivacy. Another 
commenter stated  that the regulations 
should  not allow State and  local 
educational au thorities and  the Federal 
officials and  agencies listed  in  
§ 99.31(a)(3) to set up  and  operate 
record  systems contain ing personally 
iden tifiable in formation  that paren ts 
and  students have no righ t to review or 
amend, and  may not even  know about. 
Barring the withdrawal of these 
regulations, these commenters urged  the 
Department to strengthen  or at least 
p reserve the safeguards and  protections 
that accompany th is new data sharing 
au thority. One commenter asked  us to 
require any State or Federal en tity that 
main tains education  records to provide 
paren ts and  students with  annual 
notification  and  the righ t to review and  
amend the students’ records. 

Many commenters ind icated  their 
strong support for allowing State 
educational au thorities to respond to 
requests for in formation  from education  
records and  red isclose personally 
iden tifiable in formation , whether for 
data sharing systems, transferring 
records to a student’s new school, or 
other purposes au thorized  under 
§ 99.31(a), without involving school 
d istricts and  postsecondary institu tions. 
These commenters generally thought 
that State educational au thorities and  
Federal officials listed  in  § 99.31(a)(3) 
should  not be required  to consult with  
educational agencies and  institu tions 
when  red isclosing information  from 
education  records. One commenter 
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asked  us to clarify the role of the SEA 
or other State educational au thority as 
the custod ian  of education  records and  
its au thority to act for educational 
agencies and  institu tions. Several 
commenters urged  us to revise the 
regulations to make clear that the 
red isclosing official is au thorized  to 
make further d isclosures under 
§ 99.31(a) without approval from, or 
further consultation  with , the original 
source of the records and  main tain  the 
appropriate record  related  to the 
red isclosure. 

One commenter said  that the 
regulations must allow State 
educational au thorities to transfer 
records on  behalf of LEAs and  
postsecondary institu tions. One 
commenter strongly supported  the 
changes in  § 99.35(b) because they 
would  allow the State McKinney-Vento 
coord inator to control transfer of 
education  records of abused  and  
homeless students to their new schools 
and  prevent poten tial abusers from 
locating the student. 

Some commenters believed  that 
curren t regulations impede the ability of 
States to establish  and  operate data 
sharing systems and  that regulatory 
changes must allow all educational 
agencies, institu tions, SEAs, and  other 
State educational au thorities to 
exchange data among themselves and  
work with  researchers. One commenter 
recommended that we create a specific 
exception  in  § 99.31(a) that would  allow 
data sharing across State educational 
au thorities in  order to establish  and  
operate consolidated , longitud inal data 
systems. 

Several commenters asked  for 
clarification  of the requirement in  
§ 99.35(a)(2) that au thority for an  agency 
or official listed  in  § 99.31(a)(3) to 
conduct an  audit, evaluation , or 
compliance or enforcement activity is 
not conferred  by FERPA or the 
regulations and  must be established  
under other Federal, State, or local law, 
including valid  administrative 
regulations. One commenter supported  
data sharing among pre-school, K–12, 
and  postsecondary institu tions, 
p rovided  that appropriate legal 
au thority for the underlying audit, 
evaluation , or compliance and  
enforcement activity is established  as 
required  under § 99.35(a)(2). One 
commenter asked  whether citation  to a 
specific law or regulations will be 
required , or whether general State laws 
that p rovide join t au thority to evaluate 
programs at all levels are sufficien t for 
parties to en ter in to data sharing 
agreements under the regulations. 

One commenter ind icated  that its 
State has no laws or regulations that 

specifically allow the State-level 
advisory council to audit or evaluate 
education  programs, or that allow a K– 
12 school d istrict to audit or evaluate 
the programs offered  by postsecondary 
institu tions, and  vice versa, and  the 
commenter asked  whether general 
au thority for these en tities to act under 
State law would  be sufficien t. Two 
commenters whose States do not house 
their K–12 and  postsecondary systems 
with in  the same agency expressed  
concern  whether they will be able to 
develop  consolidated  databases under 
the regulations if their K–12 and  
postsecondary agencies do not have 
appropriate au thority to audit or 
evaluate each  other’s p rograms. 

Discussion: We continue to believe 
that State and  local educational 
au thorities and  Federal officials that 
receive education  records under 
§§ 99.31(a)(3) and  99.35 should  be 
permitted  to red isclose education  
records on  behalf of educational 
agencies and  institu tions in  accordance 
with  the existing regulations govern ing 
the red isclosure of in formation  in  
§ 99.33(b). We agree with  the 
commenters that th is change will ease 
administrative burdens at all levels and  
facilitate the creation  and  operation  of 
statewide data sharing systems that 
support the student ach ievement, 
p rogram accountability, transfer of 
records, and  other objectives of Federal 
and  State education  programs while 
protecting the privacy righ ts of paren ts 
and  students in  students’ education  
records. 

We respond first to commenters’ 
concerns about the requirement in  
§ 99.33(b) that any red isclosure of 
personally iden tifiable in formation  from 
education  records must be made on  
behalf of the educational agency or 
institu tion  that d isclosed  the 
in formation  to the receiving party, 
including any requirement for 
consulting with  or obtain ing approval 
from the educational agency or 
institu tion  that d isclosed  the 
in formation . The statu tory prohibitions 
on  the red isclosure of education  records 
apply to education  records that SEAs, 
State h igher educational au thorities, the 
Department, and  other Federal officials 
receive under an  exception  to the 
written  consent requirement in  FERPA, 
such  as §§ 99.31(a)(3) and  99.35 (for 
audit, evaluation , compliance and  
enforcement purposes) and  § 99.31(a)(4) 
(for financial aid  purposes). As 
explained  in  the preamble to the NPRM, 
§ 99.33(b) allows an  educational agency 
or institu tion  to d isclose education  
records with  the understanding that the 
recip ien t may make further d isclosures 
on  its behalf under one of the 

exceptions in  § 99.31 (73 FR 15586– 
15587). In  that case, the d isclosing 
agency or institu tion  must record  the 
names of the additional parties to which  
the receiving party may red isclose the 
in formation  on  behalf of the educational 
agency or institu tion  and  their 
legitimate in terests under § 99.31. 

Under the regulatory framework for 
red isclosing education  records in  
§ 99.33(b), educational agencies and  
institu tions retain  primary 
responsibility for d isclosing and  
au thorizing red isclosure of their 
education  records without consent. (We 
note again  that the on ly d isclosures of 
education  records that are mandatory 
under FERPA are those made to paren ts 
and  eligible students.) The purpose of 
§ 99.33(b), which  allows red isclosure of 
education  records notwithstanding the 
general statu tory restrictions, has always 
been  to ease administrative burdens on  
educational agencies and  institu tions 
that d isclose education  records. The 
legal basis for th is accommodation  is 
that the recip ien t is acting ‘‘on  behalf 
of’’ the agency or institu tion  from which  
it received  information  from education  
records and  making a further d isclosure 
that the agency or institu tion  would  
otherwise make itself under § 99.31(a). 
Section  99.33(b) does not confer on  any 
recip ien t of education  records 
independent au thority to red isclose 
those records apart from acting ‘‘on  
behalf of’’ the d isclosing educational 
agency or institu tion . 

The Department recognizes that the 
State and  local educational au thorities 
and  Federal officials that receive 
education  records without consent 
under § 99.31(a)(3) are responsible for 
supervising and  monitoring educational 
agencies and  institu tions and  that many 
of them also main tain  cen tralized  data 
systems that constitu te a valuable 
resource of in formation  from education  
records. The proposed  changes to 
§ 99.35(b) would  allow these State and  
Federal au thorities and  officials to 
red isclose in formation  received  under 
§ 99.31(a)(3) under any of the exceptions 
in  § 99.31(a), includ ing transferring 
education  records to a student’s new 
school under § 99.31(a)(2), sharing 
information  among other State and  local 
educational au thorities and  Federal 
officials for audit or evaluation  purposes 
under § 99.31(a)(3), and  using 
researchers to conduct evaluations and  
stud ies under § 99.31(a)(3) or 
§ 99.31(a)(6), without violating the 
statu tory prohibitions on  red isclosing 
education  records provided  certain  
conditions have been  met. In  the event 
that an  educational agency or institu tion  
objects to the red isclosure of 
in formation  it has provided , the State or 
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local educational au thority or Federal 
official or agency may rely instead  on  
any independent legal au thority it has to 
further d isclose the in formation . 

We agree that curren t regulations 
were unclear about the ability of States 
to establish  and  operate data sharing 
systems with  educational agencies and  
institu tions, which  is why we amended  
§ 99.35(b). As explained  in  the NPRM 
(73 FR 15587), §§ 99.35(a)(2) and  
99.35(b) allow SEAs, h igher education  
au thorities, and  educational agencies 
and  institu tions, including local school 
d istricts and  postsecondary institu tions, 
to share education  records in  personally 
iden tifiable form with  one another, 
p rovided  that Federal, State, or local 
law au thorizes the recip ien t to conduct 
the audit, evaluation , or compliance or 
enforcement activity in  question . 
Accord ingly, data sharing arrangements 
among State and  local educational 
au thorities and  educational agencies 
and  institu tions generally must meet 
these requirements to be permissible 
under FERPA. (Data sharing with  
educational researchers is d iscussed  
below under Educational research .) 

With  respect to the comments 
recommending that we create a specific 
exception  in  § 99.31(a) to allow data 
sharing across State educational 
au thorities in  order to establish  and  
operate consolidated , longitud inal data 
systems and  other data sharing 
arrangements, there is no provision  in  
FERPA that allows d isclosure or 
red isclosure of education  records, 
without consent, for the specific 
purpose of establish ing and  operating 
consolidated  databases and  data sharing 
systems, and , therefore, we are without 
au thority to establish  one in  these 
regulations. 

In  response to the questions 
concern ing the need  for Federal, state, 
or local legal au thority to d isclose 
education  records for audit or 
evaluation  purposes, we note that, in  
general, FERPA allows educational 
agencies and  institu tions to d isclose 
(and  au thorized  recip ien ts to red isclose) 
education  records without consent in  
accordance with  the exceptions listed  in  
§ 99.31(a), includ ing for audit or 
evaluation  purposes under 
§§ 99.31(a)(3) and  99.35. It does not, 
however, p rovide the underlying 
au thority for ind ividuals and  
organizations to conduct the various 
activities that may allow them to receive 
education  records without consent 
under these exceptions. For example, 
§ 99.31(a)(7) does not au thorize an  
organization  to accred it educational 
institu tions; it allows educational 
institu tions to d isclose personally 
iden tifiable in formation  from education  

records, without consent, to an  
organization  to carry ou t its accred iting 
functions. If that organization  is not, in  
fact, an  accred itation  au thority for that 
particu lar institu tion , then  d isclosure 
under § 99.31(a)(7) is invalid  and  
violates FERPA. Likewise, § 99.31(a)(9) 
does not au thorize a court or Federal 
grand  jury to issue an  order or 
subpoena; it allows an  educational 
agency or institu tion  to comply with  a 
facially valid  order or subpoena, 
without consent. 

We added  the requirement in  
§ 99.35(a)(2) that the recip ien t have 
au thority under Federal, State, or local 
law to conduct the activity for which  
the d isclosure was made because there 
was sign ifican t confusion  in  the 
educational community about who may 
receive education  records without 
consent for audit and  evaluation  
purposes under § 99.35. For example, in  
2005 the Pennsylvania Department of 
Education  (PDOE) asked  the Department 
whether, in  the absence of paren tal 
consent, a charter school LEA 
responsible under State law for 
provid ing a free appropriate public 
education  to students with  d isabilities 
enrolled  in  the charter school could  
send  the local school d istrict of 
residence the IEP of each  student with  
a d isability. The school d istricts of 
residence claimed that they needed  th is 
in formation  to substan tiate the charter 
school’s invoices for h igher payments 
based  on  the student’s special education  
status under the IDEA. 

Our January 2006 response to PDOE 
explained  that in  order to meet the 
requirements for d isclosure of education  
records under §§ 99.31(a)(3) and  99.35, 
Federal, State, or local law (including 
valid  administrative regulations) must 
au thorize the relevant State or local 
educational au thority to conduct the 
audit, evaluation , or compliance or 
enforcement activity in  question . In  
particu lar, we noted  that charter schools 
in  Pennsylvania could  d isclose the IEP 
cover sheet under §§ 99.31(a)(3) and  
99.35 of the regulations if the State law 
in  question  au thorized  a local school 
d istrict to ‘‘audit or evaluate’’ a charter 
school’s request for payment of State 
funds at the special education  rate and  
the school d istrict needed  personally 
iden tifiable in formation  for that 
purpose, and  that we would  defer to the 
State Attorney General’s in terpretation  
of State law on  the matter. We also 
explained  that there appeared  to be no 
legal au thority that would  allow charter 
schools in  the State to d isclose a 
student’s en tire IEP to the resident 
school d istrict, as requested  by the 
resident school d istricts. 

The Department has always 
in terpreted  §§ 99.31(a)(3) and  99.35 to 
allow educational agencies and  
institu tions to d isclose personally 
iden tifiable in formation  from education  
records to the SEA or State h igher 
education  board  or commission  
responsible for their supervision  based  
on  the understanding that those en tities 
are au thorized  to audit or evaluate (or 
enforce Federal legal requirements 
related  to) the education  programs 
provided  by the agencies and  
institu tions whose records are 
d isclosed . Under th is reasoning, a K–12 
school d istrict (LEA) may d isclose 
personally iden tifiable in formation  from 
education  records to another LEA, or to 
a State h igher education  board  or 
commission , without consent, if that 
LEA, board , or commission  has legal 
au thority to conduct the audit, 
evaluation , or compliance or 
enforcement activity with  regard  to the 
d isclosing d istrict’s p rograms. States do 
not have to house their K–12 or P–12 
and  postsecondary systems with in  the 
same agency in  order to take advantage 
of th is p rovision . However, they may 
need  to review and  modify the 
supervisory and  oversigh t 
responsibilities of various State and  
local educational au thorities to ensure 
that there is valid  legal au thority for 
LEAs, postsecondary institu tions, SEAs, 
and  h igher education  au thorities to 
d isclose or red isclose personally 
iden tifiable in formation  from education  
records to one another under § 99.35(a) 
before in formation  is released . 

It is not our in ten tion  in  § 99.35(a)(2) 
to require educational agencies and  
institu tions and  other parties to iden tify 
specific statu tory au thority before they 
d isclose or red isclose education  records 
for audit or evaluation  purposes bu t to 
ensure that some local, State, or Federal 
legal au thority exists for the audit or 
evaluation , including for example an  
Executive Order or administrative 
regulation . The Department encourages 
State and  local educational au thorities 
and  educational agencies and  
institu tions to seek guidance from their 
State attorney general on  their legal 
au thority to conduct a particu lar audit 
or evaluation . The Department may also 
provide additional gu idance, as 
appropriate. 

Changes: None. 
(b) Recordation  Requirem ents 

Com m ent: In  the NPRM, 73 FR 15587, 
we invited  public comment on  whether 
an  SEA, the Department, or other 
official or agency listed  in  § 99.31(a)(3) 
should  be allowed to main tain  the 
record  of the red isclosures it makes on  
behalf of an  educational agency or 

VerDate Aug<31>2005 18:13 Dec 08, 2008 Jkt 217001 PO 00000 Frm 00018 Fmt 4701 Sfmt 4700 E:\FR\FM\09DER2.SGM 09DER2jle
nt

in
i o

n 
PR

O
D

1P
C

65
 w

ith
 R

U
LE

S2



74823 Federal Register / Vol. 73, No. 237 / Tuesday, December 9, 2008 / Rules and  Regulations 

institu tion  as a means of relieving any 
administrative burdens associated  with  
record ing d isclosures of education  
records. One commenter urged  the 
Department not to delegate 
responsibility for recordkeeping to State 
and  local educational au thorities and  
Federal agencies and  officials that 
red isclose education  records under 
§ 99.33(b). Another said  that if a State or 
local educational au thority or Federal 
agency or official red iscloses 
in formation  ‘‘on  behalf of’’ an  
educational agency or institu tion  under 
§ 99.35(b), these further d isclosures 
should  be included  in  the student’s 
record  at the educational agency or 
institu tion . All other comments on  th is 
issue supported  revising the regulations 
to allow State and  local educational 
au thorities and  Federal officials and  
agencies listed  in  § 99.31(a)(3) to record  
any red isclosures they make under 
§ 99.33(b). 

Several commenters suggested  that 
the recordation  requirements in  
§ 99.32(b) would  p lace an  undue burden  
on  State and  local officials when  State 
educational au thorities red isclose 
education  records because the State 
au thority would  need  to return  to each  
original source of the records to record  
the red isclosure. Some commenters 
noted  that compliance with  § 99.32(b) is 
p ractically impossible if an  LEA or 
postsecondary institu tion  is required  to 
record  all au thorized  red isclosures at 
the time of the in itial d isclosure of 
in formation  to the State or Federal 
au thority. Two commenters suggested  
that we eliminate the recordation  
problem by redefin ing the term 
disclosure so that it does not include 
d isclosing information  under 
§ 99.31(a)(3) for audit, evaluation , or 
compliance and  enforcement purposes. 
Another commenter suggested  that we 
define ‘‘educational agency or 
institu tion ’’ to include State educational 
au thorities so that d isclosures to State 
educational au thorities would  not be 
considered  a disclosure under FERPA. 

One commenter said  that the 
regulations should  permit State 
educational au thorities to record  
red isclosures as they are made and  
without having to iden tify each  student 
by name. Another commenter asked  for 
clarification  whether the recordation  
requirements apply to red isclosures that 
SEAs make to education  researchers and  
other parties that are not au thorized  to 
make any further d isclosures, and  what 
level of detail is required  in  the record  
regard ing who accessed  the data and  
what specific in formation  was viewed. 

One commenter stated  that if State 
educational au thorities and  Federal 
officials are au thorized  to record  their 

own red isclosures of in formation , then  
the educational agency or institu tion  
should  be required  to retrieve these 
records in  response to a request to 
review education  records by paren ts and  
eligible students who would  otherwise 
not know about the red isclosures. Other 
commenters suggested  that the State 
educational au thority or Federal official 
could  either make the red isclosure 
record  available d irectly to paren ts and  
students or send  it to the LEA or 
postsecondary institu tion  for th is 
purpose. 

Discussion: We agree with  
commenters that in  order to facilitate 
the operation  of State data systems and  
ease administrative burdens on  all 
parties, the regulations should  allow 
State educational au thorities and  
Federal officials and  agencies to record  
further d isclosures they make on  behalf 
of educational agencies and  institu tions 
under § 99.33(b). We are revising the 
provisions of § 99.32 to address 
commenters’ concerns and  ensure that 
these changes will not expand  the 
red isclosure au thority of a State or local 
educational au thority or Federal official 
or agency under § 99.35(b) and  that 
paren ts and  students will have notice of 
and  access to any State or Federal 
record  of further d isclosures that is 
created . 

In  response to the commenter’s 
suggestion  that we define ‘‘educational 
agency or institu tion’’ and  the term 
disclosure to address recordation  issues 
associated  with  the new red isclosure 
au thority in  § 99.35(b), we note that an  
educational agency or institu tion  is 
required  by statu te to main tain  with  
each  student’s education  records a 
record  of each  request for access to and  
each  d isclosure of personally 
iden tifiable in formation  from the 
education  records of the student, 
includ ing the parties who have 
requested  or received  information  and  
their legitimate in terests in  the 
in formation . 20 U.S.C. 1232g(b)(4)(A); 
34 CFR 99.32(a). This includes each  
d isclosure of personally iden tifiable 
in formation  from education  records that 
an  educational agency or institu tion  
makes to an  SEA or other State 
educational au thority and  to Federal 
officials and  agencies, includ ing the 
Department, for audit, evaluation , or 
compliance and  enforcement purposes 
under §§ 99.31(a)(3) and  99.35, and  
under most other FERPA exceptions, 
such  as the financial aid  exception  in  
§ 99.31(a)(4). (Regulatory exceptions to 
the statu tory recordation  requirements, 
which  are set forth  in  § 99.32(d), cover 
d isclosures that a paren t or eligible 
student would  generally know about 
without the recordation  or for which  

notice is p rohibited  under court order; 
the exceptions do not include 
d isclosures made to parties ou tside the 
agency or institu tion  for audit, 
evaluation , or compliance and  
enforcement purposes.) 

An educational agency or institu tion  
is required  under FERPA to record  its 
d isclosures of personally iden tifiable 
in formation  from education  records 
even  when it d iscloses in formation  to 
another educational agency or 
institu tion , such  as occurs under 
§ 99.31(a)(2) when  a school d istrict 
transfers education  records to a 
student’s new school. See 20 U.S.C. 
1232g(b)(4)(A); 34 CFR 99.32(a). 
Therefore, even  if a State educational 
au thority were considered  an  
‘‘educational agency or institu tion’’ 
under § 99.1, a school d istrict or 
postsecondary institu tion  would  still be 
required  to record  its own d isclosures to 
that State educational au thority; 
defin ing a State educational au thority as 
an  educational agency or institu tion  
would  not eliminate th is requirement. 
Therefore, a school d istrict or 
postsecondary institu tion  is required  to 
record  its d isclosures to any State 
educational au thority. 

The term disclosure is defined  in  
§ 99.3 to mean  to permit access to or the 
release, transfer, or other 
communication  of personally 
iden tifiable in formation  contained  in  
education  records to any party, by any 
means, including oral, written , or 
electron ic means. This includes 
releasing or making a student’s 
education  records available to school 
officials with in  the agency or 
institu tion , for which  an  exception  to 
the consent requirement exists under 
§ 99.31(a)(1). We see no legal basis for 
redefin ing the term disclosure to 
exclude the release of personally 
iden tifiable in formation  to th ird  parties 
ou tside the educational agency or 
institu tion  under the audit, evaluation , 
or compliance and  enforcement 
exception  to the consent requirement in  
§§ 99.31(a)(3) and  99.35. 

With  regard  to the level of detail 
required  in  the record  of red isclosures, 
curren t § 99.32(b) requires an  
educational agency or institu tion  to 
record  the ‘‘names of the additional 
parties to which  the receiving party may 
d isclose the in formation’’ on  its behalf 
and  their legitimate in terests under 
§ 99.31. This means the name of the 
ind ividual (if an  organization  is not 
involved) or the organization  and  the 
exception  under § 99.31(a) that would  
allow the red isclosure to be made 
without consent. Under curren t 
§ 99.33(a)(2), the officers, employees, 
and  agents of a party that receives 
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information  from education  records may 
use the in formation  for the purposes for 
which  the d isclosure was made without 
violating the limitations on  red isclosure 
in  § 99.33(a)(1). Therefore, we in terpret 
the recordation  requirement in  
§ 99.32(b) to mean  that an  educational 
agency or institu tion  may record  the 
name of an  organization , including a 
research  organization , to which  a 
recip ien t may make further d isclosures 
under § 99.33(b) and  is not required  to 
record  the name of each  ind ividual 
with in  the organization  who is 
au thorized  to use that in formation  in  
accordance with  § 99.33(a)(2). 

We also recognize that sometimes an  
educational agency or institu tion  does 
not know at the time of its d isclosure of 
education  records that the receiving 
party may wish  to make further 
d isclosures on  its behalf. Therefore, we 
in terpret § 99.32(b) to allow a receiving 
party to ask an  educational agency or 
institu tion  to record  further d isclosures 
made on  its behalf after the in itial 
receip t of the records or in formation . 

These same policies apply to further 
d isclosures made by State and  local 
educational au thorities and  Federal 
officials listed  in  § 99.31(a)(3) that 
red isclose in formation  on  behalf of 
educational agencies and  institu tions 
under the new authority in  § 99.35(b). 
Educational agencies and  institu tions 
that d isclose education  records under 
§ 99.31(a)(3) with  the understanding 
that the State or Federal au thority or 
official may make further d isclosures 
may continue to record  those further 
d isclosures as provided  in  § 99.32(b)(1). 
Like any other recip ien t of education  
records, a State or Federal au thority or 
official may also ask an  educational 
agency or institu tion  to record  further 
d isclosures made on  its behalf after the 
in itial receip t of the records or 
in formation . It is incumbent upon  a 
State or Federal au thority or official that 
makes further d isclosures on  behalf of 
an  educational agency or institu tion  
under § 99.33(b) to determine whether 
the educational agency or institu tion  
has recorded  those further d isclosures. 
If the educational agency or institu tion  
does not do so, then  under the revisions 
to § 99.32(b)(2)(i) in  the final 
regulations, the State and  local 
educational au thority or Federal official 
or agency that makes further d isclosures 
must main tain  the record  of those 
d isclosures. 

We have also revised  § 99.32(a) to 
ensure that educational agencies and  
institu tions main tain  a listing in  each  
student’s record  of the State and  local 
educational au thorities and  Federal 
officials and  agencies that may make 
further d isclosures of the student’s 

education  records without consent 
under § 99.33(b). This will help  ensure 
that paren ts and  students know that the 
record  of d isclosures main tained  by an  
educational agency or institu tion  as 
required  under § 99.32(a) may not 
contain  all fu rther d isclosures made on  
behalf of the agency or institu tion  by a 
State or Federal au thority or official and  
alert paren ts and  students to the need  to 
ask for access to th is additional 
in formation . We have also revised  
§ 99.32(a) to require an  educational 
agency or institu tion  to obtain  a copy of 
the record  of further d isclosures 
main tained  at the State or Federal level 
and  make it available for paren ts and  
students to inspect and  review upon 
request. 

In  response to commenters’ 
suggestions, the regulations in  new 
§ 99.32(b)(2)(ii) allow a State or local 
educational au thority or Federal official 
or agency to iden tify the red isclosure by 
the student’s class, school, d istrict, or 
other appropriate grouping rather than  
by the name of each  student whose 
record  was red isclosed . For example, an  
SEA may record  that it d isclosed  to the 
State h igher education  au thority the 
scores of each  student in  grades n ine 
th rough 12 on  the State mathematics 
assessment for a particu lar year. We 
believe that th is p rocedure eases 
administrative burdens while ensuring 
that a paren t or student may access 
in formation  about the red isclosure. 

We note that the recordation  
requirements under § 6401(c)(i)(IV) of 
the America COMPETES Act, Public 
Law 110–69, 20 U.S.C. 9871(c)(i)(IV), 
are more detailed  and  stringent than  
those required  under FERPA. In  
particu lar, a State that receives a gran t 
to establish  a statewide P–16 education  
data system under § 6401(c)(2), 20 
U.S.C. 9871(c)(2), is required  to keep  an  
accurate accounting of the date, nature, 
and  purpose of each  d isclosure of 
personally iden tifiable in formation  in  
the statewide P–16 education  data 
system; a descrip tion  of the in formation  
d isclosed; and  the name and  address of 
the person , agency, institu tion , or en tity 
to whom the d isclosure is made. The 
State must also make th is accounting 
available on  request to paren ts of any 
student whose in formation  has been  
d isclosed . The Department will issue 
further gu idance on  these requirements 
if the program is funded  and  
implemented . 

Changes: We have made several 
changes to § 99.32, as follows: 

• New § 99.32(b)(2)(i) p rovides that a 
State or local educational au thority or 
Federal official or agency listed  in  
§ 99.31(a)(3) that makes further 
d isclosures of in formation  from 

education  records must record  the 
names of the additional parties to which  
it d iscloses in formation  on  behalf of an  
educational agency or institu tion  and  
their legitimate in terests under § 99.31 
in  the in formation  if the in formation  
was received  from an  educational 
agency or institu tion  that has not 
recorded  the further d isclosures itself or 
from another State or local official or 
Federal official or agency listed  in  
§ 99.31(a)(3). 

• New § 99.32(b)(2)(ii) p rovides that a 
State or local educational au thority or 
Federal official or agency that records 
further d isclosures of in formation  may 
main tain  the record  by the student’s 
class, school, d istrict or other 
appropriate grouping rather than  by the 
name of the student. 

• New § 99.32(b)(2)(iii) p rovides that 
upon  request of an  educational agency 
or institu tion , a State or local 
educational au thority or Federal official 
or agency that main tains a record  of 
further d isclosures must p rovide a copy 
of the record  of further d isclosures to 
the educational agency or institu tion  
with in  a reasonable period  of time not 
to exceed  30 days. 

• Revised  § 99.32(a)(1) requires 
educational agencies and  institu tions to 
list in  each  student’s record  of 
d isclosures the names of the State and  
local educational au thorities and  
Federal officials or agencies that may 
make further d isclosures of the 
in formation  on  behalf of the educational 
agency or institu tion  under § 99.33(b). 

• New § 99.32(a)(4) requires an  
educational agency or institu tion  to 
obtain  a copy of the record  of further 
d isclosures main tained  by a State or 
local educational au thority or Federal 
official or agency and  make it available 
in  response to a paren t’s or student’s 
request to review the student’s record  of 
d isclosures. 
Educational Research (§§ 99.31(a)(6) 
and 99.31(a)(3)) 

Com m ent: We received  a number of 
comments on  proposed  § 99.31(a)(6)(ii). 
In  th is section , we proposed  that an  
educational agency or institu tion  that 
d iscloses personally iden tifiable 
in formation  without consent to an  
organization  conducting stud ies for, or 
on  behalf of, the educational agency or 
institu tion  must en ter in to a written  
agreement with  the organization  
specifying the purposes of the study and  
contain ing certain  other elements. This 
exception  to the consent requirement is 
often  referred  to as the ‘‘stud ies 
exception .’’ While all of the comments 
on  th is p rovision  generally supported  
the changes, many of the commenters 
raised  concerns about the scope and  
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applicability of the stud ies exception  
and  requested  clarification  on  some of 
the proposed  changes, particu larly with  
regard  to the provisions relating to 
written  agreements. 

Discussion: We address commenters’ 
specific concerns about the key portions 
of these regulations in  the following 
sections. 

Changes: None. 
(a) Scope and  A pplicability of 
§ 99.31(a)(6) 

Com m ent: Several commenters stated  
that the proposed  regulations d id  not 
clearly ind icate that the stud ies 
exception  applies to State educational 
au thorities. Some commenters, 
assuming that § 99.31(a)(6) applied  to 
State educational au thorities, noted  that 
the proposed  regulations d id  not 
p rovide clear au thority for State 
educational au thorities such  as an  SEA, 
or a State longitud inal data system using 
State generated  data (such  as State 
assessment resu lts), to en ter in to 
research  agreements on  behalf of 
educational agencies and  institu tions. 
One commenter stated  that § 99.31(a)(6) 
should  not be in terpreted  to require that 
research  agreements be en tered  in to by 
ind ividual schools or that any resu lting 
red isclosures be recorded  by the 
ind ividual schools. 

One commenter asked  for clarification  
regard ing whether § 99.31(a)(6) 
permitted  a school to d isclose a 
student’s education  records to h is or her 
previous school for the purpose of 
evaluating Federal or State-supported  
education  programs or for improving 
instruction . 

Another commenter stated  that the 
Department should  further revise the 
regulations to provide that on ly 
ind ividuals in  the organization  
conducting the study who have a 
legitimate in terest in  the in formation  
d isclosed  be given  access to the 
in formation . The commenter also stated  
that the Department should  specifically 
limit § 99.31(a)(6) to bona fide research  
projects by prohibiting organizations 
conducting stud ies under th is exception  
from using record-level data for other 
operational or commercial purposes. 
The commenter also expressed  concern  
about the duration  of research  projects, 
noting that sign ifican tly more restrictive 
access should  be required  for stud ies 
that track personally iden tifiable 
in formation  for long periods of time. 
The commenter stated  further that the 
Department should  consider imposing a 
time limit on  how long information  
obtained  through longitud inal stud ies 
can  be retained . 

Discussion: FERPA permits an  
educational agency or institu tion  to 

d isclose personally iden tifiable 
in formation  from an  education  record  of 
a student without consent if the 
d isclosure is to an  organization  
conducting stud ies for, or on  behalf of, 
the educational agency or institu tion  to 
(a) develop , validate, or administer 
p red ictive tests; (b) administer student 
aid  programs; or (c) improve instruction . 
20 U.S.C. 1232g(b)(1)(F); 34 CFR 
99.31(a)(6). Disclosures made under the 
stud ies exception  may only be used  by 
the receiving party for the purposes for 
which  the d isclosure was made and  for 
no other purpose or study. As such , 
§ 99.31(a)(6) is not a general research  
exception  to the consent requirement in  
FERPA but an  exception  for stud ies 
limited  to the purposes specified  in  the 
statu te and  regulations. 

We first note that it may not be 
necessary or even  advantageous for 
State educational au thorities to use the 
stud ies exception  in  order to conduct or 
au thorize educational research  because 
of the limitations in  § 99.31(a)(6). In  
contrast, § 99.31(a)(3)(iv), under the 
conditions set forth  in  § 99.35, allows 
educational agencies and  institu tions, 
such  as LEAs and  postsecondary 
institu tions, to d isclose education  
records without consent to State 
educational au thorities for audit and  
evaluation  purposes, which  can  include 
a general range of research  stud ies 
beyond the more limited  group  of 
stud ies specified  under § 99.31(a)(6). 
Also, as explained  more fu lly elsewhere 
in  th is p reamble, while a State 
educational au thority must have the 
underlying legal au thority to audit or 
evaluate the records it receives from 
LEAs or postsecondary institu tions 
under § 99.35, the LEA or postsecondary 
institu tion  is not required  to en ter in to 
a written  agreement for the audit or 
evaluation  as it is required  to do under 
§ 99.31(a)(6). (See Redisclosure of 
Education  Records and  Recordkeeping 
by S tate and  Local Educational 
A uthorities and  Federal Officials and  
A gencies.) The absence of an  
explanation  of the au thorized  
represen tatives exception  (§ 99.31(a)(3)) 
in  the NPRM created  confusion , 
especially with  regard  to how State 
departments of education  may u tilize 
education  records for evaluation  
purposes. Therefore, we have included  
that explanation  here. 

The conditions for d isclosing 
education  records without consent 
under §§ 99.31(a)(3)(iv) and  99.35 are 
d iscussed  in  the Department’s 
Memorandum from the Deputy 
Secretary of Education  (January 30, 
2003) available at http:/ /www.ed .gov/  
policy/gen/guid /secletter/030130.h tm l. 
The Deputy Secretary’s memorandum 

explains that under th is exception  an  
‘‘au thorized  represen tative’’ of a State 
educational au thority is a party under 
the d irect control of that au thority, e.g., 
an  employee or a contractor. 

In  general, the Department has 
in terpreted  FERPA and  implementing 
regulations to permit the d isclosure of 
personally iden tifiable in formation  from 
education  records, without consent, in  
connection  with  the ou tsourcing of 
institu tional services and  functions. 
Accord ingly, the term ‘‘au thorized  
represen tative’’ in  § 99.31(a)(3) includes 
contractors, consultan ts, volunteers, and  
other ou tside parties (i.e., non- 
employees) used  to conduct an  audit, 
evaluation , or compliance or 
enforcement activities specified  in  
§ 99.35, or other institu tional services or 
functions for which  the official or 
agency would  otherwise use its own 
employees. For example, a State 
educational au thority may d isclose 
personally iden tifiable in formation  from 
education  records, without consent, to 
an  ou tside attorney retained  to provide 
legal services or an  ou tside computer 
consultan t h ired  to develop  and  manage 
a data system for education  records. 

The term ‘‘au thorized  represen tative’’ 
also includes an  ou tside researcher 
working as a contractor of a State 
educational au thority or other official 
listed  in  § 99.31(a)(3) that has 
ou tsourced  the evaluation  of Federal or 
State supported  education  programs. An 
outside researcher may conduct 
independent research  under th is 
p rovision  in  the sense that the 
researcher may propose or in itiate 
research  projects for consideration  and  
approval by the State educational 
au thority or other official listed  in  
§ 99.31(a)(3) either before or after the 
parties have negotiated  a research  
agreement. Likewise, the State 
educational au thority or official does 
not have to agree with  or endorse the 
researcher’s resu lts or conclusions. In  so 
doing, an  ou tside researcher retained  to 
evaluate education  programs by a State 
educational au thority or other official 
listed  in  § 99.31(a)(3) as an  ‘‘au thorized  
represen tative’’ may be given  access to 
personally iden tifiable in formation  from 
education  records, including statistical 
in formation  with  unmodified  small data 
cells. However, the term ‘‘au thorized  
represen tative’’ does not include 
independent researchers that are not 
contractors or other parties under the 
d irect control of an  official or agency 
listed  in  § 99.31(a)(3). 

While an  educational agency or 
institu tion  may not d isclose personally 
iden tifiable in formation  from students’ 
education  records to independent 
researchers, noth ing in  FERPA prohibits 
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them from disclosing information  that 
has been  properly de-identified . Further 
d iscussion  of th is issue is p rovided  in  
the following paragraphs and  under the 
section  en titled  Personally Identifiable 
In form ation  and  De-Identified  Records 
and  In form ation . 

An SEA or other State educational 
au thority that has legal au thority to 
en ter in to agreements for LEAs or 
postsecondary institu tions under its 
ju risd iction  may en ter in to an  agreement 
with  an  organization  conducting a study 
for the LEA or institu tion  under the 
stud ies exception . If the SEA or other 
State educational au thority does not 
have the legal au thority to act for or on  
behalf of an  LEA or institu tion , then  it 
would  not be permitted  to en ter in to an  
agreement with  the organization  
conducting the study under th is 
exception . As previously mentioned , 
FERPA authorizes certain  d isclosures 
without consent; it does not p rovide an  
SEA or other State educational au thority 
with  the legal au thority to act for or on  
behalf of an  LEA or postsecondary 
institu tion . 

With  regard  to the request for 
clarification  whether § 99.31(a)(6) 
permits a school to d isclose a student’s 
education  records to h is or her previous 
school for evaluation  purposes, the 
stud ies exception  only allows 
d isclosures to organizations conducting 
stud ies for, or on  behalf of, the 
educational agency or institu tion  that 
d iscloses its records. The ‘‘for, or on  
behalf of’’ language from the statu te 
does not permit d isclosures under th is 
exception  so that the receiving 
organization  can  conduct a study for 
itself or some other party. This issue is 
d iscussed  in  more detail under the 
section  of th is p reamble en titled  
Disclosure of Education  Records to 
S tudent’s Form er Schools. 

We agree with  the comment that the 
regulations should  be revised  to provide 
that on ly those ind ividuals in  the 
organization  conducting the study that 
have a legitimate in terest in  the 
personally iden tifiable in formation  from 
education  records can  have access to the 
records. The Secretary also shares the 
commenter’s concerns about limiting 
§ 99.31(a)(6) to bona fide research  
projects, p rohibiting commercial 
u tilization  of education  records, and  
limiting the duration  of research  
projects. We address these issues in  
greater detail in  the following section  
concern ing written  agreements. 

Changes: None. 
(b) Written  A greem ents for S tud ies 

Com m ent: Several commenters 
expressed  concern  that § 99.31(a)(6) not 
be read  so broadly as to erode paren ts’ 

and  students’ p rivacy righ ts, and , 
therefore, supported  the restrictions that 
the Secretary included  in  th is p rovision . 
Specifically, they supported  the new 
requirement that educational agencies 
and  institu tions must en ter in to a 
written  agreement with  the organization  
conducting the study that specifies: the 
purpose of the study, that the 
in formation  from the education  records 
d isclosed  be used  only for the stated  
purpose, that ind ividuals ou tside the 
organization  may not have access to 
personally iden tifiable in formation  
about the students being stud ied , and  
that the in formation  be destroyed  or 
returned  when it is no longer needed  for 
the purpose of the study. 

Several commenters said  that the 
Department should  clarify that the 
existence of a written  agreement is not 
a rationale in  and  of itself for the 
d isclosure of education  records. They 
stated  that the regulations should  
provide explicitly that a written  
agreement does not modify the 
protections under FERPA or justify the 
use of the records transferred  other than  
as permitted  by the statu te and  the 
regulations. Some of these commenters 
stated  that the written  agreement should  
include a descrip tion  of the specific 
records to be d isclosed  for the study. 

Several commenters agreed  with  the 
provision  in  the proposed  regulations 
that specified  that an  educational 
agency or institu tion  does not need  to 
agree with  or endorse the conclusions or 
resu lts of the study. Other commenters 
asked  that we include in  the regulations 
the explanation  provided  in  the 
preamble to the NPRM that the school 
also does not need  to in itiate the study. 

One commenter suggested  that we 
change the references from ‘‘study’’ to 
‘‘stud ies’’ so that it is clear that an  
agency or institu tion  and  a research  
organization  could  en ter in to one 
agreement that would  cover a variety of 
stud ies that support the State’s or school 
d istrict’s educational objectives. One 
commenter suggested  that the 
Department certify agreements between  
educational agencies and  research  
organizations as meeting the 
requirements of FERPA. 

There were several comments on  the 
destruction  of in formation  requirements 
in  FERPA. Some suggested  that we 
include in  the regulations the specific 
time period  by which  information  
d isclosed  to a researcher must be 
destroyed , while others stated  that 
ongoing access to data is necessary and  
that researchers should  be permitted  to 
retain  in formation  indefin itely. Some 
commenters suggested  that the required  
time period  for the destruction  or return  
of education  records, as deemed 

necessary by the parties to support the 
purposes of the au thorized  study or 
stud ies, be established  in  the written  
agreement. 

One commenter approved  including 
the requirements regard ing the use and  
destruction  of data in  the written  
agreement as a way of improving 
compliance with  FERPA. However, the 
commenter questioned  our explanation  
that the language in  the statu te 
provid ing that the study must be 
conducted  ‘‘for, or on  behalf of’’ the 
educational agency or institu tion  means 
that the d isclosing school must retain  
control over the in formation  once it has 
been  given  to a th ird  party conducting 
a study. The commenter believed  that 
school d istricts will not be involved  in  
how a study is performed and  that the 
written  agreement with  the organization  
specifying the organization’s obligations 
with  regard  to the use and  destruction  
of data should  be sufficien t. 

Discussion: The Secretary shares the 
concerns raised  by commenters that 
§ 99.31(a)(6) not be read  so broadly as to 
erode paren ts’ and  students’ p rivacy 
righ ts. Accord ingly, we have revised  
§ 99.31(a)(6) to address some of these 
concerns and  believe that these changes 
will p rovide adequate protection  of 
students’ education  records that may be 
d isclosed  under the stud ies exception . 

In  the NPRM, we proposed  to remove 
curren t § 99.31(a)(6)(ii)(A) and  (B) and  
included  these requirements under the 
provisions for written  agreements. 
These paragraphs provide that the study 
must be conducted  in  a manner that 
does not permit personal iden tification  
of paren ts and  students by ind ividuals 
other than  represen tatives of the 
organization  and  that the in formation  be 
destroyed  when no longer needed  for 
the purposes for which  the study was 
conducted . We are including 
§ 99.31(a)(6)(ii)(A) and  (B) in  the final 
regulations. After reviewing comments 
on  the proposed  changes, we concluded  
that, by moving these two provisions 
in to the new paragraph  relating to 
written  agreements, we would  have 
weakened  the statu tory requirements 
concern ing the stud ies exception . We 
believe th is correction  will alleviate 
commenters’ concerns about weakening 
paren ts’ and  students’ p rivacy righ ts 
under FERPA. 

We agree with  the comments that the 
existence of a written  agreement is not 
a rationale in  and  of itself for the 
d isclosure of education  records. As a 
privacy statu te, FERPA requires that 
paren ts and  eligible students provide 
written  consent before educational 
agencies and  institu tions d isclose 
personally iden tifiable in formation  from 
students’ education  records. There are 
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several statu tory exceptions to FERPA’s 
general consent ru le, one of which  is 
§ 99.31(a)(6), an  exception  that permits 
d isclosure of records for stud ies limited  
to the purposes specified  in  the statu te 
and  regulations. However, a written  
agreement, a memorandum of 
understanding, or a contract is not a 
justification  for d isclosure of education  
records. Rather, a d isclosure must meet 
the requirements in  § 99.31(a)(6) or the 
other permitted  d isclosures under 
§ 99.31. If a d isclosure meets the 
conditions of § 99.31(a)(6), the 
d isclosure may be made, and  the written  
agreement sets forth  the requirements 
that must be followed when en tering 
in to such  an  agreement. 

As noted  in  our earlier d iscussion  of 
the scope and  applicability of the 
stud ies exception , the Secretary concurs 
that the regulations should  be revised  to 
require that a written  agreement 
expressly include the purpose, scope, 
and  duration  of the agreed  upon study, 
as well as the in formation  to be 
d isclosed . We also agree with  
commenters that the regulations should  
specifically limit any d isclosures of 
personally iden tifiable in formation  from 
students’ education  records to those 
ind ividuals in  the organization  
conducting the study that have a 
legitimate in terest in  the in formation . 
This requirement is consisten t with  
§ 99.32(a)(3)(ii), which  requires that an  
educational agency or institu tion  record  
the ‘‘legitimate in terests’’ the parties had  
in  obtain ing information  under FERPA. 

The Secretary strongly recommends 
that schools carefu lly limit the 
d isclosure of students’ personally 
iden tifiable in formation  under th is and  
the other exceptions in  § 99.31 and  
reminds educational agencies and  
institu tions that d isclosures without 
consent are subject to § 99.33(a)(2), 
which  states: ‘‘The officers, employees, 
and  agents of a party that receives 
in formation  under paragraph  (a)(1) of 
th is section  may use the in formation , 
bu t on ly for the purposes for which  the 
d isclosure was made.’’ The recordation  
requirements in  § 99.32 also apply to 
any d isclosures of personally 
iden tifiable in formation  made under the 
stud ies exception . (We note that a 
school does not have to record  the 
d isclosure of in formation  that has been  
properly de-identified .) 

Although FERPA permits schools to 
d isclose personally iden tifiable 
in formation  under § 99.31(a)(6) to 
organizations conducting stud ies for or 
on  its behalf, the Secretary recommends 
that educational agencies and  
institu tions release de-identified  
in formation  whenever possible under 
th is exception . Even  when schools op t 

not to release de-identified  in formation  
in  these circumstances, we recommend 
that schools reduce the risk of 
unauthorized  d isclosure by removing 
d irect iden tifiers, such  as names and  
SSNs, from records that don’t require 
them, even  though these records may 
still contain  some personally 
iden tifiable in formation . This is 
especially importan t when  a school also 
d iscloses sensitive in formation  about 
students, such  as type of d isability and  
special education  services received  by 
the students. 

We agree with  commenters that 
§ 99.31(a)(6) should  be revised  to 
ind icate that an  educational agency or 
institu tion  is not required  to in itiate a 
study. Additionally, we have revised  
§ 99.31(a)(6) to include the word  
‘‘stud ies’’ so that an  educational agency 
or institu tion  may u tilize one written  
agreement for more than  one study, so 
long as the requirements concern ing 
information  that must be in  the 
agreement are met. 

While we do not have the au thority 
under FERPA to officially certify 
agreements between  educational 
agencies and  institu tions and  
organizations conducting stud ies, FPCO 
does provide technical assistance to 
educational agencies or institu tions on  
FERPA. As such , if school officials have 
questions about whether an  agreement 
meets the requirements in  § 99.31(a)(6), 
they may contact FPCO for assistance. 

With  regard  to the comments that we 
include in  the regulations a specific 
time period  by which  information  
provided  under the stud ies exception  
must be destroyed , we believe that the 
parties en tering in to the agreement 
should  decide when information  has to 
be destroyed  or returned  to the 
educational agency or institu tion . As we 
have d iscussed , we have revised  
§ 99.31(a)(6) to require that the written  
agreement include the duration  of the 
study and  the time period  during which  
the organization  must either destroy or 
return  the in formation  to the 
educational agency or institu tion . 

With  regard  to the comment that a 
written  agreement with  the organization  
conducting the study should  be 
sufficien t for an  educational agency or 
institu tion  to retain  control over 
in formation  from education  records 
once the in formation  is given  to an  
organization  conducting a study, we 
agree that a written  agreement required  
under the regulations will help  ensure 
that the in formation  is used  only to 
meet the purposes of the study stated  in  
the written  agreement and  that all 
applicable requirements are met. 
However, similar to the requirement 
that an  ou tside service provider serving 

as a school official is subject to FERPA’s 
restrictions on  the use and  red isclosure 
of personally iden tifiable in formation  
from education  records, educational 
agencies and  institu tions must ensure 
that organizations with  which  they have 
en tered  in to an  agreement to conduct a 
study also comply with  FERPA’s 
restrictions on  the use of personally 
iden tifiable in formation  from education  
records. (See pages 15578–15580 of the 
NPRM.) That is, the school must retain  
control over the organization’s access to 
and  use of personally iden tifiable 
in formation  from education  records for 
purposes of the study or stud ies, 
includ ing access by the organization’s 
own employees and  subcontractors, as 
well as any school officials whom the 
organization  permits to have access to 
education  records. 

An educational agency or institu tion  
may need  to determine that the 
organization  conducting the study has 
reasonable controls in  p lace to ensure 
that personally iden tifiable in formation  
from education  records is p rotected . We 
note that it is common practice for some 
data sharing agreements to have a 
‘‘controls section’’ that specifies 
required  controls and  how they will be 
verified  (e.g., surprise inspections). We 
recommend that the agreement required  
by § 99.31(a)(6) include a section  that 
sets forth  similar requirements. If a 
school is unable to verify that these 
controls are in  p lace, then  it should  not 
d isclose personally iden tifiable 
in formation  from education  records to 
an  organization  for the purpose of 
conducting a study. 

In  th is regard , it should  be noted  that 
educational agencies and  institu tions 
are responsible for any failu res by an  
organization  conducting a study to 
comply with  applicable FERPA 
requirements. FERPA states that if a 
th ird  party ou tside the educational 
agency or institu tion  fails to destroy 
information  in  violation  of 20 U.S.C. 
1232g(b)(1)(F), the stud ies exception  in  
FERPA, the educational agency or 
institu tion  shall be prohibited  from 
permitting access to in formation  from 
education  records to that th ird  party for 
a period  of not less than  five years. See 
20 U.S.C. 1232g(b)(4)(B). 

Changes: We have revised  
§ 99.31(a)(6) to: (1) Retain  
§ 99.31(a)(6)(ii)(A) and  (B); (2) amend 
§ 99.31(a)(6)(ii)(A) to provide that the 
study must be conducted  in  a manner 
that does not permit personal 
iden tification  of paren ts or students by 
anyone other than  represen tatives of the 
organization  that have legitimate 
in terest in  the in formation ; (3) amend 
§ 99.31(a)(6)(ii)(C) to require that the 
written  agreement specify the purpose, 
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scope, and  duration  of the study and  the 
in formation  to be d isclosed; require the 
organization  to use personally 
iden tifiable in formation  from education  
records on ly to meet the purpose or 
purposes of the study as stated  in  the 
written  agreement; limit any d isclosures 
of in formation  to ind ividuals in  the 
organization  conducting the study who 
have a legitimate in terest in  the 
in formation ; and  require the 
organization  to destroy or return  to the 
educational agency all personally 
iden tifiable in formation  when the 
in formation  is no longer needed  for the 
purposes of the study and  specify the 
time period  during which  the 
organization  must either destroy or 
return  the in formation  to the 
educational agency or institu tion ; and  
(4) amend § 99.31(a)(6) in  new 
paragraph  (iii) to provide that an  
educational agency or institu tion  is not 
required  to in itiate a study. 
Disclosure of Education Records to 
Non-Educational State Agencies 

Com m ent: Several commenters stated  
that the proposed  amendments d id  not 
specifically address whether an  
educational agency or institu tion  is 
permitted  to d isclose education  records 
to non-educational State agencies, such  
as State health  or labor agencies, as part 
of an  agreement with  those agencies, 
without first obtain ing consent. One 
commenter said  that because the 
Department has taken  the position  that 
education  records may be shared  with  
State auditors who are not educational 
officials and  who are not, by defin ition , 
under the control of a State educational 
au thority, there is no legal basis to 
prohibit the d isclosure of education  
records to other non-educational State 
and  local agencies. 

Some officials represen ting State 
health  agencies commented  that FERPA 
should  be more closely aligned  with  the 
d isclosure provisions of the HIPAA 
Privacy Rule. One commenter noted  that 
there was a critical need  for public 
health  researchers to be able to access, 
without consent, personally iden tifiable 
in formation  contained  in  student health  
records to allow for analyses, public 
health  stud ies, and  research  that will 
benefit school-aged  ch ildren , as well as 
the general population . One 
organization  represen ting school nurses 
noted  that public health  officials need  
access to education  records for the 
purposes of public health  reporting, 
surveillance, and  reimbursement. 

Several commenters recommended 
that SEAs be au thorized  to share data 
from education  records with  State social 
services, health , juvenile, and  
employment agencies, to serve the 

needs of students, includ ing special 
needs, low-income, and  at-risk students. 
One SEA commented  that it d id  not 
support extending access to student data 
to non-education  State agencies, except 
to State auditors, as specified  in  
proposed  § 99.35(a)(3). This commenter 
asserted  that access to and  use of 
in formation  from students’ education  
records should  be controlled  by a 
limited  number of education  officials 
who are sensitive to the in ten t of FERPA 
and  well acquain ted  with  its safeguards. 

Discussion: There is no specific 
exception  to the written  consent 
requirement in  FERPA that permits the 
d isclosure of personally iden tifiable 
in formation  from students’ education  
records to non-educational State 
agencies. Educational agencies and  
institu tions may d isclose personally 
iden tifiable in formation  for audit or 
evaluation  purposes under 
§§ 99.31(a)(3) and  99.35 only to 
au thorized  represen tatives of the 
officials or agencies listed  in  
§ 99.31(a)(3)(i) th rough (iv). Typically, 
LEAs and  their constituen t schools 
d isclose education  records to State 
educational au thorities under 
§ 99.31(a)(3)(iv), such  as the SEA, for 
audit, evaluation , or compliance and  
enforcement purposes. 

There are some exceptions that might 
au thorize d isclosures to non- 
educational State agencies for specified  
purposes. For example, d isclosures may 
be made in  a health  or safety emergency 
(§§ 99.31(a)(10) and  99.36), in  
connection  with  financial aid  
(§ 99.31(a)(4)), or pursuant to a State 
statu te under the juvenile justice system 
exception  (§§ 99.31(a)(5) and  99.38), and  
any d isclosures must meet the specific 
requirements of the particu lar 
exception . FERPA, however, does not 
contain  any specific exceptions to 
permit d isclosures of personally 
iden tifiable in formation  without 
consent for public health  or 
employment reporting purposes. That 
said , noth ing in  FERPA prohibits an  
educational agency or institu tion  from 
importing information  from another 
source to perform its own evaluations. 

We believe that any further expansion  
of the list of officials and  en tities in  
FERPA that may receive education  
records without the consent of the 
paren t or eligible student must be 
au thorized  by legislation  enacted  by 
Congress. 

We explained  in  the NPRM on page 
15577 that, with  respect to State 
auditors, legislative h istory for the 1979 
FERPA amendment ind icates that 
Congress specifically in tended  that 
FERPA not preclude State auditors from 
obtain ing personally iden tifiable 

in formation  from education  records in  
order to audit Federal and  State 
supported  education  programs, 
notwithstanding that the statu tory 
language in  the amendment refers on ly 
to ‘‘State and  local educational 
officials.’’ See 20 U.S.C. 1232g(b)(5); 
H.R. Rep . No. 338, 96th  Cong., 1st Sess. 
at 10 (1979), reprin ted  in  1979 U.S. 
Code Cong. & Admin . News 819, 824. 
This legislative h istory provides a basis 
for d rawing a d istinction  between  State 
auditors and  officials of other State 
agencies that also are not under the 
control of the State educational 
au thority. (As explained  more fu lly 
under State auditors, upon further 
review, we have removed from the final 
regulations the proposed  regulations 
related  to State auditors and  audits.) 

The 1979 amendment to FERPA does 
not apply to other State officials or 
agencies, and  there is no other 
legislative h istory to ind icate that 
Congress in tended  that FERPA be 
in terpreted  to permit educational 
agencies and  institu tions, or State and  
local educational au thorities or Federal 
officials and  agencies listed  in  
§ 99.31(a)(3), to share students’ 
education  records with  non-educational 
State officials. In  fact, Congress has, on  
numerous occasions, ind icated  
otherwise. 

As d iscussed  elsewhere in  th is 
p reamble under the heading Health  or 
Safety Em ergency, the HIPAA Privacy 
Rule specifically excludes from 
coverage health  care in formation  that is 
main tained  as an  ‘‘education  record’’ 
under FERPA. 45 CFR 160.103, 
Protected  health  in formation . We 
understand  that the HIPAA Privacy Rule 
allows covered  en tities to d isclose 
iden tifiable health  data without written  
consent to public health  au thorities. 
However, there is no comparable 
exception  to the written  consent 
requirement in  FERPA. 

As mentioned  previously, in  
conducting an  audit, evaluation , or 
compliance or enforcement activity, an  
educational au thority may collaborate 
with  other State agencies by importing 
data from those sources and  conducting 
necessary matches. Any reports or other 
in formation  created  as a resu lt of the 
data matches may only be released  to 
those non-educational officials in  non- 
personally iden tifiable form. 
Educational au thorities may also release 
in formation  on  students to non- 
educational officials that has been  
properly de-identified , as described  in  
§ 99.31(b)(1). 

Additionally, many agencies 
provid ing services to low income or at- 
risk families have paren ts sign  a consent 
form authorizing d isclosure of 

VerDate Aug<31>2005 18:13 Dec 08, 2008 Jkt 217001 PO 00000 Frm 00024 Fmt 4701 Sfmt 4700 E:\FR\FM\09DER2.SGM 09DER2jle
nt

in
i o

n 
PR

O
D

1P
C

65
 w

ith
 R

U
LE

S2



74829 Federal Register / Vol. 73, No. 237 / Tuesday, December 9, 2008 / Rules and  Regulations 

information  at in take time so that the 
agency can  receive necessary 
in formation  from schools. In  1993, we 
amended  the FERPA regulations to help  
facilitate th is p ractice. In  final 
regulations published  in  the Federal 
Register on January 7, 1993 (58 FR 
3188), we removed the previous 
requirement in  the regulations that 
schools ‘‘obtain’’ consent from paren ts 
and  eligible students so that paren ts and  
eligible students may ‘‘provide’’ a 
signed  and  dated  consent to th ird  
parties in  order for the school to 
d isclose education  records to those 
parties. 

Therefore, paren ts can  provide 
consent at in take time to State and  local 
social services and  other non- 
educational agencies serving the needs 
of students in  order to permit their 
ch ildren’s schools (or the SEA) to 
d isclose education  records to the 
agency. For example, paren ts rou tinely 
provide consent to the Medicaid  agency 
that permits that agency to collect 
in formation  from other agencies on  the 
family being served . In  many cases 
those consents are written  in  a manner 
that complies with  the consent 
requirement in  § 99.30, and  the 
student’s school may d isclose 
in formation  to the Medicaid  agency 
necessary for reimbursement purposes 
for services provided  the student. 

Changes: None. 
Disclosure of Education Records to 
Student’s Former Schools 
(§§ 99.31(a)(3), 99.31(a)(6), and 
99.35(b)) 

Com m ent: One commenter asked  for 
clarification  whether a school could  
d isclose a student’s education  records to 
the student’s p revious school for the 
purpose of evaluating Federal or State 
supported  education  programs or for 
improving instruction . Several 
commenters said  that there is a critical 
need  for school d istricts to be able to 
access the records of their former 
students from the student’s new d istrict 
or postsecondary institu tion  so that the 
previous institu tion  can  evaluate the 
effectiveness of its own education  
programs. Some commenters said  that 
§ 99.35(a) clearly allows a K–12 data 
system to use postsecondary records to 
evaluate its own programs, and  that a 
K–12 system does not need  to have legal 
au thority to evaluate postsecondary 
programs for the d isclosure to be valid  
under the audit or evaluation  exception . 

Discussion: Section  99.31(a)(2) allows 
an  educational agency or institu tion  to 
d isclose personally iden tifiable 
in formation  from education  records, 
without consent, to a school where the 
student seeks or in tends to enroll or is 

already enrolled  if the d isclosure relates 
to the student’s enrollment or transfer. 
There is no specific au thority in  FERPA 
for an  educational agency or institu tion , 
or a State or local educational au thority, 
to d isclose or red isclose personally 
iden tifiable in formation  from education  
records to a student’s former school 
without consent. 

As d iscussed  above, §§ 99.31(a)(3) and  
99.35 allow educational agencies and  
institu tions to d isclose personally 
iden tifiable in formation  from education  
records without consent to State and  
local educational au thorities that are 
legally au thorized  to audit or evaluate 
the d isclosing institu tion’s programs or 
records. We encourage State and  local 
au thorities to take advantage of th is 
exception  and  establish  or modify State 
or local legal au thority, as necessary, to 
allow K–12 and  postsecondary 
educational au thorities to audit or 
evaluate one another’s p rograms. As 
noted  above, the Department will 
generally defer to a State Attorney 
General’s in terpretation  of State or local 
law on  these matters. 

Section  99.31(a)(6) allows an  
educational agency or institu tion  to 
d isclose personally iden tifiable 
in formation  from education  records 
without consent to an  organization  
conducting a study for, or on  behalf of, 
the agency or institu tion  that d iscloses 
its records. The ‘‘for, or on  behalf of’’ 
language from the statu te and  
regulations, however, does not allow the 
educational agency or institu tion  to 
d isclose personally iden tifiable 
in formation  from education  records 
under th is exception  so that the 
receiving organization  can  conduct a 
study for itself or some other party. 
Further, the Secretary does not as a 
policy matter support expanding the 
stud ies exception  to permit such  a 
d isclosure because it would  resu lt in  a 
vast increase in  the number of parties 
gain ing access to and  main tain ing 
personally iden tifiable in formation  on  
students. As d iscussed  below, 
educational agencies and  institu tion  and  
other parties, includ ing State 
educational au thorities, may always 
release in formation  from education  
records to a student’s former school, 
without consent, if all personally 
iden tifiable in formation  has been  
removed. 
Personally Identifiable Information and 
De-Identified Records and Information 
(§§ 99.3 and 99.31(b)) 
(a) Defin ition  of Personally Identifiable 
In form ation  

Com m ent: We received  a number of 
comments on  proposed  § 99.3 regard ing 

changes to the defin ition  of personally 
iden tifiable in form ation . One 
commenter applauded  the Department’s 
recognition  of the increasing ease of 
iden tifying ind ividuals from redacted  
records and  statistical in formation  
because of the large amount of detailed  
personal in formation  that is main tained  
on  most Americans by many d ifferen t 
organizations. This commenter and  
others, however, stated  that the 
proposed  regulations d id  not go far 
enough to ensure that personally 
iden tifiable in formation  about students 
would  not be released . 

One commenter expressed  concern  
about our proposal to eliminate 
paragraphs (e) and  (f) from the existing 
defin ition  of personally iden tifiable 
in form ation , which  included  a list of 
personal characteristics and  other 
in formation  that would  make a student’s 
iden tity easily traceable. The 
commenter said  that th is was a change 
to long-standing Department policy and  
represen ted  an  unwarran ted  invasion  of 
privacy that exceeds statu tory au thority. 
This commenter also expressed  concern  
that eliminating the ‘‘easily traceable’’ 
p rovisions for determining whether 
in formation  was personally iden tifiable 
could  prevent paren ts from accessing 
their ch ildren’s education  records and  
might allow school officials to 
circumvent FERPA requirements by 
using n icknames, in itials, and  other 
personal characteristics to refer to 
ch ildren . 

In  contrast, several commenters stated  
that the regulations would  be 
unworkable or were too restrictive and  
would  prevent or d iscourage the release 
of in formation  from education  records 
needed  for school accountability and  
other public purposes. These 
commenters stated  that paragraphs (f) 
and  (g) in  the proposed  defin ition  of 
personally iden tifiable in form ation , 
which  rep laces the ‘‘easily traceable’’ 
p rovisions, would  provide school 
officials too much d iscretion  to conceal 
in formation  the public deserves to have 
in  order to debate public policy. 
Proposed  paragraph  (f) p rovided  that 
personally iden tifiable in formation  
includes other in formation  that, alone or 
in  combination , is linked  or linkable to 
a specific student that would  allow a 
reasonable person  in  the school or its 
community, who does not have personal 
knowledge of the relevant 
circumstances, to iden tify the student 
with  reasonable certain ty. Proposed  
paragraph  (g) provided  that personally 
iden tifiable in formation  includes 
in formation  requested  by a person  who 
the educational agency or institu tion  
reasonably believes has d irect, personal 
knowledge of the iden tity of the student 

VerDate Aug<31>2005 18:13 Dec 08, 2008 Jkt 217001 PO 00000 Frm 00025 Fmt 4701 Sfmt 4700 E:\FR\FM\09DER2.SGM 09DER2jle
nt

in
i o

n 
PR

O
D

1P
C

65
 w

ith
 R

U
LE

S2



74830 Federal Register / Vol. 73, No. 237 / Tuesday, December 9, 2008 / Rules and  Regulations 

to whom the education  record  relates, 
sometimes known as a ‘‘targeted  
request.’’ 

Several commenters expressed  
support for the provisions in  paragraphs 
(f) and  (g) of the defin ition  of personally 
iden tifiable in form ation . One of these 
commenters said  that the ‘‘school and  
community’’ limitation  and  the 
‘‘reasonable person’’ standard  in  
paragraph  (f) is sufficien tly clear for 
implementation  by parties that release 
de-identified  records. Another 
commenter said  that ambiguity in  the 
terms ‘‘reasonable person’’ and  
‘‘reasonable certain ty’’ was necessary so 
that organizations can  develop  their 
own standards for addressing the 
problem of ensuring that in formation  
that is released  is not personally 
iden tifiable. This commenter asked  the 
Department to retain  the flexibility in  
the proposed  language and  provide 
examples of policies that have been  
implemented  that meet the 
requirements in  paragraphs (f) and  (g) of 
the defin ition . The commenter said  that 
most school d istricts know when they 
are receiving a targeted  request 
(paragraph  (g)) bu t asked  that the 
Department provide examples to help  
d istricts determine whether a non- 
targeted  request will reveal personally 
iden tifiable in formation . 

Journalism and  writers’ associations 
expressed  concern  about the 
‘‘reasonable person’’ standard  in  
paragraph  (f) and  our statement in  the 
preamble to the NPRM (73 FR 15583) 
that an  educational agency or institu tion  
may not be able to release redacted  
education  records that concern  students 
or incidents that are well-known in  the 
school community, including when the 
paren t or student who is the subject of 
the record  contacts the media and  
causes the publicity that p revents the 
release of the record . These commenters 
stated  that FERPA should  not p revent 
schools from releasing records from 
which  all d irect and  ind irect iden tifiers, 
such  as name, date of birth , address, 
unusual p lace of birth , mother’s maiden  
name, and  sibling information , have 
been  removed without regard  to any 
outside in formation , particu larly after a 
student or paren t has waived  any 
pretense of confidentiality by contacting 
the media. They also said  that the 
proposed  defin ition  of personally 
iden tifiable in form ation  does not 
acknowledge the public in terest in  
school accountability. 

One commenter said  that the 
‘‘reasonable person  in  the school or its 
community’’ standard  in  paragraph  (f) 
was too narrow and  inappropriate 
because it would  allow ind ividuals with  
even  modest scien tific and  

technological abilities to iden tify 
students based  on  supposedly de- 
iden tified  in formation . Another 
commenter said  that the reference in  
paragraph  (f) to a ‘‘reasonable person’’ 
should  be changed  to ‘‘ord inary 
person .’’ A commenter said  that if we 
retain  the ‘‘reasonable person’’ standard , 
we should  remove the references to the 
school or its community and  personal 
knowledge of the circumstances and  
simply refer to a reasonable person . 
Several commenters said  the ‘‘school or 
its community’’ standard  is too vague 
and  needs to be clarified , particu larly in  
relation  to the provision  in  paragraph  (g) 
regard ing targeted  requests; these 
commenters said  that school officials 
will choose to evaluate a request for 
in formation  based  on  whether a 
reasonable person  in  the community, a 
broader standard  than  a reasonable 
person  in  the school, could  identify the 
student and  au tomatically find  their 
own decisions to be reasonable. One 
commenter said  that the phrase 
‘‘relevant circumstances’’ in  paragraph  
(f) is vague. 

One commenter said  that the standard  
in  paragraph  (f) about whether the 
in formation  requested  is ‘‘linked  or 
linkable’’ to a specific student was too 
vague and  overly broad  and  could  be 
logically extended  to cover almost any 
information  about a student. This 
commenter said  that the regulations 
should  focus on  preventing the release 
of records that in  and  of themselves 
contain  un ique personal descrip tors that 
would  make the student iden tifiable in  
the school community and  not refer to 
ou tside in formation , including what 
members of the public might know 
independently of the records 
themselves. 

Several commenters expressed  
concerns that the provision  in  paragraph  
(g) regard ing targeted  requests will make 
FERPA and  the regulations 
administratively unwieldy and  
unnecessarily subjective. One of these 
commenters said  that paragraph  (g) is 
unclear and  adds more confusion  as 
opposed  to provid ing clarity; th is 
commenter said  that paragraph  (g) 
should  be removed and  that the 
requirements in  paragraph  (f) were 
sufficien t. Another commenter said  that 
the standard  in  paragraph  (g) unfairly 
holds agencies and  institu tions 
responsible for ascertain ing the 
requester’s personal knowledge. One 
commenter said  that we should  delete 
the words ‘‘d irect, personal’’ before 
‘‘knowledge’’ because these terms are 
unclear. Accord ing to th is commenter, if 
a school reasonably believes that the 
requester knows the student’s iden tity, 
the school should  not d isclose the 

records, whether the knowledge is 
‘‘d irect’’ or ‘‘personal.’’ 

Other commenters expressed  a more 
general concern  that the standard  for 
targeted  requests in  paragraph  (g) p laces 
an  undue burden  on  school officials to 
obtain  in formation  about the person  
requesting information  and  creates a 
poten tial conflict with  State open  
records laws. Accord ing to these 
commenters, the regulations as 
proposed  would  encourage agencies and  
institu tions to make illegitimate 
inquiries in to a requester’s motives for 
seeking information  and  what the 
requester in tends to do with  it, or 
require the agency or institu tion  to read  
the mind  of a party requesting 
information . Accord ing to the 
commenter, th is would  in troduce a 
degree of subjective judgment that 
would  invariably lead  to abuse because 
the same record  that could  be 
considered  a public record  to one 
requester could  be a confidential 
document to another. A large un iversity 
that has decentralized  administrative 
operations questioned  how it could  be 
expected  to take institu tional knowledge 
in to account in  evaluating whether a 
request for records is targeted  and  asked  
for confirmation  that the Department 
will not substitu te its judgment for that 
of the institu tion  so long as there was a 
rational basis for the decision  to release 
in formation . 

We received  a few comments on  the 
example of a targeted  request that we 
provided  in  the preamble to the NPRM 
(73 FR 15583–15584), in  which  rumors 
circu late that a candidate running for 
political office p lagiarized  other 
students’ work, and  a reporter asks the 
un iversity for the redacted  d iscip linary 
records of all students who were 
d iscip lined  for p lagiarism for the year in  
which  the candidate graduated . We 
explained  that the un iversity may not 
release the records in  redacted  form 
because the circumstances ind icate that 
the requester had  d irect, personal 
knowledge of the subject of the case. 
Two commenters said  that confirmation  
that one unnamed student was 
d iscip lined  in  1978 for p lagiarism does 
not iden tify that student or confirm that 
the candidate was that student, and  our 
explanation  of the standard  with  th is 
example showed that the regulations 
would  prevent paren ts and  the media 
from d ischarging their vital oversigh t 
responsibilities. 

One school d istrict said  that the 
targeted  request p rovision  could  impair 
due process in  some student d iscip line 
cases by limiting the release of redacted  
witness statements that concern  more 
than  one student. The commenter 
suggested  that under its curren t 
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practice, if four students are involved  in  
an  altercation , the school redacts all 
personally iden tifiable in formation  with  
regard  to students 2 th rough 4 when 
releasing the statement without paren tal 
consent to student 1, bu t under the 
proposed  regulations, student 1’s 
request would  violate the requirements 
in  paragraph  (g) because of the student’s 
knowledge of the iden tity of the other 
students to whom the record  relates. 
This commenter said  that the 
regulations should  not be adopted  if 
they do not address these due process 
concerns. 

Several commenters said  they 
appreciated  the addition  of a student’s 
date of birth  and  other ind irect 
iden tifiers in  the defin ition  of 
personally iden tifiable in form ation . 
Another commenter said  that a 
comprehensive list of ind irect 
iden tifiers would  be helpfu l. One 
commenter asked  us to define the 
concept of ind irect iden tifiers. Another 
commenter asked  us to clarify which  
personally iden tifiable data elements 
may be released  without consent. A 
commenter asked  us to define the term 
biometric record  as used  in  the 
defin ition  of personally iden tifiable 
in form ation . 

Discussion: The Join t Statement 
explains that the purpose of FERPA is 
two-fold : to assure that paren ts and  
eligible students can  access the 
student’s education  records, and  to 
protect their righ t to privacy by limiting 
the transferability of their education  
records without their consent. 120 Cong. 
Rec. 39862. As such , FERPA is not an  
open  records statu te or part of an  open  
records system. The only parties who 
have a righ t to obtain  access to 
education  records under FERPA are 
paren ts and  eligible students. 
Journalists, researchers, and  other 
members of the public have no righ t 
under FERPA to gain  access to 
education  records for school 
accountability or other matters of public 
in terest, includ ing misconduct by those 
running for public office. Nonetheless, 
as explained  in  the preamble to the 
NPRM, 73 FR 15584–15585, we believe 
that the regulatory standard  for defin ing 
and  removing personally iden tifiable 
in formation  from education  records 
establishes an  appropriate balance that 
facilitates school accountability and  
educational research  while preserving 
the statu tory privacy protections in  
FERPA. 

The simple removal of nominal or 
d irect iden tifiers, such  as name and  SSN 
(or other ID number), does not 
necessarily avoid  the release of 
personally iden tifiable in formation . 
Other in formation , such  as address, date 

and  p lace of birth , race, ethn icity, 
gender, physical descrip tion , d isability, 
activities and  accomplishments, 
d iscip linary actions, and  so forth , can  
ind irectly iden tify someone depending 
on  the combination  of factors and  level 
of detail released . Similarly, and  as 
noted  in  the preamble to the NPRM, 73 
FR 15584, the existing professional 
literature makes clear that public 
d irectories and  previously released  
information , including local publicity 
and  even  information  that has been  de- 
iden tified , is sometimes linked  or 
linkable to an  otherwise de-identified  
record  or data set and  renders the 
in formation  personally iden tifiable. The 
regulations properly require parties that 
release in formation  from education  
records to address these situations. 

We removed the ‘‘easily traceable’’ 
standard  from the defin ition  of 
personally iden tifiable in form ation  
because it lacked  specificity and  clarity. 
We were also concerned  that the ‘‘easily 
traceable’’ standard  suggested  that a 
fairly low standard  applied  in  protecting 
education  records, i.e., that in formation  
was considered  personally iden tifiable 
on ly if it was easy to iden tify the 
student. 

The removal of the ‘‘easily traceable’’ 
standard  and  adoption  of the standards 
in  paragraphs (f) and  (g) will not affect 
a paren t’s righ t under FERPA to inspect 
and  review h is or her ch ild’s education  
records. Records that teachers and  other 
school officials main tain  on  students 
that use on ly in itials, n icknames, or 
personal descrip tions to iden tify the 
student are education  records under 
FERPA because they are d irectly related  
to the student. 

Further, records that iden tify a 
student by in itials, n icknames, or 
personal characteristics are personally 
iden tifiable in formation  if, alone or 
combined  with  other in formation , the 
in itials are linked  or linkable to a 
specific student and  would  allow a 
reasonable person  in  the school 
community who does not have personal 
knowledge about the situation  to 
iden tify the student with  reasonable 
certain ty. For example, if teachers and  
other ind ividuals in  the school 
community generally would  not be able 
to iden tify a specific student based  on  
the student’s in itials, n ickname, or 
personal characteristics contained  in  the 
record , then  the in formation  is not 
considered  personally iden tifiable and  
may be released  without consent. 
Experience has shown, however, that 
in itials, n icknames, and  personal 
characteristics are often  sufficien tly 
un ique in  a school community that a 
reasonable person  can  identify the 
student from th is kind  of in formation  

even  without access to any personal 
knowledge, such  as a key that 
specifically links the in itials, n ickname, 
or personal characteristics to the 
student. 

In  contrast, if a teacher uses a special 
code known only by the teacher and  the 
student (or paren t) to iden tify a student, 
such  as for posting grades, th is code is 
not considered  personally iden tifiable 
in formation  under FERPA because the 
on ly reason  the teacher can  identify the 
student is because of the teacher’s 
access to personal knowledge of the 
relevant circumstances, i.e., the key that 
links the code to the student’s name. 

In  response to the commenter who 
stated  that a school should  not be 
prevented  from releasing information  
when the subject of the record  has 
waived  any pretense of confidentiality 
by contacting the media and  making the 
incident well-known in  the community, 
we have found that in  limited  
circumstances a paren t or student may 
implied ly waive their p rivacy righ ts 
under FERPA by d isclosing information  
to parties in  a special relationsh ip  with  
the institu tion , such  as a licensing or 
accred itation  organization . However, we 
have not found  and  do not believe that 
paren ts and  students generally waive 
their p rivacy righ ts under FERPA by 
sharing information  with  the media or 
other members of the general public. 
The fact that in formation  is a matter of 
general public in terest does not give an  
educational agency or institu tion  
permission  to release the same or 
related  in formation  from education  
records without consent. 

The ‘‘reasonableness’’ standards in  
paragraphs (f) and  (g) of the new 
defin ition , which  rep lace the ‘‘easily 
traceable’’ standard , do not require the 
exercise of subjective judgment or 
inquiries in to a requester’s motives. 
Both  provisions require the d isclosing 
party to use legally recognized , objective 
standards by referring to iden tification  
not in  the mind  of the d isclosing party 
or requester bu t by a reasonable person  
and  with  reasonable certain ty, and  by 
requiring the d isclosing party to 
withhold  in formation  when it 
reasonably believes certain  facts to be 
presen t. These are not subjective 
standards, and  these changes will not 
d imin ish  the privacy protections in  
FERPA. 

The standard  proposed  in  paragraph  
(f) regard ing the knowledge of a 
reasonable person  in  the school or its 
community was not in tended  to 
describe the technological or scien tific 
skill level of a person  who would  be 
capable of re-identifying statistical 
in formation  or redacted  records. Rather, 
it p rovided  the standard  an  agency or 
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institu tion  should  use to determine 
whether statistical in formation  or a 
redacted  record  will iden tify a student, 
even  though certain  iden tifiers have 
been  removed, because of a well- 
publicized  incident or some other factor 
known in  the community. For example, 
as explained  in  the preamble to the 
NPRM, 73 FR 15583, a school may not 
release statistics on  penalties imposed  
on  students for cheating on  a test where 
the local media have published  
identifiable in formation  about the on ly 
student (or students) who received  that 
penalty; that statistical in formation  or 
redacted  record  is now personally 
iden tifiable to the student or students 
because of the local publicity. 

Paragraph  (f) in  the proposed  
defin ition  provided  that the agency or 
institu tion  must make a determination  
about whether in formation  is personally 
iden tifiable in formation  not with  regard  
to what someone with  personal 
knowledge of the relevant 
circumstances would  know, such  as the 
principal who imposed  the penalty, bu t 
with  regard  to what a reasonable person  
in  the school or its community would  
know, i.e., based  on  local publicity, 
communications, and  other ord inary 
conditions. We agree with  the comment 
that the ‘‘school or its community’’ 
standard  was confusing because it was 
not clear whether just the school itself 
or the larger community in  which  the 
school is located  is the relevant group  
for determining what a reasonable 
person  would  know. 

We are changing th is standard  in  
paragraph  (f) to the ‘‘school 
community’’ and  by th is change we 
mean  that an  educational agency or 
institu tion  may not select a broader 
‘‘community’’ standard  when the 
in formation  to be released  would  be 
personally iden tifiable under the 
narrower ‘‘school’’ standard . For 
example, it might be well known among 
students, teachers, administrators, 
paren ts, coaches, volunteers, or others at 
the local h igh  school that a student was 
caught bringing a gun  to class last 
month  but generally unknown in  the 
town where the school is located . In  
these circumstances, a school d istrict 
may not d isclose that a h igh  school 
student was suspended  for bringing a 
gun  to class last month , even  though a 
reasonable person  in  the community 
where the school is located  would  not 
be able to iden tify the student, because 
a reasonable person  in  the h igh  school 
would  be able to iden tify the student. 
The student’s p rivacy is further 
protected  because a reasonable person  
in  the school community is also 
presumed to have at least the knowledge 
of a reasonable person  in  the local 

community, the region  or State, the 
United  States, and  the world  in  general. 
The ‘‘school community’’ standard , 
therefore, p rovides the maximum 
privacy protection  for students. 

We do not agree that the reference to 
‘‘reasonable person’’ should  be changed  
to ‘‘ord inary person .’’ ‘‘Reasonable 
person’’ is a legally recognized  standard  
that represen ts a hypothetical, rational, 
p rudent, average ind ividual. It would  be 
confusing and  inappropriate to 
in troduce a new term ‘‘ord inary’’ in  th is 
context. 

The standard  in  paragraph  (f) 
excludes from the ‘‘reasonable person  in  
the school community’’ standard  
persons who have personal knowledge 
of the ‘‘relevant circumstances,’’ which  
one commenter considered  vague. 
Under th is standard , an  agency or 
institu tion  is not required  to take in to 
consideration  when releasing redacted  
or statistical in formation  that someone 
with  special knowledge of the 
circumstances could  identify the 
student. For example, if it is generally 
known in  the school community that a 
particu lar student is HIV-positive, or 
that there is an  HIV-positive student in  
the school, then  the school could  not 
reveal that the on ly HIV-positive 
student in  the school was suspended . 
However, if it is not generally known or 
obvious that there is an  HIV-positive 
student in  school, then  the same 
information  could  be released , even  
though someone with  special 
knowledge of the student’s status as 
HIV-positive would  be able to iden tify 
the student and  learn  that he or she had  
been  suspended . 

The provisions in  paragraph  (g) 
regard ing targeted  requests do not 
require an  educational agency or 
institu tion  to ascertain  or guess a 
requester’s motives for seeking 
information  from education  records or 
what a requester in tends to do with  the 
in formation . This paragraph  addresses a 
situation  in  which  a requester seeks 
what might generally qualify as a 
properly redacted  record  but the facts 
ind icate that redaction  is a useless 
formality because the subject’s iden tity 
is already known. 

An educational agency or institu tion  
is not required  under paragraph  (g) to 
make any special inquiries or otherwise 
seek information  about the person  
requesting information  from education  
records. It must use in formation  that is 
obvious on  the face of the request or 
p rovided  by the requester, such  as when  
a requester asks for the redacted  
transcrip ts of a particu lar student. 
Paragraph  (f) also requires an  agency or 
institu tion  to use in formation  known to 
a reasonable person  in  the school 

community, such  as when  a requester 
asks for the redacted  transcrip ts of all 
basketball p layers who were expelled  
for accepting bribes after the local 
newspaper published  a story about the 
matter. Paragraphs (f) and  (g) do not 
require an  educational agency or 
institu tion  to inquire whether a 
requester has special knowledge not 
available generally in  the school 
community that would  make the subject 
of the record  identifiable. We d isagree 
with  the comment that paragraph  (f) is 
sufficien t and  paragraph  (g) should  be 
removed. Paragraph  (g) addresses the 
problem of targeted  requests, which  is 
not addressed  under paragraph  (f). 

We agree with  the comment that the 
provision  in  paragraph  (g) under which  
an  agency or institu tion  must determine 
whether the in formation  requested  is 
personally iden tifiable in formation  
based  on  its reasonable belief that the 
requester has ‘‘d irect, personal’’ 
knowledge of the iden tity of the student 
to whom the record  relates is ambiguous 
and  confusing, especially in  relation  to 
what might be considered  ind irect 
knowledge. Therefore, we have 
modified  th is p rovision  so that an  
educational agency or institu tion  must 
simply have a reasonable belief that the 
requester knows the identity of the 
student to whom the record  relates. 

In  reviewing a complain t that an  
educational agency or institu tion  
d isclosed  personally iden tifiable 
in formation  from an  education  record  in  
response to a targeted  request, the 
Department would  examine the request 
itself, the facts on  which  the agency or 
institu tion  based  its decision  to release 
the in formation , as well as any 
information  known generally in  the 
school community that the agency or 
institu tion  failed  to take in to account. 
The Department would  also counsel an  
agency or institu tion  about the nature of 
the violation  in  connection  with  the 
Department’s responsibility for seeking 
voluntary compliance with  FERPA 
before in itiating any enforcement action  
under § 99.67. 

With  regard  to the comment that the 
standard  in  paragraph  (g) will impair 
due process in  student d iscip line cases, 
it is unclear what the commenter means 
by releasing redacted  witness statements 
under its curren t p ractice. Education  
records are defined  in  FERPA as records 
that are d irectly related  to a student and  
main tained  by an  educational agency or 
institu tion , or by a party acting for the 
agency or institu tion . 20 U.S.C. 
1232g(a)(4)(A); 34 CFR 99.3. Under th is 
defin ition , a paren t (or eligible student) 
has a righ t to inspect and  review any 
witness statement that is d irectly related  
to the student, even  if that statement 
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contains in formation  that is also d irectly 
related  to another student, if the 
in formation  cannot be segregated  and  
redacted  without destroying its 
meaning. 

For example, paren ts of both  John  and  
Michael would  have a righ t to inspect 
and  review the following information  in  
a witness statement main tained  by their 
school d istrict because it is d irectly 
related  to both  students: ‘‘John  grabbed  
Michael’s backpack and  h it h im over the 
head  with  it.’’ Further, in  th is example, 
before allowing Michael’s paren ts to 
inspect and  review the statement, the 
d istrict must also redact any 
information  about John  (or any other 
student) that is not d irectly related  to 
Michael, such  as: ‘‘John  also punched  
Steven  in  the stomach and  took h is 
gloves.’’ Since Michael’s paren ts likely 
know from their son  about other 
students involved  in  the altercation , 
under paragraph  (g) the d istrict could  
not release any part of th is sen tence to 
Michael’s paren ts. We note also that the 
sanction  imposed  on  a student for 
misconduct is not generally considered  
d irectly related  to another student, even  
the student who was in jured  or 
victimized  by the d iscip lined  student’s 
conduct, except if a perpetrator has been  
ordered  to stay away from a victim. 

In  order to provide maximum 
flexibility to educational agencies and  
institu tions, we d id  not attempt to 
define or list all other ‘‘ind irect 
iden tifiers’’. We believe that the 
examples listed  in  paragraph  (3) of the 
defin ition  of personally iden tifiable 
in form ation—date of birth , p lace of 
birth , and  mother’s maiden  name— 
indicate clearly the kind  of in formation  
that could  identify a student. Race and  
ethn icity, for example, could  also be 
ind irect iden tifiers. It is not possible, 
however, to list all the possible ind irect 
iden tifiers and  ways in  which  
information  might ind irectly iden tify a 
student. Further, un like the HIPAA 
Privacy Rule, these regulations do not 
attempt to provide a ‘‘safe harbor’’ by 
listing all the in formation  that may be 
removed in  order to satisfy the de- 
iden tification  requirements in  
§ 99.31(b). We have also added  a 
defin ition  of biom etric record  that is 
based  on  National Security Presidential 
Directive 59 and  Homeland  Security 
Presidential Directive 24. 

Changes: We added  a defin ition  of 
biom etric record , which  provides that 
the term means a record  of one or more 
measurable biological or behavioral 
characteristics that can  be used  for 
au tomated  recognition  of an  ind ividual. 
Examples include fingerprin ts, retina 
and  iris patterns, voiceprin ts, DNA 

sequence, facial characteristics, and  
handwriting. 

We also have revised  paragraph  (f) in  
the defin ition  of personally iden tifiable 
in form ation  to change the reference 
‘‘school or its community’’ to ‘‘school 
community.’’ In  paragraph  (g) of the 
defin ition  of personally iden tifiable 
in form ation , we removed the 
requirement that the requester have 
‘‘d irect, personal knowledge.’’ As 
revised , paragraph  (g) provides that 
personally iden tifiable in formation  
means in formation  requested  by a 
person  who the educational agency or 
institu tion  reasonably believes knows 
the identity of the student to whom the 
record  relates. 
(b) De-Identified  Records and  
In form ation  

Com m ent: We received  a number of 
comments on  § 99.31(b)(1), which  
would  allow an  educational agency or 
institu tion , or a party that has received  
personally iden tifiable in formation  from 
education  records, to release the records 
or in formation  without paren tal consent 
after the removal of all personally 
iden tifiable in formation , p rovided  that 
the educational agency or institu tion  or 
other party has made a reasonable 
determination  that a student’s iden tity 
is not personally iden tifiable because of 
un ique patterns of in formation  about the 
student, whether th rough single or 
multip le releases, and  taking in to 
account other reasonably available 
in formation . In  order to permit ongoing 
educational research  with  the same 
data, § 99.31(b)(2) allows an  educational 
agency or institu tion  or other party that 
releases de-identified , non-aggregated  
data (also known as ‘‘microdata’’) from 
education  records to attach  a code to 
each  record , which  may allow the 
recip ien t to match  information  received  
from the same source, under th ree 
conditions—(1) the educational agency 
or institu tion  does not d isclose any 
information  about how it generates and  
assigns a record  code, or that would  
allow a recip ien t to iden tify a student 
based  on  a record  code; (2) the record  
code is used  for no purpose other than  
identifying a de-identified  record  for 
purposes of education  research  and  
cannot be used  to ascertain  personally 
iden tifiable in formation  about a student; 
and  (3) the record  code is not based  on  
a student’s social security number or 
other personal in formation . 

Several commenters supported  these 
proposed  regulations and  said  that they 
will help  facilitate valuable educational 
research . One of these commenters said  
that the provisions for de-identification  
of education  records create clear 
standards that will allow researchers to 

conduct necessary research  without 
compromising student p rivacy. One 
commenter appreciated  being able to 
attach  a code or linking key to records 
to facilitate match ing students across 
data sets while preserving student 
confidentiality. 

One commenter stated  that de- 
iden tified  data do not support 
appropriate analytical research  that will 
lead  to improved  educational ou tcomes. 
Further, accord ing to th is commenter, 
complete de-identification  of 
systematic, longitud inal data on  every 
student may not be possible. 

Two commenters expressed  concern  
that agencies and  institu tions redact too 
much information  from education  
records and  said  that the Department 
should  err on  the side of d isclosure of 
d isaggregated  data so that journalists 
and  researchers can  obtain  accurate 
in formation  about how students in  
every accountability subgroup  are 
performing. These commenters said  that 
the regulations should  take in to account 
the real track record  of journalists and  
researchers in  main tain ing the 
confidentiality of in formation  from 
education  records. 

One commenter said  that many 
institu tions and  ind ividuals have the 
ability to re-identify seemingly de- 
iden tified  data and  that it is generally 
much easier to do than  most people 
realize because 87 percent of Americans 
can  be identified  un iquely from their 
date of birth , five-d igit zip  code, and  
gender. This commenter said  that the 
regulations need  to take in to account 
that re-identification  is a much greater 
risk for student data than  other kinds of 
in formation  because FERPA allows for 
the regular publication  of student 
d irectories that contain  a wealth  of 
personal in formation , including address 
and  date of birth , that can  be used  with  
existing tools and  emerging technology 
to re-identify statistical data, even  by 
non-experts. 

Another commenter said  that because 
the de-identification  process is so 
resource-in tensive, the regulations 
should  allow the research  en tity to de- 
iden tify education  records as a 
contractor under § 99.31(a)(1) of the 
regulations. 

We explained  in  the preamble to the 
NPRM (73 FR 15585) that educational 
agencies and  institu tions should  
monitor releases of coded , de-identified  
microdata from education  records to 
ensure that overlapping or successive 
releases do not resu lt in  data sets in  
which  a student’s personally 
iden tifiable in formation  is d isclosed . 
One commenter said  that th is 
monitoring requirement was too 
burdensome given  the vast number of 
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data requests it receives and  asked  us to 
limit the monitoring requirement to 
single or multip le releases it makes to 
the same party. An SEA asked  
specifically for clarification  in  the 
regulations regard ing what steps, if any, 
it must take to ensure that multip le 
releases of de-identified  data to the 
same requester over time that the 
requester in tends to use for a 
longitud inal study do not resu lt in  small 
data cells that may reveal the iden tity of 
the student. A school d istrict said  that 
the regulations should  require the 
destruction  of de-identified  in formation  
from education  records by the receiving 
party to avoid  the problem of combin ing 
successive data releases to iden tify 
students. 

Some commenters said  that the 
regulations should  provide objective 
standards for the de-identification  of 
education  records. One commenter 
asked  the Department to prescribe a 
method  for States to adopt to ensure that 
student confidentiality is p rotected . 
Two commenters asked  specifically for 
gu idance on  what min imum cell size 
should  be allowed when releasing 
statistical in formation . Several 
commenters said  that SEAs and  school 
d istricts need  specific gu idance 
regard ing the release of student 
ach ievement data under the NCLB, 
including, in  particu lar, reporting 100 
percent ach ievement of certain  
performance levels on  State 
assessments. One commenter who 
opposed  restrictions on  the release of 
de-identified  data referred  to instances 
in  which  some States have created  
min imum cell sizes of 100 for reporting 
d isaggregated  data under NCLB, which  
prevents the release of a great deal of 
importan t in formation . Another 
commenter said  that our d iscussion  of 
small cell sizes in  the preamble to the 
NPRM, 73 FR 15584, reflected  a 
misunderstanding of the problem. 

One commenter said  that § 99.31(b) is 
confusing because it is not clear how 
paragraph  (b)(2), which  is limited  to 
educational research , relates to 
paragraph  (b)(1), which  is not so 
limited . This commenter also said  that 
the regulations impose an  unnecessary 
burden  on  the en tity receiving a request 
for in formation  and  that the 
requirements of paragraph  (f) in  the 
defin ition  of personally iden tifiable 
in form ation  are sufficien t to de-identify 
education  records. Another commenter 
said  that the language in  § 99.31(b)(1) 
that requires consideration  of un ique 
patterns of in formation  about a student 
is confusing and  creates ambiguity 
because the defin ition  of personally 
iden tifiable in form ation  itself 
incorporates standards for de- 

iden tification  that appear to d iffer from 
the standard  in  § 99.31(b). 

Discussion: As explained  in  the 
preamble to the NPRM, 73 FR 15584– 
15585, we believe that the regulatory 
standard  for de-identifying information  
from education  records establishes an  
appropriate balance that facilitates the 
release of appropriate in formation  for 
school accountability and  educational 
research  purposes while preserving the 
statu tory privacy protections in  FERPA. 
Unlike the HIPAA Privacy Rule, these 
regulations do not attempt to provide a 
‘‘safe harbor’’ by listing all the d irect 
and  ind irect iden tifiers that may be 
removed to satisfy the de-identification  
requirements in  § 99.31(b). Rather, they 
are in tended  to provide standards under 
which  information  from education  
records may be released  without 
consent because all personally 
iden tifiable in formation  has been  
removed. 

The Department recognizes that de- 
iden tified  data may not be appropriate 
for all educational research  purposes 
and  that complete de-identification  of 
longitud inal student data may not be 
possible without sacrificing essen tial 
conten t and  usability. In  these 
situations, and  as d iscussed  elsewhere 
in  th is p reamble, FERPA allows the 
d isclosure and  red isclosure of 
personally iden tifiable in formation  from 
education  records, without consent, to 
researchers under the terms and  
conditions specified  in  §§ 99.31(a)(1), 
99.31(a)(3), and  99.31(6). We note that a 
researcher who receives personally 
iden tifiable in formation  under these 
provisions would , however, have to de- 
iden tify any report or other in formation  
in  accordance with  § 99.31(b) before 
releasing it to the public or other 
parties, includ ing other researchers. 

In  response to comments that 
educational agencies and  institu tions 
may remove too much information  from 
education  records, we note that while 
we have attempted  to provide a 
balanced  standard  for the release of de- 
iden tified  data for school accountability 
and  other purposes, FERPA is a privacy 
statu te, and  no party has a righ t under 
FERPA to obtain  in formation  from 
education  records except paren ts and  
eligible students. Further, there is no 
statu tory au thority in  FERPA to modify 
the prohibition  on  d isclosure of 
personally iden tifiable in formation  from 
education  records, or the exceptions to 
the written  consent requirement, based  
on  the track record  of the party, 
including journalists and  researchers, in  
main tain ing the confidentiality of 
in formation  from education  records that 
they have received . 

In  response to the comment about 
allowing a researcher to de-identify 
education  records, educational agencies 
and  institu tions may outsource the de- 
iden tification  process to any outside 
service provider serving as a school 
official in  accordance with  the 
requirements in  § 99.31(a)(1)(i)(B). 
(Those requirements are d iscussed  in  
detail in  the preamble to the NPRM at 
73 FR 15578–15580 and  elsewhere in  
these final regulations.) State and  local 
educational au thorities and  Federal 
officials and  agencies listed  in  
§ 99.31(a)(3) may outsource the de- 
iden tification  process to their 
au thorized  represen tatives under the 
conditions specified  in  § 99.35. 

We agree that the risk of re- 
iden tification  may be greater for student 
data than  other in formation  because of 
the regular publication  of student 
d irectories, commercial databases, and  
de-identified  bu t detailed  educational 
reports by States and  researchers that 
can  be manipulated  with  increasing ease 
by computer technology. As noted  in  
the preamble to the NPRM, 73 FR 
15584, the re-identification  risk of any 
given  release is cumulative, i.e., d irectly 
related  to what has previously been  
released , and  th is includes both  
publicly-available d irectory 
in formation , which  is personally 
iden tifiable, and  de-identified  data 
releases. For that reason , we advised  in  
the NPRM that parties should  min imize 
in formation  released  in  d irectories to 
the exten t possible because, since the 
enactment of FERPA in  1974, the risk of 
re-identification  from such  information  
has grown as a resu lt of new 
technologies and  methods. 

In  response to comments about the 
need  to monitor releases of coded , de- 
iden tified  microdata to avoid  re- 
iden tification  of the data, because the 
risk of re-identification  is cumulative, 
when  making a new d isclosure of coded  
data an  educational agency or 
institu tion  or other party must take in to 
account all releases of in formation  from 
education  records it has made, not just 
releases it has made to the recip ien t of 
new data. We note that some of the 
publicly available d irectory in formation  
and  de-identified  data releases that need  
to be taken  in to account have been  
produced  by the same agency or 
institu tion , State or local educational 
au thority, or Federal official that wishes 
to release newly de-identified  
in formation . In  general, FERPA poses no 
restrictions on  the recip ien t’s use of 
d irectory in formation  and  de-identified  
data from education  records. Therefore, 
it may be unclear whether previous data 
releases are available generally, have 
been  shared  with  a limited  number of 

VerDate Aug<31>2005 18:13 Dec 08, 2008 Jkt 217001 PO 00000 Frm 00030 Fmt 4701 Sfmt 4700 E:\FR\FM\09DER2.SGM 09DER2jle
nt

in
i o

n 
PR

O
D

1P
C

65
 w

ith
 R

U
LE

S2

Theodore Hartman


Theodore Hartman




74835 Federal Register / Vol. 73, No. 237 / Tuesday, December 9, 2008 / Rules and  Regulations 

parties, or not shared  at all. Further, 
un like personally iden tifiable 
in formation  that is d isclosed  under 
§§ 99.31(a)(3) and  (a)(6), de-identified  
in formation  from education  records 
does not have to be destroyed  when no 
longer needed  for the purposes for 
which  it was released . We note, 
however, that a releasing party would  
reduce its monitoring responsibilities if 
it requires destruction  or prohibits 
red isclosure of coded , de-identified  
microdata, because coded , de-identified  
microdata has a h igher risk of re- 
iden tification  than  de-identified  
microdata. In  the fu ture the Department 
will p rovide further in formation  on  how 
to monitor and  limit d isclosure of 
personally iden tifiable in formation  in  
successive statistical data releases. 

In  response to requests for gu idance 
on  what specific steps and  methods 
should  be used  to de-identify 
in formation  (and  as noted  in  the 
preamble to the NPRM, 73 FR 15584), it 
is not possible to prescribe or iden tify 
a single method  to min imize the risk of 
d isclosing personally iden tifiable 
in formation  in  redacted  records or 
statistical in formation  that will apply in  
every circumstance, including 
determining whether defin ing a 
min imum cell size is an  appropriate 
means to protect the confidentiality of 
aggregated  data and , if so, selection  of 
an  appropriate number. This is because 
determining whether a particu lar set of 
methods for de-identifying data and  
limiting d isclosure risk is adequate 
cannot be made without examining the 
underlying data sets, other data that 
have been  released , publicly available 
d irectories, and  other data that are 
linked  or linkable to the in formation  in  
question . For these reasons, we are 
unable to provide examples of ru les and  
policies that necessarily meet the de- 
iden tification  requirements in  
§ 99.31(b). The releasing party is 
responsible for conducting its own 
analysis and  identifying the best 
methods to protect the confidentiality of 
in formation  from education  records it 
chooses to release. We recommend that 
State educational au thorities, 
educational agencies and  institu tions, 
and  other parties refer to the examples 
and  methods described  in  the NPRM at 
page 15584 and  refer to the Federal 
Committee on  Statistical Methodology’s 
Statistical Policy Working Paper 22, 
www.fcsm .gov/work ing-papers/  
wp22.h tm l, for additional gu idance. 

With  regard  to issues with  NCLB 
reporting in  particu lar, determining the 
min imum cell size to ensure statistical 
reliability of in formation  is a completely 
d ifferen t analysis than  that used  to 
determine the appropriate min imum 

cell size to ensure confidentiality. 
Further, as noted  in  the preceding 
paragraph  and  in  the preamble to the 
NPRM, use of min imum cell sizes or 
data suppression  is on ly one of several 
ways in  which  information  from 
education  records may be de-identified  
before release. Statistical Policy 
Working Paper 22 describes other 
d isclosure limitation  methods, such  as 
‘‘top  coding’’ and  ‘‘data swapping,’’ 
which  may be more su itable than  simple 
data suppression  for releasing the 
maximum amount of in formation  to the 
public without breaching confidentiality 
requirements. Decisions regard ing 
whether to use data suppression  or 
some other method  or combination  of 
methods to avoid  d isclosing personally 
iden tifiable in formation  in  statistical 
in formation  must be made on  a case-by- 
case basis. 

We agree with  the commenter who 
said  that the example we provided  in  
the preamble to the NPRM regard ing the 
small cell p roblem in  reporting that two 
Hispanic females failed  to graduate was 
mislead ing and  offer the following, 
more complete explanation . Simply 
knowing that one out of 100 Hispanic 
females failed  to graduate does not 
iden tify which  of the Hispanic females 
it might be. But suppose th is female is 
an  English  language learner who is also 
enrolled  in  special education  classes. 
The school also publishes tables on  
participation  in  special education  
classes by race, ethn icity, and  grade, 
and  tables that include the graduation  
status of Hispanic females d isaggregated  
in  one table by English  language 
proficiency status, and  by participation  
in  special education  classes in  another. 
Suppose that these th ree tabulations 
each  show separately that there is one 
12th  grade Hispanic female enrolled  in  
special education  classes, that the one 
Hispanic female who d id  not graduate 
was enrolled  in  special education  
classes, and  that the one Hispanic 
female who d id  not graduate was an  
English  language learner. With  th is 
in formation , the d iscern ing observer 
knows that the one Hispanic female 
who failed  to graduate is an  English  
language learner and  that she was the 
on ly 12th  grade Hispanic student 
enrolled  in  special education  classes. 
Any number of people in  the school 
would  be able to iden tify the Hispanic 
female who d id  not graduate with  these 
th ree p ieces of in formation . 

Expanding the example to two 
ind ividuals, the logic is similar, except 
in  th is case each  of the Hispanic females 
knows her own characteristics and  can  
find  herself in  each  of the available 
tables, and  thus by a process of 
elimination  identifies the characteristics 

of the other non-graduate, perhaps 
learn ing someth ing she d id  not already 
know about the other student. The 
published  tables show that there are two 
12th  grade Hispanic females enrolled  in  
special education  classes, one with  a 
learn ing d isability and  one with  mental 
retardation . The tables also show that 
the two Hispanic females who d id  not 
graduate were enrolled  in  special 
education  classes, and  that the two 
Hispanic females who d id  not graduate 
were both  English  language learners. 
Others in  the school community may be 
able to iden tify the two 12th  grade 
Hispanic females who are English  
language learners enrolled  in  special 
education  classes, bu t not necessarily be 
able to d istinguish  the student with  the 
learn ing d isability from the student with  
mental retardation . However, each  girl 
knows her own d isability and  by the 
process of elimination  now knows the 
other girl’s d isability. Similarly, anyone 
with  knowledge of one of the two 
Hispanic females who d id  not graduate 
can  find  that girl in  the tables, and  then  
isolate the characteristics that belong to 
the other Hispanic female. 

This example can  be expanded  to an  
example with  th ree Hispanic females 
who fail to graduate. All th ree of the 
Hispanic females who d id  not graduate 
are English  language learners, and  two 
Hispanic females who d id  not graduate 
are enrolled  in  special education  
classes—one with  a learn ing d isability 
and  the other with  mental retardation . 
In  th is case, the one Hispanic female 
who is an  English  language learner and  
d id  not graduate now knows that the 
other two Hispanic females in  her 
English  language learner classes and  
also d id  not graduate are in  the special 
education  program, bu t she does not 
know which  condition  each  girl has. By 
the same logic, each  of the two females 
who d id  not graduate and  are in  special 
education  classes knows her own 
d isability and  as a resu lt knows the 
d isability of the other Hispanic female 
who was an  English  language learner 
enrolled  in  special education  classes 
who d id  not graduate. These are some 
examples of situations in  which  small 
cell data reveals personally iden tifiable 
in formation  from education  records. 

The Secretary has no statu tory 
au thority to modify the regulations to 
allow LEAs and  SEAs to report that 100 
percent of students ach ieved  specified  
performance levels. In  that regard  we 
note that the Department’s Non- 
Regulatory Guidance for NCLB Report 
Cards (2003) provides: 

[S]chools must also ensure that the data 
they report do not reveal personally 
iden tifiable in formation  about ind ividual 
students * * *. States must adopt a strategy 
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for dealing with  a situation  in  which  all 
students in  a particu lar subgroup  scored  at 
the same achievement level. One solu tion , 
referred  to as ‘‘masking’’ the data, is to use 
the notation  of >95%  when all students in  a 
subgroup  score at the same achievement 
level. 
See www.ed .gov/program s/ titleiparta/  
reportcardsguidance.doc on page 3. 
Likewise, LEAs and  SEAs must adopt a 
strategy for ensuring that they do not 
d isclose personally iden tifiable 
in formation  about low-performing 
students when  they release in formation  
about their h igh-performing students. 

In  response to the comments that 
paragraphs (1) and  (2) in  § 99.31(b) are 
confusing, paragraph  (1) establishes a 
standard  for de-identifying education  
records that applies to d isclosures made 
to any party for any purpose, including, 
for example, paren ts and  other members 
of the general public who are in terested  
in  school accountability issues, as well 
as education  policy makers and  
researchers. The release of de-identified  
in formation  from education  records 
under § 99.31(b)(1) is not limited  to 
education  research  purposes because, by 
defin ition , the in formation  does not 
contain  any personally iden tifiable 
in formation . 

Paragraph  (2) of § 99.31(b) applies 
on ly to parties conducting education  
research ; it allows an  educational 
agency or institu tion , or a party that has 
received  education  records, such  as a 
State educational au thority, to attach  a 
code to each  record  that may allow the 
researcher to match  microdata received  
from the same educational source under 
the conditions specified . The purpose of 
paragraph  (2) is to facilitate education  
research  by au thorizing the release of 
coded  microdata. The requirements in  
paragraph  (2) that apply to a record  code 
preclude match ing de-identified  data 
from education  records with  data from 
another source. Therefore, by its terms, 
the release of coded  microdata under 
paragraph  (2) is limited  to education  
research . 

We agree with  the commenter who 
stated  that the reference in  § 99.31(b)(1) 
to ‘‘un ique patterns of in formation  about 
a student’’ is confusing in  relation  to the 
defin ition  of personally iden tifiable 
in form ation  and  believe that it 
essen tially restated  the requirements in  
paragraph  (f) of the defin ition . 
Therefore, we have removed th is phrase 
from the regulations. We d isagree that 
the defin ition  of personally iden tifiable 
in form ation  and  the requirements in  
§ 99.31(b) impose an  unnecessary 
burden  on  the en tity receiving a request 
for de-identified  in formation  from 
education  records and  that the 
requirements in  paragraph  (f) in  the 

defin ition  are sufficien t. As explained  
above, paragraph  (f) does not address 
the problem of targeted  requests. It also 
does not address the re-identification  
risk associated  with  multip le data 
releases and  other reasonably available 
in formation , or allow for the coding of 
de-identified  micro data for educational 
research  purposes. Section  99.31(b) 
provides the additional standards 
needed  to help  ensure that educational 
agencies and  institu tions and  other 
parties do not iden tify students when  
they release redacted  records or 
statistical data from education  records. 

Changes: We have removed the 
reference to ‘‘un ique patterns of 
in formation’’ in  § 99.31(b). 
Notification of Subpoena (§ 99.33(b)(2)) 

Com m ent: We received  a few 
comments on  our proposal in  
§ 99.33(b)(2) to require a party that has 
received  personally iden tifiable 
in formation  from education  records 
from an  educational agency or 
institu tion  to provide the notice to 
paren ts and  eligible students under 
§ 99.31(a)(9) before it d iscloses that 
in formation  on  behalf of an  educational 
agency or institu tion  in  compliance 
with  a jud icial order or lawfully issued  
subpoena. One national education  
association  supported  the proposed  
amendment. 

One commenter asked  the Department 
to clarify the in ten t of the proposed  
language. This commenter said  that, 
when  an  educational agency or 
institu tion  requests that a th ird  party 
make the d isclosure to comply with  a 
lawfully issued  subpoena or court order, 
it is reasonable to expect the 
educational agency or institu tion  to 
send  the required  notice to the 
student(s). The commenter also said  that 
it was not clear from the proposed  
change whether it is sufficien t for the 
educational agency or institu tion  to 
send  the notice or whether it must come 
from the th ird  party. 

Discussion: The Secretary agrees that 
there needs to be clarification  about 
which  party is responsible for notifying 
paren ts and  eligible students before an  
SEA or other th ird  party ou tside of the 
educational agency or institu tion  
d iscloses education  records to comply 
with  a lawfully issued  subpoena or 
court order. We have revised  the 
regulation  to provide that the burden  to 
notify a paren t or eligible student rests 
with  the recip ien t of the subpoena or 
court order. While a th ird  party, such  as 
an  SEA, that is the recip ien t of a 
subpoena or court order is responsible 
for notifying the paren ts and  eligible 
students before complying with  the 
order or subpoena, the educational 

agency or institu tion  could  assist the 
th ird  party in  the notification  
requirement, by provid ing it with  
contact in formation  so that it could  
provide the notice. 

In  order to ensure that th is new 
requirement is enforceable, we have also 
revised  § 99.33(e) so that if the 
Department determines that a th ird  
party, such  as an  SEA, d id  not p rovide 
the notification  required  under 
§ 99.31(a)(9)(ii), the educational agency 
or institu tion  may not allow that th ird  
party access to education  records for at 
least five years. 

Changes: We have amended  
§ 99.33(b)(2) to clarify that the th ird  
party that receives the subpoena or 
court order is responsible for meeting 
the notification  requirements under 
§ 99.31(a)(9). We also have revised  
§ 99.33(e) to provide that if the 
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
Health or Safety Emergency (§ 99.36) 

Com m ent: We received  many 
comments in  support of our proposal to 
amend § 99.36 regard ing d isclosures of 
personally iden tifiable in formation  
without consent in  a health  or safety 
emergency. Most of the parties that 
commented  stated  that the proposed  
changes demonstrated  the righ t balance 
between  student p rivacy and  campus 
safety. A number of commenters 
specifically supported  the clarification  
regard ing the d isclosure of in formation  
from an  eligible student’s education  
records to that student’s paren ts when  a 
health  or safety emergency occurs. One 
commenter said  that the proposed  
amendment would  provide appropriate 
protection  for sensitive and  otherwise 
protected  in formation  while clarifying 
that educational agencies and  
institu tions may notify paren ts and  
other appropriate ind ividuals in  an  
emergency so that they may in tervene to 
help  protect the health  and  safety of 
those involved . 

Discussion: We appreciate the 
commenters’ support for the 
amendments to the ‘‘health  or safety 
emergency’’ exception  in  § 99.36(b). 
Educational agencies and  institu tions 
are permitted  to d isclose personally 
iden tifiable in formation  from students’ 
education  records, without consent, 
under § 99.31(a)(10) in  connection  with  
a health  or safety emergency. 
Disclosures under § 99.31(a)(10) must 
meet the conditions described  in  
§ 99.36. We address specific comments 
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about the proposed  amendments to th is 
exception  in  the following paragraphs. 

Changes: None. 
(a) Disclosure in  Non-Em ergency 
S ituations 

Com m ent: Some commenters 
suggested  that we in terpret § 99.36 to 
permit the sharing of in formation  on  
reportable d iseases to health  officials in  
non-emergency situations. These 
commenters stated  that the d isclosure of 
rou tine immunization  data should  be 
subject to State, local, and  regional 
public health  laws and  regulations and  
not FERPA. One of these commenters 
noted  that the HIPAA Privacy Rule 
allows covered  en tities to d isclose 
personally iden tifiable health  data, 
without consent, to public health  
au thorities. 

Discussion: There is no au thority in  
FERPA to exclude students’ 
immunization  records from the 
defin ition  of education  records in  
FERPA. Further, the HIPAA Privacy 
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
However, there is no statu tory exception  
to the written  consent requirement in  
FERPA to permit th is type of d isclosure. 

As explained  in  the preamble to the 
NPRM (73 FR 15589), the amendment to 
the health  or safety emergency 
exception  in  § 99.36 does not allow 
d isclosures on  a rou tine, non-emergency 
basis, such  as the rou tine sharing of 
student in formation  with  the local 
police department. Likewise, th is 
exception  does not cover rou tine, non- 
emergency d isclosures of students’ 
immunization  data to public health  
au thorities. Consequently, there is no 
statu tory basis for the Department to 
revise the regulatory language as 
requested  by the commenters. 

Changes: None. 
(b) S trict Construction  S tandard  

Com m ent: Several commenters 
expressed  concern  that removing the 
language from curren t § 99.36 requiring 
strict construction  of the ‘‘health  and  
safety emergency’’ exception  and  
substitu ting the language provid ing for 
a ‘‘rational basis’’ standard  would  not 
require schools to make an  ind ividual 
assessment to determine if there is an  
emergency that warran ts a d isclosure. 
One commenter stated  that removal of 
the ‘‘strict construction’’ requirement 
would  severely weaken  the 

Department’s enforcement capabilities 
and  that schools may see th is change as 
an  excuse to d isclose sensitive student 
in formation  when there is not a real 
emergency. 

A commenter stated  that the removal 
of the ‘‘strict construction’’ requirement 
would  mean  that the Department would  
eliminate altogether its review of actions 
taken  by schools under the health  and  
safety emergency exception . Another 
commenter stated  that removing the 
requirement that th is exception  be 
strictly construed  could  erode the 
privacy righ ts of ind ividuals. The 
commenter noted  that because paren ts 
and  eligible students cannot bring su it 
in  court to enforce FERPA, schools face 
virtually no liability if they violate 
FERPA requirements. 

A commenter asked  that the 
Department clarify what is meant by an  
‘‘emergency’’ and  how severe a concern  
must be to qualify as an  emergency. 

Discussion: Section  99.36(c) 
eliminates the previous requirement 
that paragraphs (a) and  (b) of th is 
section  be ‘‘strictly construed’’ and  
provides instead  that, in  making a 
determination  whether a d isclosure may 
be made under the ‘‘health  or safety 
emergency’’ exception , an  educational 
agency or institu tion  may take in to 
account the totality of the circumstances 
pertain ing to a th reat to the health  or 
safety of a student or other ind ividuals. 
The new provision  states that if there is 
an  articu lable and  sign ifican t th reat to 
the health  or safety of the student or 
other ind ividuals, an  educational 
agency or institu tion  may d isclose 
in formation  to appropriate parties. 

As we ind icated  in  the preamble to 
the NPRM, we believe paragraph  (c) 
p rovides greater flexibility and  
deference to school administrators so 
they can  bring appropriate resources to 
bear on  a circumstance that th reatens 
the health  or safety of ind ividuals. 73 
FR 15574, 15589. In  that regard , 
paragraph  (c) p rovides that the 
Department will not substitu te its 
judgment for that of the agency or 
institu tion  if, based  on  the in formation  
available at the time of the 
determination  there is a rational basis 
for the agency’s or institu tion’s 
determination  that a health  or safety 
emergency exists and  that the d isclosure 
was made to appropriate parties. 

We do not agree that removal of the 
‘‘strict construction’’ standard  weakens 
FERPA or erodes privacy protections. 
Rather, the changes appropriately 
balance the importan t in terests of safety 
and  privacy by provid ing school 
officials with  the flexibility to act 
qu ickly and  decisively when  
emergencies arise. Schools should  not 

view FERPA’s ‘‘health  or safety 
emergency’’ exception  as a blanket 
exception  for rou tine d isclosures of 
student in formation  but as limited  to 
d isclosures necessary to protect the 
health  or safety of a student or another 
ind ividual in  connection  with  an  
emergency. 

After consideration  of the comments, 
we have determined  that educational 
agencies and  institu tions should  be 
required  to record  the ‘‘articu lable and  
sign ifican t th reat to the health  or safety 
of a student or other ind ividuals’’ so 
that they can  demonstrate (to paren ts, 
students, and  to the Department) what 
circumstances led  them to determine 
that a health  or safety emergency existed  
and  how they justified  the d isclosure. 
Curren tly, educational agencies and  
institu tions are required  under 
§ 99.32(a) to record  any d isclosure of 
personally iden tifiable in formation  from 
education  records made under 
§ 99.31(a)(10) and  § 99.36. We are 
revising the recordation  requirements in  
§ 99.32(a)(5) to require an  agency or 
institu tion  to record  the articu lable and  
sign ifican t th reat that formed the basis 
for the d isclosure. The school must 
main tain  th is record  with  the education  
records of the student for as long as the 
student’s education  records are 
main tained  (§ 99.32(a)(2)). 

We do not specify in  the regulations 
a time period  in  which  an  educational 
agency or institu tion  must record  a 
d isclosure of personally iden tifiable 
in formation  from education  records 
under § 99.32(a). We in terpret th is to 
mean  that an  agency or institu tion  must 
record  a d isclosure with in  a reasonable 
period  of time after the d isclosure has 
been  made, and  not just at the time, if 
any, when  a paren t or student asks to 
inspect the student’s record  of 
d isclosures. We will treat the 
requirement to record  the sign ifican t 
and  articu lable th reat that forms the 
basis for a d isclosure under the health  
or safety emergency exception  no 
d ifferen tly than  the recordation  of other 
d isclosures. In  determining whether a 
period  of time for recordation  is 
reasonable, we would  examine the 
relevant facts surrounding the 
d isclosure and  an ticipate that an  agency 
or institu tion  would  address the health  
or safety emergency itself before tu rn ing 
to recordation  of any d isclosures and  
other administrative matters. 

In  response to concerns about the 
Department’s enforcement of the 
provisions of § 99.36, the ‘‘rational 
basis’’ test does not eliminate the 
Department’s responsibility for 
oversigh t and  accountability. Actions 
that the Secretary may take in  
addressing violations of th is and  other 
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FERPA provisions are addressed  in  the 
analysis of comments under the section  
in  th is p reamble en titled  Enforcem ent. 
While paren ts and  eligible students do 
not have a righ t to sue for violations of 
FERPA in  a court of law, the statu te 
provides that the Secretary may not 
make funds available to any agency or 
institu tion  that has a policy or p ractice 
of violating paren ts’ and  students’ righ ts 
under the statu te with  regard  to consent 
to the d isclosure of education  records. 
As such , paren ts and  eligible students 
may file a complain t with  the Office if 
they believe that a school has violated  
their righ ts under FERPA and  has 
d isclosed  education  records under 
§ 99.36 inconsisten t with  these 
regulations. In  conducting an  
investigation , the Office will require 
that schools iden tify the underlying 
facts that demonstrated  that there was 
an  articu lable and  sign ifican t th reat 
p recip itating the d isclosure under 
§ 99.36. 

In  response to the comment about 
what would  constitu te an  emergency, 
FERPA permits d isclosure ‘‘* * * in  
connection  with  an  emergency * * * to 
protect the health  or safety of the 
student or other persons.’’ 20 U.S.C. 
1232g(b)(1)(I). We note that the word  
‘‘protect’’ generally means to keep  from 
harm, attack, or in jury. As such , the 
statu tory text underscores that the 
educational agency or institu tion  must 
be able to release in formation  from 
education  records in  sufficien t time for 
the institu tion  to act to keep  persons 
from harm or in jury. Moreover, to be ‘‘in  
connection  with  an  emergency’’ means 
to be related  to the th reat of an  actual, 
impending, or imminent emergency, 
such  as a terrorist attack, a natural 
d isaster, a campus shooting, or the 
ou tbreak of an  ep idemic such  as e-coli. 
An emergency could  also be a situation  
in  which  a student gives sufficien t, 
cumulative warn ing signs that lead  an  
educational agency or institu tion  to 
believe the student may harm h imself or 
others at any moment. It does not mean  
the th reat of a possible or eventual 
emergency for which  the likelihood  of 
occurrence is unknown, such  as would  
be addressed  in  emergency 
preparedness activities. 

Changes: We have amended  the 
recordkeeping requirements in  
§ 99.32(a)(5) to require educational 
agencies and  institu tions to record  the 
articu lable and  sign ifican t th reat that 
formed the basis for a d isclosure under 
the health  or safety emergency 
exception  and  the parties to whom the 
in formation  was d isclosed . 

(c) A rticu lable and  S ignificant Threat 
Com m ent: One commenter stated  that 

the word  ‘‘articu lable’’ in  § 99.36(c) was 
confusing in  reference to a school’s 
determination  that there is an  
‘‘articu lable and  sign ifican t th reat to the 
health  or safety of a student or other 
ind ividuals.’’ This commenter stated  
that school officials might in terpret the 
provision  to mean  that there must be a 
verbal th reat or that school officials 
must write down the exact word ing of 
the th reat. 

Discussion: The requirement that 
there must be an  ‘‘articu lable and  
sign ifican t th reat’’ does not mean  that 
the th reat must be verbal. It simply 
means that the institu tion  must be able 
to articu late what the th reat is under 
§ 99.36 when it makes and  records the 
d isclosure. 

In  that regard , the words ‘‘articu lable 
and  sign ifican t’’ are ad jectives 
modifying the key noun ‘‘th reat.’’ As 
such , the focus is on  the th reat, with  the 
question  being whether the th reat itself 
is articu lable and  sign ifican t. The word  
‘‘articu lable’’ is defined  to mean  
‘‘capable of being articu lated .’’ http:/ /  
www.m erriam -webster.com /dictionary/  
articu lable. This portion  of the standard  
simply requires that a school official be 
able to express in  words what leads the 
official to conclude that a student poses 
a th reat. The other half of the standard  
is the word  ‘‘sign ifican t,’’ which  means 
‘‘of a noticeably or measurably large 
amount.’’ http:/ /www.m erriam - 
webster.com /dictionary/sign ificant. 
Taken  together, the phrase ‘‘articu lable 
and  sign ifican t th reat’’ means that if a 
school official can  explain  why, based  
on  all the in formation  then  available, 
the official reasonably believes that a 
student poses a sign ifican t th reat, such  
as a th reat of substan tial bodily harm, to 
any person , including the student, the 
school official may d isclose education  
records to any person  whose knowledge 
of in formation  from those records will 
assist in  protecting a person  from that 
th reat. 

Changes: None. 
(d) Parties That May Receive 
In form ation  Under § 99.36 

Com m ent: A commenter 
recommended that the Department 
adopt a more subjective standard  
regard ing the persons to whom 
education  records may be d isclosed  
under § 99.36, suggesting that we 
remove the requirement that the 
d isclosure must be to a person  ‘‘whose 
knowledge of the in formation  is 
necessary to protect the health  or safety 
of the student or other ind ividuals.’’ 
Conversely, another commenter 

expressed  concern  that the Department 
was sending the wrong message to 
educational agencies and  institu tions 
with  these changes to § 99.36. The 
commenter stated  that the health  or 
safety emergency exception  must not be 
perceived  to permit schools to rou tinely 
d isclose education  records to paren ts, 
police, or others. 

A commenter asked  who at a school 
may share personally iden tifiable 
in formation  in  a health  or safety 
emergency, and  specifically whether a 
school secretary would  be allowed to 
tell paren ts that a student on  campus 
made a th reat to others. 

A commenter stated  that school 
d istricts, especially small or rural 
d istricts, may not have the expertise on  
staff to determine whether a situation  
constitu tes an  ‘‘articu lable and  
sign ifican t th reat.’’ The commenter said  
that personally iden tifiable in formation  
on  students may need  to be d isclosed  to 
ou tside law enforcement and  mental 
health  professionals so that they can  
help  schools determine whether a real 
th reat exists. The commenter 
recommended that the Department 
change the proposed  regulations to 
allow school d istricts to involve ou tside 
experts in  determining whether a health  
or safety emergency exists. Noting that 
the NPRM addressed  the d isclosure of 
education  records to an  eligible 
student’s paren ts, the organization  also 
asked  for clarification  regard ing whether 
the paren ts of a poten tial perpetrator 
and  the poten tial victim at the K–12 
level could  be told  about a th reat. 

Several commenters stated  that our 
proposed  amendments d id  not go far 
enough and  urged  the Department to 
expand  § 99.36 to permit a school to 
notify whomever the student has listed  
as h is or her emergency contact. 
Another commenter requested  that the 
Secretary, th rough these regulations, 
d irect institu tions to proactively notify 
paren ts of students who are in  acu te 
care situations, such  as illness or 
accidents, if any institu tional official is 
aware of the emergency. 

Discussion: On its face, FERPA 
permits d isclosure to ‘‘appropriate 
persons if the knowledge of such  
information  is necessary to protect the 
health  or safety of the student or other 
persons.’’ 20 U.S.C. 1232g(b)(1)(I). 
FERPA does not require that the person  
receiving the in formation  be responsible 
for p rovid ing the protection . Rather, the 
focus of the statu tory provision  is on  the 
in formation  itself: The ‘‘health  or safety 
emergency’’ exception  permits the 
institu tion  to d isclose in formation  from 
education  records in  order to gather 
in formation  from any person  who has 
in formation  that would  be necessary to 
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provide the requisite p rotection . Thus, 
for example, an  educational institu tion  
that reasonably believes that a student 
poses a th reat of bodily harm to any 
person  may d isclose in formation  from 
education  records to curren t or p rior 
peers of the student or mental health  
professionals who can  provide the 
institu tion  with  appropriate in formation  
to assist in  protecting against the th reat. 
Moreover, the institu tion  may d isclose 
records to persons such  as law 
enforcement officials that it determines 
may be helpfu l in  provid ing appropriate 
protection  from the th reat. An 
educational agency or institu tion  may 
also generally d isclose in formation  
under § 99.36 to a poten tial victim and  
the paren ts of a poten tial victim as 
‘‘other ind ividuals’’ whose health  or 
safety may need  to be protected . 

Similarly, in  order to obtain  
in formation  that would  in form its 
judgment on  how to address the th reat, 
the student’s curren t institu tion  may 
d isclose in formation  from education  
records to other schools or institu tions 
which  the student p reviously attended . 
In  that regard , the same set of facts 
underlying the curren t institu tion’s 
determination  that an  emergency 
existed  would  also permit former 
schools and  institu tions attended  by the 
student to d isclose personally 
iden tifiable in formation  from education  
records to the student’s curren t 
institu tion . That is, a former school 
would  not need  to make a separate 
determination  regard ing the existence of 
an  articu lable and  sign ifican t th reat to 
the health  or safety of a student or 
others, and  could  rely instead  on  the 
determination  made by the school 
curren tly attended  by the student in  
making the d isclosure. 

In  the d iscussion  on  page 15589 of the 
NPRM, we noted  that the ‘‘health  or 
safety emergency’’ exception  does not 
permit a local school d istrict to 
rou tinely share its student in formation  
database with  the local police 
department. This example was meant to 
clarify that FERPA’s health  or safety 
provisions would  not permit a school to 
d isclose without consent education  
records to the local police department 
un less there was a health  or safety 
emergency and  the d isclosure of the 
in formation  was necessary to protect the 
health  or safety of students or other 
ind ividuals. This does not p revent 
schools from having working 
relationsh ips with  local police 
au thorities and  to use local police 
officers in  main tain ing the safety of 
their campuses. 

In  response to the comment about 
which  school official should  be 
permitted  to d isclose in formation  under 

§ 99.36, an  educational agency or 
institu tion  will need  to make its own 
determination  about which  school 
officials may access a student’s 
education  records and  d isclose 
in formation  to paren ts or other parties 
whose knowledge of the in formation  is 
necessary to protect the health  or safety 
of the student or other ind ividuals. 
Under § 99.31(a)(1), an  educational 
agency or institu tion  may d isclose 
education  records, without consent, to 
school officials whom the agency or 
institu tion  has determined  have 
legitimate educational in terests in  the 
in formation . It may be helpfu l for 
schools to have a policy in  p lace 
concern ing which  school officials will 
have access to and  the responsibility for 
d isclosing information  in  emergency 
situations. 

We understand  that some educational 
agencies and  institu tions may need  
assistance in  determining whether a 
health  or safety emergency exists for 
purposes of complying with  these 
regulations. The Department encourages 
schools to implement a th reat 
assessment program, including the 
establishment of a th reat assessment 
team that u tilizes the expertise of 
represen tatives from law enforcement 
agencies in  the community. Schools can  
respond to student behavior that raises 
concerns about a student’s mental 
health  and  the safety of the student and  
others that is chronic or escalating by 
using a th reat assessment team, and  
then  make other d isclosures under the 
health  or safety emergency exception , as 
appropriate, when  an  ‘‘articu lable and  
sign ifican t th reat’’ exists. In formation  on  
establish ing a th reat assessment 
program and  other helpfu l resources for 
emergency situations can  be found  on  
the Department’s Web site: http:/ /  
www.ed .gov/adm ins/ lead/safety/  
edpicks.jh tm l?src=ln . 

An educational agency or institu tion  
may d isclose education  records to th reat 
assessment team members who are not 
employees of the d istrict or institu tion  
if they qualify as ‘‘school officials’’ with  
‘‘legitimate educational in terests’’ under 
§ 99.31(a)(1)(i)(B), which  is d iscussed  
elsewhere in  th is p reamble. To receive 
the education  records under the ‘‘school 
officials’’ exception , members of the 
th reat assessment team must be under 
the d irect control of the educational 
agency or institu tion  with  respect to the 
main tenance and  use of personally 
iden tifiable in formation  from education  
records. For example, a represen tative 
from the city police who serves on  a 
school’s th reat assessment team 
generally could  not red isclose to the city 
police personally iden tifiable 
in formation  from a student’s education  

records to which  he or she was privy as 
part of the team. As noted  above, 
however, the institu tion  may d isclose 
personally iden tifiable in formation  from 
education  records when  and  if the th reat 
assessment team determines that a 
health  or safety emergency exists under 
§§ 99.31(a)(10) and  99.36. 

We believe that § 99.36 does not need  
to be expanded  to permit a school to 
contact whomever an  eligible student 
has listed  as h is or her emergency 
contact, nor is there au thority to do so. 
FERPA does not p reclude institu tions 
from contacting other parties, includ ing 
paren ts, in  addition  to the emergency 
contacts p rovided  by the student, if the 
school determines these other parties 
are ‘‘appropriate parties’’ under th is 
exception . (An eligible student may 
provide consent for the institu tion  to 
notify certain  ind ividuals in  case of an  
emergency, should  an  emergency 
occur.) 

The regulations would  not p revent an  
institu tion  from having a policy of 
seeking prospective consent from 
eligible students for the d isclosure of 
personally iden tifiable in formation  or 
from having a policy for obtain ing 
consent for d isclosure on  a case-by-case 
basis. However, FERPA does not require 
that a postsecondary institu tion  d isclose 
in formation  to any party except to the 
eligible student, even  if the student has 
consented  to the d isclosure. Thus, the 
Secretary does not have the statu tory 
au thority to require school officials to 
d isclose in formation  from a student’s 
education  records in  compliance with  a 
consent signed  by the student or to 
otherwise require the institu tion  to 
contact a family member. 

Changes: None. 
(e) Treatm ent Records 

Com m ent: A commenter stated  that 
while the amendments to § 99.36 
provide needed  clarification  about when  
an  educational agency or institu tion  
may d isclose students’ education  
records to avert tragedies like the one at 
Virgin ia Tech  in  April 2007, the NPRM 
did  not p rovide clarity on  the issue of 
in formation  sharing between  on-campus 
and  off-campus health  care providers. 
The commenter also noted  that the 
Virgin ia Tech  Review Panel 
recommended that Congress amend 
FERPA to explain  how Federal p rivacy 
laws apply to medical records held  for 
treatment purposes and  that the NPRM 
did  not p rovide that clarity. 

Another commenter stated  that if 
in formation  about a student related  to a 
health  or safety emergency is part of the 
treatment records main tained  by a 
un iversity’s health  clin ic, the treatment 
records should  be treated  like education  
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records so that they may be d isclosed  
under the health  and  safety emergency 
exception . A commenter asked  that the 
Department clarify that college health  
and  mental health  records are not 
education  records under FERPA and  
must be treated  like other health  and  
mental health  records in  other settings. 

Discussion: While we have carefu lly 
considered  the comments concern ing 
‘‘treatment records,’’ the Secretary does 
not believe that it is necessary to amend 
the regulations to provide clarification  
on  the handling of health  and  medical 
records. The Departments of Education  
and  Health  and  Human Services have 
issued  join t gu idance that explains the 
relationsh ip  between  FERPA and  the 
HIPAA Privacy Rule. The guidance 
addresses th is issue for these records at 
the elementary and  secondary levels, as 
well as at the postsecondary level. The 
join t gu idance, which  is on  the Web 
sites of both  agencies, addresses many 
of the questions raised  by school 
administrators, health  care 
professionals, and  others as to how 
these two laws apply to records 
main tained  on  students. It also 
addresses certain  d isclosures that are 
allowed without consent or 
au thorization  under both  laws, 
especially those related  to health  and  
safety emergency situations. The 
guidance can  be found  here: http:/ /  
www.ed .gov/policy/gen/guid / fpco/  
index .h tm l. 

As d iscussed  elsewhere in  th is 
p reamble with  respect to § 99.31(a)(2), 
while ‘‘treatment records’’ are excluded  
from the defin ition  of education  records 
under FERPA, if an  eligible student’s 
treatment records are used  for any 
purpose other than  the student’s 
treatment, or if a school wishes to 
d isclose the treatment records for any 
purpose other than  the student’s 
treatment, they may only be d isclosed  as 
education  records subject to FERPA 
requirements. Therefore, an  eligible 
student’s treatment records may be 
d isclosed  to any party, without consent, 
as long as the d isclosure meets one of 
the exceptions to FERPA’s general 
consent ru le. See 34 CFR 99.31. One of 
the permitted  d isclosures under th is 
section  is the ‘‘health  or safety 
emergency’’ exception . 

Changes: None. 
Identification and Authentication of 
Identity (§ 99.31(c)) 

Com m ent: Several commenters 
supported  our proposal to require 
educational agencies and  institu tions to 
use reasonable methods to iden tify and  
au thenticate the iden tity of paren ts, 
students, school officials, and  any other 
parties to whom the agency or 

institu tion  d iscloses personally 
iden tifiable in formation  from education  
records. One commenter supported  the 
provision  but advocated  requiring the 
use of two-factor iden tification  for 
in formation  that could  be used  to 
commit iden tity theft and  financial 
fraud . (Two-factor iden tification  
requires the use of two methods to 
au thenticate iden tity, such  as 
fingerprin t iden tification  in  addition  to 
a PIN.) 

One commenter said  that the 
iden tification  and  au thentication  
requirement will help  protect students 
affected  by domestic violence who are 
living in  substitu te care situations. The 
commenter noted  that many paren ts in  
situations involving domestic violence 
do not have photo identification  (ID) 
and  would  be unable to meet a 
requirement to provide photo ID in  
order to access their ch ildren’s 
education  records. 

One commenter strongly supported  
the proposed  amendment and  said  it 
will be valuable in  aid ing the privacy 
and  protection  of homeless ch ildren . 
Another commenter questioned  whether 
the iden tification  and  au thentication  
requirement is necessary for staff of 
large school d istricts with  cen tralized  
offices. 

One commenter d id  not support the 
proposed  regulation  stating that it will 
be an  additional burden  on  school 
d istricts. The commenter agreed  with  
our statement in  the preamble to the 
NPRM that the regulations should  
permit d istricts to determine their own 
methods of iden tification  and  
au thentication . However, the 
commenter stated  that d istricts should  
not be required  to have a slid ing scale 
of control based  on  the level of poten tial 
th reat and  harm and  that it would  not 
be practical to give every person  
requesting access to education  records a 
PIN or similar method  of au thentication . 
For example, the commenter stated  that 
paren ts might be provided  with  a PIN, 
bu t d istricts would  not want to provide 
a PIN to a reporter or other th ird  party. 
The commenter requested  additional 
examples of how d istricts may 
au thenticate requests received  by phone 
or e-mail. The commenter also stated  
that d istricts are sometimes concerned  
that government-issued  photo IDs are 
fraudulen t. As a resu lt, the group  
requested  that the Department adopt a 
‘‘safe harbor’’ p rovision  that requiring a 
government-issued  photo ID for in - 
person  requests is reasonable. 

One commenter expressed  concern  
that the proposed  regulations were too 
restrictive and  could  be too complex to 
administer, and  that th is would  cause 
an  institu tion  to choose not to transfer 

in formation  even  though it is permitted  
to do so. This commenter asked  whether 
the Department will accept an  
institu tion’s efforts at compliance as 
sufficien t without examining the 
effectiveness of those efforts. 

Discussion: The identification  and  
au thentication  methods d iscussed  in  the 
NPRM (73 FR 15585) are in tended  as 
examples and  should  not be considered  
to be exhaustive. Because there are 
many methods available to provide 
secure au thentication  of iden tity, and  as 
more methods continue to be 
developed , we do not th ink it 
appropriate at th is time to require the 
use of two-factor au thentication  as 
requested  by the commenter. Two-factor 
au thentication  can  be expensive and  
cumbersome, and  we believe that each  
educational agency or institu tion  should  
decide whether to use its resources to 
implement a two-factor au thentication  
method  or another reasonable method  to 
ensure that education  records are 
d isclosed  only to an  au thorized  party. 
The comment that a portion  of the 
population  will be d isadvantaged  if on ly 
photo ID is permitted  to au thenticate 
iden tity confirms that we need  to retain  
flexibility in  the regulations. 

We do not agree that certain  types of 
staff should  be excepted  from the 
identification  and  au thentication  
requirement. All staff members, whether 
in  a cen tralized  office, or in  separate 
administrative offices th roughout a 
school system, must be cognizant of and  
responsible for complying with  
iden tification  and  au thentication  
requirements. 

Due to the d ifferences in  size, 
complexity, and  access to technology, 
we believe that educational agencies 
and  institu tions should  have the 
flexibility to decide the methods for 
iden tification  and  au thentication  of 
iden tity best su ited  to their own 
circumstances. The regulatory 
requirement is that agencies and  
institu tions use ‘‘reasonable’’ methods 
to iden tify and  au thenticate iden tity 
when  d isclosing personally iden tifiable 
in formation  from education  records. 
‘‘Effectiveness’’ is certain ly one 
measure, bu t not necessarily a 
d ispositive measure, of whether the 
methods used  by an  agency or 
institu tion  are ‘‘reasonable’’. As we 
explained  in  the NPRM, an  agency or 
institu tion  is not required  to eliminate 
all risk of unauthorized  d isclosure of 
education  records bu t to reduce that risk 
to a level commensurate with  the likely 
th reat and  poten tial harm. 73 FR 15585. 

Further in  that regard , we note that a 
‘‘slid ing scale’’ of p rotection  is not 
mandated  per se. However, it may not 
be ‘‘reasonable’’ to use the same 
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methods to protect students’ SSNs or 
cred it card  numbers from unauthorized  
access and  d isclosure that are used  to 
protect students’ names and  other 
d irectory in formation . We believe that a 
PIN process could  be usefu l to provide 
access to education  records for parties, 
such  as paren ts, students, or school 
officials, bu t that it would  not generally 
be usefu l for p rovid ing records to 
ou tside parties, such  as reporters or 
parties seeking d irectory in formation . 
While the use of government-issued  
photo ID may be a reasonable method  to 
au thenticate iden tity, depending on  the 
circumstances and  the in formation  
being released , we are unable to 
conclude at th is time that it is 
sufficien tly secure to constitu te a safe 
harbor for meeting th is requirement. 

Changes: None. 
Enforcement (§ 99.64) 
(a) § 99.64(a) 

Com m ent: One commenter supported  
our proposal to amend § 99.64(a) to 
provide that a complain t submitted  to 
FPCO does not have to allege that a 
violation  or failu re to comply with  
FERPA is based  on  a policy or p ractice 
of the agency or institu tion . The 
commenter stated  that paren ts often  are 
not aware of legal and  technical criteria, 
and  complain ts filed  by paren ts should  
not be subject to technical ru les 
typ ically applied  to filings made by 
attorneys. 

Another commenter d id  not support 
the proposed  amendment and  asked  
several questions concern ing the effects 
of the change. The commenter asked  
whether th is p rovision  means that the 
Office will investigate an  allegation  
concern ing a single and  perhaps 
un in ten tional action  not related  to a 
policy or p ractice of the institu tion . The 
commenter also asked  whether such  an  
investigation  could  resu lt in  a find ing of 
a violation  if the find ing is not based  on  
an  institu tion’s policy or p ractice, and  
what enforcement actions can  be taken  
in  those circumstances. The commenter 
suggested  that we modify the 
regulations to provide that, for 
complain ts not alleging a violation  
based  on  an  institu tion’s policy or 
p ractice, the Office will undertake an  
investigation  only when it determines 
that the allegations are of a sufficien tly 
serious nature to warran t an  inquiry. 

Discussion: The changes we proposed  
in  th is section  were in tended  to clarify 
that it is sufficien t for a complain t to 
allege that an  educational agency or 
institu tion  violated  a requirement of 
FERPA, and  that a complain t does not 
need  to allege that the violation  is a 
resu lt of a policy or p ractice of an  

agency or institu tion  in  order for the 
Office to investigate the complain t. 

We explain  in  our d iscussion  of the 
proposed  changes to § 99.67 that the 
Secretary must find  that an  educational 
agency or institu tion  has a policy or 
p ractice in  violation  of the non- 
d isclosure requirements in  FERPA 
before seeking to withhold , terminate, or 
recover program funds for that violation . 
However, FPCO is not limited  to 
investigating complain ts and  find ing 
that an  educational agency or institu tion  
violated  FERPA only if the allegations 
and  find ings are based  on  a policy or 
p ractice of an  educational agency or 
institu tion . 

Moreover, we do not agree that on ly 
conduct that involves a policy or 
p ractice or that affects multip le students 
is serious enough to warran t an  
investigation  of the allegations. An 
educational agency or institu tion  may 
not even  be aware of FERPA violations 
committed  by its own school officials 
un til the Office investigates an  
allegation  of misconduct. These kinds of 
investigations often  serve the very 
importan t purpose of help ing ensure 
that single instances of misconduct do 
not become policies or p ractices of an  
agency or institu tion . Further, while an  
agency or institu tion  may not th ink that 
a single, un in ten tional violation  of 
FERPA is sign ifican t, it is often  
considered  serious by the paren t or 
student affected  by the violation . 

Therefore, consisten t with  its curren t 
p ractice, the Office may find  that an  
educational agency or institu tion  
violated  FERPA without also find ing 
that the violation  was based  on  a policy 
or p ractice. Note that under §§ 99.66(c) 
and  99.67, the Office may not take any 
enforcement action  against an  agency or 
institu tion  that has violated  FERPA 
until it p rovides the agency or 
institu tion  with  a reasonable period  of 
time to come in to compliance 
voluntarily. 

Changes: None. 
(b) § 99.64(b) 

Com m ent: A number of commenters 
supported  proposed  § 99.64(b), which  
provided  that the Office may investigate 
a possible FERPA violation  even  if it has 
not received  a timely complain t from a 
paren t or student or if a valid  complain t 
is subsequently withdrawn. Several of 
these commenters stated  that it is 
appropriate and  importan t to permit 
persons who are not paren ts or eligible 
students, bu t who have knowledge of 
poten tial FERPA violations, to provide 
th is in formation  to the Office for 
consideration  of a possible 
investigation . 

Several commenters objected  to the 
proposed  change. One commenter 
expressed  serious concern  that the 
regulations will greatly expand  the 
au thority of the Office to investigate any 
poten tial FERPA violation , even  when 
no complain t is filed  or when  a 
complain t has been  withdrawn. In  
particu lar, the commenter stated  that an  
institu tion  would  not have an  
opportun ity to review and  respond to 
specific allegations when  the 
investigation  does not concern  a 
particu lar complain t. 

Another commenter asserted  that the 
Department has not demonstrated  why 
the proposed  amendment is necessary. 
The commenter said  that un less there is 
evidence of a widespread  problem, the 
proposed  change will increase 
un iversity costs in  responding to 
investigations without a corresponding 
benefit to the public. 

Another commenter said  that the 
Office should  not investigate allegations 
that are not filed  by a paren t or eligible 
student because an  institu tion  must 
know the name of the filing party and  
the specific circumstances of the 
allegation  in  order to properly defend  its 
actions. The commenter said  that it 
should  not be unnecessarily burdened  
by an  investigation  by the Office when  
it has already dealt with  the situation  to 
the satisfaction  of the affected  student, 
and  that any student who is not satisfied  
with  the institu tion’s efforts retains the 
ability to file a complain t. The 
commenter also noted  that a complain t 
filed  by an  affected  student has more 
cred ibility than  allegations made by 
other parties. The commenter was 
concerned  that accepting information  
from other parties could  resu lt in  filings 
from persons with  grievances unrelated  
to FERPA, such  as a d isgruntled  
employee, or an  applican t rejected  for 
admission , or a paren t or eligible 
student who missed  a filing deadline of 
some kind . 

One commenter said  that the 
proposed  change would  resu lt in  an  
ineffective use of the limited  resources 
of the Office because it would  be 
investigating allegations that may not 
have a sufficien t basis. 

Discussion: We proposed  the changes 
to § 99.64(b) to clarify that the Office 
may in itiate its own investigation  that 
an  educational agency or institu tion  has 
violated  FERPA. (The amendment also 
clarifies that if the Office determines 
that an  agency or institu tion  violated  
FERPA, it may also determine whether 
the violation  was based  on  a policy or 
practice of the agency or institu tion .) 

Our experience has shown that 
sometimes FERPA violations are 
brought to the atten tion  of the Office by 
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school officials, officials in  other 
schools, or by the media. It is importan t 
that the Office have au thority to 
investigate allegations of non- 
compliance in  these situations. 
Consisten t with  its curren t p ractice, a 
notice of investigation  issued  by the 
Office will p rovide sufficien t and  
specific factual in formation  to permit 
the agency or institu tion  to adequately 
investigate and  respond to the 
allegations, whether or not the 
investigation  is based  on  a complain t by 
a paren t or eligible student. 

We do not agree that allowing the 
Office to in itiate its own investigations 
of possible FERPA violations will lead  
to abuses of the process by persons 
seeking to redress other grievances with  
an  institu tion . The Office will continue 
to be responsible for evaluating the 
valid ity of the in formation  and  
allegations that come to its atten tion  by 
means other than  a valid  complain t and  
determining whether to in itiate an  
investigation . We do not an ticipate that 
the Office will in itiate an  investigation  
of every allegation  or in formation  it 
receives. We believe, however, that it is 
importan t that the Office be able to 
investigate any violation  of FERPA for 
which  it receives notice. As stated  in  the 
NPRM, 73 FR 15591, the Department is 
not seeking to expand  the scope of 
FERPA investigations beyond the 
curren t p ractices of the Office. 

Changes: None. 
(c) § 99.66 

Com m ent: We received  one comment 
on  the proposed  change to § 99.66(c), 
which  allows but does not require FPCO 
to make a find ing that an  educational 
agency or institu tion  has a policy or 
p ractice in  violation  of a FERPA 
requirement when  the Office issues a 
notice of find ings in  § 99.66(b). The 
commenter stated  that its review of 
FERPA and  the Supreme Court decision  
in  Gonzaga University v. Doe, 536 U.S. 
273 (2002) (Gonzaga), ind icates that the 
Office may not issue a find ing of a 
violation  of FERPA and  require 
corrective action  or take any 
enforcement action  without also find ing 
that the violation  constitu ted  a policy or 
p ractice of the agency or institu tion . 

Discussion: We explain  in  the 
d iscussion  of the changes to § 99.67 that 
there are circumstances in  which  the 
Office would  be required  to find  that an  
educational agency or institu tion  has a 
policy or p ractice in  violation  of a 
FERPA requirement before taking 
certain  enforcement actions, such  as an  
action  to terminate funding for a 
violation  of the non-d isclosure 
requirements, 20 U.S.C. 1232g(b)(1) and  
(b)(2) and  34 CFR 99.30. However, the 

Office is not required  to find  a policy or 
p ractice in  violation  of FERPA before 
issu ing a notice of find ings or taking 
other kinds of enforcement actions. 

Changes: None. 
(d) § 99.67 

Com m ent: One commenter supported  
the clarification  in  proposed  § 99.67 that 
the Office may not seek to withhold  
payments, terminate eligibility for 
funding, or take certain  other 
enforcement actions un less it 
determines that the educational agency 
or institu tion  has a policy or practice 
that violates FERPA. Another 
commenter expressed  general support 
for the proposed  change, including the 
clarification  that the Secretary may take 
any legally available enforcement 
action , in  addition  to those specifically 
listed  in  the curren t regulations. The 
commenter expressed  concern , 
however, that the penalties are not 
severe enough to effectively d iscourage 
unin ten tional or willfu l violations by 
th ird  parties, particu larly in  areas of 
research  and  data sharing with  ou tside 
parties. 

Another commenter expressed  
concern  that the proposed  amendment 
would  unnecessarily broaden  the 
enforcement op tions available to the 
Secretary. The commenter stated  that 
educational agencies and  institu tions 
will not be able to assess the risks and  
consequences associated  with  their 
actions without a limitation  on  the 
range of enforcement actions available 
to the Department when  a violation  of 
FERPA is found . 

One commenter asked  the Department 
to clarify that all methods of enforcing 
FERPA that are contained  in  the curren t 
regulations will be retained  in  the final 
regulations. The commenter said  that 
the proposed  regulations in  the NPRM 
(73 FR 15602) appear to remove the 
Secretary’s ability to terminate funding. 

Discussion: We explained  in  the 
preamble to the NPRM (73 FR 15592) 
that there were two reasons for the 
proposed  changes to § 99.67(a). One was 
the need  to clarify that the Secretary 
may take any enforcement action  that is 
legally available and  is not limited  to 
those specified  under the curren t 
regulations, i.e., withhold ing further 
payments under any applicable 
program; issu ing a complain t to compel 
compliance th rough a cease-and-desist 
order; or terminating eligibility to 
receive funding under any applicable 
program. Other actions the Secretary 
may take to enforce FERPA include 
en tering in to a compliance agreement 
under 20 U.S.C. 1234f and  seeking an  
in junction . 

This change to § 99.67(a) does not 
broaden  the Secretary’s enforcement 
op tions, as suggested  by one 
commenter. The General Education  
Provisions Act (GEPA) provides the 
Secretary with  the au thority to take 
certain  enforcement actions to address 
violations of statu tory and  regulatory 
requirements, includ ing general 
au thority to ‘‘take any other action  
au thorized  by law with  respect to the 
recip ien t.’’ 20 U.S.C. 1234c(a)(4). The 
change to § 99.67(a) simply includes, for 
purposes of clarity, the Secretary’s 
existing au thority under GEPA to take 
any legally available action  to enforce 
FERPA requirements. (We note that 
before taking enforcement action  the 
Office must determine that the 
educational agency or institu tion  is 
failing to comply substan tially with  a 
FERPA requirement and  provide it with  
a reasonable period  of time to comply 
voluntarily. See 20 U.S.C. 1234c(a); 20 
U.S.C. 1232g(f); and  34 CFR 99.66(c).) 

We also proposed  to amend § 99.67(a) 
to clarify that the Office may issue a 
notice of violation  for failu re to comply 
with  specific FERPA requirements and  
require corrective actions bu t may not 
seek to terminate eligibility for funding, 
withhold  payments, or take other 
enforcement actions un less the Office 
determined  that an  agency or institu tion  
has a policy or practice in  violation  of 
FERPA requirements (73 FR 15592). 
Upon further review, we have decided  
not to adopt th is particu lar change 
because we believe it limits the 
Secretary’s enforcement au thority in  a 
manner that is not legally required . 

In  support of its hold ing in  Gonzaga 
that FERPA’s non-d isclosure provisions 
do not create righ ts that are enforceable 
under 42 U.S.C. 1983, the Court 
observed  that FERPA provides that no 
funds shall be made available to an  
educational agency or institu tion  that 
has a policy or practice of d isclosing 
education  records in  violation  of FERPA 
requirements. 536 U.S. at 288; see also 
20 U.S.C. 1232g(b)(1) and  (b)(2); 34 CFR 
99.30. As such , the statu te and  Gonzaga 
decision  suggest that with  respect to 
violations of FERPA’s non-d isclosure 
requirements, the Secretary must find  
that an  educational agency or institu tion  
has a policy or practice in  violation  of 
FERPA requirements before taking 
actions to terminate, withhold , or 
recover funds for those violations. 
However, there is no requirement under 
the statu te (or the Gonzaga decision) for 
the Secretary to find  a policy or p ractice 
in  violation  of FERPA requirements on  
the part of an  educational agency or 
institu tion  before taking other kinds of 
enforcement actions for violations of the 
non-d isclosure requirements, such  as 
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seeking an  in junction  or a cease-and- 
desist order. We note also that the 
Gonzaga opin ion  does not address 
violations of other FERPA requirements, 
such  as paren ts’ righ t to inspect and  
review their ch ildren’s education  
records and  the requirement that 
educational agencies and  institu tions 
afford  paren ts an  opportun ity for a 
hearing to challenge the conten t of a 
student’s education  records under 
certain  circumstances, which  do not 
contain  the same ‘‘policy or practice’’ 
language as the non-d isclosure 
requirements. Because we d id  not 
address enforcement of these other 
FERPA requirements in  the NPRM, we 
have decided  not to address in  the final 
regulations limitations or p re-conditions 
that apply solely to actions to terminate, 
withhold , or recover program funds for 
violations of the non-d isclosure 
requirements. 

In  response to the comment that the 
available penalties are not severe 
enough to d iscourage FERPA violations, 
we note that the Secretary has au thority 
to terminate, withhold , and  recover 
program funds and  take other 
enforcement actions in  accordance with  
part E of GEPA. The Secretary may not 
increase penalties beyond those 
au thorized  under FERPA and  GEPA. 
Further, the regulations do not remove 
the Secretary’s au thority to terminate 
eligibility for p rogram funding or any 
other enforcement au thority. The 
changes noted  by the commenter who 
was concerned  that the proposed  
regulations removed the Secretary’s 
au thority to terminate funding were 
corrections to punctuation  and  
formatting only, not substan tive 
changes. 

Changes: We have removed the 
language in  § 99.67(a) that requires the 
Office to determine that an  educational 
agency or institu tion  has a policy or 
p ractice in  violation  of FERPA 
requirements before taking any 
enforcement action . 
Department Recommendations for 
Safeguarding Education Records 

Com m ent: We received  a few 
comments on  the recommendations for 
safeguard ing education  records 
included  in  the NPRM. One commenter 
expressed  concern  that schools and  
school d istricts should  exercise 
enhanced  security for the records of 
ch ildren  receiving special education  
services. Accord ing to the commenter, 
these ch ildren  often  have a large 
number of records and  may receive 
services from a variety of p roviders, 
which  can  add  to the challenge of 
ensuring that appropriate privacy 
controls are used . 

One commenter supported  the 
safeguard ing recommendations and  
suggested  that we revise the 
recommendations to list non-Federal 
government sources provid ing guidance 
on  methods for safeguard ing education  
records. Another commenter supported  
the recommendations, bu t suggested  
that the regulations should  require that 
a paren t or eligible student receive 
notification  of an  unauthorized  release 
or theft of in formation . 

Discussion: The comments on  the 
records of students who receive special 
education  services illustrate the 
necessity for educational agencies and  
institu tions to ensure that adequate 
controls are in  p lace so that the 
education  records of all students are 
handled  in  accordance with  FERPA’s 
privacy protections. The safeguard ing 
recommendations that we provided  in  
the NPRM, and  are repeated  in  these 
final regulations, are in tended  to 
provide agencies and  institu tions 
additional in formation  and  resources to 
assist them in  meeting th is 
responsibility. In  addition , educational 
agencies and  institu tions should  refer to 
the protections required  under § 300.623 
of the confidentiality of in formation  
requirements in  Part B of the IDEA, 34 
CFR 300.623 (Safeguards). 

We acknowledge that there are many 
sources available concern ing 
information  security technology and  
processes. The Department does not 
wish  to appear to endorse the 
in formation  or product of any company 
or organization ; therefore, we have 
included  only Federal government 
sources in  th is notice. 

The Department does not have the 
au thority under FERPA to require that 
agencies or institu tions issue a d irect 
notice to a paren t or student upon  an  
unauthorized  d isclosure of education  
records. FERPA only requires that the 
agency or institu tion  record  the 
d isclosure so that a paren t or student 
will become aware of the d isclosure 
during an  inspection  of the student’s 
education  record . 

Changes: None. 
We are republish ing here, for the 

administrative convenience of 
educational agencies and  institu tions 
and  other parties, the Departm ent 
Recom m endations for Safeguarding 
Education  Records that were published  
in  the preamble to the NPRM (73 FR 
15598–15599): 

The Department recognizes that 
agencies and  institu tions face sign ifican t 
challenges in  safeguard ing educational 
records. We are provid ing the following 
information  and  recommendations to 
assist agencies and  institu tions in  
meeting these challenges. 

As noted  elsewhere in  th is document, 
FERPA provides that no funds 
administered  by the Secretary may be 
made available to any educational 
agency or institu tion  that has a policy or 
practice of releasing, permitting the 
release of, or p rovid ing access to 
personally iden tifiable in formation  from 
education  records without the prior 
written  consent of a paren t or eligible 
student except in  accordance with  
specified  exceptions. In  ligh t of these 
requirements, the Secretary encourages 
educational agencies and  institu tions to 
u tilize appropriate methods to protect 
education  records, especially in  
electron ic data systems. 

In  recent years the following incidents 
have come to the Department’s 
atten tion : 

• Students’ grades or financial 
in formation , including SSNs, have been  
posted  on  publicly available Web 
servers; 

• Laptops and  other portable devices 
contain ing similar in formation  from 
education  records have been  lost or 
stolen ; 

• Education  records, or devices that 
main tain  education  records, have not 
been  retrieved  from school officials 
upon  termination  of their employment 
or service as a contractor, consultan t, or 
volunteer; 

• Computer systems at colleges and  
universities have become favored  targets 
because they hold  many of the same 
records as banks bu t are much easier to 
access. See ‘‘College Door Ajar for 
Online Criminals’’ (May 2006), available 
at http:/ /www.uh .edu/ednews/2006/  
latim es/200605/20060530hackers.h tm l. 
and  Ju ly 10, 2006, Viewpoin t in  
Business Week/Online available at 
http:/ /www.businessweek .com /  
technology/conten t/ ju l2006/  
tc20060710_558020.h tm ; 

• Nearly 65 percent of postsecondary 
educational institu tions iden tified  theft 
of personal in formation  (SSNs, cred it/  
debit/ATM card , account or PIN 
numbers, etc.) as a h igh  risk area. See 
Table 7, Perceived  Risks at http:/ /  
www.educause.edu/ ir/ library/pdf/  
ecar_so/ers/ers0606/Ekf0606.pdf; and  

• In  December 2006, a large 
postsecondary institu tion  alerted  some 
800,000 students and  others that the 
campus computer system contain ing 
their names, addresses, and  SSNs had  
been  compromised . 

The Department’s Office of Inspector 
General (OIG) noted  in  Final Inspection  
Alert Memorandum dated  February 3, 
2006, that the Privacy Rights 
Clearinghouse reported  that between  
February 15, 2005, and  November 19, 
2005, there were 93 documented  
computer breaches of electron ic files 
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involving personal in formation  from 
education  records such  as SSNs, cred it 
card  in formation , and  dates of birth . 
Accord ing to the reported  data, 45 
percent of these incidents have occurred  
at colleges and  universities nationwide. 
OIG expressed  concern  that student 
in formation  may be compromised  due 
to a failu re to implement or administer 
p roper security controls for in formation  
systems at postsecondary institu tions. 

The Department recognizes that no 
system for main tain ing and  transmitting 
education  records, whether in  paper or 
electron ic form, can  be guaran teed  safe 
from every hacker and  th ief, 
technological failu re, violation  of 
administrative ru les, and  other causes of 
unauthorized  access and  d isclosure. 
Although FERPA does not d ictate 
requirements for safeguard ing education  
records, the Department encourages the 
holders of personally iden tifiable 
in formation  to consider actions that 
mitigate the risk and  are reasonably 
calcu lated  to protect such  information . 
Of course, an  educational agency or 
institu tion  may use any method , 
combination  of methods, or 
technologies it determines to be 
reasonable, taking in to consideration  the 
size, complexity, and  resources 
available to the institu tion ; the context 
of the in formation ; the type of 
in formation  to be protected  (such  as 
social security numbers or d irectory 
in formation); and  methods used  by 
other institu tions in  similar 
circumstances. The greater the harm 
that would  resu lt from unauthorized  
access or d isclosure and  the greater the 
likelihood  that unauthorized  access or 
d isclosure will be attempted , the more 
protections an  agency or institu tion  
should  consider using to ensure that its 
methods are reasonable. 

One resource for administrators of 
electron ic data systems is ‘‘The National 
Institu te of Standards and  Technology 
(NIST) 800–100, Information  Security 
Handbook: A Guide for Managers’’ 
(October 2006). See h ttp:/ /csrc.n ist.gov/  
publications/n istpubs/800-100/SP800- 
100-Mar07-2007.pdf. A second resource 
is NIST 800–53, Information  Security, 
which  catalogs in formation  security 
controls. See h ttp:/ /csrc.n ist.gov/  
publications/n istpubs/800-53-Rev1/800- 
53-rev1-final-clean-sz .pd f. Similarly, a 
May 22, 2007, memorandum to heads of 
Federal agencies from the Office of 
Management and  Budget requires 
executive departments and  agencies to 
ensure that p roper safeguards are in  
p lace to protect personally iden tifiable 
in formation  that they main tain , 
eliminate the unnecessary use of SSNs, 
and  develop  and  implement a ‘‘breach  
notification  policy.’’ This memorandum, 

although d irected  towards Federal 
agencies, may also serve as a resource 
for educational agencies and  
institu tions. See h ttp:/ /  
www.whitehouse.gov/om b/m em oranda/  
fy2007/m 07-16.pdf. 

Finally, if an  educational agency or 
institu tion  has experienced  a theft of 
files or computer equipment, hacking or 
other in trusion , software or hardware 
malfunction , inadverten t release of data 
to In ternet sites, or other unauthorized  
release or d isclosure of education  
records, the Department suggests 
consideration  of one or more of the 
following steps: 

• Report the incident to law 
enforcement au thorities. 

• Determine exactly what in formation  
was compromised , i.e., names, 
addresses, SSNs, ID numbers, cred it 
card  numbers, grades, and  the like. 

• Take steps immediately to retrieve 
data and  prevent any further 
d isclosures. 

• Identify all affected  records and  
students. 

• Determine how the incident 
occurred , including which  school 
officials had  control of and  
responsibility for the in formation  that 
was compromised . 

• Determine whether institu tional 
policies and  procedures were breached , 
including organizational requirements 
govern ing access (user names, 
passwords, PINS, etc.); storage; 
transmission ; and  destruction  of 
in formation  from education  records. 

• Determine whether the incident 
occurred  because of a lack of monitoring 
and  oversigh t. 

• Conduct a risk assessment and  
identify appropriate physical, 
technological, and  administrative 
measures to prevent similar incidents in  
the fu ture. 

• Notify students that the 
Department’s Office of Inspector 
General main tains a Web site describing 
steps students may take if they suspect 
they are a victim of iden tity theft at 
http:/ /www.ed .gov/about/offices/ list/  
oig/m isused/ id theft.h tm l; and  http:/ /  
www.ed .gov/about/offices/ list/oig/  
m isused/victim .h tm l. 

FERPA does not require an  
educational agency or institu tion  to 
notify students that in formation  from 
their education  records was stolen  or 
otherwise subject to an  unauthorized  
release, although it does require the 
agency or institu tion  to main tain  a 
record  of each  d isclosure. 34 CFR 
99.32(a)(1). (However, student 
notification  may be required  in  these 
circumstances for postsecondary 
institu tions under the Federal Trade 
Commission’s Standards for Insuring 

the Security, Confidentiality, In tegrity 
and  Protection  of Customer Records and  
Information  (‘‘Safeguards Rule’’) in  16 
CFR part 314.) In  any case, d irect 
student notification  may be advisable if 
the compromised  data includes student 
SSNs and  other iden tifying information  
that could  lead  to iden tity theft. 
Executive Order 12866 

Under Executive Order 12866, the 
Secretary must determine whether th is 
regulatory action  is ‘‘sign ifican t’’ and  
therefore subject to the requirements of 
the Executive Order and  subject to 
review by OMB. Section  3(f) of 
Executive Order 12866 defines a 
‘‘sign ifican t regulatory action’’ as an  
action  likely to resu lt in  a ru le that may 
(1) have an  annual effect on  the 
economy of $100 million  or more, or 
adversely affect a sector of the economy, 
productivity, competition , jobs, the 
environment, public health  or safety, or 
State, local or tribal governments, or 
communities in  a material way (also 
referred  to as an  ‘‘economically 
sign ifican t’’ ru le); (2) create serious 
inconsistency or otherwise in terfere 
with  an  action  taken  or p lanned  by 
another agency; (3) materially alter the 
budgetary impacts of en titlement gran ts, 
user fees, or loan  programs or the righ ts 
and  obligations of recip ien ts thereof; or 
(4) raise novel legal or policy issues 
arising out of legal mandates, the 
President’s p riorities, or the princip les 
set forth  in  the Executive order. The 
Secretary has determined  that th is 
regulatory action  is sign ifican t under 
section  3(f)(4) of the Executive order. 
1. Sum m ary of Public Com m ents 

The Department d id  not receive any 
comments on  the analysis of the costs 
and  benefits in  the NPRM. However, 
since the publication  of the NPRM, we 
have identified  several in formation  
collection  requirements that were not 
iden tified  in  the NPRM. We have added  
d iscussions of the costs and  benefits of 
two information  collection  requirements 
in  the following Summary of Costs and  
Benefits. 
2. Sum m ary of Costs and  Benefits 

Following is an  analysis of the costs 
and  benefits of the most sign ifican t 
changes to the FERPA regulations. In  
conducting th is analysis, the 
Department examined  the exten t to 
which  the regulations add  to or reduce 
the costs of educational agencies and  
institu tions and , where appropriate, 
State educational agencies (SEAs) and  
other State and  local educational 
au thorities in  relation  to their costs of 
complying with  the FERPA regulations 
prior to these changes. 
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This analysis is based  on  data from 
the most recent Digest of Education  
S tatistics (2007) published  by the 
National Center for Education  Statistics 
(NCES), which  projects total enrollment 
for Fall 2008 of 49,812,000 students in  
public elementary and  secondary 
schools and  18,264,000 students in  
postsecondary institu tions; and  a total 
of 97,382 public K–12 schools; 14,166 
school d istricts; and  6,463 
postsecondary institu tions. (Excluded  
are data from private institu tions that do 
not receive Federal funding from the 
Department and , therefore, are not 
subject to FERPA.) Based  on  th is 
analysis, the Secretary has concluded  
that the changes in  these regulations 
will not impose sign ifican t net costs on  
educational agencies and  institu tions. 
Analyses of specific p rovisions follow. 
Alumni Records 

The regulations in  § 99.3 clarify the 
curren t exclusion  from the defin ition  of 
education  records for records that on ly 
contain  in formation  about an  ind ividual 
after he or she is no longer a student, 
which  is in tended  to cover records of 
alumni and  similar activities. Some 
institu tions have applied  th is exclusion  
to records that are created  after a 
student has ceased  attending the 
institu tion  but that are d irectly related  
to h is or her attendance as a student, 
such  as investigatory reports and  
settlement agreements about incidents 
and  in juries that occurred  during the 
student’s enrollment. The amendment 
will clarify that th is p rovision  applies 
on ly to records created  or received  by an  
educational agency or institu tion  after 
an  ind ividual is no longer a student in  
attendance and  that are not d irectly 
related  to the ind ividual’s attendance as 
a student. 

We believe that most of the more than  
103,845 K–12 schools and  
postsecondary institu tions subject to 
FERPA already adhere to th is revised  
in terpretation  in  the regulations and  
that for those that do not, the number 
of records affected  is likely to be very 
small. Assuming that each  year one half 
of one percent of the 68.1 million  
students enrolled  in  these institu tions 
have one record  each  affected  by the 
change, in  the year following issuance 
of the regulations institu tions will be 
required  to try to obtain  written  consent 
before releasing 350,380 records that 
they would  otherwise release without 
consent. We estimate that for the first 
year contacting the affected  paren t or 
student to seek and  process written  
consent for these d isclosures will take 
approximately one-half hour per record  
at an  average cost of $32.67 per hour for 
a total cost of $5,562,068. 

(Compensation  for administrative staff 
time is based  on  published  estimates for 
2005 from the Bureau  of Labor 
Statistics’ National Compensation  
Survey of $23.50 per hour p lus an  
average 39 percent benefit load  for Level 
8 administrators in  education  and  
related  fields.) 

In  terms of benefits, the change will 
p rotect the privacy of paren ts and  
students by clarifying the in ten t of th is 
regulatory exclusion  and  help  prevent 
the un lawful d isclosure of these records. 
It will also provide greater legal 
certain ty and  therefore some cost 
savings for those agencies and  
institu tions that may be required  to 
litigate th is issue in  connection  with  a 
request under a State open  records act 
or other legal p roceeding. For these 
reasons, we believe that the overall 
benefits ou tweigh  the poten tial costs of 
th is change. 
Exclusion of SSNs and ID Numbers 
From Directory Information 

The proposed  regulations in  § 99.3 
clarified  that a student’s SSN or student 
ID number is personally iden tifiable 
in formation  that may not be d isclosed  as 
d irectory in formation  under FERPA. 
The final regulations allow an  
educational agency or institu tion  to 
designate and  d isclose student ID 
numbers as d irectory in formation  if the 
number cannot be used  by itself to gain  
access to education  records, i.e. , it is 
used  like a name. SSNs may never be 
d isclosed  as d irectory in formation . 

The principal effect of th is change is 
that educational agencies and  
institu tions may not post grades by the 
student’s SSN or non-d irectory student 
ID number and  may not include these 
identifiers with  d irectory in formation  
they d isclose about a student, such  as a 
student’s name, school, and  grade level 
or class, on  rosters, or on  sign-in  sheets 
that are made available to students and  
others. (Educational agencies and  
institu tions may continue to include 
SSNs and  non-d irectory student ID 
numbers on  class rosters and  schedules 
that are d isclosed  only to teachers and  
other school officials who have 
legitimate educational in terests in  th is 
in formation .) 

A class roster or sign-in  sheet that 
contains or requires students to affix 
their SSN or non-d irectory student ID 
number makes that in formation  
available to every ind ividual who signs 
in  or sees the document and  increases 
the risk that the in formation  may be 
improperly used  for purposes such  as 
iden tity theft or to find  out a student’s 
grades or other confidential educational 
in formation . In  regard  to posting grades, 
an  ind ividual who knows which  classes 

a particu lar student attends may be able 
to ascertain  that student’s SSN or non- 
d irectory student ID number by 
comparing class lists for repeat 
numbers. Because SSNs are not 
randomly generated , it may be possible 
to iden tify a student by State of origin  
based  on  the first th ree (area) d igits of 
the number, or by date of issuance based  
on  the two middle d igits. 

The Department does not have any 
actual data on  how many class or test 
grades are posted  by SSN or non- 
d irectory student ID number at th is 
time, bu t we believe that the practice is 
rare or non-existen t below the 
secondary level. Although the practice 
was once widespread , particu larly at the 
postsecondary level, anecdotal evidence 
suggests that as a resu lt of consisten t 
train ing and  informal gu idance by the 
Department over the past several years, 
together with  the increased  atten tion  
States and  privacy advocates have given  
to the use of SSNs, many institu tions 
now either require teachers to use a 
code known only to the teacher and  the 
student or p rohibit the posting of grades 
en tirely. 

The most recent figures available from 
the Bureau  of Labor Statistics (2007) 
ind icate that there are approximately 2.7 
million  secondary and  postsecondary 
teachers in  the United  States. As noted  
above, we assume that most of these 
teachers either do not post grades at all 
or already use a code known only to the 
teacher or student. We assume further 
that additional costs to deliver grades 
personally in  the classroom or th rough 
electron ic mail, instead  of posting, will 
be min imal. For purposes of th is 
analysis, we estimate that no more than  
five percent of 2.7 million , or 135,000 
teachers, continue to post grades by SSN 
or non-d irectory student ID number and  
thus will need  to convert to a code, 
which  will require them to spend  an  
average of one-half hour each  semester 
establish ing and  managing grad ing 
codes for students. Since we do not 
know how many teachers at either 
education  level will continue to post 
grades, and  wages for postsecondary 
teachers are h igher than  secondary 
teacher wages, we use postsecondary 
teacher wages to ensure that the 
estimate encompasses the upper limit of 
possible costs. Using the Bureau  of 
Labor Statistics’ published  estimate of 
average hourly wages of $42.98 for 
teachers at postsecondary institu tions 
and  an  average 39 percent load  for 
benefits, we estimate an  average cost of 
$59.74 per teacher per year, for a total 
of $8,064,900. Paren ts and  students 
should  incur no costs except for the 
time they might have to spend  to 
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contact the school official if they forget 
the student’s grad ing code. 

This change will benefit paren ts and  
students and  educational agencies and  
institu tions by reducing the risk of 
iden tity theft associated  with  posting 
grades by SSN, and  the risk of 
d isclosing grades and  other confidential 
educational in formation  caused  by 
posting grades by a non-d irectory 
student ID number. It is d ifficu lt to 
quantify the value of reducing the risk 
of iden tity theft. Accord ing to the 
Federal Trade Commission , however, 
for the past few years over one-th ird  of 
complain ts filed  with  that agency have 
been  for iden tity theft. Accord ing to the 
Better Business Bureau , iden tity theft 
costs businesses nearly $57 billion  in  
2006, while victims spent an  average of 
40 hours resolving identity theft issues. 
It is even  more d ifficu lt to measure the 
benefits of enhanced  privacy protections 
for student grades and  other 
confidential educational in formation  
from education  records because the 
value ind ividuals p lace on  the privacy 
of th is in formation  varies considerably 
and  because we are unable to determine 
how often  it happens. Therefore, we 
have no basis to estimate the value of 
these enhanced  privacy protections in  
relation  to the expected  costs to 
implement the changes. 
Prohibit Use of SSN To Confirm 
Directory Information 

The regulations will p revent an  
educational agency or institu tion  (or a 
contractor provid ing services for an  
agency or institu tion) from using a 
student’s SSN (or other non-d irectory 
in formation) to iden tify the student 
when  releasing or confirming d irectory 
in formation . This occurs, for example, 
when  a prospective employer or 
insurance company telephones an  
institu tion  or submits an  inquiry 
th rough the institu tion’s Web site to 
find  out whether a particu lar ind ividual 
is enrolled  in  or has graduated  from the 
institu tion . While th is p rovision  will 
apply to educational agencies and  
institu tions at all grade levels, we 
believe that it will affect main ly 
postsecondary institu tions because K– 
12 agencies and  institu tions typ ically do 
not p rovide enrollment and  degree 
verification  services. 

A survey conducted  in  March  2002 by 
the American  Association  of Collegiate 
Registrars and  Admissions Officers 
(AACRAO) showed that nearly half of 
postsecondary institu tions used  SSNs as 
the primary means to track students in  
academic databases. Since then , use of 
SSNs as a student iden tifier has 
decreased  sign ifican tly in  response to 
public concern  about iden tity theft. 

While postsecondary institu tions may 
continue to collect students’ SSNs for 
financial aid  and  tax reporting purposes, 
many have ceased  using the SSN as a 
student iden tifier either voluntarily or 
in  compliance with  State laws. Also, 
over the past several years the 
Department has provided  train ing on  
th is issue and  published  on  the Office 
Web site a 2004 letter find ing a 
postsecondary institu tion  in  violation  of 
FERPA when its agent used  a student’s 
SSN, without consent, to search  its 
database to verify that the student had  
received  a degree. www.ed .gov/policy/  
gen /guid / fpco/ ferpa/ library/  
auburnuniv.h tm l. Given  these 
circumstances, we estimate that 
possibly one-quarter of the nearly 6,463 
postsecondary institu tions in  the United  
States, or 1,616 institu tions, may ask a 
requester to provide the student’s SSN 
(or non-d irectory student ID number) in  
order to locate the record  and  respond 
to an  inquiry for d irectory in formation . 

Under the regulations an  educational 
agency or institu tion  that iden tifies 
students by SSN (or non-d irectory 
student ID number) when  releasing 
d irectory in formation  will either have to 
ensure that the student has provided  
written  consent to d isclose the number 
to the requester, or rely solely on  a 
student’s name and  other properly 
designated  d irectory in formation  to 
iden tify the student, such  as address, 
date of birth , dates of enrollment, year 
of graduation , major field  of study, 
degree received , etc. Costs to an  
institu tion  of ensuring that students 
have provided  written  consent for these 
d isclosures, for example by requiring 
the requester to fax copies of each  
written  consent to the institu tion  or its 
contractor, or making arrangements to 
receive them electron ically, could  be 
substan tial for large institu tions and  
organizations that u tilize electron ic 
recordkeeping systems. Institu tions may 
choose instead  to conduct these 
verifications without using SSNs or 
non-d irectory student IDs, which  may 
make it more d ifficu lt to ensure that the 
correct student has been  identified  
because of the known problems in  
match ing records without the use of a 
un iversal iden tifier. Increased  
institu tional costs either to verify that 
the student has provided  consent or to 
conduct a search  without use of SSNs or 
non-d irectory student ID numbers 
should  be less for smaller institu tions, 
where the chances of duplicate records 
are decreased . Paren ts and  students may 
incur additional costs if an  employer, 
insurance company, or other requester 
is unable to verify enrollment or 
graduation  based  solely on  d irectory 

in formation , and  written  consent for 
d isclosure of the student’s SSN or non- 
d irectory student ID number is required . 
Due to the d ifficu lty in  ascertain ing 
actual costs associated  with  these 
transactions, we have no basis to 
estimate costs that educational agencies 
and  institu tions and  paren ts and  
students will incur as a resu lt of th is 
change. 

The enhanced  privacy protections of 
th is amendment will benefit students 
and  paren ts by reducing the risk that 
th ird  parties will d isclose a student’s 
SSN without consent and  possibly 
confirm a questionable number for 
purposes of iden tity theft. Similarly, 
p reventing institu tions from implicitly 
confirming a questionable non-d irectory 
student ID number will help  prevent 
unauthorized  ind ividuals from 
obtain ing confidential in formation  from 
education  records. In  evaluating the 
benefits or value of th is change, we note 
that th is p rovision  does not affect any 
activity that an  educational agency or 
institu tion  is permitted  to perform 
under FERPA or other Federal law, such  
as using SSNs to iden tify students and  
confirm their enrollment status for 
student loan  purposes, which  is 
permitted  without consent under the 
financial aid  exception  in  § 99.31. 
User ID for Electronic Communications 

The regulations will allow an  
educational agency or institu tion  to 
d isclose as d irectory in formation  a 
student’s ID number, user ID or other 
electron ic iden tifier so long as the 
iden tifier functions like a name; that is, 
it cannot be used  without a PIN, 
password , or some other au thentication  
factor to gain  access to education  
records. This change will impose no 
costs and  will p rovide benefits in  the 
form of regulatory relief allowing 
agencies and  institu tions to use 
d irectory services in  electron ic 
communications systems without 
incurring the administrative costs 
associated  with  obtain ing student 
consent for these d isclosures. 

Costs related  to honoring a student’s 
decision  to op t ou t of these d isclosures 
will be min imal because we assume that 
on ly a small number of students will 
elect not to participate in  electron ic 
communications at their school. 
Applying th is change to records of both  
K–12 and  postsecondary students and  
assuming that one-ten th  of one percent 
of paren ts and  eligible students will op t 
ou t of these d isclosures, we estimate 
that institu tions will have to flag the 
records of approximately 68,000 
students for op t-out purposes. We lack 
sufficien t data on  costs institu tions 
curren tly incur to flag records for 
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d irectory in formation  opt-outs for other 
purposes, so we are unable to estimate 
the administrative and  information  
technology costs institu tions will incur 
to process these new d irectory 
in formation  opt-outs resu lting from th is 
change. 
Student Anonymity in the Classroom 

The final regulations will ensure that 
paren ts and  students do not use the 
righ t to op t ou t of d irectory in formation  
d isclosures to remain  anonymous in  the 
classroom, by clarifying that op ting out 
does not p revent d isclosure of the 
student’s name, institu tional e-mail 
address, or electron ic iden tifier in  the 
student’s physical or electron ic 
classroom. We estimate that th is change 
will resu lt in  a small net benefit to 
educational agencies and  institu tions 
because they will have greater legal 
certain ty about the element of classroom 
administration , and  it will reduce the 
institu tional costs of responding to 
complain ts from students and  paren ts 
about the release of th is in formation . 
Disclosing Education Records to New 
School and to Party Identified as 
Source Record 

The final regulations in  § 99.31(a)(2) 
will allow an  educational agency or 
institu tion  to d isclose education  
records, or personally iden tifiable 
in formation  from education  records, to 
a student’s new school even  after the 
student is already attending the new 
school so long as the d isclosure relates 
to the student’s enrollment in  the new 
school. This change will p rovide 
regulatory relief by reducing legal 
uncertain ty about how long a school 
may continue to send  records or 
in formation  to a student’s new school, 
without consent, under the ‘‘seeks or 
in tends to enroll’’ exception . 

The amendment to the defin ition  of 
disclosure in  § 99.3 will allow a school 
that has concerns about the valid ity of 
a transcrip t, letter of recommendation , 
or other record  to return  these 
documents (or personally iden tifiable 
in formation  from these documents) to 
the student’s p revious school or other 
party iden tified  as the source of the 
record  in  order to resolve questions 
about their valid ity. Combined  with  the 
change to § 99.31(a)(2), d iscussed  earlier 
in  th is analysis, th is change will also 
allow the student’s p revious school to 
continue to send  education  records, or 
clarification  about education  records, to 
the student’s new school in  response to 
questions about the valid ity or meaning 
of records sen t p reviously by that party. 
We are unable to determine how much 
it will cost educational agencies and  
institu tions to return  poten tially 

fraudulen t documents to the party 
iden tified  as the sender because we do 
not have any basis for estimating how 
often  th is occurs. However, we believe 
that these changes will p rovide 
sign ifican t regulatory relief to 
educational agencies and  institu tions by 
help ing to reduce transcrip t and  other 
educational fraud  based  on  falsified  
records. 
Outsourcing 

The regulations in  § 99.31(a)(1)(i) will 
allow educational agencies and  
institu tions to d isclose education  
records, or personally iden tifiable 
in formation  from education  records, 
without consent to contractors, 
volunteers, and  other non-employees 
performing institu tional services and  
functions as school officials with  
legitimate educational in terests. An 
educational agency or institu tion  that 
uses non-employees to perform 
institu tional service and  functions will 
have to amend its annual notification  of 
FERPA righ ts to include these parties as 
school officials with  legitimate 
educational in terests. 

This change will p rovide regulatory 
relief by permitting, and  clarifying the 
conditions for, non-consensual 
d isclosure of education  records. Our 
experience suggests that virtually all of 
the more than  103,000 schools subject to 
FERPA will take advantage of th is 
p rovision . We have no actual data on  
how many school d istricts publish  
annual FERPA notifications for the 
97,382 K–12 public schools included  in  
th is total and , therefore, how many 
en tities will be affected  by th is 
requirement. However, because 
educational agencies and  institu tions 
were already required  under previous 
regulations to publish  a FERPA 
notification  annually, we believe that 
costs to include th is new information  
will be min imal. 
Access Control and Tracking 

The regulations in  § 99.31(a)(1)(ii) 
will require an  educational agency or 
institu tion  to use reasonable methods to 
ensure that teachers and  other school 
officials obtain  access to on ly those 
education  records in  which  they have 
legitimate educational in terests. This 
requirement will apply to records in  any 
format, includ ing computerized  or 
electron ic records and  paper, film, and  
other hard  copy records. An educational 
agency or institu tion  that chooses not to 
restrict access to education  records with  
physical or technological controls, such  
as locked  cabinets and  role-based  
software security, must ensure that its 
administrative policy for controlling 
access is effective and  that it remains in  

compliance with  the legitimate 
educational in terest requirement. 

Administrative experience has shown 
that schools that allow teachers and  
other school officials to have 
unrestricted  access to education  records 
tend  to have more problems with  
unauthorized  d isclosures, such  as 
school officials obtain ing access to 
education  records for personal rather 
than  professional reasons. Preventing 
unrestricted  access to education  records 
by teachers and  other school officials 
will benefit paren ts and  students by 
help ing to ensure that education  records 
are used  only for legitimate educational 
purposes. It will also help  ensure that 
education  records are not accessed  or 
d isclosed  inadverten tly. 

In formation  gathered  by the Director 
of the Office at numerous FERPA 
train ing sessions and  seminars, along 
with  recent d iscussions with  software 
vendors and  educational organizations, 
ind icates that the vast majority of mid- 
and  large-size school d istricts and  
postsecondary institu tions curren tly use 
commercial software for student 
in formation  systems. These systems 
generally include role-based  security 
features that allow administrators to 
control access to specific records, 
screens, or fields accord ing to a school 
official’s du ties and  responsibilities. 
These systems also typ ically contain  
transactional logging features that 
document or track a user’s actual access 
to particu lar records, which  will help  
ensure that an  agency’s or institu tion’s 
access control methods are effective. 
Educational agencies and  institu tions 
that already have these systems will 
incur no additional costs to comply 
with  the regulations. 

For purposes of th is analysis we 
excluded  from a total of 14,166 school 
d istricts and  6,463 postsecondary 
institu tions those with  more than  1,000 
students, for a total of 6,887 small K–12 
d istricts and  3,906 small postsecondary 
institu tions that may not have software 
with  access control security features. 
The d iscussions that the Director of the 
Office has had  with  numerous SEAs and  
local d istricts suggest that the vast 
majority of these small d istricts and  
institu tions do not make education  
records available to school officials 
electron ically or by computer bu t 
instead  use some system of 
administrative and  physical controls. 

We estimate for th is analysis that 15 
percent, or 1,619, of these small d istricts 
and  institu tions use home-built 
computerized  or electron ic systems that 
may not have the role-based  security 
features of commercial software. The 
most recent published  estimate we have 
for software costs comes from the final 
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Standards for Privacy of Ind ividually 
Identifiable Health  Information  under 
the Health  Insurance Portability and  
Accountability Act of 1996 (HIPAA 
Privacy Rule) published  by the 
Department of Health  and  Human 
Services (HHS) on  December 28, 2000, 
which  estimated  that the in itial per- 
hosp ital cost of software upgrades to 
track the d isclosure of medical records 
would  be $35,000 (65 FR 82768). We 
assume that costs will be comparable for 
education  records, and , as d iscussed  
above, software that tracks d isclosure 
h istory can  also be used  to control or 
restrict access to electron ic records. 
Based  on  these assumptions, if 1,619 
small K–12 d istricts and  postsecondary 
institu tions decide to purchase student 
in formation  software rather than  rely on  
administrative policies to comply with  
the regulations, they will incur 
estimated  costs of $56,665,000. We 
estimate that the remain ing 9,174 small 
d istricts and  institu tions will not 
purchase new software because they do 
not make education  records available 
electron ically and  rely instead  on  less 
costly administrative and  physical 
methods to control access to records by 
school officials. Those that p rovide 
school officials with  open  access to hard  
copy education  records may incur new 
costs to track actual d isclosures to help  
ensure that they remain  in  compliance 
with  legitimate educational in terests 
requirements. We assume that these 
d istricts and  institu tions may devote 
some additional administrative staff 
time to procedures such  as keeping logs 
of school officials who access records. 
However, no reliable estimates exist for 
the average number of teachers and  
other school officials who access 
education  records or the number of 
times access is sought, so we are unable 
to estimate the cost of restricting or 
tracking actual d isclosures of hard  copy 
education  records to school officials. 
Education Research 

The regulations in  § 99.31(a)(6)(ii)(C) 
require an  educational agency or 
institu tion  to en ter in to a written  
agreement before d isclosing personally 
iden tifiable in formation  from education  
records, without consent, to 
organizations conducting stud ies for, or 
on  behalf of, the educational agency or 
institu tion  to: (a) Develop , validate, or 
administer p red ictive tests; (b) 
administer student aid  programs; or (c) 
improve instruction . The written  
agreement must specify the purpose or 
purposes, scope, and  duration  of the 
study or stud ies and  the in formation  to 
be d isclosed , require the organization  to 
conduct the study in  a manner that does 
not permit personal iden tification  of 

paren ts and  students by anyone other 
than  represen tatives of the organization  
with  legitimate in terests, require the 
destruction  or return  of the in formation  
to the educational agency or institu tion  
when the study is completed , and  
specify the time period  for destruction  
or return  of the in formation . We believe 
that the additional cost of en tering in to 
written  agreements to comply with  th is 
change is un likely to be sign ifican t 
because most educational agencies and  
institu tions already specify the terms 
under which  personally iden tifiable 
in formation  can  be used  when it is 
d isclosed  to organizations for these 
types of stud ies. Although th is change 
will create an  additional in formation  
collection  requirement, we believe the 
benefits of the written  agreement 
ou tweigh  the costs, because it will 
ensure better compliance with  FERPA 
and  provide clarity for both  researchers 
and  educational agencies and  
institu tions about the restrictions and  
use of personally iden tifiable 
in formation  d isclosed  under 
§ 99.31(a)(6) for stud ies. 
Identification and Authentication of 
Identity 

The regulations in  § 99.31(c) require 
educational agencies and  institu tions to 
use reasonable methods to iden tify and  
au thenticate the iden tity of paren ts, 
students, school officials and  other 
parties to whom the agency or 
institu tion  d iscloses personally 
iden tifiable in formation  from education  
records. The use of widely available 
in formation  to au thenticate iden tity, 
such  as the recip ien t’s name, date of 
birth , SSN or student ID number, is not 
considered  reasonable under the 
regulations. 

The regulations will impose no new 
costs for educational agencies and  
institu tions that d isclose hard-copy 
records th rough the U.S. postal service 
or p rivate delivery services with  use of 
the recip ien t’s name and  last known 
official address. 

We were unable to find  reliable data 
that would  allow us to estimate the 
additional administrative time that 
educational agencies and  institu tions 
will spend  checking photo ID against 
school records or using other reasonable 
methods, as appropriate, to iden tify and  
au thenticate the iden tity of students, 
paren ts, and  other parties to whom the 
agency or institu tion  d iscloses 
education  records in  person . 

Authentication  of iden tity for 
electron ic or telephonic access to 
education  records involves a wider 
array of security op tions because of 
continu ing advances in  technologies, 
bu t is not necessarily more costly than  

au thentication  of iden tity for hard-copy 
records. We assume that educational 
agencies and  institu tions that require 
users to en ter a secret password  or PIN 
to au thenticate iden tity will deliver the 
password  or PIN through the U.S. postal 
service or in  person . We estimate that 
no new costs will be associated  with  
th is p rocess because agencies and  
institu tions already have d irect contact 
with  paren ts, eligible students, and  
school officials for a variety of other 
purposes and  will use these 
opportun ities to deliver a secret 
au thentication  factor. 

As noted  in  the preamble to the 
NPRM, 73 FR 15585, single-factor 
au thentication  of iden tity, such  as a 
standard  form user name combined  with  
a secret password  or PIN, may not 
p rovide reasonable protection  for access 
to all types of education  records or 
under all circumstances. We lack a basis 
for estimating costs of au thenticating 
identity when  educational agencies and  
institu tions allow authorized  users to 
access sensitive personal or financial 
in formation  in  electron ic records for 
which  single-factor au thentication  
would  not be reasonable. 
Redisclosure and Recordkeeping 

The regulations allow the officials and  
agencies listed  in  § 99.31(a)(3) (the U.S. 
Comptroller General, the U.S. Attorney 
General, the Secretary, and  State and  
local educational au thorities) to 
red isclose education  records, or 
personally iden tifiable in formation  from 
education  records, without consent 
under the same conditions that apply 
curren tly to other recip ien ts of 
education  records under § 99.33(b). This 
change provides substan tial regulatory 
relief to these parties by allowing them 
to red isclose in formation  on  behalf of 
educational agencies and  institu tions 
under any provision  in  § 99.31(a), which  
allows d isclosure of education  records 
without consent. For example, States 
will be able to consolidate K–16 
education  records under the SEA or 
State h igher educational au thority 
without having to obtain  written  
consent under § 99.30. Parties that 
curren tly request access to records from 
individual school d istricts and  
postsecondary institu tions will in  many 
instances be able to obtain  the same 
information  in  a more cost-effective 
manner from the appropriate State 
educational au thority or the 
Department. 

In  accordance with  the curren t 
regulations in  § 99.32(b), an  educational 
agency or institu tion  must record  any 
red isclosure of education  records made 
on  its behalf under § 99.33(b), includ ing 
the names of the additional parties to 
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which  the receiving party may 
red isclose the in formation  and  their 
legitimate in terests or basis for the 
d isclosure without consent under 
§ 99.31 in  obtain ing the in formation . 
The regulations require SEAs and  other 
State educational au thorities (such  as 
h igher education  au thorities), the 
Secretary, and  other officials or agencies 
listed  in  § 99.31(a)(3) that make further 
d isclosures on  behalf of an  educational 
agency or institu tion  to main tain  the 
record  of red isclosure required  under 
§ 99.32(b) if the educational agency or 
institu tion  has not recorded  the 
red isclosure or if the in formation  was 
obtained  from another State or Federal 
official or agency listed  in  § 99.31(a)(3). 
The regulations also require the State or 
Federal official or agency listed  in  
§ 99.31(a)(3) to provide a copy of its 
record  of red isclosures to the 
educational agency or institu tion  upon 
request. In  addition , an  educational 
agency or institu tion  must main tain  
with  each  student’s record  of 
d isclosures the names of State and  local 
educational au thorities and  Federal 
officials and  agencies that may make 
further d isclosures from the student’s 
records without consent under 
§ 99.33(b) and  must obtain  a copy of the 
record  of red isclosure, if any, 
main tained  by the State or Federal 
official that red isclosed  information  on  
behalf of the agency or institu tion . 

State educational au thorities and  
Federal officials listed  in  § 99.31(a)(3) 
will incur new administrative costs if 
they main tain  the record  of red isclosure 
for the educational agency or institu tion  
on  whose behalf they red isclose 
education  records under the regulations. 
We estimate that two educational 
au thorities or agencies in  each  State and  
the District of Columbia (one for K–12 
and  one for postsecondary) and  the 
Department itself, for a total of 103 
au thorities, will main tain  the required  
records of red isclosures. (We an ticipate 
that educational agencies and  
institu tions will record  under 
§ 99.32(b)(1) any further d isclosures 
made by the other Federal officials 
listed  in  § 99.31(a)(3), the U.S. 
Comptroller General and  the U.S. 
Attorney General.) We estimate further 
that these au thorities will need  to record  
two red isclosures per year from their 
records and  that it will take one hour of 
administrative time to record  each  
red isclosure electron ically at an  average 
hourly rate of $32.67, for a total annual 
administrative cost of $6,730. 
(Compensation  for administrative staff 
time is explained  earlier in  th is 
analysis.) We also assume for purposes 
of th is analysis that State educational 

au thorities and  the Department already 
have software that will allow them to 
record  these d isclosures electron ically. 

State educational au thorities and  
Federal officials that main tain  records of 
red isclosures will also have to make that 
in formation  available to the educational 
agency or institu tion  whose records 
were red isclosed , upon  request, so that 
the agency or institu tion  can  make that 
record  available to a paren t or eligible 
student who has asked  to inspect and  
review the student’s record  of 
d isclosures. We assume that few paren ts 
and  students request th is in formation  
and , therefore, use an  estimate that one 
ten th  of one percent of a total of 68.1 
million  students will make such  a 
request each  year, or 68,076 requests. If 
it takes one-quarter of an  hour to locate 
and  prin t a record  of d isclosures at an  
average administrative hourly rate of 
$32.67, the average annual 
administrative cost for State and  Federal 
officials and  agencies to provide th is 
service will be $556,011, p lus mailing 
costs (at $.42 per letter) of $28,592, for 
a total of $584,603. We estimate that 
educational agencies and  institu tions 
themselves will incur comparable costs 
when  they ask State and  Federal 
officials to send  them these records of 
red isclosure and  then  make them 
available to paren ts and  students. We 
note that p rin ting and  mailing costs may 
be reduced  to the exten t that e-mail is 
used  to transmit the record , and  if 
paren ts or students p ick up  the record  
on-site, bu t we do not have information  
to estimate these poten tial savings. 

The Department believes that these 
changes will resu lt in  a net benefit to 
educational agencies and  institu tions 
because they will not have to record  
further d isclosures made by State and  
Federal au thorities and  officials who 
red isclose in formation  from education  
records on  their behalf and  will not 
have to ask for a copy unless a paren t 
or eligible student asks to inspect and  
review the student’s record  of 
d isclosures. State and  Federal 
au thorities and  officials will also benefit 
because they will not have to provide 
their record  of further d isclosures to 
anyone unless the educational agency or 
institu tion  asks for a copy. Overall, the 
costs to State and  Federal au thorities to 
record  their own red isclosures will be 
offset by the savings that educational 
agencies and  institu tions will realize by 
not having to record  the d isclosures 
themselves. 
Notification of Compliance With Court 
Order or Subpoena 

The regulations in  § 99.33(b)92) 
require any party that red iscloses 
education  records in  compliance with  a 

court order or subpoena under 
§ 99.31(a)(9) to provide the notice to 
paren ts and  eligible students required  
under § 99.31(a)(9)(ii). We an ticipate 
that th is p rovision  will affect mostly 
State and  local educational au thorities, 
which  main tain  education  records they 
have obtained  from their constituen t 
d istricts and  institu tions and , under 
§ 99.35(b), may red isclose the 
in formation , without consent, in  
compliance with  a court order or 
subpoena under § 99.31(a)(9). 

There is no change in  costs as a resu lt 
of sh ifting responsibility for notification  
to the d isclosing party under th is 
change. However, we believe that 
min imizing or eliminating uncertain ty 
about which  party is legally responsible 
for the notification  will resu lt in  a net 
benefit to all parties. 
Health or Safety Emergency 

The regulations in  § 99.32(a)(5) 
require that a school that d iscloses 
in formation  under the health  and  safety 
emergency exception  in  § 99.36 record  
the articu lable and  sign ifican t th reat 
that formed the basis for the d isclosure 
and  the parties to whom the education  
records were d isclosed . Because 
§ 99.32(a) already requires schools to 
record  d isclosures made under § 99.36, 
including the legitimate in terests the 
parties had  in  requesting or obtain ing 
the in formation , we believe these 
changes will not create any sign ifican t 
additional administrative costs for 
schools and  that the benefit of including 
the legitimate in terests the parties had  
in  requesting or obtain ing the 
in formation  outweighs the costs. 
Directory Information Opt Outs 

The regulations in  § 99.37(b) clarify 
that while an  educational agency or 
institu tion  is not required  to notify 
former students under § 99.37(a) about 
the institu tion’s d irectory in formation  
policy or allow former students to op t 
ou t of d irectory in formation  d isclosures, 
they must continue to honor a paren t’s 
or student’s decision  to op t ou t of 
d irectory in formation  d isclosures after 
the student leaves the institu tion . Most 
agencies and  institu tions should  already 
comply with  th is requirement because 
of in formal gu idance and  train ing 
provided  by FPCO. 

Paren ts and  students will benefit from 
th is clarification  because it will help  
ensure that schools do not invalidate the 
paren t’s or student’s decisions on  
d irectory in formation  d isclosures after 
the student is no longer in  attendance. 
It will also benefit schools by 
eliminating any uncertain ty they may 
have about whether they must continue 
to honor an  op t ou t once the student is 
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no longer in  attendance. We have 
insufficien t in formation  to estimate the 
number of institu tions affected  and  the 
additional costs involved  in  changing 
systems to main tain  op t-out flags on  
education  records of former students. 
Paperwork Reduction Act of 1995 

Following publication  of the NPRM, 
we provided , th rough a notice 
published  in  the Federal Register (73 
FR 28810, May 19, 2008) opportun ity 
for the public to comment on  
information  collections in  the curren t 
regulations, and  ind icated  in  that notice 
the pendency of the NPRM. 
Additionally, based  on  comments 
received  in  response to the NPRM, we 
have identified  several in formation  
collection  requirements associated  with  
these regulations. We describe these 
in formation  collections in  the following 
paragraphs and  will be submitting these 
sections to OMB for review and  
approval. We note that the Paperwork 
Reduction  Act of 1995 does not require 
a response to these in formation  
collection  requirements un less they 
d isp lay a valid  OMB control number. A 
valid  OMB control number will be 
assigned  to the in formation  collection  
requirements at the end  of the affected  
sections of the regulations. 
(1) § 99.31(a)(6)(ii) 

FERPA permits an  educational agency 
or institu tion  to d isclose personally 
iden tifiable in formation  from education  
records, without consent, to 
organizations conducting stud ies for or 
on  behalf of the agency or institu tion  for 
purposes of testing, student aid , and  
improvement of instruction . In  the 
NPRM, we proposed  to add  
§ 99.31(a)(6)(ii) to require that an  
educational agency or institu tion  to 
d isclose personally iden tifiable 
in formation  under § 99.31(a)(6)(i) on ly if 
it en ters in to a written  agreement with  
the organization  specifying the purposes 
of the study. Under these final 
regulations, th is written  agreement must 
specify the purpose, scope, and  duration  
of the study or stud ies and  the 
in formation  to be d isclosed; require the 
organization  to use personally 
iden tifiable in formation  from education  
records on ly to meet the purpose or 
purposes of the study as stated  in  the 
written  agreement; require the 
organization  to conduct the study in  a 
manner that does not permit personal 
iden tification  of paren ts and  students by 
ind ividuals other than  represen tatives 
with  legitimate in terest of the 
organization  that conducts the study; 
require the organization  to destroy the 
in formation  or return  to the educational 
agency or institu tion  when it is no 

longer needed  for the purposes for 
which  the study was conducted ; and  
specify the time period  for the 
destruction  or return  of the in formation . 

The Department d id  not iden tify in  
the NPRM the requirement in  
§ 99.31(a)(6)(ii) as an  in formation  
collection  requirement under the 
Paperwork Reduction  Act of 1995 and  
d id  not realize th is would  be an  
in formation  collection  requirement un til 
a commenter brought th is matter to our 
atten tion . The commenter poin ted  out 
that, while th is change created  another 
paperwork burden  for school d istricts, 
the commenter d id  not object to the 
written  agreement requirement because 
pu tting the requirements regard ing the 
use and  destruction  of data in  writing 
may improve compliance with  FERPA. 
The Department agrees with  the 
comment. 
(2) § 99.32(a)(1) 

Under FERPA, an  educational agency 
or institu tion  is required  to record  its 
d isclosures of personally iden tifiable 
in formation  from education  records, 
even  when it d iscloses in formation  to its 
own State educational au thority. This 
statu tory requirement is reflected  in  the 
curren t FERPA regulations. The final 
regulations permit the State and  local 
educational au thorities and  Federal 
officials listed  in  § 99.31(a)(3) to make 
further d iscloses of personally 
iden tifiable in formation  from education  
records on  behalf of the educational 
agency or institu tion  in  accordance with  
the requirements of § 99.33(b) and  
require them to record  these further 
d isclosures of § 99.33(b) if the 
educational agency or institu tion  does 
not do so. We have included  provisions 
in  the final regulations that require 
educational agencies and  institu tions to 
main tain  a listing in  each  student’s 
record  of the State and  local educational 
au thorities and  Federal officials and  
agencies that may make further 
d isclosures of the student’s education  
records without consent so that paren ts 
and  eligible students will be made 
aware of these further d isclosures. 
(3) § 99.32(a)(4) 

Under th is new provision , paren ts 
and  eligible students will be able to 
inspect and  review any further 
d isclosures that were made by any of 
the parties listed  under § 99.31(a)(3) by 
asking the educational agency or 
institu tion  to obtain  a copy of the record  
of further d isclosures. We believe that 
th is is on ly a minor paperwork burden  
for schools because it would  involve 
asking officials to whom they have 
d isclosed  education  records for the 
record  of further d isclosure or, in  the 

case of some SEAs, accessing the State 
database for th is in formation . Also, we 
do not expect that a large number of 
paren ts and  eligible students will ask to 
see the record  of further d isclosures. 
(4) § 99.32(a)(5) 

During the development of the final 
regulations, we identified  another 
change to the recordation  requirements 
of § 99.32 that would  require the 
collection  of in formation . In  response to 
several comments we received  regard ing 
changes to FERPA’s ‘‘health  or safety 
emergency exception’’ in  § 99.36, we 
have amended  § 99.32(a) to include a 
new recordation  requirement. 
Specifically, we have added  a paragraph  
to the recordation  requirement that 
requires that for any d isclosures under 
§ 99.36 a school must record  the 
articu lable and  sign ifican t th reat to the 
health  or safety of a student or other 
ind ividuals that formed the basis for the 
d isclosure and  the parties to whom the 
agency or institu tion  d isclosed  
information . 

The Secretary believes that th is is 
on ly a minor paperwork burden  for 
schools because schools are already 
required  to record  d isclosures made 
under § 99.36. The new language in  
§ 99.32(a)(5) simply clarifies the type of 
in formation  that must be recorded  when 
a school d iscloses personally 
iden tifiable in formation  in  response to a 
health  or safety emergency, either for 
one student or for all students in  a 
school. 
(5) § 99.32(b)(2) 

In  the NPRM, we specifically noted  
that the Department was in terested  in  
relieving any administrative burdens 
associated  with  record ing d isclosures of 
education  records and , therefore, 
invited  public comment on  whether an  
SEA, the Department, or other au thority 
or official listed  in  § 99.31(a)(3) should  
be allowed to main tain  the record  of the 
red isclosures it makes on  behalf of an  
educational agency or institu tion  under 
§ 99.32(b). 

Several commenters stated  that an  
SEA (or other au thority or official listed  
in  § 99.31(a)(3)) should  be responsible 
for main tain ing the record  of d isclosure 
required  under § 99.32 when it 
red iscloses in formation  on  behalf of 
educational agencies and  institu tions. 
The commenters stated  that requiring 
each  educational agency or institu tion , 
such  as school d istricts, to record  each  
red isclosure made by an  SEA or other 
State educational au thority on  its behalf 
imposes an  unacceptable recordkeeping 
burden  on  school d istricts and  is 
impractical for State educational 
au thorities to adhere to in  making 
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further d isclosures on  behalf of the 
agency or institu tion . In  response to 
these comments, we are revising § 99.32 
to require the State and  local 
educational au thorities and  Federal 
officials listed  in  § 99.31(a)(3) to 
main tain  the record  of further 
d isclosures if the educational agency or 
institu tion  does not do so and  make it 
available to the educational agency or 
institu tion  upon request. We agree that 
by requiring State and  Federal 
au thorities and  officials to record  their 
red isclosures in  these circumstances 
school d istricts will have less total 
paperwork burden  because schools will 
not have to comply with  the 
recordkeeping requirement in  these 
instances. 
Assessment of Educational Impact 

In  the NPRM, and  in  accordance with  
section  411 of the General Education  
Provisions Act, 20 U.S.C. 1221e–4, we 
requested  comments on  whether the 
proposed  regulations would  require 
transmission  of in formation  that any 
other agency or au thority of the United  
States gathers or makes available. 

Based  on  the response to the NPRM 
and on  our review, we have determined  
that these final regulations do not 
require transmission  of in formation  that 
any other agency or au thority of the 
United  States gathers or makes 
available. 
Electronic Access to This Document 

You may view th is document, as well 
as all other Department of Education  
documents published  in  the Federal 
Register, in  text or Adobe Portable 
Document Format (PDF) on  the In ternet 
at the following site: www.ed .gov/news/  
fedregister. 

To use PDF you  must have Adobe 
Acrobat Reader, which  is available free 
at th is site. If you  have questions about 
using PDF, call the U.S. Government 
Prin ting Office (GPO), toll free, at 1– 
888–293–6498; or in  the Washington , 
DC area at (202) 512–1530. 

Note: The official version  of th is document 
is the document published  in  the Federal 
Register. Free In ternet access to the official 
ed ition  of the Federal Register and  the Code 
of Federal Regulations is available on  GPO 
Access at www.gpoaccess.gov/nara/  
index .h tm l. 

(Catalog of Federal Domestic Assistance 
Number does not apply.) 

List of Subjects in 34 CFR Part 99 
Administrative practice and  

procedure, Directory in formation , 
Education  records, In formation , Paren ts, 
Privacy, Records, Social Security 
Numbers, Students. 

Dated : December 2, 2008. 
Margaret Spellings, 
Secretary of Education . 
■ For the reasons d iscussed  in  the 
preamble, the Secretary amends part 99 
of title 34 of the Code of Federal 
Regulations as follows: 

PART 99—FAMILY EDUCATIONAL 
RIGHTS AND PRIVACY 
■ 1. The au thority citation  for part 99 
continues to read  as follows: 

Authority: 20 U.S.C. 1232g, un less 
otherwise noted . 

■ 2. Section  99.2 is amended  by revising 
the note following the au thority citation  
to read  as follows: 

§ 99.2 What is the purpose of these 
regulations? 
* * * * * 

Note to § 99.2: 34 CFR 300.610 through 
300.626 contain  requirements regard ing the 
confidentiality of in formation  relating to 
ch ildren  with  d isabilities who receive 
evaluations, services or other benefits under 
Part B of the Ind ividuals with  Disabilities 
Education  Act (IDEA). 34 CFR 303.402 and  
303.460 identify the confidentiality of 
in formation  requirements regard ing ch ildren  
and  infan ts and  toddlers with  d isabilities and  
their families who receive evaluations, 
services, or other benefits under Part C of 
IDEA. 34 CFR 300.610 through 300.627 
contain  the confidentiality of in formation  
requirements that apply to personally 
iden tifiable data, in formation , and  records 
collected  or main tained  pursuant to Part B of 
the IDEA. 

■ 3. Section  99.3 is amended  by: 
■ A. Adding, in  alphabetical order, a 
defin ition  of Biom etric record . 
■ B. Revising the defin itions of 
A ttendance, Directory in form ation , 
Disclosure, and  Personally iden tifiable 
in form ation . 
■ C. In  the defin ition  of Education  
records, revising paragraph  (b)(5) and  
adding a new paragraph  (b)(6). 

These additions and  revisions read  as 
follows: 

§ 99.3 What definitions apply to these 
regulations? 
* * * * * 

A ttendance includes, bu t is not 
limited  to— 

(a) Attendance in  person  or by paper 
correspondence, videoconference, 
satellite, In ternet, or other electron ic 
in formation  and  telecommunications 
technologies for students who are not 
physically presen t in  the classroom; and  

(b) The period  during which  a person  
is working under a work-study program. 
(Authority: 20 U.S.C. 1232g) 
* * * * * 

Biom etric record , as used  in  the 
defin ition  of personally iden tifiable 

in form ation , means a record  of one or 
more measurable biological or 
behavioral characteristics that can  be 
used  for au tomated  recognition  of an  
ind ividual. Examples include 
fingerprin ts; retina and  iris patterns; 
voiceprin ts; DNA sequence; facial 
characteristics; and  handwriting. 
(Authority: 20 U.S.C. 1232g) 
* * * * * 

Directory in form ation  means 
information  contained  in  an  education  
record  of a student that would  not 
generally be considered  harmful or an  
invasion  of privacy if d isclosed . 

(a) Directory in formation  includes, 
bu t is not limited  to, the student’s name; 
address; telephone listing; electron ic 
mail address; photograph; date and  
p lace of birth ; major field  of study; 
grade level; enrollment status (e.g., 
undergraduate or graduate, fu ll-time or 
part-time); dates of attendance; 
participation  in  officially recognized  
activities and  sports; weight and  height 
of members of ath letic teams; degrees, 
honors and  awards received; and  the 
most recent educational agency or 
institu tion  attended . 

(b) Directory in formation  does not 
include a student’s— 

(1) Social security number; or 
(2) Student iden tification  (ID) 

number, except as provided  in  
paragraph  (c) of th is section . 

(c) Directory in formation  includes a 
student ID number, user ID, or other 
un ique personal iden tifier used  by the 
student for purposes of accessing or 
communicating in  electron ic systems, 
bu t on ly if the iden tifier cannot be used  
to gain  access to education  records 
except when  used  in  conjunction  with  
one or more factors that au thenticate the 
user’s iden tity, such  as a personal 
iden tification  number (PIN), password , 
or other factor known or possessed  only 
by the au thorized  user. 
(Authority: 20 U.S.C. 1232g(a)(5)(A)) 
* * * * * 

Disclosure means to permit access to 
or the release, transfer, or other 
communication  of personally 
iden tifiable in formation  contained  in  
education  records by any means, 
including oral, written , or electron ic 
means, to any party except the party 
iden tified  as the party that p rovided  or 
created  the record . 
(Authority: 20 U.S.C. 1232g(b)(1) and  (b)(2)) 
* * * * * 
Education  Records 
* * * * * 

(b) * * * 
(5) Records created  or received  by an  

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

(6) Grades on  peer-graded  papers 
before they are collected  and  recorded  
by a teacher. 
* * * * * 
Personally Identifiable Information  

The term includes, bu t is not limited  
to— 

(a) The student’s name; 
(b) The name of the student’s paren t 

or other family members; 
(c) The address of the student or 

student’s family; 
(d) A personal iden tifier, such  as the 

student’s social security number, 
student number, or biometric record ; 

(e) Other ind irect iden tifiers, such  as 
the student’s date of birth , p lace of 
birth , and  mother’s maiden  name; 

(f) Other in formation  that, alone or in  
combination , is linked  or linkable to a 
specific student that would  allow a 
reasonable person  in  the school 
community, who does not have personal 
knowledge of the relevant 
circumstances, to iden tify the student 
with  reasonable certain ty; or 

(g) Information  requested  by a person  
who the educational agency or 
institu tion  reasonably believes knows 
the identity of the student to whom the 
education  record  relates. 
(Authority: 20 U.S.C. 1232g) 
* * * * * 
■ 4. Section  99.5 is amended  by 
redesignating paragraph  (a) as paragraph  
(a)(1) and  adding a new paragraph  (a)(2) 
to read  as follows: 

§ 99.5 What are the rights of students? 
(a)(1) * * * 
(2) Noth ing in  th is section  prevents an  

educational agency or institu tion  from 
disclosing education  records, or 
personally iden tifiable in formation  from 
education  records, to a paren t without 
the prior written  consent of an  eligible 
student if the d isclosure meets the 
conditions in  § 99.31(a)(8), 
§ 99.31(a)(10), § 99.31(a)(15), or any 
other provision  in  § 99.31(a). 
* * * * * 
■ 5. Section  99.31 is amended  by: 
■ A. Redesignating paragraph  (a)(1) as 
paragraph  (a)(1)(i)(A) and  adding new 
paragraphs (a)(1)(i)(B) and  (a)(1)(ii). 
■ B. Revising paragraph  (a)(2). 
■ C. Redesignating paragraphs (a)(6)(iii) 
and  (a)(6)(iv) as paragraphs (a)(6)(iv) 
and  (a)(6)(v), respectively. 
■ D. Revising paragraph  (a)(6)(ii). 
■ E. Adding a new paragraph  (a)(6)(iii). 
■ F. In  paragraph  (a)(9)(ii)(A), removing 
the word  ‘‘or’’ after the punctuation  ‘‘;’’. 

■ G. In  paragraph  (a)(9)(ii)(B), removing 
the punctuation  ‘‘.’’ and  adding in  its 
p lace the word  ‘‘;or’’. 
■ H. Adding paragraph  (a)(9)(ii)(C). 
■ I. Adding paragraph  (a)(16). 
■ J. Revising paragraph  (b). 
■ K. Adding paragraphs (c) and  (d). 
■ L. Revising the au thority citation  at 
the end  of the section . 

The additions and  revisions read  as 
follows: 

§ 99.31 Under what conditions is prior 
consent not required to disclose 
information? 

(a) * * * 
(1)(i)(A) * * * 
(B) A contractor, consultan t, 

volunteer, or other party to whom an  
agency or institu tion  has ou tsourced  
institu tional services or functions may 
be considered  a school official under 
th is paragraph  provided  that the ou tside 
party— 

(1) Performs an  institu tional service or 
function  for which  the agency or 
institu tion  would  otherwise use 
employees; 

(2) Is under the d irect control of the 
agency or institu tion  with  respect to the 
use and  main tenance of education  
records; and  

(3) Is subject to the requirements of 
§ 99.33(a) govern ing the use and  
red isclosure of personally iden tifiable 
in formation  from education  records. 

(ii) An educational agency or 
institu tion  must use reasonable methods 
to ensure that school officials obtain  
access to on ly those education  records 
in  which  they have legitimate 
educational in terests. An educational 
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
the legitimate educational in terest 
requirement in  paragraph  (a)(1)(i)(A) of 
th is section . 

(2) The d isclosure is, subject to the 
requirements of § 99.34, to officials of 
another school, school system, or 
institu tion  of postsecondary education  
where the student seeks or in tends to 
enroll, or where the student is already 
enrolled  so long as the d isclosure is for 
purposes related  to the student’s 
enrollment or transfer. 

Note: Section  4155(b) of the No Child  Left 
Behind  Act of 2001, 20 U.S.C. 7165(b), 
requires each  State to assure the Secretary of 
Education  that it has a procedure in  p lace to 
facilitate the transfer of d iscip linary records 
with  respect to a suspension  or expulsion  of 
a student by a local educational agency to 
any private or public elementary or 
secondary school in  which  the student is 
subsequently enrolled  or seeks, in tends, or is 
instructed  to enroll. 

(6)(i) * * * 
(ii) An educational agency or 

institu tion  may d isclose in formation  
under paragraph  (a)(6)(i) of th is section  
only if— 

(A) The study is conducted  in  a 
manner that does not permit personal 
iden tification  of paren ts and  students by 
ind ividuals other than  represen tatives of 
the organization  that have legitimate 
in terests in  the in formation ; 

(B) The information  is destroyed  
when no longer needed  for the purposes 
for which  the study was conducted ; and  

(C) The educational agency or 
institu tion  en ters in to a written  
agreement with  the organization  that— 

(1) Specifies the purpose, scope, and  
duration  of the study or stud ies and  the 
in formation  to be d isclosed; 

(2) Requires the organization  to use 
personally iden tifiable in formation  from 
education  records on ly to meet the 
purpose or purposes of the study as 
stated  in  the written  agreement; 

(3) Requires the organization  to 
conduct the study in  a manner that does 
not permit personal iden tification  of 
paren ts and  students, as defined  in  th is 
part, by anyone other than  
represen tatives of the organization  with  
legitimate in terests; 
and  

(4) Requires the organization  to 
destroy or return  to the educational 
agency or institu tion  all personally 
iden tifiable in formation  when the 
in formation  is no longer needed  for the 
purposes for which  the study was 
conducted  and  specifies the time period  
in  which  the in formation  must be 
returned  or destroyed . 

(iii) An educational agency or 
institu tion  is not required  to in itiate a 
study or agree with  or endorse the 
conclusions or resu lts of the study. 
* * * * * 

(9) * * * 
(ii) * * * 
(C) An ex  parte court order obtained  

by the United  States Attorney General 
(or designee not lower than  an  Assistan t 
Attorney General) concern ing 
investigations or p rosecutions of an  
offense listed  in  18 U.S.C. 2332b(g)(5)(B) 
or an  act of domestic or in ternational 
terrorism as defined  in  18 U.S.C. 2331. 
* * * * * 

(16) The d isclosure concerns sex 
offenders and  other ind ividuals required  
to register under section  170101 of the 
Violen t Crime Control and  Law 
Enforcement Act of 1994, 42 U.S.C. 
14071, and  the in formation  was 
provided  to the educational agency or 
institu tion  under 42 U.S.C. 14071 and  
applicable Federal gu idelines. 

(b)(1) De-identified  records and  
in form ation . An educational agency or 
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institu tion , or a party that has received  
education  records or in formation  from 
education  records under th is part, may 
release the records or in formation  
without the consent required  by § 99.30 
after the removal of all personally 
iden tifiable in formation  provided  that 
the educational agency or institu tion  or 
other party has made a reasonable 
determination  that a student’s iden tity 
is not personally iden tifiable, whether 
th rough single or multip le releases, and  
taking in to account other reasonably 
available in formation . 

(2) An educational agency or 
institu tion , or a party that has received  
education  records or in formation  from 
education  records under th is part, may 
release de-identified  student level data 
from education  records for the purpose 
of education  research  by attach ing a 
code to each  record  that may allow the 
recip ien t to match  information  received  
from the same source, p rovided  that— 

(i) An educational agency or 
institu tion  or other party that releases 
de-identified  data under paragraph  
(b)(2) of th is section  does not d isclose 
any information  about how it generates 
and  assigns a record  code, or that would  
allow a recip ien t to iden tify a student 
based  on  a record  code; 

(ii) The record  code is used  for no 
purpose other than  identifying a de- 
iden tified  record  for purposes of 
education  research  and  cannot be used  
to ascertain  personally iden tifiable 
in formation  about a student; and  

(iii) The record  code is not based  on  
a student’s social security number or 
other personal in formation . 

(c) An educational agency or 
institu tion  must use reasonable methods 
to iden tify and  au thenticate the iden tity 
of paren ts, students, school officials, 
and  any other parties to whom the 
agency or institu tion  d iscloses 
personally iden tifiable in formation  from 
education  records. 

(d ) Paragraphs (a) and  (b) of th is 
section  do not require an  educational 
agency or institu tion  or any other party 
to d isclose education  records or 
in formation  from education  records to 
any party. 
(Authority: 20 U.S.C. 1232g(a)(5)(A), (b), (h ), 
(i), and  (j)). 

■ 6. Section  99.32 is amended  by: 
■ A. Revising paragraph  (a)(1). 
■ B. Adding new paragraphs (a)(4) and  
(a)(5). 
■ C. Redesignating paragraphs (b)(1) and  
(b)(2) as paragraphs (b)(1)(i) and  
(b)(1)(ii) and  redesignating paragraph  
(b), in troductory text, as paragraph  
(b)(1). 
■ D. Revising newly redesignated  
paragraph  (b)(1). 

■ E. Adding a new paragraph  (b)(2). 
■ F. Revising paragraph  (d)(5). 

The additions and  revisions read  as 
follows: 

§ 99.32 What recordkeeping requirements 
exist concerning requests and disclosures? 

(a)(1) An educational agency or 
institu tion  must main tain  a record  of 
each  request for access to and  each  
d isclosure of personally iden tifiable 
in formation  from the education  records 
of each  student, as well as the names of 
State and  local educational au thorities 
and  Federal officials and  agencies listed  
in  § 99.31(a)(3) that may make further 
d isclosures of personally iden tifiable 
in formation  from the student’s 
education  records without consent 
under § 99.33(b). 
* * * * * 

(4) An educational agency or 
institu tion  must obtain  a copy of the 
record  of further d isclosures main tained  
under paragraph  (b)(2) of th is section  
and  make it available in  response to a 
paren t’s or eligible student’s request to 
review the record  required  under 
paragraph  (a)(1) of th is section . 

(5) An educational agency or 
institu tion  must record  the following 
information  when it d iscloses 
personally iden tifiable in formation  from 
education  records under the health  or 
safety emergency exception  in  
§ 99.31(a)(10) and  § 99.36: 

(i) The articu lable and  sign ifican t 
th reat to the health  or safety of a student 
or other ind ividuals that formed the 
basis for the d isclosure; and  

(ii) The parties to whom the agency or 
institu tion  d isclosed  the in formation . 

(b)(1) Except as provided  in  paragraph  
(b)(2) of th is section , if an  educational 
agency or institu tion  d iscloses 
personally iden tifiable in formation  from 
education  records with  the 
understanding au thorized  under 
§ 99.33(b), the record  of the d isclosure 
required  under th is section  must 
include: 
* * * * * 

(2)(i) A State or local educational 
au thority or Federal official or agency 
listed  in  § 99.31(a)(3) that makes further 
d isclosures of in formation  from 
education  records under § 99.33(b) must 
record  the names of the additional 
parties to which  it d iscloses in formation  
on  behalf of an  educational agency or 
institu tion  and  their legitimate in terests 
in  the in formation  under § 99.31 if the 
in formation  was received  from: 

(A) An educational agency or 
institu tion  that has not recorded  the 
further d isclosures under paragraph  
(b)(1) of th is section ; or 

(B) Another State or local educational 
au thority or Federal official or agency 
listed  in  § 99.31(a)(3). 

(ii) A State or local educational 
au thority or Federal official or agency 
that records further d isclosures of 
in formation  under paragraph  (b)(2)(i) of 
th is section  may main tain  the record  by 
the student’s class, school, d istrict, or 
other appropriate grouping rather than  
by the name of the student. 

(iii) Upon request of an  educational 
agency or institu tion , a State or local 
educational au thority or Federal official 
or agency listed  in  § 99.31(a)(3) that 
main tains a record  of further d isclosures 
under paragraph  (b)(2)(i) of th is section  
must p rovide a copy of the record  of 
further d isclosures to the educational 
agency or institu tion  with in  a 
reasonable period  of time not to exceed  
30 days. 
* * * * * 

(d) * * * 
(5) A party seeking or receiving 

records in  accordance with  
§ 99.31(a)(9)(ii)(A) th rough (C). 
* * * * * 
■ 7. Section  99.33 is amended  by 
revising paragraphs (b), (c), (d ), and  (e) 
to read  as follows: 
* * * * * 

§ 99.33 What limitations apply to the 
redisclosure of information? 
* * * * * 

(b)(1) Paragraph  (a) of th is section  
does not p revent an  educational agency 
or institu tion  from disclosing personally 
iden tifiable in formation  with  the 
understanding that the party receiving 
the in formation  may make further 
d isclosures of the in formation  on  behalf 
of the educational agency or institu tion  
if— 

(i) The d isclosures meet the 
requirements of § 99.31; and  

(ii)(A) The educational agency or 
institu tion  has complied  with  the 
requirements of § 99.32(b); or 

(B) A State or local educational 
au thority or Federal official or agency 
listed  in  § 99.31(a)(3) has complied  with  
the requirements of § 99.32(b)(2). 

(2) A party that receives a court order 
or lawfully issued  subpoena and  
red iscloses personally iden tifiable 
in formation  from education  records on  
behalf of an  educational agency or 
institu tion  in  response to that order or 
subpoena under § 99.31(a)(9) must 
p rovide the notification  required  under 
§ 99.31(a)(9)(ii). 

(c) Paragraph  (a) of th is section  does 
not apply to d isclosures under 
§§ 99.31(a)(8), (9), (11), (12), (14), (15), 
and  (16), and  to in formation  that 
postsecondary institu tions are required  
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to d isclose under the Jeanne Clery 
Disclosure of Campus Security Policy 
and  Campus Crime Statistics Act, 20 
U.S.C. 1092(f) (Clery Act), to the accuser 
and  accused  regard ing the ou tcome of 
any campus d iscip linary proceeding 
brought alleging a sexual offense. 

(d) An educational agency or 
institu tion  must in form a party to whom 
disclosure is made of the requirements 
of paragraph  (a) of th is section  except 
for d isclosures made under 
§§ 99.31(a)(8), (9), (11), (12), (14), (15), 
and  (16), and  to in formation  that 
postsecondary institu tions are required  
to d isclose under the Clery Act to the 
accuser and  accused  regard ing the 
ou tcome of any campus d iscip linary 
proceeding brought alleging a sexual 
offense. 

(e) If th is Office determines that a 
th ird  party ou tside the educational 
agency or institu tion  improperly 
red iscloses personally iden tifiable 
in formation  from education  records in  
violation  of th is section , or fails to 
provide the notification  required  under 
paragraph  (b)(2) of th is section , the 
educational agency or institu tion  may 
not allow that th ird  party access to 
personally iden tifiable in formation  from 
education  records for at least five years. 
* * * * * 
■ 8. Section  99.34 is amended  by 
revising paragraph  (a)(1)(ii) to read  as 
follows: 

§ 99.34 What conditions apply to 
disclosure of information to other 
educational agencies and institutions? 

(a) * * * 
(1) * * * 
(ii) The annual notification  of the 

agency or institu tion  under § 99.7 
includes a notice that the agency or 
institu tion  forwards education  records 
to other agencies or institu tions that 
have requested  the records and  in  which  
the student seeks or in tends to enroll or 
is already enrolled  so long as the 
d isclosure is for purposes related  to the 
student’s enrollment or transfer; 
* * * * * 
■ 9. Section  99.35 is amended  by 
revising paragraphs (a) and  (b)(1) to read  
as follows: 

§ 99.35 What conditions apply to 
disclosure of information for Federal or 
State program purposes? 

(a)(1) Authorized  represen tatives of 
the officials or agencies headed  by 
officials listed  in  § 99.31(a)(3) may have 
access to education  records in  
connection  with  an  audit or evaluation  
of Federal or State supported  education  
programs, or for the enforcement of or 
compliance with  Federal legal 

requirements that relate to those 
programs. 

(2) Authority for an  agency or official 
listed  in  § 99.31(a)(3) to conduct an  
audit, evaluation , or compliance or 
enforcement activity is not conferred  by 
the Act or th is part and  must be 
established  under other Federal, State, 
or local au thority. 

(b) * * * 
(1) Be protected  in  a manner that does 

not permit personal iden tification  of 
ind ividuals by anyone other than  the 
officials or agencies headed  by officials 
referred  to in  paragraph  (a) of th is 
section , except that those officials and  
agencies may make further d isclosures 
of personally iden tifiable in formation  
from education  records on  behalf of the 
educational agency or institu tion  in  
accordance with  the requirements of 
§ 99.33(b); and  
* * * * * 
■ 10. Section  99.36 is amended  by 
revising paragraphs (a) and  (c) to read  as 
follows: 

§ 99.36 What conditions apply to 
disclosure of information in health and 
safety emergencies? 

(a) An educational agency or 
institu tion  may d isclose personally 
iden tifiable in formation  from an  
education  record  to appropriate parties, 
includ ing paren ts of an  eligible student, 
in  connection  with  an  emergency if 
knowledge of the in formation  is 
necessary to protect the health  or safety 
of the student or other ind ividuals. 
* * * * * 

(c) In  making a determination  under 
paragraph  (a) of th is section , an  
educational agency or institu tion  may 
take in to account the totality of the 
circumstances pertain ing to a th reat to 
the health  or safety of a student or other 
ind ividuals. If the educational agency or 
institu tion  determines that there is an  
articu lable and  sign ifican t th reat to the 
health  or safety of a student or other 
ind ividuals, it may d isclose in formation  
from education  records to any person  
whose knowledge of the in formation  is 
necessary to protect the health  or safety 
of the student or other ind ividuals. If, 
based  on  the in formation  available at 
the time of the determination , there is 
a rational basis for the determination , 
the Department will not substitu te its 
judgment for that of the educational 
agency or institu tion  in  evaluating the 
circumstances and  making its 
determination . 
* * * * * 
■ 11. Section  99.37 is amended  by: 
■ A. Revising paragraph  (b). 
■ B. Adding new paragraphs (c) and  (d). 

The revision  and  additions read  as 
follows: 

§ 99.37 What conditions apply to 
disclosing directory information? 
* * * * * 

(b) An educational agency or 
institu tion  may d isclose d irectory 
in formation  about former students 
without complying with  the notice and  
opt ou t conditions in  paragraph  (a) of 
th is section . However, the agency or 
institu tion  must continue to honor any 
valid  request to op t ou t of the d isclosure 
of d irectory in formation  made while a 
student was in  attendance unless the 
student rescinds the op t ou t request. 

(c) A paren t or eligible student may 
not use the righ t under paragraph  (a)(2) 
of th is section  to op t ou t of d irectory 
in formation  d isclosures to prevent an  
educational agency or institu tion  from 
disclosing or requiring a student to 
d isclose the student’s name, iden tifier, 
or institu tional e-mail address in  a class 
in  which  the student is enrolled . 

(d) An educational agency or 
institu tion  may not d isclose or confirm 
d irectory in formation  without meeting 
the written  consent requirements in  
§ 99.30 if a student’s social security 
number or other non-d irectory 
in formation  is used  alone or combined  
with  other data elements to iden tify or 
help  identify the student or the 
student’s records. 
* * * * * 
■ 12. Section  99.62 is revised  to read  as 
follows: 

§ 99.62 What information must an 
educational agency or institution submit to 
the Office? 

The Office may require an  educational 
agency or institu tion  to submit reports, 
in formation  on  policies and  procedures, 
annual notifications, train ing materials, 
and  other in formation  necessary to carry 
ou t its enforcement responsibilities 
under the Act or th is part. 
(Authority: 20 U.S.C. 1232g(f) and  (g)) 

§ 99.63 [Amended] 
■ 13. Section  99.63 is amended  by 
removing the mail code designation  
‘‘4605’’ before the punctuation  ‘‘.’’ 
■ 14. Section  99.64 is amended  by: 
■ A. Revising the section  heading. 
■ B. Revising paragraphs (a) and  (b). 

The revisions read  as follows: 

§ 99.64 What is the investigation 
procedure? 

(a) A complain t must contain  specific 
allegations of fact giving reasonable 
cause to believe that a violation  of the 
Act or th is part has occurred . A 
complain t does not have to allege that 
a violation  is based  on  a policy or 
practice of the educational agency or 
institu tion . 
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(b) The Office investigates a timely 
complain t filed  by a paren t or eligible 
student, or conducts its own 
investigation  when no complain t has 
been  filed  or a complain t has been  
withdrawn, to determine whether an  
educational agency or institu tion  has 
failed  to comply with  a provision  of the 
Act or th is part. If the Office determines 
that an  educational agency or institu tion  
has failed  to comply with  a provision  of 
the Act or th is part, it may also 
determine whether the failu re to comply 
is based  on  a policy or p ractice of the 
agency or institu tion . 
* * * * * 
■ 15. Section  99.65 is revised  to read  as 
follows: 

§ 99.65 What is the content of the notice of 
investigation issued by the Office? 

(a) The Office notifies the 
complainant, if any, and  the educational 
agency or institu tion  in  writing if it 
in itiates an  investigation  under 
§ 99.64(b). The notice to the educational 
agency or institu tion— 

(1) Includes the substance of the 
allegations against the educational 
agency or institu tion ; and  

(2) Directs the agency or institu tion  to 
submit a written  response and  other 
relevant in formation , as set forth  in  
§ 99.62, with in  a specified  period  of 
time, including information  about its 
policies and  practices regard ing 
education  records. 

(b) The Office notifies the 
complainant if it does not in itiate an  
investigation  because the complain t 
fails to meet the requirements of § 99.64. 
(Authority: 20 U.S.C. 1232g(g)) 

■ 16. Section  99.66 is amended  by 
revising paragraphs (a), (b), and  the 
in troductory text of paragraph  (c) to 
read  as follows: 

§ 99.66 What are the responsibilities of the 
Office in the enforcement process? 

(a) The Office reviews a complain t, if 
any, in formation  submitted  by the 
educational agency or institu tion , and  
any other relevant in formation . The 
Office may permit the parties to submit 
further written  or oral arguments or 
in formation . 

(b) Following its investigation , the 
Office provides to the complainant, if 
any, and  the educational agency or 
institu tion  a written  notice of its 
find ings and  the basis for its find ings. 

(c) If the Office finds that an  
educational agency or institu tion  has 
not complied  with  a provision  of the 
Act or th is part, it may also find  that the 
failu re to comply was based  on  a policy 
or practice of the agency or institu tion . 
A notice of find ings issued  under 
paragraph  (b) of th is section  to an  
educational agency or institu tion  that 
has not complied  with  a provision  of the 
Act or th is part— 
* * * * * 

■ 17. Section  99.67 is amended  by 
revising paragraph  (a) to read  as follows: 

§ 99.67 How does the Secretary enforce 
decisions? 

(a) If an  educational agency or 
institu tion  does not comply during the 
period  of time set under § 99.66(c), the 
Secretary may take any legally available 
enforcement action  in  accordance with  
the Act, includ ing, bu t not limited  to, 
the following enforcement actions 
available in  accordance with  part E of 
the General Education  Provisions Act— 
* * * * * 
[FR Doc. E8–28864 Filed  12–8–08; 8:45 am] 
BILLING CODE 4000–01–P 
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From: Kevin Gilbert
To: Renee Kamen; Frank Eastham
Cc: Superintendent; Bruce Gist
Subject: RE: Re: Concerns about diversity evaluation of 2017 Feasibility Study on Redistricting
Date: Friday, September 1, 2017 12:26:27 PM

Hi Renee,
 
I am fine with you just copying me on the response, but if you would like me to look at it before you
hit send, I would be more than happy to do that as well.
 
Kevin
 

From: Renee Kamen 
Sent: Friday, September 1, 2017 12:15 PM
To: Frank Eastham <Frank_Eastham@hcpss.org>; Kevin Gilbert <Kevin_Gilbert@hcpss.org>
Cc: Superintendent <superintendent@hcpss.org>; Bruce Gist <Bruce_Gist@hcpss.org>
Subject: Re: Concerns about diversity evaluation of 2017 Feasibility Study on Redistricting
 
Gentlemen – having not been originally copied on the email string below, I am just reading this
forward from my staff person.  I would the opportunity to respond to his email.  Unfortunately,
we’ve spoken to him several times and the email below is not correct.  I’m more than happy to share
the response prior to hitting “send.”
 
Thank you,
 

-renee
Renée M. Kamen, AICP, Manager
School Planning
Howard County Public School System
renee kamen@hcpss.org
410.313.7184 (p)
 
--
-----Original Message-----
From: Richard A. Kohn [mailto:rkohn@umd.edu]
Sent: Tuesday, August 29, 2017 8:52 AM
To: Superintendent; Kevin Gilbert
Cc: Frank Eastham; School Planning; Timothy D. Rogers; Willie Flowers; aclu; HCPSS MPIA Requests
Subject: Re: Concerns about diversity evaluation of 2017 Feasibility Study on Redistricting
 
Dear Dr. Martirano and Dr. Gilbert,
 
In MPIA request #2018-044, I asked for data used in the feasibility study for evaluation of racial
demographics and testing.  Please note that in response to MPIA request #2018-044 the school
claims that no polygon-level racial demographic data exist for evaluation of school redistricting.  The



request refers to tables in the feasibility study, however, such tables could not have been created
without the data the school claims do not exist.
 
This confirms that the data in the Feasibility Study were not only inaccurate, but fabricated, and the
actual demographics I submitted twice previously are the more reliable. These data I submitted
based on census data show that the proposed redistricting in the feasibility study would have
created a highly segregated non-white school at Oakland Mills High School.  By fabricating and
publishing false data, the planning committee appears to have been attempting to obscure the
changes due to redistricting that would have created more segregated schools.
 
My concern was initially that the school summarizes school performance in the worst possible way
by not accounting for multiple variables affecting test score performance.  For example, they report
test scores by race but do not account for income, and I have found the effect of race is greatly
diminished or eliminated after accounting for income. They report performance by school but do not
adjust for certain schools having more low-income students.  They do not report the percentage of
variation attributed to various factors, e.g. race or income.  For example, while these factors are
significant, most of the variation in student performance is linked to the individual student.  In
summary, the statistics being reported are irresponsibly biased and support arguments of
segregationists.  Subsequently, we were provided with inaccurate data.  And when I asked for
corrected data, we were told that no data exist, and that their summaries are just made up.
 
If any of you care about transparency or equity, you would immediately address this issue in the
strongest possible way.
 
 
Richard Kohn, Ph.D
 
> On Aug 21, 2017, at 9:17 AM, Richard A. Kohn <rkohn@umd.edu> wrote:
>
> Dear Dr. Martirano and Dr. Gilbert,
>
> I am sending this information again now that the redistricting committee has admitted that the
data they used were biased.  They said on Aug 8, about 30 min mark on the video of the AAC
meeting, that several records were left out of the dataset resulting in incorrect FARM data.  The
FARM data were underestimated by several percentage points.  If records were left out causing a
bias in the FARM data, of course, the racial demographic data is also incorrect.  Presumedly, the
number of students was also incorrect.  The incorrect summaries and datasets published by the
school need to be identified and corrected.  Erratum need to be published for each past document,
e.g. Feasibility Study immediately.  We are debating redistricting with false information being
presented.
>
> Richard Kohn, Ph.D.
>
>
>



> I am concerned about the impact of the proposed redistricting on diversity of our schools.  In
particular, I believe the authors need to describe how the predicted changes in racial demographics
were calculated, and I found different  results for the small sample of the data I evaluated. 
Furthermore, the impact on income diversity should also be calculated.  I hope the dataset that was
used for calculations can be made available to the public for evaluation and more detailed modeling.
Please see the attached letter and spreadsheet.
>
> Richard Kohn, Ph.D.
> Columbia, MD
>
> <To Dr. Gilbert.pdf><school analysis.xlsx>
>
>
>> On Jul 12, 2017, at 3:06 PM, School Planning <SchoolPlanning@hcpss.org> wrote:
>>
>> Mr. Kohn - Thank you for your time and interest in the Attendance Area Adjustment process.  We
assess student data, not census bureau data.  If you want to learn more about the process and data
points, please call us. 
>>
>> Thank you,
>> Jennifer
>>
>> 410-313-5672
>> 410-313-1554
>>
>> -----Original Message-----
>> From: Superintendent
>> Sent: Monday, July 10, 2017 11:00 AM
>> To: Richard A. Kohn <rkohn@umd.edu>
>> Cc: School Planning <SchoolPlanning@hcpss.org>
>> Subject: RE: Concerns about diversity evaluation of 2017 Feasibility
>> Study on Redistricting
>>
>> Dear Dr. Kohn:
>>
>> Thank you for contacting the Office of the Superintendent.  Dr. Martirano is in receipt of your
email. 
>>
>> Kind regards,
>>
>> Valerie C. Gist | Executive Assistant Office of the Superintendent |
>> 410-313-6677 Howard County Public School System
>>
>> -----Original Message-----
>> From: Richard A. Kohn [mailto:rkohn@umd.edu]



>> Sent: Saturday, July 01, 2017 9:38 PM
>> To: Superintendent
>> Subject: Concerns about diversity evaluation of 2017 Feasibility
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

Aug. 1, 2017 

Dr. Kevin Gilbert 
Director of Diversity Equity and Inclusion 
Howard County Public School System 
Columbia, MD 

Dear Dr. Gilbert: 

I hope you will check the calculations and results for the demographic analysis of the 
2017 Feasibility Study on school redistricting in Howard County.  The authors provided 
very few details as to how they performed the calculations and what datasets they used.  
Furthermore, some of the results seem incorrect.   

I recalculated the demographic changes to Oakland Mills High School because the 
reported numbers appeared to underestimate effects on the white population.  The 
proposed redistricting would move the majority white neighborhoods out of the district 
and replace them with majority non-white neighborhoods.   I used 2010 Census 
information available online for the polygons proposed to be moved, and recalculated the 
percentage of each race. There is potential for some error or bias with my approach 
because of the level of detail in the data available to me. I would estimate my predictions 
are correct to within 2 percentage points, but additional differences due to age of 
demographic data could exist.  However, my calculations were quite a bit different from 
those reported by the Study.  For example, I calculated that Oakland Mills would have 
only about 12% white students after the change, not 18% white students as reported in the 
feasibility study.  

Furthermore, the demographic analysis should also include changes in family income, 
and percentages on Free and Reduced Meals (FARM).  No such data are presented at all.   

In summary: only two pages are devoted to demographic changes from redistricting.  The 
changes may increase segregation based on race in some schools, there is no description 
of methods or datasets used to calculate impacts, results may be incorrect, and there is no 
analysis on the impact of redistricting on segregation based on income. 

Please consider making the dataset used for calculations available to me or to the public 
in general so these estimates can be evaluated and further analyzed. 

I have attached the spreadsheet calculations.  
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Feasibility Study, page 54 

	
	
	
Summary	of	my	calculations	(see	spreadsheet	for	details)	
	
Oakland Mills High School 
	
Race Current Proposed 
Black/African American  43.6%  45.0% 
Hispanic/Latino  21.3% 22.7% 
White  20.6% 12.7% 
Asian 7.0% 11.8% 
Mixed 7.1% 7.3% 
Other 0.5% 1.3% 
 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
Richard Kohn, Ph.D. 

	

MPIA 2020-163 - Please note this record contains external/non-HCPSS official data

Exte
rna

l/N
on

-H
CPSS D

ata



Process
Example calculations for Oakland Mills

All documents downloaded on 6/23/2017 in morning
Proposed changes http://www.boarddocs.com/mabe/hcpssmd/Board.nsf/files/ANJNRU5BA994/$file/06%2022%201027%20Presentation%20
Polygon map http://www.hcpss.org/f/schoolplanning/planning‐polygon‐map‐1617.pdf
OM profile posted online http://www.hcpss.org/f/schools/profiles/prof_hs_oaklandmills.pdf
Racial maps http://statisticalatlas.com/place/Maryland/Columbia/Race‐and‐Ethnicity

1) looked up data for proposed changes and polygon numbers
2) matched polygon changes to demographic data by race
3) When a list of polygons to move encompassed more than one tract on the racial stats map, a weighted average was taken

Avg was weighted by number of children 10‐17 in each tract
4) multiplied proportion of each race in each proposed move by the number of students in that move

This yields the proposed number of each race to move in or out
5) Converted these to numbers by multipying each percentage by total number of students currently
6) added proposed change in numbers
7) converted back to percentage as total new projected numbers divided by total new number

This is based on racial demographics posted by the Board of Ed for each school, and the 2010 census data.
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Proportion of students moving Number of students
From To No. polygons Tract White Latino Black/African AmAsian mixed Other total Asian Black/African AmLatino White mixed Other
Hammond HS  Oakland Mills HS  142 , 1030, 1032, 2030 606901‐1 0.182 0.336 0.401 0.028 0.053 0 1 4 57 48 26 8 0
Howard HS  Oakland Mills HS  20 261, 1261 606606 0.396 0.024 0.417 0.116 0.035 0.012 0.988 2 8 0 8 1 0
Long Reach HS  Oakland Mills HS  5451, 266, 1033, 1080,081, 3035, 4035 wt AVG 0.361 0.109 0.297 0.194 0.026 0.012685965 0.987314035 106 162 60 197 14 7
Oakland Mills HS  Atholton HS 420 56, 58, 279, 1051,058, 1139, 2051,058, 3056, 3139 wt AVG 0.586 0.091 0.237 0.064 0.012 0.01 0.99 ‐27 ‐100 ‐38 ‐246 ‐5 ‐4
Oakland Mills HS  Wilde Lake HS 85 151, 1151, 2151 606601 0.586 0.091 0.237 0.064 0.012 0.01 0.99 ‐5 ‐20 ‐8 ‐50 ‐1 ‐1

NET CHANGE 80 108 62 ‐66 16 2

Pop 10‐17 Tract White Latino Black/African AmAsian mixed total Current from school on line
Long Reach 69 606706‐3 0.433 0.01 0.344 0.156 0.058
Long Reach 292 601107 0.437 0.191 0.1 0.223 0.024 1153 Asian Black/African AmLatino White Mixed other total
Long Reach 209 601203‐1 0.23 0.028 0.557 0.166 0.019 Start % 0.07 0.436 0.213 0.206 0.071 0.004 1
Hammond 606901‐1 0.182 0.336 0.401 0.028 0.053 Start num. 81 503 246 238 82 5 1153
Long Reach total 570 fr*total 206 62 169 111 15 After num. 160 610 307 172 98 7 1355
Long Reach Wt AVG no/total 0.361 0.109 0.297 0.194 0.026 After % 0.118 0.450 0.227 0.127 0.073 0.005 1

OM to AHS 263 606701‐1 0.834 0.031 0.031 0.079 0.024
OM to AHS 507 606705 0.546 0.147 0.17 0.115 0.021
OM to AHS 108 606707‐1‐1 0.347 0.047 0.331 0.226 0.042
OM to AHS 108 606707‐1‐1 0.423 0.069 0.359 0.096 0.048
OM to AHS total 986 579 95 169 114 27
OM to AHS Wt AVG 0.588 0.097 0.171 0.115 0.027

OM to Wild Lake 606601 0.586 0.091 0.237 0.064 0.012

LR LR Hammand LR OM to AHS OM to AHS OM to WL
Age 601107 601203‐1 606901‐1 606706‐3 606701 606705 606601 606707‐1‐135 606707‐1‐143
15‐17 143 126 29 21 57 169 84 21 41 40
10‐14 149 83 83 48 33 125 243 48 67 68
5‐9 294 114 190 68 115 106 270 68 67 75
0‐4 471 196 185 133 58 107 199 133 105 92
total 1057 519 487 270 263 507 796
10‐14 292 209 112 69 90 294 327 69
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OM High School
Asian Black/AfricanLatino White Mixed other total

Reported racial distribution  7.0% 43.6% 21.3% 20.6% 7.1% 0.4% 100.0%
Proposed % 11.8% 45.0% 22.7% 12.7% 7.3% 0.5% 100.0%

Reported number 81 503 246 238 82 5 1153
Net change 80 108 62 ‐66 16 2 202
New Number 160 610 307 172 98 7 1355
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From: Cynthia Vaillancourt
To: Danielle Lueking; Kirsten Coombs
Cc: Sandra French; Bess Altwerger; Christina Delmont-Small; Mavis Ellis; Ananta Hejeebu; Michael Martirano; Mark

Blom; Karalee Turner-Little; Kathleen V. Hanks
Subject: RE: [BoE Email] - Continued stonewalling on data.
Date: Wednesday, August 30, 2017 9:15:49 PM

Whatever else he has said, it is clear from Dr. Kohn's facebook comments that it is his intent to use
detailed polygon information to develop plans to  "balance" the school attendance areas based on FARMS
and race. 
 
As I understand it that is the definition of what we must not do (or allow).  

I continue to fear that if Board members, or planning staff (or previously the AAC), or in this case a
random community member,  have access to that level of detail, it will be used this way, and we would
not be able to defend against claims that race was used inappropriately in the development of
attendance areas.  The current process where the plans are developed based on the standard logistical
criteria, and then evaluated in summary form for the eleven criteria (including racial composition, FARMS
and ESOL) we are on much safer footing.

Just my 2 cents as 1/7th of the Board.  

I am going to ask legal to give us a presentation on the pitfalls of this process, and the consequences of
opening the door to a constitutional challenge to our decision.

CIndy V

From: Danielle Lueking
Sent: Wednesday, August 30, 2017 5:21 PM
To: Kirsten Coombs
Cc: Cynthia Vaillancourt; Sandra French; Bess Altwerger; Christina Delmont-Small; Mavis Ellis; Ananta
Hejeebu; Michael Martirano; Mark Blom; Karalee Turner-Little; Kathleen V. Hanks
Subject: Re: [BoE Email] - Continued stonewalling on data.

Will do.
 
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
 
 
From: Mark Blom <Mark Blom@hcpss.org>
Date: Wednesday, August 30, 2017 at 1:44 PM
To: Danielle Lueking <Danielle Lueking@hcpss.org>
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
To: Kevin Gilbert
Cc: Michael Martirano
Subject: Re: Concerns about diversity evaluation of 2017 Feasibility Study on Redistricting
Date: Friday, August 25, 2017 6:17:10 AM

I recommend you send the email to Renee Kamen and respond that you are doing so as the
process continues.
K

Sent from my iPhone

On Aug 25, 2017, at 4:25 AM, Kevin Gilbert <Kevin_Gilbert@hcpss.org> wrote:

I have received a few emails concerning the feasibility study. Please advise on
how you would like me to proceed. 

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
Date: August 21, 2017 at 9:17:46 AM EDT
To: School Planning <SchoolPlanning@hcpss.org>
Cc: Superintendent <superintendent@hcpss.org>, "Timothy D.
Rogers" <Timothy_Rogers@hcpss.org>, Kevin Gilbert
<Kevin_Gilbert@hcpss.org>
Subject: Re: Concerns about diversity evaluation of 2017
Feasibility Study on Redistricting

Dear Dr. Martirano and Dr. Gilbert,



I am sending this information again now that the redistricting committee has admitted
that the data they used were biased.  They said on Aug 8, about 30 min mark on the
video of the AAC meeting, that several records were left out of the dataset resulting
in incorrect FARM data.  The FARM data were underestimated by several percentage
points.  If records were left out causing a bias in the FARM data, of course, the racial
demographic data is also incorrect.  Presumedly, the number of students was also
incorrect.  The incorrect summaries and datasets published by the school need to be
identified and corrected.  Erratum need to be published for each past document, e.g.
Feasibility Study immediately.  We are debating redistricting with false information
being presented.

Richard Kohn, Ph.D.

I am concerned about the impact of the proposed redistricting on diversity of our
schools.  In particular, I believe the authors need to describe how the predicted
changes in racial demographics were calculated, and I found different  results for the
small sample of the data I evaluated.  Furthermore, the impact on income diversity
should also be calculated.  I hope the dataset that was used for calculations can be
made available to the public for evaluation and more detailed modeling. Please see
the attached letter and spreadsheet.

Richard Kohn, Ph.D.
Columbia, MD

> On Jul 12, 2017, at 3:06 PM, School Planning <SchoolPlanning@hcpss.org>
wrote:
> 
> Mr. Kohn - Thank you for your time and interest in the Attendance Area
Adjustment process.  We assess student data, not census bureau data.  If you want to
learn more about the process and data points, please call us.  
> 
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
> Subject: RE: Concerns about diversity evaluation of 2017 Feasibility Study on
Redistricting
> 
> Dear Dr. Kohn:
> 
> Thank you for contacting the Office of the Superintendent.  Dr. Martirano is in
receipt of your email.  
> 
> Kind regards,



> 
> Valerie C. Gist | Executive Assistant
> Office of the Superintendent | 410-313-6677 Howard County Public School System
> 
> -----Original Message-----
> From: Richard A. Kohn [mailto rkohn@umd.edu]
> Sent: Saturday, July 01, 2017 9:38 PM
> To: Superintendent
> Subject: Concerns about diversity evaluation of 2017 Feasibility Study on
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
> 
> 

<To Dr. Gilbert.pdf>

<school analysis.xlsx>



From: Linda T. Wise
To: Richard A. Kohn
Cc: BoE Email; Michael Martirano; Student Board Member; Karalee Turner-Little; Kathleen V. Hanks
Subject: RE: [BoE Email] - School system dealing with ICE
Date: Thursday, June 1, 2017 1:19:12 PM

Good afternoon, Mr  Kohn:

Thank you for bringing your suggestions forward

Because the policy office is in my division, your correspondence was forwarded to me    Yesterday afternoon, the Board of Education policy committee met and it is my
understanding that a policy of the nature you are requesting may be part of a discussion at our June 8 Board meeting  

To respond to several of your concerns, we have been advised by the Howard County Police Department that Homeland Security-ICE does not conduct enforcement activities at
schools, hospitals, doctors' offices or places of worship   Also, the report, Services for Students of International Origin, which was presented at our May 18 Board meeting may be of
interest to you

http://www boarddocs com/mabe/hcpssmd/Board nsf/files/AMDPBZ63C7DA/$file/05%2018%202017%20Services%20for%20Students%20of%20International%20Origin%20BR pdf

Sincerely,

Linda T  Wise
Deputy Superintendent
Howard County Public School System
410-313-6607

________________________________________
From: Kathleen V  Hanks
Sent: Tuesday, May 30, 2017 4:29 PM
To: Richard A  Kohn; BoE Email
Cc: Student Board Member; Linda T  Wise
Subject: RE: [BoE Email] - School system dealing with ICE

Dear Mr  Kohn:

Thank you for contacting the Board of Education  By copy of this email, I am forwarding your concern to Mrs  Linda Wise, Deputy Superintendent  She or her designee will be in
contact with you

Once again, thank you for contacting the Board

Kind regards,

Kathy Hanks
Administrator
Board of Education of Howard County
Phone:  410-313-7194
Fax:  410-313-6833
-----Original Message-----
From: Richard A  Kohn [mailto rkohn@umd edu]
Sent: Tuesday, May 30, 2017 9:17 AM
To: BoE Email <boe@hcpss org>
Subject: [BoE Email] - School system dealing with ICE

The Howard County Board needs to have a written policy regarding undocumented students   Immigration and Customs Enforcement (ICE) should not be allowed on school property
without a judicial warrant   No school employee should be permitted to report students to ICE unless required by warrant   No lists of who is documented or not should be permitted
to be made by school employees

Thank you,

Richard A  Kohn




